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Apprentice Contract
James Deneale & Moses Ralls


This Indenture made this 11th day of August 1802 between Moses Ralls of the County of Prince William of the one part and James Deneale of the County aforesaid of the other part witnesseth that the said Moses Ralls hath by these presents voluntarily put placed and bound himself to be an apprentice with him the said James Deneale and as an apprentice with him the said James Deneale to dwell until the 11th day of August 1805 during which term the said Moses Ralls doth covenant and agree to and with the said James Deneale that the said Moses Ralls the said James Deneale shall well and faithfully serve in all lawful business as the said Moses Ralls shall be put unto by his said Master according to the best of his power wit and ability of him the said Moses Ralls and honestly and obediently shall behave himself towards the said James Deneale and honestly and orderly towards the family of him the said James Deneale and the said James Deneale on his part doth covenant and agree to and with the said Moses Ralls that he the said James Deneale now follows and will use all due diligence to make the said Moses Ralls as perfect in the said act as possible and also will allow the said Moses Ralls good and sufficient meat drink and lodging and will also pay the said Moses Ralls annually the sum of fifty dollars.

In Witness whereof the parties aforesaid have hereunto set their hands and seals the day and date above.







James Deneale (SEAL)









Mosses Ralls (mark) SEAL

1 July 1811

Will of James Dalton


I give and bequeath to my grand daughter Katy Cash (the oldest child of my daughter Elizabeth Lee) my negro man Ben and all the money that may now or hereafter may be due me by bond note or otherwise but if the said Katy Cash dies before she arrives at the age of twenty one or marries then and in that case I desire that my property of every kind may be divided equally between my four daughters Rachael Dunsford, Charity Martin, Anna Dunnington and Elizabeth Lee. I appoint my friend Redwood Evans executor of my last will and testament.
 In witness whereof I do hereunto set my hand and affix my seal this twenty first day of July, Eighteen Hundred and Eleven. 









James Dalton (SEAL)

Signed, Sealed and Acknowledged in the Presence of Us.

Robert Graham

Charity Bohannon (her mark)

Ann Reeds (her mark)


At a Court held for Prince William County, February 3rd 1812. The last will and testament of James Dalton deceased was presented to the Court by Redwood Evans the Executor therein named who made oath to the same according to law and the said will being proved by the oaths of Charity Bohannon and Ann Reeds is ordered to be recorded and the said Redwood Evans having taken the oath of an executor and performed what is usual in such case certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form.









Teste -
J. Williams C. C.









A Copy, Teste – P. D. Dawe C. C.

3 November 1823

Last Will & Testament – presented to court
Sarah Ewell


I Sarah Ewell of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia do make this my last will and testament revoking all others heretofore made my me or in my name. It is my will and desire that my Executors hereafter to be named shall pay and discharge all my just debts out of any part of my will or personal estate that they may think most advisable & most agreeable to my neise  Sarah E. Haise wife of William H. Haise that may not be otherwise bequeath. It is my will and desire that my Executors purchase out of my estate a Piannah Forty for my niese Francis H. Haise & I also give her two slaves, to wit; Charles & Mary to be under the control and direction of trustees to be hereafter to be named and should she dye before she maries or comms of age it is my will that they and their increase be equally divided between all her brothers and sisters by her mother Sally E. Haise that may survive her. It is my will and desire that Jesse Weems should receive my right and interest in and to my shears of Munies Estate in right of my brother Thomas W. Ewell. It is my will that the Rev’d Williamson receive into his custody for the use of the Presbyterian Church the two lots I hold in the town of Dumfries in the street that back of Mrs Henry lotts and in the square with Mrs. Trenises lotts on the hill. Lastly it is my will and desire that all the residue of my estate both real and personal be put into the hands of my brother Charles Ewell & Bertrand E. Trennis as trustees and by them to be managed and the net proceeds thereof to be given to my neice Sally E. Haise for her maintenance and the support of her children and it is further my will that the same persons herein named act as trustees to my neise Francis H. Haise and should the above trustees refuse to act or dye, it is my will that the Court of Prince William do appoint two others to act under their jurisdiction and it is further my will and desire that my Executor shall pay out of the rent of or proceeds from a leise I have given to Charles Ewell my brother for the opening of a coal mine in this county the following legacies. To wit: Anne Weems daughter of Wm. Weems five hundred dollars. I also give out of the same fund if sufficient five hundred dollars to Mary A. M. Heeth now wife to G. Cooke to Charles Ewell son of my brother Charls to Hannah Trenis my sister to John Taylor to Thomas Thornton, Chas T. Chapman, Charlotte Ewell, Fanny Weems, Jesse Ewell, Thos Ewell my neises & nephews & all it is my will that Sally E. Williamson daughter of the Rev’d Williamson shall receive equally with the other legaters five hundred dollars out of the said proceeds or out of said Cole sum the residue of the profits from said Coal Mine I give to my neise Sally E. Hais & her children to be laid out as the trustees as aforesaid may think proper for their benefit and  after the death of my said neise Sally E. Hais. It is my will that all my estate both real and personal be equally divided between her surviving children to be delivered up to them by their aforesaid trustees as they may marry or come of age and lastly I appoint my brother Charles Ewell any executor to this my last will and testament given under my hand and seal this 3rd day May 1816 & in the County of Prince William






Sarah Ewell (SEAL)
& in the presence of

Jesse Ewell Jr.

William Petty

John Deavers

James B. Ewell
At a Court of Quarterly Session held for Prince William County,  November 3rd 1823


This last will and testament of Sarah Ewell deceased was presented to the court and the same being proved by the oaths of John Deavers & James B. Ewell is ordered to be recorded and at a court of quarterly session continued and held for Prince William County November 5th 1823 Charles Ewell the executor mentioned in the last will and testament of Sarah Ewell deceased came into court and made oath to the same according to law and having taken the oath of an executor and performed what is usual in such cases certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form.








Teste: P. D. Dawe
At a Court of Quarterly Sessions held for Prince William County the 6th day of March 1826:

This Estate Account of Sarah Ewell deceased was presented to the Court and ordered to lie over. And on the 7th day of the same month – John Bowers by Jno Macrae his attorney filed exceptions to this estate account of Sarah Ewell deceased and at a Court held for said County on the 4th day of February 1856.


The exception filed to the estate account of Sarah Ewell deceased were overruled and the said account having been filed in the Clerk’s Office for more than one month and the exception filed thereto having been overruled, the said account was examined by the Court, confirmed and ordered to be recorded.









Teste   P. D. Lipscomb, clerk
2 May 1824
Commonwealth vs Elizabeth King

Virginia: Prince William County – To wit: The Jurors for the Commonwealth of Virginia, of and for the body of Prince William County, do upon their oath present, That Elizabeth King of the said county, Tavern Keeper, on the second day of May in the year 1824 at the county aforesaid, did unlawfully open a Tavern, and did then and there unlawfully sell by retail, Wine, Beer, Cider, Rum, Brandy, Whiskey, and other spirituous liquors, and mixtures thereof, then and there to be drank at the place where the same were sold, and which were then and there drank at the place where the same were sold, without a license from the court of the said county of Prince William for so doing, and which said offence was committed within twelve months next preceding the day of finding this indictment, by the Jurors, aforesaid, against the form of the acts of the General Assembly of Virginia, in such case made and provided, and the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth aforesaid.




John Gibson Jr.









Attorney for the Commonwealth









Of Prince William County

14 September 1824

Samuel Dean assignee of Benjamin Dean

Against  - James Legg


The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: Whereas in an action of Debt lately depending in our said County Court of Prince William between Samuel Dean assignee of Benjamin Dean plaintiff and James Legg defendant, issues were made up between the parties aforesaid at August term 1822 upon the pleas of payment and off set, and the cause being this situated the said James Legg departed this life intestate, as it is said, and a certain George Legg having become executor of the estate of the said James Legg deceased in his own wrong, and the issues still remaining to be tried by a jury, the said Dean assignee as aforesaid hath supplicated us for proper ----dy in this behalf. We therefore being willing that right and justice should be done, command you as often times before you were commanded that you make known to the said George Legg executor in his own wrong of James Legg deceased that he be and appear before the justices of our said County Court of Prince William at the Court House on the first Monday in November next to shew cause if any thing for himself he hath or knows to say why the issues aforesaid should not be tried by a jury and a judgment removed by the said Dean assignee as aforesaid against him and further to do and receive what our said court shall in this part consider – and have then there this writ:

Witness P. D. Dawe clerk of our said court at the Court House the 14th day of September 1824 and in the 49th year of our foundation.




P. D. Dawe

1825

Delinquent Town Tax for 1825


I John W. Williams deputy for Charles Ewell sheriff of Prince William County do solemnly swear that the forgoing list of delinquent in the town tax for the County of Prince William for the year 1825 is as I so verily believe consistent and just that I have received no part of the taxes their in returned delinquent and that I have made diligent inquiry for the purpose of finding property within my bailiwick liable to ___ for the land taxes but have not found none.









John W. Williams D.S.









for Charles Ewell
Name of Owners

Residence
# Lots
Town Names
Value Lots & Bldg     Value Bldg
Hunter, Nathaniel

Alexandria
2
Dumfries
25

Horner, William

Fauquier

2
Newport

25

Luckett, John –Boon Est.
Dumfries
2
Carborough
50

Luck, Andrew estate
Dumfries
1
Carborough
50

Mitchell, James estate
Stafford

1
Dumfries
400

        300
   

Robey, William estate
Dumfries
1
Occoquan
150

        100
Scott, David Wilson
Fairfax

½ 
Dumfries
70

        100
Scott, William

Maryland
1
Dumfries
200

        150
Shanklin, Isaac of colour
Occoquan
1
Occoquan
150

        100
Turner, Mary now McCuin Fairfax

1
Carborough
25

          
Wise, Ninean

Richmond
2
Newport

25

Woodyard, Benjamin
not known
1
Newport

12.50

Wickliff, Charles

Dumfries
1
Newport

25

Young, Robert

Fauquier

1
Dumfries
20

Yearly Rent of lots above -  James Mitchell $30, William Robey $20, David Wilson Scott $5, William Scott $30, Isaac Shanklin $20, Robert Young $5
27 September 1827
Brooke vs Newman’s Exor.

Deposition of Jno Saunders


I hereby agree that the deposition of John Saunders will be taken by Richard Saunders to be read as evidence in a suit now pending in the County Court of Prince William between myself as Plaintiff and Richard Newman executor of Thomas Newman deceased as Defendant and that no exceptions as to the form of taking said deposition is to be made by me 


E. Brooke

The deposition of John Saunders which by consent of parties to be read as evidence in suit depending in the county court of Prince William wherein Edmund Brooke is Plaintiff and Richard Newman executor of Thomas Newman deceased defendant.


Question by Richard Newman – Will you state whether you considered Mr. Edmund Brooke indebted to you in December 1818 or at any time thereafter as much as one hundred and five dollars or more and you will also state as near as you can the transacting between Mr. Brooke and yourself since that time. Answer – I consider that Mr. Brooke was indebted to me at that time and that he is now indebted to me as much as one hundred & fifty dollars.


Question by Richard Newman, When you gave Mr. Brooke a certificate of settlement in Georgetown relative to your account, did not Mr. Brooke give you an instrument of writing by which he promised to satisfy you of the correctness of an item in his account of one hundred and fifty dollars by the first day of July 1826 and you will further state whether you have been satisfied of the correctness of the item. Answer – He did give me an instrument of writing to that effect but he has not as yet satisfied me of the correctness of the item of one hundred and fifty dollars and I do not think that he ever can do it.

Question by the Plaintiff, For what purpose was my Bond to you for the last installment of my debt put into the hands of Thos. Leachman. Answer – It was put in Shaw’s hands as a security for Jack Brown, who had a claim against me.


Question by the Plaintiff – Did you owe Judge Dade any money on account of executors against you at the time I paid one hundred and fifty dollars to him on your account. Answer – I do not know whether I owed Dade anything until I had a statement with Capt. Shaw.

Question by the Plaintiff – Did I ever pay you any money after the payment made to Judge Dade above referenced to of one hundred and fifty dollars. Answer – There was no payment made to me after that time, nor any money advanced by you after that time on my account until our settlement, when the certificate above mentioned of a settlement was given.


Question by Richard Newman – Did you ever authorize Mr. Brooke to pay Judge Dade on Mr. Leachman & Mr. Shaw any money for you. Answer – I did not and I did not know that any money was paid until 1826.


Question by Richard Newman – What was the amount of the bond placed in Shaw’s hands as due to you from Mr. Brooke and what was the amount of the debt you were liable to Jack Brown for. Answer – The bond from Mr. Brooke to me was upwards of two hundred pounds and the debt to Brown was about forty dollars.

Question by the Plaintiff, were there any payments made by me whilst my bond was in Leachman’s hands which one applied to the credit of said bond on our settlement. Answer- I do not recollect.

Question by the plaintiff – Did you owe Capt. Newman any money at the time I took from him the bond now in suit. Answer – No I do not consider I did nor gave him any order to call on you.


Question by plaintiff where did you reside when the payment was made by me to Judge Dade, and where have you resided ever since. Answer – In 1813 I lived in Jefferson County and in May 1825 I went to Maryland, Frederick Town where I have resided ever since.

Question by Plaintiff – If you considered me in your debt, why did you not call on me for payment between the year 1813 and 1826, Answer – Because it was inconvenient  it was my own neglect.

Deposition of Robert Brooke


The deposition of Robert Brooke of Washington County, District of Columbia, taken at McCanalis’ Tavern, Georgetown, in the said District of Columbia on the 27th day of September 1827, between the hours of eight o’clock a.m. and six o’clock p.m. of the same day, pursuant to the  notice hereunto annexed, to be read as evidence in a suit depending in the County Court of Prince William, Virginia, wherein Edmund Brooke is plaintiff, and Richard Newman, Executor of Thomas Newman deceased is defendant.

This deponent being asked to state if he was a witness to the receipt hereunto signed “John Saunders,” purporting to be a settlement with the said E. Brooke of Sundry Bonds, in his the said Saunders’ possession, for the payment of Sundry Bonds executed by the said E. Brooke to the said J. Saunders for a tract of land purchased by the said Brooke of him called Ellen Vale; and also to state all that he the said deponent knows respecting the said transaction, answers and says,  that he was called upon at the time the said receipt was given, by the parties, to assist in the settlement of their accounts which were long standing and which required need, calculation of interest, there having been a great many payments made on the said account, and no general settlement ever having before taken place between the parties, both of whom seemed equally sanguine about the result. The one contending that a large sum was due, and the other, that the debt was extinguished, after a laborious and lengthy investigation. There appeared to be a considerable balance in the said E. Brooke favors which he told the said Saunders that he should never claim by him, and his bonds, which before had never been taken it, were given up to him. Mr. Saunders who came down from Frederick County, Maryland, as he stated for the purpose of settling this transaction a long standing, appeared greatly disappointed at the result of the settlement, alleging that he had calculated at receiving a large balance, which having terminated differently, had placed him under the necessity of borrowing some money of the said Brooke to take him out of the town, who advanced on loan one dollar and fifty cents for this purpose.


Question by the plaintiff – Did you hear Mr. Saunders say anything about his accounts with Thomas Newman deceased. Answer – I heard him say when Mr. E. Brooke mentioned that he had loaned Capt. T. Newman deceased the money spoken of in the annexed receipt, that he did not owe Capt. Newman had any claim against him. The receipt annexed. The deponent states he was drawn by himself upon the settlement between the parties, and was executed by the said Saunders in his own hand writing and as well as he recollects Mr. E. Brooke gave him a copy of it.








Rob. Brooke

Washington County District of Columbia


We do hereby certify that Robert Brooke whose deposition is hereunto annexed signed the said deposition in our presence being Justice of the Peace in and for the said County, and as such duly qualified to take depositions; and that he made oath at the same time to the truth of the facts stated in the said deposition. 
Given under our hands and seals at McCandis’ Tavern this 27th of September 1827.









Daniel Bussard   (SEAL)









James Getty’s    (SEAL)


I do hereby certify that upon a settlement of all accounts between Edmund Brooks and myself relative to the sale of a tract of land purchased by the said Brooke of me, it appears that the said Brooke had fully paid the amount of sundry bonds in my hands of his for said land at the time he advanced to Thomas Newman Sen. deceased the sum of one hundred and five dollars on the nineteenth day of December 1818 and for the reimbursement whereof the said Brooke holds the said Newmans bond of that date continued that the said sum should be repaid to him by the said Newman if upon a settlement with me which will appear that the said Brooke owed me nothing at the time which I hereby allege to be the fact. Given under my hand this 18th day of April 1826









John Saunders









Teste – Rob. Brooke


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Justices of the Peace of the County of Washington and District of Columbia, Gentlemen: Greetings: Know ye, that we, trusting to your fidelity and provident circumspection in diligently examining Robert Brooke a witness for Edmund Brooke in a certain suit in our County Court of Prince William, now depending and undetermined between Edmund Brooke, plaintiff, and Thomas Newman’s executor defendant, we command you, that at such certain time and place as you shall appoint, you assemble yourselves; and the witness aforesaid, before you, or any two or more of you, you call, and cause to come, and him diligently examine on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God; and his examination into our said court, distinctly and plainly, without delay, you send, certified under your seals, returning to us also, this writ. Witness, Phillip D. Dawe, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 6th day of August 1827 and in the 52nd year of our foundation.








P. D. Dawe

Newman vs Brooke - Bond


(Ink spill covering top corner of document, other portions are also illegible.) – these presents that I Thomas Newman of Prince William County and State of Virginia are held and firmly bound unto Edmund Brooke of the aforesaid County and State in the sum of two hundred dollars and to the payment will and truly to be made I do bind myself my heirs executors are -------- firmly be these presents – sealed with my seal and dated this 19th day of December 1818.

The condition of this obligation is such that whereas by a decree of the superior court of chancery for this district, John Dangerfield is right of his wife has recovered one 9th part of the said which was bequeathed  John Armistead deceased to his son William which decree embrace part of the said Thomas Nelson’s land, together with one 9th part of eighty one acres purchased by the said, Edmund Brooke of John Sanders under a general warranty, and it hath been decided by the commissioners appointed by the said court to lay out and allot to the said Dangerfield the land so recovered that the same should be set apart in on body, and be by them valued, allowing to the tenant either to give the said land, or pay the price aforesaid by the said commissions who valued the same at three pounds ten shillings per acre. And whereas the said Newman under this arrangement hath made his election to pay the price and in so doing has advanced one hundred and five dollars on account of the 9th part of the said 81 acres, which entitled him (as he supposes) to dem----iation from some of the persons through whose hands the said 81 acres have passed.
And whereas the said Edmund Brooke among the interested in warranting the title would ultimately have been liable a warrantor and is willing to advance the said sum of money and has actually advanced the same to the said Thomas Newman or in following conditions that is to say ___ a settlement or account with the said John Saunders he should be found to owe to said Saunders as ____ money and the said Saunders should not be willing to allow it to him by way of discount, or in the event of his not owing the said Saunders as much or nothing upon a settlement with him whereby he would be put ____ ___ against he Saunders upon his general warranty, the said T. Newman will in either ___ pay the said Edmund Brooke the said sum of one hundred and five dollars with interest from this date. Now the condition of this obligation is such that if the said T. Newman will ___ and faithfully comply with the said conditions the said obligation to be void, or else remain in full force and virtue.








Thomas Newman (SEAL)

7 September 1829

Richard Foote plaintiff  vs Aaron Grigsby defendant

Chancery Court of Fredericksburg


In pursuance of the enclosed notice we the undersigned Justices of the Peace for the County of Prince William on the 7th day of September 1829 at the Tavern kept by Mrs. Jane Williams in the Town of Brentsville between the hours of nine o’clock A.M. and five o’clock P. M. proceeded to take the deposition of William B. Tyler to be read as evidence in an injunction case depending in the Chancery Court of Fredericksburg where Richard Foote id Plaintiff and Aaron Grigsby is Defendant.


The Deponent Wm. B. Tyler being first sworn deposeth and saith in answer to the following interrogatories. Interrogator 1st Did or did you not attend in the summer of 1828 before Messrs Charles Hunton & Charles Ming in the character of counsel for Richard Foote in a matter referred to them as referees between said Foote and Aaron Grigsby, and if so state the deportment of said arbitrators towards the said Foote on that occasion and every thing that transpired in relation thereto.

I did attend as counsel for Foote the arbitration referred to and when the said arbitrators were considering two items of offsets produced by Grigsby to wit on account for goods purchased by said Grigsby (I believe) for the use of Miss Eliza Garrett of Messrs Cowles & McNash (I believe) and an account for goods purchased in like manner of James & Silas Foster the (blank) Foote objected to their admission as being if due at all, which he expressly denied due from him as administrator of said Garrett whom he had married subsequent to the creation of the accts and who had died previous to any demand having been made of the said defendants. I also urged the same objection to there claim being allowed as offsets in a suit between the parties in their individual character as the claims were due from Foote in a different right to wit as the administrator of Eliza Garrett they not having been claiming of Foote during said Garrett’s life in such manner as to make Foote liable as the husband, the arbitrators allowed the claims agreeing however at my request to state our objections in their award, which they entirely failed to do, although one of them was furnished by me with a written statement, one of the arbitrators, Mr. Hunton further observed to Mr. Foote, that no Gentleman would refuse to pay these claims, whereupon Mr. Foote left the room and said that he would not attend personally to the arbitration but would confide it with me. I persuaded him to continue with me. I repeatedly during the fall of the year sought of the arbitrator (of Mr. Ming) especially a return of the award which they postponed until March Court 1829 at which time I was absent from Court at a time subsequent to the arbitration one of the arbitrators Charles Hunton said he considered my objection to the above mentioned claims as good in law, but that he had allowed them believing that if Grigsby was forced to sue Foote as administrator he could avail himself of the statute of limitations and thus got rid of their payment.  Question by Grigsby – Did you not say to me in conversation that Foote could not avail himself of the statute of limitations if sued as administrator of said Garrett for the reason that he had acknowledged the account.  Answer – I do not remember to have expressed such opinion.









Wm. B. Tyler

Signed and sworn to before a Justice of the Peace for the County of Prince William this 7th day of September 1829






Jno Fitzhugh








Wm. Cleary
The deposition of Jno Williams Deputy Clerk for the County of Prince William taken at the same time and place in pursuance of notice to be read as evidence of the same occasion.

The deponent being first duly sworn saith that on the third day of March 1829 it being the second day of quarterly term for Prince William March Court a report was handed him either by the said Aaron Grigsby his attorney or by one of the arbitrators in the suit which was then depending in the County Court of Prince William where Richard Foote assignee was plaintiff and Aaron Grigsby was defendant, that he was requested by the person thus handing it in or one of the parties interested perhaps the defendant to enter up judgment in said case according to said award which he this affiant did accordingly to said request supposing at the time that the matter was understood between the parties, and that it was his duty as deputy clerk to do so and this affiant further states that ------- the term of said Quarterly Court the case thus referred to was never called and he has reason to believe and does believe that the said Foote nor his counsel had any knowledge of the said award being entered up till after the court aforesaid had adjourned.








Jno Williams
Signed and sworn before us the subscribers as justices of the peace. September 7th 1829





Jno Fitzhugh





William Cleary
N. B.   The above are my impressions made at the time when I was very much hurried in Court.









Jno. Williams

The deposition of John Gibson Jr. taken at the same time and place to be read as evidence on the same occasion before mentioned.


This deponent of John Gibson Jr. taken at the same time and place to be read as evidence on the same occasion before mentioned.


This deponent being duly sworn deposeth and saith that he was counsel in a suit in the County Court of Prince William in the name of R. Foote against Aaron Grigsby by which as well as some other matters in dispute between them was referred to arbitrators to settle that a certain Charles Hunton and Charles Ming were two of the arbitrators if not the only two, that he heard of the substance of the award before any return made of the same and was directed by the said Foote when it was returned to use every exertion to set it aside as he considered it unjust and oppere--- which this affiant should have endeavored to have ___ had been notified of its being returned in time to have made any objection but the first intimation this affiant had of its being returned was after the adjournment of the court to which it was returned, when he was also informed that judgment was entered up according to the award notwithstanding the suit on the docket in which the order of reference was taken was not called during the term. After this affiant was apprised of the rendition of said judgment, he named to the said Grigsby and his counsel the surprise which had been practices and proposed that the judgment thus entered should be set aside by consent, so that the counsel for Foote should have an opportunity of contesting the validity of the award which he had intended to do, but for the surprise aforesaid – That proposition was however rejected – and further this deponent saith not.


Prince William County to Wit: Jno Gibson Jr. this day personally appears before us Justices of the Peace for said County and made oath that the forgoing deposition contains the truth to the best of his knowledge. Given under our hands this 7th day of September 1829.









Jno Fitzhugh









Wm. Cleary

TESTE – Jno Chew C.C.





3 June 1829

Prince William County Court

County Levy for 1829

The court proceeded to lay the county levy as follows:
To John Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth
(paid)



$350.00

To the Sheriff for keeping the jail






$  25.00

To Phillip D. Dawe clerk of the county court for public service
 (paid)


$  50.00

To Phillip D. Dawe for stationary exclusive of books
(paid)



$  15.00

To Jane Williams for fire wood & furnished the court assg. Jno Williams (paid)

$  40.00

To Samuel Fisher for patrolling 38 hours (4 cents per hour)



$    1.52

To Samuel C. Lewis for patrolling 38 hours





$    1.52
To James Reid for patrolling 30 hours





$    1.20

To John Blakely for patrolling 32 hours





$    1.28

To Francis M. Weems for 31 ½ hours  __ of Alexander & Reid


$    1.26

To James H. Reid for patrolling 18 hours





$      .72

To Jerry Dowell for patrolling 28 hours





$    1.12

To Thomas Cannon for patrolling 49 ½ hours




$    1.98

To Richard T. Harrison for patrolling 48 hours




$    1.92

To William C. Merchant for patrolling 45 ½ hours




$    1.82

To Thomas Stonnel  for patrolling 17 hours





$      .68

To Francis M. Weems for patrolling 57 hours




$    2.28

To Henry Marshall for patrolling 52 hours





$    2.08

To Alexander Shaw for patrolling 51 hours





$    2.04

To Alexander Morgan for patrolling 40 hours




$    1.60
To Michael Murphy for patrolling 63 hours





$    2.52

To Alexander Cole for patrolling 56 hours





$    2.24

To Basil Cole for patrolling 54 hours





$    2.16

To John A. Ratcliffe for patrolling 56 hours





$    2.24

To Daniel Carter for patrolling 56 hours





$    2.24

To Michael Coon surveyor of a road





$    2.52

To John Gibson Jr. per account  (paid)





$  16.38

To Joseph Johnson per account  (paid)





$    3.00

To James B. T. Thornton per account





$    7.00

To Thomas Hoff per account  (paid)





$    1.75

To Robert Lipscomb per account (use Jno Williams)




$    6.25

To Arrington Evans per overcharge 2 levies last year




$    1.30

To William Alsop surveyor of a road per account




$    3.00

To John T. Fairfax surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Levy Allen surveyor of a road per account




$    3.00

To John Storke surveyor of a road per account




$    3.00

To William Lynn surveyor of a road per account




$      .50

To Edmund Newman surveyor of a road per account




$      .50

To Jas P. Carter surveyor of a road per account




$      .50

To Richard T. Michael surveyor of a road per account  (paid)



$    3.00
To William J. Weldon surveyor of a road per account




$      .50

To William Clary & Company per account





$    8.75

To Benjamin Pridmore surveyor of a road per account



$      .50

To Harrison Cornwell surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00

To Walter Kees surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To John Carter surveyor of a road per account (paid)




$    1.50

To Samuel H. Fisher surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To John Tansill surveyor of a road per account (use of J. H. Reid)


$    3.00

To John Ashford surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To  Augustus Weidon for timber to repair a road




$      .50

To Mary Storke for timber to repair a road





$      .50

To Martha Chapman for timber to repair road




$    1.25

To Michael Clary for house & cart to repair road




$    1.00

To Walter King surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To George W. Jackson surveyor of a road per account



$    1.50

To Reubin Smar for killing wolves (paid)





$    4.00

To Martha Chapman cart &c. to work road





$    2.10

To Thomas Turner surveyor of a road





$    3.50

To William Able for timber to repair road





$      .75

To the heirs of Luke Cannon deceased for timber &c.




$    1.87

To Hedgman Murphy for wagon &c.





$    4.00

To Balis Grigsby for timber to repair a road





$    2.50
To Robert Hoard for timber to repair the road




$    1.60

To Harrison Golden for cart and oxen to work road




$    1.00

To William Calbert for horse and cart to work road




$    1.00

To Richard Brady for scalp of one old wolf





$  10.00

To Jas Savage surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Hedgeman Murphy – beaver dam for use of J. H. Reid



$  80.00

To William Ashmore cart, oxen & driver





$    2.50

To Francis Simpson surveyor of a road





$    2.00

To Benjamin Plummer surveyor of a road





$    3.00

To Jno L. Beveridge for wagon, horses &c.





$    3.00

To William Hutchison surveyor of a road





$    3.00

To Rhody Murdock surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00

To Jesse W. Davis surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00
To John Thomas surveyor of a road per account




$    2.25

To William Bryant surveyor of a road per account  (paid)



$    3.00

To Jno W. Howison surveyor of a road per account




$    5.35

To Henry Keys surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Robert Marshall surveyor of a road (paid)




$    3.00

To George ____  surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Francis Hampton for the scalp of 3 young wolves (paid)



$  12.00

To Willoughby W. Tebbs for wagon &c. to repair road



$    1.50

To Robert A. King for cart and horse to repair road




$      .50

To Hedgman Murphy surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Bernard Hooe for timber to repair road





$    2.00

To Frank Manuel for wagon &c. to make a road




$    1.50

To Rutt Johnson surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To James Fewell & Company per account





$  18.93

To John Carter surveyor of a road per account (paid)




$    2.00

To John Brawner surveyor of a road per account (paid)



$    2.50
To Jno L. Beveridge surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To the Sheriff of this county for public service




$  25.00

To John Gibson per account






$    7.98

To John Williams per account






$    3.00

To Benson Lynn per account






$    1.50

To Geo. W. Macrae superintendent of public buildings &c. for improvements &c.
$100.00

To commissioners appointed to contract for buildings a bridge over Cedar Run

$  66.95

To a fraction which will remain in Sheriffs hands




$320.50 ½ 

By 2814 tithables @ 52 cents






$1463.28

7 November 1829
James Fewell & Company vs Robert T. Brown
Attachment

(dismissed 6 March 1833 per order plaintiffs attorney)


Prince William County to wit: To Thomas B. Gaines constable of said County. Whereas James Fewell and Albert Newman joint merchants & partners trading under the firm and by the name and style of James Fewell and Company have this day complained before me James F. Macrae a justice of the peace said county, that Robert T. Brown is indebted to them in the sum of thirty seven dollars and eighty two cents, due upon an open account between said Brown & said James Fewell & Company for goods wares and merchandise sold said James Fewell & Company to said Brown and that the said Brown is removing out of said County privately and the said James Fewell & Albert Newman joint Merchants & Partners as aforesaid, having given bond and security according to law. These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you to attach the estate of the said Robert T. Brown or so much thereof as shall be of value sufficient to satisfy the said sum of thirty seven dollars and 82 cents with interest thereon from this 7th day of November 1829, and the costs, and such estate so attached in your hands to secure, or so to provide that the same may be liable to further proceedings thereon to be had at the next court to be held for this county; and that you then and there make return how you have executed this warrant. Given under my hand and seal this 7th day of November 1829.



.




G. W. Macrae (SEAL)

Execution of summon - The defendant has no property within my district except 20 bushels cole upon which I levied this attachment & by direction of the plaintiff I summoned William H. Tebbs, Jonathan Reaves, Edwin Hamilton, Travers C. Nash, James Drummonds, Wm. Strother to appear before the County Court of Prince William on the first day of December court 1829 as garnishee, they having effects in their hands belonging to the defendant or are his debtors









Thos B. Gaines, constable









November 9th 1829

Know all men by these presents that we James Fewell and Alfred Newman and John Williams are held and firmly bound to Robert T. Brown in the sum of Seventy Five Dollars and sixty four cents to be paid to the said Brown, his certain attorney, his executor administrators or assigns; for the true payments whereof we bind ourselves jointly and severally and several heirs, executors, and administrators, firmly by these presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 7th day of November 1829.

The condition of the above obligation is such, that whereas the above bound James Fewell and Albert Newman, as joint merchants and partners trading under the firm & by the name and style of James Fewell & Company, have this day applied to James W. F. Macrae, a justice of the peace for the county of Prince William for an attachment against the estate of Robert T. Brown above named, for the sum of thirty seven dollars and eighty two cents, which attachment has been granted, on previously entered into this bond, returnable to the next county court; if therefore the said James Fewell and Albert Newman shall satisfy and pay all costs which shall be awarded to the said Robert T. Brown, in case the said James Fewell and Albert Newman joint merchants & partners as aforesaid, shall be cast in the said suit, and else all damages which shall be recovered against the said James Fewell and Albert Newman for their suing out the said attachment, then the above obligation to be void, else to remain in full force and effect. Signed Sealed and delivered before me a justice of the peace for the said county of Prince William as aforesaid.







G. W. Macrae J.P.








James Fewell (SEAL)








Albert Newman (SEAL)

Jno Williams (SEAL)
1 February 1830

Report of Commissioners to Divide the Negroes of N. Haislip


Pursuant to a decree of the worshipful county court of Prince William bearing date the 4th day of January 1830. We the undersigned commissioners appointed by the aforesaid decree being first duly sworn proceeded to divide the slaves belonging to the estate of Nathan Haislip among his widow and children by assigning to Anna Haislip widow of said Nathan Haislip deceased one third part of said slaves according to valuation viz. Gabriel, Alice, Jack, Reuben, Hainey and Mary. We then divided the residue of the slaves according to valuation into four parts and caused each of the distributes to draw lots for their respective portions which said drawing as follows viz. No. 1 containing Mason, Flora, and William valued at $650 fell to Samuel Haislip, Lot No.2 containing Tolaver, Lucinda, & Moses and valued at $700 fell to Eveline Haislip. Lot No.3 containing Nelson, Tom, Sally and Peter valued at $710 fell to Michael House husband of Harriet House formerly Harriet Haislip, and Lot No.4 fell to Henry Haislip containing Alfred, Caroline, Lydia & Sophia and valued at $6.75 and in order to equalize  the aforesaid portions we have directed that $16.25 should be charged on Evelines part of which sum $8.75 should be paid to Henry Haislip to equalize his part and the residue of $7.50 should be paid by her to Sam C. Haislip which together with $26.25 chargeable on Michael House’s part and payable by him to Samuel Haislip equalize the portions of all, each being entitled according to the compensation to $683.75 worth of Slaves all of which is respectfully submitted to the court.





Given under our hands this 27th January 1830









P. Warder









W. H. Tebbs









Chas. Hunton

Prince William County to Wit:


Personally appeared before me the subscribed Phillip Warder and sworn to the within. Given under my hand this 27th day of January 1830



James B. T. Thornton

Prince William County to Wit:


William H. Tebbs personally appeared before me the subscriber and swore to the within – Given from under my hand this 28th day of January 1830.


B. Hamilton
Prince William County to Wit:


Charles Hunton personally appeared before me the subscriber and swore to the within – Given from under my hand this 29th day of January 1830.


B. Hamilton

8 June 1830

Prince William County Court

County Levy for 1830

The court proceeded to lay the county levy as follows:

To John Gibson Jr. attorney for the Commonwealth




$250.00

To Sheriff for keeping the Jail






$  25.00

To Phillip D. Dawe clerk of the court for public services



$  30.00

To P. D. Dawe for stationary exclusive of books




$  15.00

To Robert Lipscomb for fire wood & c furnished the court



$  40.00

To Jesse Ewell commissioner of revenue for stationary



$    6.00

To Robert Lipscomb jailor per account





$  47.17

To Michael Kohn surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Henry Keys for overcharge of one tythe in 1829




$    1.12

To John G. Rubbleman for overcharge of one tythe in 1829



$    1.12

To Benjamin Cole for overcharge of one tythe in 1829



$    1.12

To Fielding Jewell for overcharge of one tythe in 1829



$    1.12

To P. D. Dawe for record book bought of Kenedy in 1830



$  11.00

To John Brawner per account






$    3.00

To Henry Keys surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Sinclair & Moore per account






$    1.00

To John Hammill surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To John L. Bevedridge surveyor of a road per account



$    2.00

To Jesse W. Davis surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00

To Jesse E. Weems surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Thomas Fortune surveyor of a road per account




$    3.00

To Henry Fairfax surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Alexander Keys surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To James Savage surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To William Lynn surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Joseph Johnson surveyor of a road per account




$      .50

To Alex. Keys surveyor of a road per account




$      .75

To John Milstead surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Samuel Latimer surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00

To William Anderson surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Benjamin Cole surveyor of a road per account




$    2.25

To Thomas Norman surveyor of a road per account




$    2.10

To William A. Harrison for team &c 2 days





$    4.00

To William H. Fitzhugh for timber to repair road




$    1.00

To Mary Harrison for 2 teams working road 1 day




$    4.00
To Wm. H. Fitzhugh for timber to repair road




$    4.00

To John Stork surveyor of a road per account




$    3.00
To James Florence overseer of a road per account




$    3.00

To William Bowen overseer of a road per account




$    2.75

To Francis Simpson overseer of a road per account




$    2.50

To Walter Keys overseer of a road per account




$    1.50

To John Stone overseer of a road per account




$    3.00

To John W. Tyler for cart, oxen & working road 3 days



$    4.00

To Zephemiah Brawner surveyor of the road per account



$    1.50

To Benjamin Cole for timber &c. to repair road




$    2.73

To Benson Lynn for timber &c. to repair road




$    1.67

To Benjamin Pridmore for wagon & working on road




$    2.25

To John Carter surveyor of a road






$    2.00

To George Hill per account






$  10.50

To B. Nicholas per account






$    9.00

To Edward D. Fitzhugh for timber to repair road




$    5.00
To Allen Howison for cart and oxen to work on road 2 days



$    2.00

To Rutt Johnson overseer of a road for 3 days work




$    1.50

To John Soaper overseer of a road for 5 days work




$    2.50

To John Arnold surveyor of a road for 4 days work




$    2.00

To Benjamin Pridmore surveyor of a road for 2 days work



$    1.00

To John Ball for wagon & team to repair road




$    2.00

To Benson Lynn per account






$    2.00

To Wm. Bryant per account






$    2.00

To John Arnold for wagon and horses to work the road



$    1.25

To Allen Howison for cart and oxen to work on road




$    2.50

To Edward D. Fitzhugh for timber to repair road




$    3.00

To James Reeves surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Mrs. Dye for timbers to repair road





$    1.50

To Rhoda Murdock surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Rhoda Murdock for horse and cart to work on a road



$    1.00

To John Gibson Jr. per account






$    5.56 ½ 

To John Gibson Jr. for timbers to repair a road




$    4.00

To Jesse E. Weems for cart and oxen to work road




$    1.00

To Samuel Latimer per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$  15.37 ½ 

To Thomas Monroe per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$  17.25

To Richard Davis per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$  19.51

To Robt. Lipscomb per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$  45.68 ¾ 

To James Purcell per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$    2.25

To Larkin Murphy per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$  11.87 ½ 

To Alfred Murphy per account filed by George W. Macrae  



$    8.62 ½ 
To John Macrae  Exor for account filed by George W. Macrae commissioner

$  12.58 ¾ 

To Margery Brown per account






$    3.00

To Jesse McIntosh per account






$  34.50

To Thomas Turner surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Jas. D. Boughhannon surveyor of a road per account



$    3.25

To James P. Carter surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To Levi Allen surveyor of a road per account




$    1.75

To William Chick surveyor of a road per account




$    2.50

To Richard Stonnell surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Samuel Fisher surveyor of a road per account




$    1.00

To John W. Williams surveyor of a road per account




$    1.50

To Hedgeman Murphy for Waggon & working on a road



$    2.50

To John W. Williams Exor. of George Williams deceased for timber &c.

$    4.00

To Wm. Allen surveyor of a road per account




$    2.00

To John Thomas surveyor of a road per account




$    5.00
To James Fewell surveyor of a road per account




$    1.65

To James Fewell surveyor of a road per account




$    6.71 ½ 

To Mary S. Harrison for wagon and team to work road



$    2.50

To Abraham Williams (use of Mary Reid) per account



$    3.15

To Robert Latham to overcharge of 2 levies last year




$    2.24

To Seymore Lynn per account






$    1.25

To James Gwatkins per account






$    5.00

To Jesse McIntosh in a petition to his account rendered this court


$    5.00

To Richard Foot per account






$    5.00

To John Macrae Exor. per account






$    2.72

This sum in addition to levies heretofore made for building a bridge over Cedar Run

For the use of Wm. Dickinson but not to be paid over until the further order of the court.
$500.00 










$1329.25

To commission collecting $1669.82 at 6 per cent




$100.18
To a fraction which will remain in the collections




$240.40










$1669.82

By 2879 tithables at 58 cents






$1669.82

3 January 1831

Commonwealth to Weedon – Account
The Commonwealth of Virginia To John Weedon constable of Prince William County


To serving peace warrant on Thomas Nelson





$0.63


To 1 day serving in conveying the said Nelson to jail.




$1.04


To traveling 36 miles conveying the same to jail & returning at 4 cents per mile

$1.44


To the hire of horse for the prisoner to ride.





$1.00


To serving peace warrant on Alfred Arrington




$1.26


To 1 day service in conveying said Arrington to jail 




$1.04


To traveling 36 miles conveying the same to jail & returning at 4 cents per mile

$1.44


To hire of a horse for the prisoner






$1.00


To summoning 3 witnesses for the Commonwealth




$0.84


To the services of 3 guards 1 day in conveying the prisoner to jail at 4 cents per day.
$3.12


To mileage for each guard in conveying the prisoner to jail and returning 36 miles


      For each in all 108 miles at 4 cents.





$4.32 











$17.13



Sworn to in Court – Jno Williams D.S. – January 23rd 1831

3 January 1831

Commonwealth vs Jonathan Riley


Prince William County, to wit: Be it remembered that on the 3rd day of January in the year 1833. Jonathan Riley in the County aforesaid, laborer, & Joshua Riley of the same county, laborer came before me one of the Commonwealth’s Justices of the peace for the County aforesaid, and acknowledged themselves to owe to John Floyed Esq. Governor or chief magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia and his successors, to wit, the said Jonathan Riley the sum of one hundred dollars, and the said Joshua Riley the sum of one hundred dollars, current money of Virginia, to be respectively levied and made of their several goods and chattels, lands and testaments, to the use of the Commonwealth aforesaid. If he the said Jonathan Riley, shall fail in performance the condition under written.

The condition of this recognizance is such, that if the above bound Jonathan Riley, shall personally appear at the next court to be holden in and for the County of Prince William aforesaid, to do and receive what shall then and there be enjoined him by the said Court, and in the mean time shall keep the peace (or be of good behaviour, or shall keep the peace, and be of good behaviour) towards the Commonwealth and all its citizens, and especially towards Daniel Cole, and Richard H. Cole of Haymarket in the said County, Blacksmiths. Then the said recognizance shall be void or else remain in full force.








R. Hamilton J.P.


Prince William County, to wit: Be it remembered that on the 3rd day of January in the year 1833. Jonathan Riley in the County yeoman, & Joshua Riley of the same county, yeoman came before me one of the Commonwealth’s Justices of the peace for the County aforesaid, and acknowledged themselves to owe to John Floyd Esquire Governor or chief magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia and his successors to wit, the said Jonathan Riley the sum of one hundred dollars, the said Joshua Riley the sum of one hundred dollars, current money of Virginia, to be respectively levied and made of their several goods and chattels, lands and testaments, to the use of the Commonwealth aforesaid. If he the said Jonathan Riley, shall fail in performing the condition under written.


The condition of this recognizance is such, that if the above bound Jonathan Riley, shall personally appear at the next court to be holden in and for the County of Prince William aforesaid, to do and receive what shall then and there be enjoined him by the said Court, and in the mean time shall keep the peace, and be of good behaviour towards the Commonwealth and all its citizens, and especially towards Daniel Cole, and Richard H. Cole of Haymarket in the said County, yeomen Then the said recognizance shall be void or else remain in full force.


Jonathan Riley







Joshua Riley
18 January 1831

Larkin & Others vs Washington


The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: We command you that justly and without delay, you cause to be (replivied ?)to William Larkin next friend of George W. Larkin, John F. Larkin and Julia Larkin one negro boy slave named David of the price of $125 which N. L. Washington by Beverly Hutchison deputy for Jno Hooe Jr. sheriff of Prince William County took and unjustly detains as it is said, and after him thereof, justly to be deduced &c. that no more clamour thereupon we hear for defect of justice, and that you summon the said Washington to appear before the justices of our said County Court, at the court house on the first Monday in February next to answer the said William Larkin next friend of the said George W. Larkin, John F. Larkin and Julia Larkin of the wrongful taking and detaining the said negro boy slave named David of the price and value aforesaid. Damage $500 and have then there this writ. Witness P. D. Dawe clerk of our said Court at the Court House the 18th day of January 1831 and in the 55th year of our foundation.








P. D. Dawe

Executed – P. Norvill deputy for Jno Hooe Jr.

(On the back of document is written – “We the jury find that the within mentioned were justified for the plaintiff.”)


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Michael Ashford to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said County, on the 2nd day of March 1833, to testify and to the truth to speak on behalf of the Plaintiff in a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in said court between Wm. Larkin (next friend of George W. Larkin &c.) plaintiff and N. L. Washington defendant. And this he shall in no wise omit under penalty of $100: And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said County, at the Court House aforesaid, this 22 day of November 1832, and in the 57th year of the Commonwealth.



Jno Williams

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Jas Purcell to appear before the justices of our said County immediately to testify and to the truth to speak on behalf of the Defendant in a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in said court between Wm. Larkin next friend of George W. Larkin &c. plaintiff and N. L. Washington defendant. And this he shall in no wise omit under penalty of $100: And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said County, at the Court House aforesaid, this 22 day of November 1832, and in the 57th year of the Commonwealth.




Jno Williams

7 February 1831
Commonwealth of Virginia to 

James S. Jackson const., Mason French asst. const., John Tansill asst. const.

22 February 1830 To executing warrant on Manassas Russell for breach of the peace

$0.63

22 February 1830 To summoning six witnesses for the Commonwealth against Russell

$1.26

9 September 1830 To executing warrant on Chas G. Turner charged with felony


$0.63

9 September 1830 To conveying said Turner to jail of Prince William County 33 miles



  and same returning at 4 cents per mile




$2.64

9 September 1830  To ferriage paid across Potomac in pursuit of said Turner


$2.50

9 September 1830  To jail 33 miles with said Turner & same returning a 4 cents per mile each
$5.28
9 September 1830  To hire of horse for said Turner to ride to Jail



$1.00

11 September 1830 To executing warrant on Negro Eliza charged with felony


$0.63

11 September 1830 To conveying said slave to jail of PWC 15 miles & same returning

$1.44

11 September 1830 To guard of two men assisting taking Negro Eliza to jail


$2.88

11 September 1830 To executing warrant on Negro man Charles charged with felony

$0.63

11 September 1830 To conveying said Charles to the jail of PWC 18 miles & returning

$1.44

11 September 1830 To guard of two men who assisted in taking said Charles to jail

$2.88

16 October 1830 To executing warrant on James N. Hickey charged with felony 


$0.63
16 October 1830 To summoning 10 witnesses to called court Commonwealth vs Hickey

$2.10

16 October 1830 To summoning 11 witnesses to Nov. Court in same case.


$2.31

16 October 1830 To conveying said Hickey to jail of PWC 10 miles & returning


$0.80

16 October 1830 To guard of two men summon to assist conveying said Hickey to jail



 10 miles & same returning





$1.60

16 October 1830  To horse for Hickey to ride





$1.00

03 November 1830 To executing warrant on Charles G. Turner charged with misdemeanor  in



        receiving stolen goods





$0.63

03 November 1830  To summoning 4 witnesses in Commonwealth vs Turner


$0.84 











$33.75







Sworn to in open court – Jno Williams D.C.








Jas. S. Jackson  constable








Mason French   deputy constable








Jno. Tansill   deputy constable

7 March 1831

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Lipscomb

Cuthbert Harris sworn to give evidence to Grand Jury

“A True Bill”


Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County to wit: The Jurors of the Grand Jury for the County aforesaid, empanelled, sworn, & charged for the Commonwealth this seventh day of March in the year one thousand eight hundred & thirty one, on their oath present that on the twelfth day of February eighteen hundred & thirty one, Robert Lipscomb, labourer, late of the county aforesaid, with force &  arms in and upon one Cuthbert Harris did make an assault & him the said Cuthbert Harris then & there did beat, bruise, wound & ill-treat with sticks, staves & axes & with his fists, so that his life was greatly despaired of & other wrongs to the said Cuthbert Harris then & there did to the great damage of him to said Cuthbert Harris & against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.






Cuthbert Harris of Fauquier County prosecutor




B. Hooe acting as attorney for the Commonwealth for Prince William County

7 March 1831

Daniel Larkin vs John Reid’s Estate


To Edmund Brooke late sheriff of Prince William County to whom the estate of John Reid deceased has been committed for administration.


Take notice that on the first day of May Court to be held for Prince William County I shall move said court for judgment against you for the sum of two hundred and ninety dollars and seventy five cents with legal interest thereon from the 4th day of January 1817 which said sum of $291,75 being the amount paid by Thomas Larkin deceased viz. intestate to Sarah Tyler administrix and Jno M. Tyler and Richard B. Tyler administrator of Charles Tyler deceased in discharge of an execution issued upon the Clerks Office of the County Court of Prince William on a judgment of the said Court rendered on a Replevy Bond given by the said John Reid to the said Charles Tyler in which bond the said Thomas Larkin was security for John Reid.






Daniel Larkin Administrator







of Thomas Larkin deceased








March 7th 1831
5 February 1832
Commissioners Office


Commissioners Office, Brentsville, February 5th 1832.


In obedience to the annexed order of the court of Prince William referring to me the Guardianship account of Travers Davis on the estates of his wards Julia Byrne, Lydia E. Byrne and Hugh J. Byrne orphans of Darby B. Byrne deceased and the exceptions filed thereto, I have examined and considered the papers referred. It appears to your commissioner that the charges numbered 1.2.3, and the sum of $12.50 credited in the account have nothing to do with the transactions of said Davis as Guardian of the said orphans (illegible) charges and that credit grew out of the following circumstances and proceedings, namely, sometime after the allotment of Dower to the widow and the division of the lands of Darby B. Byrne amongst his heirs, John F. Jackson applied to the County Court of Prince William for leave to open a Road through the land of Lydia E. Byrne and the court, after proceeding regularly in the case, granted it. Travers Davis and James P. Carter being dissatisfied with the opinion and judgment of the court applied as the next friends of said Lydia E. Byrne to the Superior Court of Law for a writ of Supersideas which was awarded, and when the cause was heard the Superior Court affirmed the judgment of the county court and gave judgment against Travers Davis and James P. Carter for costs. The costs expended in that controversy were paid by Travers Davis who received the damages, assessed by the jury impaneled under the writ of ad quod damnum which was levied by the court for Lydia E. Byrne. The $12.50 damages was not enough by $5.78, to pay the costs expended, but your commissioners is of opinion that the guardian has no right to introduce these transactions into an account with his said ward Lydia E. Byrne for the purpose of charging her with the difference, because he was not acting under the appointment (page torn) conferred on him by the court; and cannot have any better claims to the difference than James P. Carter, who was associated with him would have had if he had received the damages, assessed by the jury and levied by the court, and paid the costs incurred by prosecuting the Supersideas. The charge numbered 4 not being supported by evidence is rejected. The charge numbered 5 is not a proper one and therefore rejected.

The Guardian shows himself indebted to Hugh J. Byrne by the last credit in his account twenty-five cents for $150 Hoop poles.


The above statement disposes of every thing embraced in the account formerly returned to the court and of all the exceptions except the first second and third there was no evidence offered (page torn) of the second exception. The rents mentioned in the first exception amounting to one hundred and five dollars were proved to have been received by Travers Davis and also the sum of $5 for rails sold to Jno F. Jackson as mentioned in the third exception; but as these sums were received before dower in the lands of Darby B. Byrne was allotted to his widow and when she had a right to occupy the Mansion house and the appurtenances and tenement belonging thereto, and to take the rents, issues & profits thereof without being bound to account with the heirs for the same, it is the opinion of your commissioners that the Guardian is not bound to account with his wards for any of said sums, but they are matters of account between Travers Davis and the widow.

So it appears, upon the whole matter referred, that there is no account between the Guardian and his wards, except twenty-five cents due from him to Hugh J. Byrne.






Cost witnesses attendance


$1.06


Commissioners fee for time spent in examining witnesses and making this report 6 hours
$3.75



M. B. Sinclair   M.C.





$4.81

14 June 1832

Overseers of the Poor to John W. Williams
Mary Frances Cole – Apprentice


This Indenture made this 14th day of June in the year of our lord Eighteen Hundred & Thirty Two and in the Fifty Seventh Year of the Independence of the United States of America between John W. Williams Overseer of the Poor of the County of Prince William of the one part and John A. Ratcliffe of the County of the other part. Witnesseth that the said John W. Williams, Overseer of the Poor as aforesaid have put, placed & bound and by these presents do put place & bind Mary Frances Cole to be an apprentice with him the said John A. Ratcliffe, And as an apprentice with him the said John Ratcliffe to dwell from the date of these presents until she shall come to the age of eighteen years, according to an act of the general assembly in that case made and provided. By and during all which time the said Mary Frances Cole shall the said John A. Ratcliffe well & truly serve, in all such lawful business as she shall be put to according to the best of her ability, And honestly & obediently to behave herself to her said master and orderly to the rest of the family. And the said John A. Ratcliffe for his part for himself his executors and administrators doth hereby promise and convince to and with the overseers of the poor, and every of their executors, administrators and successors for the time being and to and with the said Mary Frances Cole that the said John A. Ratcliffe shall the said Mary Frances Cole. Teach or cause to be taught the craft, mastery or occupation of a spinster, after the best manner that he can, or may teach as much so as there unto belongeth or in any wise appert---ith with.  And shall find and allow to the said apprentice sufficient meat, drink, apparel, lodging and all other things. And shall teach or cause to be taught to the said apprentice, Reading, writing and arithmetic and will moreover pay to the said apprentice the sum of twelve dollars at the expiration of the said term. In witness whereof the parties, to these presents have interchangeably set their hands and seals the day & year first above mentioned.









John A. Ratcliffe  (SEAL)









John W. Williams (SEAL)









Thomas Nelson (SEAL

21 July 1832

Wm. Cleary & Company vs Wm. C. Murphy


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: Whereas William Cleary, James D. Kerr and Norman R. Fitzhugh joint merchants and partners trading under the firm and style of Wm. Cleary & Company at a court of quarterly sessions continued and held for Prince William County the 9th day of March 1831, before the justices of the said court by the judgment of the court, had recovered against William C. Murphy $107.29 with legal interest thereon from the 8th July 1830 until paid for debt, and also $9.51 for their costs by them about their suit in that behalf expended; whereof the said William C. Murphy is convict, as appears to us of record; nevertheless execution thereof still remains to be made. And whereas, since the rendering of the said judgment, the said William C. Murphy hath departed this life intestate as it is said, and administration de bonis non of his estate hath been in due form committed to James H. Reid. Therefore we command you that you make known to the said James H. Reid administrator de bonis non of the estate of Wm. C. Murphy deceased that he be before the justices of our said county court of Prince William, at the courthouse of said county, on the first Monday in August next, to shew, if any thing for himself he hath or can say, why the said Wm. Cleary & Company execution of the goods and chattels of the said William C. Murphy deceased, in his hands to be administered, ought not to have, according to the force and effect of the judgment aforesaid, if to them it shall seem expedient; and further to do and receive what our said court shall in this part consider. And have then there this writ. Witness Jno Williams clerk of our said court, at the court house aforesaid this 21st day of July 1832 and in the 57th year of our foundation.








Jno Williams

Executed – Basil Brawner deputy for Jesse Ewell, Sheriff

On back - “We the Jury find for the plaintiff the debt in scire facias mentioned with interest on $107.39 from the 8th day of July 1830 till paid”       W. B. Dade

6 August 1832

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Thomas Y. Canby

Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: The Jurors of the Grand Jury for the county aforesaid empanelled, sworn and charged for the Commonwealth this sixth day of August in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty two on their oaths present that Thomas Y. Canby miller late of the county aforesaid.


On the ninth day of June in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty two at the county aforesaid with force and arms one Henry D. Selecman in the peace of God and the Commonwealth , then and there being, did make an assault and him the said Henry D. Selecman then and there did beat wound and ill-treat so that his life was greatly despaired of and other wrongs to be said Henry D. Selecman then and there did, to the great damage of the said Henry D. Selecman and against the Peace and Dignity of the Commonwealth.







John Gibson Jun attorney for the Commonwealth
 for the County Court of Prince  William.

10 September 1832

Summon for John Sullivan Jun.


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon John Sullivan Jun. (Surveyor of the road leading from Blands Ford to Lynn’s shop) to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in November next, to answer a presentment of the Grand Jury made against him in the said Court, on the 6th day of August 1832. “for not keeping the road leading from Blands Ford to Lynn’s Shop in good and lawful repair within six months last past” and to shew cause if any he can why information should not be filed on said presentment.


And have then there this writ: Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid, this 10th day of September 1832, and in the 57th year of our foundation.









Jno. Williams


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to as at another time we have commanded you to summon John Sullivan Jun. (Surveyor of the road leading from Blands Ford to Lynn’s shop) to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in March next, to answer a presentment of the Grand Jury made against him in the said Court, on the 6th day of August 1832. “for not keeping the road leading from Blands Ford to Lynn’s Shop in good and lawful repair within six months last past” and to shew cause if any he can why information should not be filed on said presentment.


And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid, this 26th day of November 1832, and in the 57th year of our foundation.









Jno. Williams

22 September 1832

Thomas Y. Canby vs James Reid

Judgment by Default

Escape Warrant


To all Sheriffs, Sergeants, Bailiffs, and Constables within the Commonwealth of Virginia. Prince William County to Wit:


Complaint being this day made to you upon oath by Basil Brawner deputy for Jesse Ewell sheriff and keeper of the Jail of Prince William County that James Reid who was committed to the Jail of said County for want of bail at the suit of Thomas Y. Canby is a plea of trespass on the case damage $45.04 in the County Court of Prince William, did on or about the 17th day of September, instant, make his escape out of the Jail of the said County and now going at large. These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you and every of you in your respective counties, towns, cities, and precincts to seize and retake the said James Reid, and him so retaken to commit to the prison where debtors are usually kept in the county where he is so retaken & deliver him to the keeper thereof together with this warrant hereby commanding and requiring the said keeper to secure the said James Reid and him safely keep in the said Jail until a certificate under the hand of the Clerk of the said County Court, that the said James Reid hath given bail in the said suit be delivered to you, or until he be thence discharged by due course of law, and return this warrant to the said County Court of Prince William pursuant to the Act of the General Assembly in that case made and provided. Given under my hand and seal this 22nd day of September 1832.










(SEAL)

On back of warrant – “I made diligent search for the within named defendant James Reid but could not find him. I also placed copies of this in the hands of other persons.





B. Brawner D.S. for Jesse Ewell Sheriff of Prince William County

Summon

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: We command you that you take James Reid if he be found in your bailiwick, and him safely keep, so that you have his body before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house, on the first Monday in August next, to answer Thomas Y. Canby of a plea of trespass on the case Damage $45.04. And have then there this writ. Witness, Jno Williams, Clerk pro tem of our said court, the 6th day of June 1832 and in the 56th year of our foundation.









Jno Williams

Executed on James Reid – Jas. E. Williams D.S. for Jesse Ewell, sheriff

Bail Bond


Prince William County to wit: Memorandum, that, upon the 7th day of June 1832 Hugh W. Davis of the County of Prince William personally appeared before me and undertook for James Reid at the suit of Thomas Y. Canby in an action of Debt now depending in the County Court of Prince William, that in case the said James Reid shall be cast in the said suit, he the said James Reid, will pay and satisfy the condemnation of the court or render his body to prison in execution for the same, or that he said High W. Davis will do it for him. Given under my hand this 7th day of June 1832.








Jas Williams D.S. for









Jesse Ewell

I acknowledge the above recognizance of bail & testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my seal this 7th day of June 1832.








Hugh W. Davis (SEAL)

8 October 1832

Commonwealth vs Davis


The Commonwealth of Virginia: To the Sheriff of Prince William County Greetings: Whereas John H. Keyes and Richard Davis at a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County the 8th day of March 1832 personally appeared before the justices of the said county court and acknowledged themselves severally indebted to John Floyd Governor or Chief Magistrate of this Commonwealth, the said John H. Keyes in the sum of $100 and the said Richard Davis in the like sum of $100 of their respective goods and chattels, lands, and tenements, to be levied, and to the aid Governor or his successors for the use of the Commonwealth rendered yet upon condition that if the said John H. Keys should personally appeared before the justices of our said county court of Prince William on the first day of June Court then next to answer a presentment made against him by the Grand Jury at August term 1829 for disturbing a religious assembly while engaged in the performance of Divine Service at New Brentown Meeting House within three months previous to said presentment then the said recognizance was to be void, or by said recognizance now remaining among the records of our said county court manifestly appears. And whereas the said John H. Keys hath failed to make his personal appearance before the justices of our said county court of Prince William at the time and place aforesaid according to the condition of the said recognizance as appears to us of record. And whereas the said Richard Davis hath departed this life having first made his last will and testament in writing and administration with said will annexed of all and singular his goods chattels and credits hath been in due form committed to Sarah B. Davis. Therefore we command you that you make known to the said Sarah B. Davis administratrix with the will annexed of Richard Davis deceased that she be before the justices of our said county court of Prince William at the court house, on the first Monday in March next to shew if any thing for herself she hath or can say, why the said John Floyd Governor or chief magistrate as aforesaid for the use of the said Commonwealth execution against her the said Sarah B. Davis administrix with the will annexed of Richard Davis deceased of the sum of money aforesaid according to the force form and effect of the recognizance aforesaid ought not to have if to us it shall sum expedient and further to do and receive what our said county court, then and there, of her in this part shall consider. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said county court, at the court house this 27th day of November 1832 and in the 57th year of our foundation.









John Williams


Executed on Sarah B. Davis by Samuel Tansill deputy sheriff for Jesse Ewell, Sheriff October 8th 1832

27 November 1832

Commonwealth vs Grigsby

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Spotswood Grigsby to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in March next, to answer a presentment of the Grand Jury, made against him in the said court, on the 5th day of November 1832 “for unlawful gaming, to wit: with cards, at or near a publick meeting or preaching at Sudley in the County aforesaid the same being a place of public resort within six months last past”


And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid, this 27th day of November 1832, and in the 57th year of our foundation.









Jno. Williams


“We the jury find the defendant not guilty – B. Farrow

February 1833

Prince William County to R. Lipscomb


To R. Lipscomb putting up stove & chimney in Court House


               And furnishing materials





$7.00


The Sheriff to pay out of the $500 levy for repairs &c.
March 1833

Magistrates Nominations


The magistrates of the county were summoned by an order of February court to attend, on the first day of March court to nominate persons as justices of the peace for this contract order or summons was executed on all the justices of the county except C. S. Carter esquire but that, in consequence of the extreme inclemency of the weather, but few of the acting justices attended at March Court, and that five only of said justices were on the bench where Jesse E. Weems and Mason L. Weems were nominated to the executive to fill the vacancies occasioned by the resignation of James H. Reid and Frederick Muschett (said Reid resides at Brentsville & Muschett within three miles of Brentsville and above it – that Jesse E. Weems resides near Dumfries & 12 or 14 miles from Brentsville, & Mason L. Weems resides at Occoquan and about 16 miles below Brentsville) The notice to Charles S. Carter esquire was left at his dwelling house but not given to any white person, nor was it’s object explained to any person on the premises. Mr. Carter being in Richmond as a member of the General Assembly.

2 March 1833

Commonwealth vs Jno. Murray


To the keeper of the Jail of said County, These are in the name of the Commonwealth to command you to receive into your Jail the body of John Murray late of the County aforesaid Cooper taken by my warrant and bought before me being charged upon oath by Alexander Skinner of the said County with beating and wounding Robert Adams and Alpheus M. Clarke in an affray by the said John Murray lately made and that you safely keep him in your jail and custody until he be thence discharged by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal this 2nd day of March in the year of our Lord 1833.









John W. Williams  (SEAL)

01 March 1833

Commonwealth vs John Murray

Prince William County to wit:

Whereas Alexander Skinner of the said county hath this day made oath before me John W. Williams one of the Commonwealth Justices of the Peace for the County aforesaid that on the 1st day of March 1833 John Murray of the County of Prince William aforesaid cooper at the house occupied by Elizabeth Thompson or Elizabeth McDuffee he true name not certainly known and the said John Murray in the Town of Dumfries in the said County in a tumultuous manner made an affray wherein the persons of Robert Adams and Alpheus M. Clark was beaten and abused by him the said John Murray without any lawful or sufficient provocation given to him by the said Robert Adams and Alpheus M. Clark.


These are therefore to command you forthwith to apprehend the said John Murray and bring him before me or some other Justice of the Peace for the said County to answer the premises and to find sureties as well for his personal appearance at the Court House to be held for the said county an for his keeping the peace in the mean time towards all our good people and especially towards the said Robert Adams and the said Alpheus M. Clarke. Herein fail not at your peril – Given under my hand and seal this 1st day of March 1833







Jno. W. Williams (SEAL)

Prince William County to Wit:
 Memorandum upon this 2nd day of March in the year 1833 Robert Adams and Alexander Skinner all of the County of Prince William & State of Virginia came before me John W. Williams a justice of the peace for the county aforesaid and each of them of his proper person acknowledged himself indebted to John Floyd Esquire Governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia and his successors in the sum of twenty dollars to be levied severally of each of their goods and chattels lands and tenement  respectively to the use of the said Commonwealth upon condition that each of them do personally appear before the Commonwealth’s justices of the peace for the said County of Prince William on the first Monday of March 1833 at a court by them to be held at the Court House of the said County for the examination of John Murray and do then and them on behalf of the said Commonwealth give such evidence as he knoweth against the said John Murray concerning the matters herewith he is charged and that neither he nor either of them do depart without leave of the said court then this recognizance to be void else to remain in full force acknowledged before me.









Jno. W. Williams J. P.

5 March 1833

Hamilton vs Henry


Prince William County to wit: Robert Hamilton of the said County complains that John Henry hath lawfully turned him out of possession of a certain tenement containing by estimation including two fields which the said Hamilton rented to Mrs. Judith Henry three hundred and thirty acres of land, with the appurtenances lying and being in the County aforesaid, whereof he prays restitution of the possessions.









Robert Hamilton

Prince William County to wit: This day the above named Robert Hamilton made oath before me a Justice of the Peace for the said County that he verily believes the allegations of the above complaint to be correct and true. 
Given under my hand this 20th day of February 1833.



Albert Newman 

Prince William County to Wit: Whereas Robert Hamilton hath made complaint on oath before me a Justice of the Peace for said County that John Henry unlawfully turned him out of possession of a certain tenement or tract of land containing by estimation (including two fields which the said Hamilton rented to Mrs. Judith Henry) here hundred and thirty acres of land with its appurtenances lying and being in the said County and hath prayed restitution of the possession thereof. These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you to summon the said John Henry to appear at the Court House of your county on the 5th day of March 1833 before the justices of the county aforesaid to answer the complaint aforesaid; and also to require you to summon at least eighteen good and lawful men being freeholders of your bailiwick and not of kin to either party then and there to be attendant upon the said Justices as jurors, to try the complaint aforesaid. You are furthermore required to give notice of this warrant to at least two other justices of the peace for the said county and to require them attend and at the time and place aforesaid; and have them there this writ. Witness my hand and seal this 20th day of February 1833.


To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Albert Newman  (SEAL)
Executed by Giving to John Henry – Copy on the 21st February 1833







Jas. D. Tennille deputy for Jesse Ewell sheriff
This warrant has been made known to the following justices, Jas B. T. Thornton, Wm. H. Tebbs, Stuart G. Thornton.





Jas. D. Tennille deputy 

for Jesse Ewell, sheriff

Executed on the following persons to attend as jurors Burkitt Newman, C. C. Cushing, John D. Dogan, William M. Lewis, Richard B. Tyler, Benjamin Pridmore, Francis M. Lewis, Jas Howison, Rowland Florence, Allen Howison, Rutt Johnson, Daniel Larkin, Joseph Johnson, William Larkin, Wesley D. Wheeler, Robert T. Howison, William P. Cundiff, John B. Cannon.
 



Jas. D. Tennille deputy 









       for J. Ewell sheriff

6 March 1833

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Selecman

“A True Bill”


Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: The jurors of the Grand Jury for the County, aforesaid, empanelled, sworn and charged for the Commonwealth this sixth day of August in the year one thousand and eight hundred & thirty three on their oaths present that Henry Selecman yeoman late of the County aforesaid.


On the ninth day of June in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty two at the county aforesaid with force and arms on one Thomas Y. Canby in the peace of God. And of the Commonwealth then and there being did make an assault and him the said Thomas Y. Canby then and there did beat, wound and ill-treat so that his life was greatly despaired of and other wrongs to the said Thomas Y. Canby. Then and there did to the great damage of the said Thomas Y. Canby and against the Peace and Dignity of the Commonwealth.
6 March 1833

Commonwealth vs John Riley


Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that on the 3rd day of January in the year 1833. Joshua Riley in said County, laborer. Jonathan Riley and John Ellis, both in the County aforesaid laborers, came before me one of the Commonwealth justices of the peace for the County aforesaid and acknowledged themselves to owe to John Floyed, Esquire Governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, to wit, the said Joshua Riley, the sum of one hundred dollars and the said Jonathan Riley the sum of Fifty dollars, and the said John Ellis, the sum of Fifty dollars, current money of Virginia, to be respectively levied and made of their several goods and chattels, lands and tenements, to the use of the Commonwealth aforesaid. If he the said Joshua Riley shall fail in performing the conditions under written.

The condition of this recognizance is such, that if the above bound Joshua Riley, shall personally appear at the next Court, in and for the County of Prince William aforesaid to do and receive what shall, then and there be enjoined him by the said court and in the meantime shall keep the peace, or be of the good behaviour; or shall keep the peace, and be of good behaviour towards the Commonwealth and all its citizens, and especially towards Daniel Cole and Richard H. Cole, both of Haymarket in the said County, Blacksmiths. Then the said recognizance shall be void, or else remains in full force.








T. Hamilton J.P.
Recognizance

Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that on the 3rd day of January in the year 1833. Joshua Riley in said County, laborer. Jonathan Riley and John Ellis, both in the County aforesaid laborers, came before me one of the Commonwealth justices of the peace for the County aforesaid and acknowledged themselves to owe to John Floyed, Esquire Governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, to wit, the said Joshua Riley, the sum of one hundred dollars and the said Jonathan Riley the sum of Fifty dollars, and the said John Ellis, the sum of Fifty dollars, current money of Virginia, to be respectively levied and made of their several goods and chattels, lands and tenements, to the use of the Commonwealth aforesaid. If he the said Joshua Riley shall fail in performing the conditions under written.


The condition of this recognizance is such, that if the above bound Joshua Riley, shall personally appear at the next Court, in and for the County of Prince William aforesaid to do and receive what shall, then and there be enjoined him by the said court and in the meantime shall keep the peace, or be of the good behaviour; or shall keep the peace, and be of good behaviour towards the Commonwealth and all its citizens, and especially towards Daniel Cole and Richard H. Cole, both of Haymarket in the said County, Blacksmiths. Then the said recognizance shall be void, or else remains in full force.









Joshua Riley









Jonathan Riley









John Ellis

6 March 1833

Prince William County to Lipscomb


Prince William County to Ro Lipscomb allowed & ordered to be recorded


To Repairing Jail wall and furnishing a part of the bricks


$2.25


Laborers wages







$0.34


2 bushels & ½ mortar






$1.25 










$3.84

9 March 1833

Commonwealth of Virginia to

R. Lipscomb jailor of Prince William County


To dieting Scarlet Renoe one day confined in jail for felony


$  0.34


To releasing said Renoe






$  0.21


To committing said Renoe under subsequent warrant charged with felony.
$  0.21


To dieting said Scarlet Renoe 66 days from 10 March to 14 May both days
$22.00 










$22.76

6 May 1833

Graham vs Holmes – Order


Prince William County Court, May 6th 1833. Huriah Graham having obtained an attachment against the estate of Fontain Holmes who hath privately removed out of this County or conceals himself, so that the ordinary process of law cannot be served on him for debt. And James Purcell constable having made return that he had executed the said attachment on #1 small rose blanket, 3 sleeve boards, 1 sponge cloth, 1 Taylors Iron, 1 Iron ring, 2 old blue cloth coats, 2 pair of old pantaloons, 1 blue cloth, 1 mixed casinet, 1 bunch cabbage, 1 small box & varies articles therein, 1 white counterpin, 1 small jar preserves, 1 Britaney Tumbler, 1 doz. impress glass cups plates, 2 dito preserve plates, 1 cake pann, 1 small claw 1 hammer, 1 brass candle sticks & steal springs smuffers, 1 dozen knives & forkes, 1 small ball thread, 2 trunks, 1 sign & I have summoned Wm. J. Weldon as a garnishee & James Fewell also. This day came the plaintiff and his attorney and the defendant being solemnly called and not appearing to replevy the same. It is considered by the court that the plaintiff recover against the defendant $92.52 with interest from 29th March 1833 until paid. And his cost by him in this behalf expended and it is ordered that Jas Purcell constable make sale of the property aforesaid by him attached as the law directs and out of the money arising from such sale, pay and satisfy this judgment to the plaintiff and return the overplus if any to the defendant and return an account of such sale, to the next court. And Wm. J. Weldon a garnishee in this court appeared in proper person who being sworn declared that he stood indebted to the defendant in the sum of one dollar and twenty-five cents and no more. It is further considered that the plaintiff recover against the said Wm. J. Weldon one dollar and twenty five cents towards satisfying the same judgment. – Plaintiffs costs $5.11








Teste – Jno Williams

Graham vs Holmes – Note


On Demand I promise & bind myself my heirs &c. to pay unto Huriah Graham the full and just sum of ninety two dollars & fifty two cents for value received. Witness my hand & seal the 29th day of March 1833.





Fountain (his mark) Holmes (SEAL)








Teste -   R. Leachman
Graham vs Holmes – Attachment

Warrant of attachment where the money is do.


Prince William County , To Wit: To James Purcell, constable of the said county. Whereas Huriah Graham hath this day complained before me Redmon Foster a justice of the peace for the said county, that Fountain Holmes is indebted to him in the sum of ninety two dollars and fifty two cents with interest thereon from the 29th day of March 1833 due by note under seal and the said Fountain Holmes absconds or so conceals himself as that the ordinary process of Law cannot be served upon him and the said Huriah Graham having given bond and security according to law: These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth, to require you to attach the estate of the said Fountain Holmes or so much thereof as shall be of value sufficient to satisfy the said sum of $92.52 together with interest thereon from the 29th day of March 1833 and the costs; and such estate so attached in your hands to secure, or so to provide that the same may be liable to further proceedings thereon to be had at the next court to be held for this county; and that you then and there make return how you have executed this warrant. Given under my hand and seal this 8th day of April in the year 1833.








R. Foster (SEAL)

A list of sales of the effects of Fountain Holmes made pursuant to the annexed order of sale and judgment of the County Court of Prince William in the 20th day of May 1833 the same having been first duly advertised according to law.
John Goodwin purchased::

1 Palmetto Hat @ 4 cents, 1 Small Rose Blanket  $1.00

1 Pair Old Mixed Cassinit Pantaloons  6 cents


$4.61
1Trunk $1.26, 1 Old Blue Coat  $2.25

Huriah Graham purchased:

3 lap or pressing boards @ 6 ¼ cents

1 Bunch Cabbage & Spunge Cloth 7 cents



$0.66 ¼

1 Dozen Cup Plates  42 cents, 1 Hammer 11 cents

John Barron purchased:  1 Old Blue Coat & Pantaloons

$0.01

James H. Reid purchased:

1 Taylors Iron & Ring  75 cents, 1 Counterpan $4.00

1 Cake Pan 37 ½ cents, 1 Trunk $1.28, 1 Pot & Preserves 6 ¼

$6.53

1 Pressing Board 6 ¼ cents

Basil Brawner purchased:  1 pair of Sasson



$0.13
M. B. Sinclair purchased:

1 Small Box & Contents 17 cents, 1 Doz. Knives & Forkes $1.04
$1.21

Samuel Latimer purchased:   1 Britania Tumbler


$0.09

James Purcell purchased:

2 Preserve Dishes 40 cents, 1 sign 27 cents



$0.67

Francis W. Melis purchased: 1 Candlestick & Snuffer


$0.57

John Sinclair purchased – 1 Ball Thread



$0.04 








$14.56 ¼ 

To Amount received from Wm. J. Weldon garnishee


$1.25 






Credit

$15.71. 17 ¼

By amount of commission on sales




$1.56 

Balance to be Credited on Judgment



$14.15 ¼ 




Jas Purcell, Cpl.







4 June 1833
Commonwealth to James B. T. Thornton – Account

21 February 1833
  To visiting Negro Man Billy confined as a runaway in jail & medicines 
$1.25

22 February 1833
  To visits to Billy & medicine





$1.50

23 February 1833  To visiting Billy & adv.






$1.00

24 February 1833  To visiting Billy & adv.






$1.00

17 March 1833  To adv. For Scarlett Renoe in Jail charged with petit larceny & med.

$1.25
16 April 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & Cath.





$1.25

16 April 1833  To Box ____ for leg & soap ___





$0.75

18 April 1833  To visiting Sacrlett Renoe & adv.





$1.00

22 May 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & adv.





$1.50

22 May 1833  To Sa—bast--  







$0.25

27 May 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & Cath.





$1.50

28 May 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & medicine





$1.25

29 May 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & medicine





$1.25

30 May 1833  To visiting Scarlett Renoe & adv.





$1.00 











$15.75








Sworn to in Court June 4th 1833








Jno. Williams

2 December 1833

Saunders & Others vs Ming Sheriff & Others

IN CHANCERY


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Charles Ming formerly High Sheriff of Prince William County to  whom the estate of Mathias Saunders was committed for administration, Peyton Norvill, James H. Reid, Christian Weaver administrator of Samuel Weaver, Thomas Nelson Jr., William E. Alexander, Strother Renoe, Thomas Hoff, John Barron, Mordecai B. Sinclair, Robert Alexander, James Dowell, John Alexander and James Fewell to appear before the Justices of our said County Court of Prince William, at the Court-House of said County, on the first Monday in December next, to answer a bill in Chancery, exhibited against them in our said Court by Leonard Saunders, Nancy Saunders, Peggy Saunders, Hubbard Saunders, and Siney his wife, Bernard Mitchell, Alfred Mitchell, Sandy Mitchell, Jane Mitchell, Maria Mitchell, George Robinson, and Priscilla his wife (formerly Priscilla Saunders), Winney Mitchell formerly Winney Saunders, John Mason, Thomas Mason, and Margaret Robinson (formerly Margaret Mason) and her husband Francis Robinson.

And unless they shall answer the said bill within four months thereafter the Court will take the same for confessed and decree accordingly – and this they shall in no wise omit under the penalty of one hundred pounds. And have then there this writ.. Witness Jno Williams Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-House aforesaid, this 2nd day of December 1833, and in the 58th year of our foundation.








Jno Williams


To the worshipful County Court of Prince William IN CHANCERY sitting complaining sheweth unto your worships your orator and orators Leonard Saunders, Nancy Saunders, Peggy Saunders, Hubbard Saunders & Sinney his wife formerly Simmey Saunders, George Robinson & Priscilla his wife formerly Priscilla Saunders, William Mitchell in right of his first wife Letty Mitchell formerly Letty Saunders now dead, Winney Mitchell formerly Winney Saunders in her own right she having married the aforesaid William Mitchell after the death of her sister Letty Saunders. John Mason, Thomas Mason, Francis Robinson and his wife Margaret formerly Margaret Mason the thereto last named Mason being children of (blank) Mason by a daughter of Matthew Saunders and the parents of said Mason being dead. That the aforesaid Leonard, Nancy & Peggy Saunders and the said Letty Mitchell deceased & Winny Mitchell & Sinney Saunders & Priscilla Robinson are children of Martin Saunders 7 the aforesaid Masons are grand children of said Mathew Saunders deceased who departed this life in the year 1798.
25 December 1833

Order in Relation to death of Benjamin Strother


Ordered that it be certified that from satisfactory evidence exhibited to the court it appears that Benjamin Strother deceased, late a P------ of the State and late of Prince William County Virginia, departed this life on the 25th day of December 1833.

3 March 1834

Commonwealth vs Hooe


Prince William County to Wit: Whereas John Wrenn of Haymarket in the said County, Taylor, hath personally come before me Robert Hamilton one of the Commonwealths Justices assigned to keep the peace in the said county, and hath taken a corporal death that he the said John Wrenn is afraid Thomas P. Hooe of Page Land in the said County, Gentlemen, will beat, wound, maim or kill him or do him some bodily hurt, and hath therefore prayed surety of the peace against him the said Thomas P. Hooe. These are therefore on the behalf and in the name of the Commonwealth to command you, that immediately upon the receipt hereof you being the said Thomas P. Hooe before me or some other Justice of the peace of said County to find surety as well for his personal appearance at the next court to be holden for the said county as also for his keeping the peace in the mean time towards the citizens of this Commonwealth and chiefly towards the said John Wrenn. Given under my hand or seal at Haymarket in the said county the 30th day of December 1833.






Robt. Hamilton (SEAL)

To Thomas B. Gains, constable to execute who is authorized to summon any force he may thank necessary to apprehend the said Thomas P. Hooe.


Robt. Hamilton 

Executed 7 February 1834 – Thomas B. Gaines, cpl.

12 March 1834

Commonwealth vs William Larkin


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon William Larkin to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court House of the said County on the first Monday in June next, to shew cause if any he can why he should not be fined according to law, for a certain contempt by him to us offered in failing to attend the said Court, at the last term as a Grand Juror it appearing to the Court that he was legally summoned and being solemnly called came not.


And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams Clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid this 12th day of March 1834 and in the 58th year of our foundation.









Jno Williams

Executed – Thomas J. Shaw deputy sheriff for M. Cleary sheriff.
12 March 1834

Commonwealth vs Joseph Ellis


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Joseph Ellis to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court House of the said County on the first Monday in June next, to shew cause if any he can why he should not be fined according to law, for a certain contempt by him to us offered in failing to attend the said Court, at the last term as a Grand Juror it appearing to the Court that he was legally summoned and being solemnly called came not.


And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams Clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid this 12th day of March 1834 and in the 58th year of our foundation.









Jno Williams

Executed – Thomas J. Shaw deputy sheriff for M. Cleary sheriff.

12 March 1834

Gordon & Menifee vs Ransdell & Others

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: Whereas Alexander Gordon and Banks S. Menifee joint merchants and partners trading under the firm of Alexander Gordon & B. S. Menifee late in our County Court of Prince William have recovered against William P. Jackson the sum of $71.52 with legal interest thereon from the 19th day of November 1832 until paid for Debt, also the sum of $8.88 for their costs by them about their suit in that behalf expended. And whereas on the 3rd day of June 1833 before Lawrence L. Waugh deputy for Michael Cleary Sheriff of said County, James W. Ransdell & Henly Milstead personally appeared and undertook, that if, the said William P. Jackson should be cast in the said suit that he the said William P. Jackson should pay and satisfy the condemnation of the court or render his body to prison in execution for the same, or that they the said James W. Ransdell & Henley Milstead would do it for him as appears to us also of record. But the said William P. Jackson the Debt and costs aforesaid to the said Alexander Gordon and B. S. Menifee hath not paid nor his body to prison surrendered as by the said Alexander Gordon & B. S. Menifee we are informed. Therefore we command you that you make known to the said James W. Ransdell & Henley Milstead that they be before the justices of our said County Court, at the Court house on the first Monday in June next to shew, if any thing, for themselves, they hath or can say, why the said Alexander Gordon & B. S. Menifee execution against them of the Debt and costs aforesaid, according to the force and effect of the Recognizance aforesaid, ought not to have if to them it seems expedient. And then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court, at the Court House this 12th day of March 1834 and in the 58th year of our Foundation.








Jno Williams

Executed – on Henley Milstead, James W. Ransdell was not found 



John C. Weedon deputy sheriff for M. Cleary sheriff

21 May 1834

Commonwealth vs Harrison Cornwell

To Wm. F. Purcell, Constable of Prince William County


Prince William County, to wit: Whereas Thomas Molair of Prince William County, hath this day given information upon oath to me James B. T. Thornton a Justice of the Peace for the County of Prince William, that on the 20th day of May (Inst) at the dwelling house Hebron Molair in the county aforesaid, a certain Harrison Cornwell Jr. of the County aforesaid, did feloniously and unlawfully maim Hebron Molair by stabbing him with a knife with intention in so doing to maim, disfigure, disable or kill him the said Hebron Molair. These are therefore, in the name of the Commonwealth to require you to apprehend the said Harrison Cornwell Jr. and to bring him before me or some other Justice of the Peace for the County of Prince William aforesaid to answer the premises, and further to be dealt with according to Law. Given under my hand and seal this 21st day of May 1834.







James B. T. Thornton (SEAL)

4 June 1834

John Maddox vs James Taylor

Prince William County


John Maddox complains of James Taylor in custody, &c. of a plea of trespass on the case, for this, that whereas the defendant heretofore, that is to say on the (blank day & month) one thousand eight hundred and thirty three, at the county aforesaid was indebted to the plaintiff in the sum of one hundred and sixty nine dollars and 66 cents for fodder, corn, sheep, and cattle, said other articles sold, and cash lent, and leather furnished, and sawing done by the plaintiff for defendant at his special instance & request for merchandize before that time sold and delivered by the plaintiff to the defendant at his special request; and for money had and received by the defendant to the use of the plaintiff, and for money lent and advanced by the plaintiff to the defendant at his special request; and for money paid, laid out and expended by the plaintiff for the defendant at his special request; and for work and labor done and performed by the plaintiff for the defendant at his special request. And being so indebted, the defendant afterward, that is to say on the day and year aforesaid, at the county aforesaid in consideration thereof undertook, and then and there faithfully promised to the plaintiff that he the defendant the said several sums of money, when requested, would well and truly pay to the plaintiff. And Whereas, the defendant afterward, that is to say, on the (blank day and month) in the year aforesaid, at the county aforesaid, accounted with the plaintiff of and concerning divers sums of money from the said defendant to the said plaintiff before that time due, owing and then in arrear and unpaid, and upon such accounting the said defendant was then and there found in arrear and indebted to the said plaintiff in the further sum of $169.66 and being so found in arrear and indebted, the said defendant afterward, that is to say, on the day and year last mentioned, at the county aforesaid, in consideration thereof, undertook, and then and there faithfully promised to pay to the plaintiff when thereto afterward required the said last mentioned sum of money. Nevertheless the defendant said promises in no wise regarding, the said several sums of money or any part thereof, though often required to the plaintiff hath not paid, but the same to pay always refused and still refuses to the damage of the plaintiff $200 dollars, and therefore he brings suit , &c.       John Doe & Richard Roe.






G. W. Macrae p.q.

James Taylor account with John Maddox – February 7th 1833

To 6 hundred and 26 fodder 75 per for





$4.62

To 8 barrels & 20 __ of corn at sundry times $4 per




$32.20

To cutting lot of fodder down & set it up





$2.00

To the third of the corn not delivered tended on s----- on my lot


$1.00
To 2 hands and saw 1 day to work 50





$0.50

To 7 pay back & pay 17







$0.17

To 10 head of cattle $8 each






$80.00

To 23 sheep for market $2.00 each






$46.00

To 1 ½ dollars cash







$1.50

To leather for 2 pair of shoes 






$1.67










$169.66
To Credit








$98.87
Amount Due








$71.79

March 1833 – Credit for repairing wagon & timbers bound bind, cupling pole 75c
$1.75

Sept. 1833 – To ___ & 2 standards 1 each





$1.50

Sept 1833 – To 2 Dutch plows 50 each sold for me




$1.00

Sept. 1833 – To return of stock cattle & sheep




$95.00

Sept. 1833 – To making 1 pair of shoes 25, 2 pair mended 18 ¼ 


$0.62 ½ 











$98.87 ½ 

Prince William County to Wit: Personally appeared before me a justice of the peace for said county John Maddox
 and made oath that the above account is correct and true. Given under my hand this 4th June 1834.








Albert Newman
11 June 1834
Commonwealth of Virginia vs Hughs


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Hughs to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in August next, to answer a presentment of the Grand Jury, made against him in the said court, on the 5th day of March 1834 “for unlawful gaming, to wit: Rowlet at the race field near Brentsville in the County of Prince William the same being a place of public resort within six months last past.”

And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid, this 11th day of June 1834, and in the 58th year of our foundation.









Jno. Williams
4 August 1834

Robert J. Taylor assee of Humphrey Peake plaintiff 

Against

Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter Exors. of Wormley Carter deceased defendants


Virginia to Wit: In the Record and Proceedings of the late Superior Court of Law continued and held for the County of Fairfax at the Court House of the said County the 21st day of May 1816 by the Honorable William A. P. Dade one of the Judges of the General Court and Judge of the Superior Court of Law within the third Judicial Circuit the following to Wit:


Be it remembered that heretofore to wit: the first day of November in the year of our Lord 1815 and with 40 years of the Commonwealth came the aforesaid Robert J. Taylor assee and sued out of the Clerk’s Office of the said Superior Court of Law the Commonwealth writ of capias adress on demdum against the aforesaid Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter executor of Wormley Carter deceased directed to the Sheriff of the said County which writ with the endorsement thereon is in the words and figures following to wit:

The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Fairfax County – Greetings, we command you to take Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter executors of Wormley Carter deceased if they be found within your bailiwick and then safely keep so that you have their bodies before the Judge of our Superior Court of Law for the County of Fairfax at the Court-house of the said County on the first day of January next to answer Robert J. Taylor assignee of Humphrey Peake of a plea of debt for one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents, Damage five hundred dollars, and have then there this writ: witness William Moss clerk of the said court this 1st day of November 1815 and in the 40 years of the Commonwealth. Moss C.C. Endower” Deft and by single bill. At which mentioned first day of January at the rules held in the clerks office of the said Superior Court and the day of the return of the writ aforesaid, came the plaintiff aforesaid and thereupon the writ aforesaid was returned here thus endorsed to wit: “__accept service of the m either  Robert Hamilton, Landon Carter executors of W. Carter deceased, and thereupon the said Robert J. Taylor assee filed his declaration in there words to wit: Fairfax County &c. Robert J. Taylor assee of Humprey Peake complains of Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter executors of Wormley Carter deceased in custody &c. of a plea that they render unto him the sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents which from him they unjustly detain for this that on the ninth day of September in the year one thousand eight hundred and twelve at the county aforesaid the said defendants testator made his promissory note in writing with his hand subscribed and dated on the same day and year aforesaid whereby he promised to pay to the said Humphrey Peake on order on demand one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents for value received which note sealed with the seal of the said Wormley the plaintiff brings into court, which said note the said Humphrey by his writing of assignment thereon endorsed with his hand subscribed assigned to the plaintiff for value received to wit on the day and year aforesaid at the county aforesaid of which assignment the defendants Testator then and there had notice whereby and by virtue of the statue in that care provided action ac---ed to the plaintiff to demand and receive of the defendants Testator the said sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars sixty five cents. Nevertheless the said Wormley in his life time and since his death the defendants the said sum of money or any part thereof thou often required to the plaintiff or the said Humphrey have not paid but the same to pay always have referred and still the defendants do require to the damages of the plaintiff Five thousand dollars and therefore he brings suit &c.






R. J. Taylor


1816 February Rules, This Suit is Continued – Afterwards to wit: At the rules held with the clerk’s office of the said Superior Court for the month of March in the year last mentioned came the said plaintiff and the said defendants now failing to appear – Common Order


Afterwards to Wit: At the rules held with the clerk’s office of the said Superior Court for the month of April in the year last mentioned came the said plaintiff aforesaid and the said defendants still failing to appear the Common order entered against them at March rules last is confirmed and a writ of Inquiry of damage is awarded.


And now here at this day to wit At a Superior Court of Law continued and held for the said County the 21st day of May with year last mentioned, came as well the plaintiff aforesaid and the said defendants in their proper person and the said defendants in their proper persons aforesaid acknowledges the plaintiffs action against them. Therefore it is considered by the court that the said plaintiff recover against the said defendants the sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents with legal interest thereon from the 9 day of September 1812 until paid the debt in the declaration mentioned also his costs by him about his suit in this behalf expended. To be levied of the proper goods and chattels of the said Wormley Carter deceased at the time of his death in the hands and custody of the said defendants to be administered if so much they have in their hands unadministered and if not then the costs aforesaid of the proper goods and chattels of the said defendants and the said defendants is Mercy &c. And the plaintiff agrees to stay execution this judgment until the first day of November next. Costs $8.19 add costs of 2nd execution $0.40 for total of $8.59.



Teste -  W. Moss

Copy of the note upon which the above judgment was rendered – “On demand I promise to pay to Humphrey Peake on his order one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty-five cents for value received of him, witness my hand and seal this 9 September 1812.

Wormley Carter (Seal)


Endorsed “For value received I assign the within note to Robert J. Taylor







A Copy
Teste -  W. Moss


Upon the above judgment in Execution issued the 9th day of December 1816 directed to the sheriff of the County of Fairfax – which was returned to the clerks office of the said Superior Court endorsed as follows to wit: “Cont. tomorrow by the plaintiffs order herewith returned, Geo. Millam D.S. for H. Peake.

Afterwards to wit the 10 day of July 1820 a second execution issued upon said judgment in the words and figures following to wit


Fairfax County to wit: The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Fairfax County Greetings: We command you that of the goods and chattels of which were of Wormley Carter deceased at the time of his death in the hands and custody of Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter executors of the said Wormley Carter deceased late in your bailiwick you cause to be made the sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents with legal interest thereon from the 9th day of September 1812 until paid, also eight dollars and fifty nine cents which Robert J. Taylor assee of Humphrey Peake late in our Superior Court of Law of Fairfax County recovered against them as well for debt as for his costs by him in that he has expended. In so much of the goods and chattels of the said Wormley Carter in their hands they have unadministered and if not then the costs aforesaid of the proper goods and chattels of the said Robert Hamilton & Landon Carter – Whereupon the said Robert Hamilton & Landon Carter executors aforesaid are convict as appear to us of record And that you have the same at the clerks office of our said Superior Court of Law for the county of Fairfax at the court house in the said county on the first Monday in August next to render to the said Robert J. Taylor assee of the debt and costs aforesaid. And have then there the writ “Witness William Moss clerk of the said Court at the Court-house of the county aforesaid the 10 day of July 1820 and in the 44 year of the Commonwealth.








W. Moss  c.c.


Endorsed “The defendants are to have credit for Four Hundred Dollars paid 18 Nov. 1816. Two Hundred Dollars paid 15 January 1817, One Hundred Dollars paid 12 June 1817, One Hundred Dollars paid 13 February 1819 and Forty Dollars paid 26 January 1820 as per letter filed from plaintiff.









W. Moss c.c.


Upon which said executors the Sheriff made the following return to wit:  “No property found” – Charles Ratcliffe D.S. for Richard Coleman, Sheriff.









A Copy









Teste – W. Moss c.c.

Taylor Assee vs 

Hamilton & Carter Exors. of Wormley Carter deceased


Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Prince William County Greetings: We command you that you take Robert Hamilton & Landon Carter Jun. executors of Wormley Carter deceased if they be found in your bailiwick and them safely keep so that you have their bodies before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house on the first Monday in August next, to answer Robert J. Taylor assignee of Humphrey Peake of a plea of debt for $1049.00 with interest from 9th September 1812 and $8.59 Damage $100.


And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court the 9th day of June 1834 and in the 58th year of our Foundation.



Jno. Williams


Executed – Thos. J. Shaw D.S. for M. Cleary sheriff

Robert J. Taylor vs Wormley Carter’s Exors.

Debt for Devastavit 


Prince William County – Robert J. Taylor complains of Robert Hamilton and Landon Carter executors of Wormley Carter deceased, of a plea that they render unto him the sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents, with legal interest thereon from the 9th day of September 1812 till paid and eight dollars and fifty nine cents which to him they owe, and from him unjustly detain, for this – That heretofore, that is to say at a Superior Court of Law held for the County of Fairfax on the 21st day of May 1816 to wit, at the County aforesaid, the plaintiff, by the judgment of the said court, recover against the defendants the said sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents, with legal interest thereon from the 9th day of September 1812 until paid, and his costs by him in his suit against the said defendants in that half expended, to be levied of the proper goods and chattels of the said Wormley Carter deceased, at the time of his death, in the hands and custody of the said defendants to be administered if so much they had in their hands unadministered and if not, then the costs aforesaid of the proper goods and chattels for the said defendants which judgment yet remains in full force, in no sort annulled, reversed or satisfied, as by the record of proceedings in the said Court remaining will more fully appear. And the plaintiff avers that the costs by him expended about the prosecution of his said suit, in which the said judgment was rendered, amounted to the sum of eight dollars and fifty nine cents and the plaintiff further avers that goods and chattels which were of the said Wormley Carter, at the time of his death, sufficient to satisfy the said judgment, and liable to the payment and satisfaction thereof came to the hands and possession of the said defendants to be administered, and that the defendant did not apply the same to the payment or satisfaction of the said judgment, but wasted, eloigned, and to their own use converted the same, to wit, on the 21st day of May 1816 at the County aforesaid, whereby the said defendants became liable and bound to pay to the plaintiff the said sum of one thousand and forty nine dollars and sixty five cents with interest as aforesaid, and the said sum of eight dollars and fifty nine cents.

Nevertheless the said defendants the said sums of money or any part thereof the often required, to the plaintiff did not pay, but the same to pay always refused, and yet refuse to the plaintiff’s damage one hundred dollars, and thereupon he brings his suit &c.


B. Hooe  P.Q.

9 September 1834

Waring to Hooe

Account for W. Waring


Mr. John Hooe Jr.  to Thomas G. Waring 

September 9th 1834
To Sundry work on doors




$1.00

January 17th 1835

To mending threshing machine



$5.00

February 8th 1835

To making roller





$4.00

September 18th 1835
To making breast pin




$0.18

October 6th 1835

To hewing timber for a head gait



$3.00

October 6th 1835

To mending knife & snuff box



$0.50
October 6th 1835

To 12 days work on head gait



$12.00

October 6th 1835

To 9 days work on fore Bay



$9.00

October 6th 1835

To Sundry work on threshing machine


$6.00

October 6th 1835

To making bunch of feathers



$0.75

October 6th 1835

To 2 days work on mill




$2.00

February 19th 1838
To making a leaver for threshing machine


$1.50

February 19th 1838
To tending threshing machine 3 days


$3.00
February 19th 1838
To 2 cutting knives 75 cents each



$1.50

February 19th 1838
To papering 2 rooms and working on them


$8.00

February 19th 1838
To taking paper off of one room & scraping & whitewashing
$6.00

February 19th 1838
To plastering overhead in same room


$2.00

February 19th 1838
To half bushel of chestnuts sold by Lynn


$1.00 










$56.43

True Copy of Account: filed in the case of “Waring vs Hooe” in Prince William County.








J. Williams C.C.

11 November 1834

Commonwealth vs Bailey Thompson


Prince William County to Wit: John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William being present here in court, gives the court to understand and be informed, this fourth day of March the year eighteen hundred and thirty four, that on the first day of November in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty three, a certain Bailey Thompson laborer, late of the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court, with force and arms and other days and times between the day last aforesaid, and the fourth day of November in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty three in the county aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this court, with force and arms a certain common ill governed and disorderly house, did keep and maintain for filthy lucre and gain-certain evil and ill disposed persons, as well black as white, free persons as well as slaves of evil named fame and conversation did permit to frequent and come together on the days and times aforesaid and there unlawfully and wickedly did cause, and proceed the said persons in the said house to remain and be drinking, tipling, cursing, swearing, quarrelling, and in other ways misbehaving themselves, to the evil example of all others in the like case offending, and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.






John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth 







For the County Court of Prince William

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Margaret Anderson to appear before the justices of our county court on the first day of March court 1835 to testify and the truth to speak on behalf of the Commonwealth on a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in the said court between the Commonwealth and Bailey Thompson defendants. And then he shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 pounds. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid this 11th day of November 1834 and in the 59th year of the Commonwealth.









Jno. Williams


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon William Cockrell to appear before the justices of our county court on the first day of November court 1834 to testify and the truth to speak on behalf of the Commonwealth on a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in the said court between the Commonwealth and Bailey Thompson defendants. And then he shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 pounds. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid this 16th day of August 1834 and in the 59th year of the Commonwealth.









Jno. Williams

1 March 1835
Commonwealth vs Rezin Webster


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon George Green to appear before the justices of our county court on the first day of March court 1835 to testify and the truth to speak on behalf of the Commonwealth on a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in the said court between the Commonwealth and Rezin Webster defendants. And then he shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 pounds. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid this 11th day of November 1834 and in the 59th year of the Commonwealth.








Jno. Williams

Executed by William S. Fewell deputy sheriff for M. Cleary,  sheriff.


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Rezin Webster to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court House of the said County on the first Monday in November next to answer an information exhibited on our behalf against him the said Webster on a presentment of the Grand jury made against him in the said Court, on the 2nd day of June 1834 “for selling ardent spirits to wit. Whiskey in the County of Prince William within the last six months past, without a certificate first obtained from the county court of Prince William authorizing him so to do.


And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said Court at the Court House aforesaid the 16th day of August 1834 and in the 59th year of our foundation.









Jno Williams


Executed by Thomas Shaw deputy sheriff for M. Cleary, sheriff.

19 May 1835

Burke against Commonwealth


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Cloe Cheshire and Susan Cheshire and Arch a Negro man slave now in the employ of Robert Alexander to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William at the court house of the said county, on the 19th day of the present month (May) to testify and the truth to speak on behalf of the defendant in a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in the said court between the Commonwealth and Richard Burke defendant.

And this they shall in no wise omit, under the penalty of 100 pounds each and have then there this writ: Witness John Williams clerk aforesaid said court at the Court House aforesaid this 13th day of May 1835 and in the 59th year of our foundation.


Executed on Chloe Cheshire & Susan Cheshire. William S. Fewell deputy sheriff for Foster, Sheriff.

14 June 1835

Indenture

Overseer of the Poor

Mary Godfrey to James Foster


This Indenture made this 14 day of June in the year of our Lord 1835 between (blank) & (blank) Overseers of the Poor of Prince William County, in the lower district of said County of the other part. Whereas that the said Overseers of the Poor as aforesaid by virtue of an order of the Court of the aforesaid County, bearing date the (blank) day of (blank) in the year 1835 have put, placed, and bound and by these presents do put, place and bind Mary Godfrey of the age of ten and a half years (a free person of color) to be an apprentice with him the said James Foster, and as an apprentice with him the said James Foster to dwell from the dates of these presents until the said Mary Godfrey shall come to the age of Eighteen Years according to law so providing by and during all which time the said Mary Godfrey, shall the said James Foster her Master well and faithfully serve in all such lawful business as the said Mary Godfrey shall be part unto by her said Master, according to the power wit and ability of her the said Mary Godfrey, and honestly and obediently in all things, shall behave herself towards her said Master, and honestly and orderly towards the rest of the family of the said James Foster. And the said James Foster for his part for himself his executors and administrators doth hereby promise and warrant to and with the said giving of the poor and every of them, their, and every of their executors and administrators and their and every of their successors for the time being and to and with the said Mary Godfrey allow and find sufficient food and clothing washing lodging for persons of her cast and color – and teach her the said Mary Godfrey or cause her to be taught the arts and duties of a House Servant, and will moreover deliver and pay to the said Mary Godfrey at the expiration of her time of apprenticeship the sum of (blank) and a new and decent suit of clothing. Witness whereof the parties of these presents have interchangeably set their hands and seals the day and year first above written.









(blank)   
SEAL









(blank)

SEAL









Jas Foster
SEAL

3 August 1835

Overseers of the Poor to Elias King
Mary Drummond – Apprentice

This Indenture made this 3rd day of August in the year of our lord Eighteen Hundred & Thirty Five and in the Fifty-Month Year of the Independence of the United States of America between Thomas Nelson & George Weedon Overseers of the Poor of the County of Prince William of the one part and Elias King of the County of the other part. Witnesseth that the said Nelson & Weedon by virtue of an order of the court of the County aforesaid dated the 3rd day of August 1835 Overseers of the Poor as aforesaid. To have put, placed & bound of the age of 18 years. And by these presents do put place & bind Mary Drummond to be an apprentice with him the said Elias King, And as an apprentice with him the said Elias King to dwell from the date of these presents until she shall come to the age of eighteen years, according to an act of the general assembly in that case made and provided. By and during all which time the said Mary Drummond shall the said Elias King well & faithfully serve in all such lawful business as she shall be put to according to the best of her ability, And honestly & obediently to behave herself to her said master and orderly to the rest of the family. And the said Elias King for his part for himself his executors and administrators doth hereby promise and convince to and with the overseers of the poor, and every of their executors, administrators and successors for the time being and to and with the said Mary Drummond that the said Elias King shall the said Mary Drummond in the craft, mystery or occupation of a spinster. Teach or cause to be taught after the best manner that he can, or may teach as much so as there unto belongeth or in any wise app------- with.  And shall find and allow to the said apprentice sufficient meat, drink, apparel, lodging and all other things. And shall teach or cause to be taught to the said apprentice, Reading, writing and arithmetic and will moreover pay to the said apprentice the sum of twelve dollars at the expiration of the said term. In witness whereof the parties, to these presents have interchangeably set their hands and seals the day & year first above mentioned.








Thomas Nelson (SEAL)









G. W. Weedon (SEAL)








Elias King (SEAL

5 January 1836
Savage vs Savage In Chancery

Copy of Decree


Prince William County Court January 5th 1836 – Henry Savage and Thomas Savage infant children and devises of James Savage deceased by Elizabeth Savage (the elder) their next friend Susan Savage and Elizabeth Savage also children and devises of said Savage deceased and Stephen L. Howison plaintiffs against Elizabeth Savage widow and devises of James Savage deceased and William S. Fewell deputy of James Foster Sheriff of Prince William County, to whom was committed the estate of said James Savage deceased with his will annexed defendants.


In Chancery – Bill and answers filed, whereupon this cause this day coming on to be heard, by consent of parties, on the Bill, answers and exhibits filed and was argued by counsel. On consideration whereof and by like consent, the court doth adjudge order and decree that George W. Macrae be and he is hereby appointed a commissioner to make sale of the parcels of land in the proceedings mentioned, subject, however to the dower right of the defendant Elizabeth Savage widow of James Savage deceased in said lands, that he sell the same for one half cash, and for the balance of the purchase money allow a credit of twelve months taking bond and security, and a lien on the premises sold for the payment thereof; that he pay to the complainant Howison, the amount of the bonds exhibited with the bill out of said proceeds, or as far they will go, after paying all costs and charges attending this suit, and report his proceedings under this decree to the court in order to the disposition of the balance of said proceeds, if any, or other order of the Court; that John F. Jackson, Andrew Chancellor and John Davis or any two of them be appointed commissioners with power and authority to lay off and assign to said widow of James Savage deceased her dower in said lands regarding quantity and quality according to law, with power to employ a competent surveyor to aid them in laying off and assigning said dower, and that they report their proceedings to the court in order to a final decree in this cause.








A Copy. Teste – Jno Williams C.C.

March 1836

Brent vs Hooe Jr.


Fauquier County, To Wit: John H. Brent complain of John Hooe in custody, &c. of a plea of trespass on the case, for this, that whereas the defendant heretofore, that is to say on the 29th day of June in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty five at the county was indebted to the plaintiff in the sum of $24.50 cents for merchandize  before that time sold and delivered by the plaintiff to the defendant at his special request; and for money had and received by the defendant to the use of the plaintiff, and for money lent and advanced by the plaintiff to the defendant at his special request; and for money paid, laid out and expended by the plaintiff for the defendant at his special request; and for work and labor done and performed by the plaintiff for the defendant at his special request. And being so indebted, the defendant afterward, that is to say on the day and year aforesaid, at the county aforesaid in consideration thereof undertook, and then and there faithfully promised to the plaintiff that he the defendant the said several sums of money, when requested, would well and truly pay to the plaintiff. And whereas, the defendant afterwards, that is to say, on the 29th day of June 1835 in the year aforesaid, at the county aforesaid, accounted with the plaintiff of and concerning divers sums of money from the said defendant to the said plaintiff before that time due, owing and then in arrear and unpaid, and upon such accounting the said defendant then and there found in arrear and indebted to the said plaintiff in the further sum of $24.50 and being so found in arrear and indebted, the said defendant afterwards, that is to say, on the day and year last mentioned, at the county aforesaid, in consideration thereof, undertook, and then and there faithfully promised to pay to the plaintiff when thereto afterwards required the said last mentioned sum of money. Nevertheless the defendant said promises in no wise regarding, the said several sums of money or any part thereof, though often required to the plaintiff hath not paid, but the same to pay always refused and still refuse – to the damage of the plaintiff $50 dollars and therefore he brings suit, &c.








John Doe


       


       



      &








Richard Roe

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: We command you take John Hooe Jr. if he be found in your bailiwick and him safely keep, so that you have his body before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-House of the said County, on the first Monday in March next to answer John H. Brent of a plea of Trespass on the case, Damage $50.00.


And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 6th day of January 1836 and in the 60th year of our foundation.









John Williams


Not found – T. Shaw Deputy Sheriff for James Foster

7 March 1836

Brent vs Anderson


The Commonwealth of Virginia. To the Coroner of Stafford County, Greetings: Whereas in an action on a scire facias lately depending in our County Court of Prince William between Euphan Brent next friend to Temple Washington plaintiff, and William Anderson defendant, for want of appearance at the Rules held in the office of the said court for the month of October 1835, it was considered that the plaintiff might have execution against the defendant for the debt. Interest and costs in the writ of scire facias aforesaid specified and also, that the plaintiff recover against the said defendant  her costs by her expended in suing forth and prosecuting the said writ, but before a final judgment was rendered upon the scire facias aforesaid,  the said William Anderson departed this life, intestate, as it is said, and as we are informed the court of Stafford County hath ordered Samuel H. Skinker sheriff of the said County, to take the estate of the said William Anderson deceased into his possession, by virtue of which order, and of the act of assembly, in such case made, the said Skinker is administrator of the said Anderson &c. Therefore, we command you that you make known to the said Samuel H. Skinker sheriff and administrator as aforesaid that he be before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House on the first Monday in November next, to shew cause, if any he can, why the action aforesaid, should not be proceeded in to a final judgment, according to the form of the Act of Assembly in that case made and provided. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 10th day of October 1836 and in the 61st year of our foundation.









Jno Williams

18 June 1836

Indenture – Joseph M. Savage – John W. Tyler


This Indenture made and entered into this (blank) day of June, 1836 between Joseph M. Savage of the first part, John W. Tyler of the second part, and George W. Macrae commissioners under a decree of the County Court of Prince William County in the Chancery suit of Savage and others vs Savage and others for the sale of the land hereinafter mentioned, all of said County & State of Virginia: Whereas in pursuance of said decree said Commissioner did on the 18th June 1836, sell to said Joseph M. the tract of land hereinafter mentioned & conveyed, subject to the dower estate of Elizabeth Savage, for the sum of $130.45 one half cash, and the balance purporting to $65.22 ½ in twelve months, with bond & security and the further term of sale this the purchaser should give a lien on said land to secure the payment of said balance; and where as said Commissioner has this day conveyed said tract of land, subject to said dower estate, to said Savage of the second part, and the said Savage is thereupon willing and desirous further to secure the payment of said balance by executing this Indenture of tract interchangeable with said conveyance, agreeably to the terms of said sale. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for the terms of said sale. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for the terms of said sale. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for the terms of said sale. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for and in consideration of the premises and the further consideration of one dollar to said Joseph M. in hand paid by said Tyler, __ and before the ensealing and delivery of these presents, the receipt thereof is hereby acknowledged, he the said Joseph M. hath granted, bargained and sold, released and confirmed unto said Tyler, his heirs and assigns forever, the tract of land above mentioned referred to, containing by estimation 153 acres, 1 rood, and 35 poles, situated on the road near Bacon Race Meeting House in said County, and bounded and described as set forth in the conveyance thereof made by said Commissioner, this day, to said Joseph M. and in the plat & survey of surveyor Thomas Nelson thereto annexed, subject however to the dower estate of said Elizabeth Savage therein as set forth in said survey and plat. To have and to hold said tract of land, appurtenances and premises, subject to said dower estate therein, as aforesaid, unto said Tyler his heirs & assigns, forever, to his and their only use and behoof forever. And the said Savage for himself and his heirs, the aforesaid tract of land, appurtenances & premises, subject to said dower estate, unto said Tyler his heirs and assigns forever, to the extent of the right, title & interest surveyed by said Commissioner to said Joseph M. free from the claim or claims of said Joseph his heirs, and of all the persons whosoever, shall, will and does hereby warrant and forever defend firmly by these presents; In trust nevertheless, that said Tyler his heirs and assigns, shall present said Joseph M. to remain in peaceable possession and enjoyment of said land, until default be made in the payment of said balance of $65.22 ½ due in 12 months after said day of sale as aforesaid, & in part secured by bond, and then upon this further trust that said Tyler shall & will, so soon after the happening of said default as he, or his heirs or assigns shall think proper, or said Macrae commissioner, or his representatives or assigns shall request, sell said land, subject to said dower, to the highest bidder at public auction for cash, after having advertised the same for sale in writing at some public place for 30 days before the day of sale, and out of the proceeds shall, after paying all costs & expenses attending the same and this deed of trust, pay to said Macrae commissioner, his representatives or assigns, the amount due, with interest, on account of said balance due & payable as aforesaid, and any balance, if any, shall pay to said Joseph M., his representatives or assigns. But of said balance of $65 & 22 ½ cents shall be wholly paid off and discharged with interest accruing, so that no default be made in the premises, then the Indenture to be void else to remain in full force, virtue and effect. In witness whereof the aforesaid parties to these presents have hereunto set their hands and affirm their seals the day, month and year first above written.





Signed Sealed & Delivered in the Presence Of.







George W. Macrae  (SEAL)

20 June 1836

Revolutionary Soldier Thomas Arrington


Thomas Arrington a resident of this county who was a Revolutionary Soldier personally appeared in open court and presented his supplemental declaration in order to obtain the benefit of the pension of the Act of Assembly of June 1832 providing for the payment of pensions for serving in the War of the Revolution and being duly sworn according to law testified to the truth of the statements contained in the amended declaration whereupon the same was ordered to be certified. (withdrawn by Thos. Hord 20 June 1836)

18 October 1836

Renoe vs H. D. Larkin


Clerks Office of Prince William County October 18th 1836. George N. B. Renoe this day personally appeared before me the subscriber, and made doth that William F. Matthews is a material witness for him in a suit now pending in the County Court of Prince William wherein he is plaintiff and Henry D. Larkin is defendant and that said Matthews is about to remove from the Commonwealth of Virginia.





Given under my hand this day & date above.









Jno. Williams C.C.

18 October 1836

Renoe vs H. D. Larkin


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Justices of the Peace of the County of Prince William, Gentlemen: Greetings: Know ye, that we, trusting to your fidelity and provident circumspection in diligently examining William F. Matthews witness for the plaintiff in a certain suit in our County Court of Prince William, now depending and undetermined between George N. B. Renoe, plaintiff, and Henry D. Larkin defendant, command you, that at such certain time and place as you shall appoint, you assemble yourselves; and the witness aforesaid, before you, or anyone or more of you, you call, and cause to come, and him diligently examine on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God; and his examination into our said court, distinctly and plainly, without delay, you send, certified under your seals, returning to us also, this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 18th day of October 1836 and in the 61st year of our foundation.



Jno. Williams




18 October 1836
Renoe vs H. D. Larkin


Mr. Henry D. Larkin you will please take notice that between the hours of 10 o’clock in the forenoon and 5 o’clock in the afternoon of Thursday the 20th instant, at the Tavern of Wesley D. Wheeler in the Town of Brentsville, Prince William County. I shall proceed to take the deposition of William F. Matthews and others to be read as evidence in a suit depending in the county court of Prince William, wherein I am plaintiff and you are defendant, and shall continue the same from day to day unless completed on said 21st inst.






Yours &c.









George N. B. Renoe









October 18th 1836

20 October 1836

Renoe vs H. D. Larkin


Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: The deposition of William F. Matthews taken at the house of Wesley D. Wheeler in the Town of Brentsville and County aforesaid, on the 20th October 1836, to be read in a suit now depending in the County Court of Prince William, at common law, in pursuance of a commission and notice hereunto annexed wherein George N. B. Renoe is plaintiff and Henry D. Larkin defendant. The respondent being first sworn deposeth as follows.


1st Question by plaintiff – did you or did you not hear Henry D. Larkin say any thing respecting the death of Penelope D. Renoe, the wife of Geo. N. B. Renoe, if so please state. Answer – I heard him Henry D. Larkin say that George N. B. Renoe was the cause of her death, by beating her, and otherwise misusing her, he moreover said that she was poisoned by the Negroes of Geo. N. B. Renoe (at his instance) or in other words he made them do it.


2nd Question by plaintiff - was or was not Henry D. Larkin at the time you heard him make the above accusation under the influence of liquor. Answer – No he was not under the influence of liquor and I do not know that he had touched a drop that day.


3rd Question by plaintiff, were you or not in the habit of visiting my house during the lifetime of my wife P. D. Renoe, if so please state how we lived as companions. Answer – I have frequently been there and have seen the treatment of Geo. N. B. Renoe towards his wife as kind and affectionate as a wife could ask.


  Question by the defendant when and where did this conversation take place. Answer – at the house of Henry D. Larkin sometime after the death of Phillip D. Renoe. I do not recollect the precise time. And farther this deponent saith not.




William F. Matthews





Sworn to and subscribed before me this 20th day of October 1836









Robt. Williams J.P.

7 November 1836

Commonwealth against Utterback

Indictment for Assault  “A True Bill”

Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County to wit: The jurors of the grand jury of and for the body of the said County of Prince William in the County Court thereof being impaneled sworn and charged for the Commonwealth this seventh day of November in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty six on the oath present that Bushrod M. Utterback late of the County aforesaid laborer on the third day of October in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty six at the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court with force and arms on a certain Peyton Norvill in the peace of God and of this Commonwealth then and there being did make an assault and him the said Peyton Norvill then and there did beat wound and ill-treat so that his life was greatly despaired of and other wrongs to him the said Peyton Norvill then and there did to the great damage of the said Peyton Norvill and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.

By order of the County Court of Prince William, Peyton Norvill of the county of Prince William and Town of Brentsville was sworn to give evidence to the grand jury.
24 Mar 1837 Commonwealth of Virginia vs Utterback – Summon, Peyton Norvill witness for the Commonwealth.

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded as at another time you were commanded to summon Bushrod M. Utterback to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in June next, to answer an indictment found by the Grand Jury against him, at November term 1836 “A True Bill” for an assault on Peyton Norvill.

And have then there this writ: Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid, this 24th day of March 1837 and in the 61st year of our Foundation.








Jno. Williams

7 November 1836

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Collis

Indictment and “A True Bill”

Thomas Daily sworn to give evidence


Commonwealth of Virginia, Prince William County to wit: The Jurors of the Grand Jury of and for the body of the County of Prince William in the County Court of the County, being impannelled sworn and charged for the Commonwealth this seventh day of November in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty six on their oaths present that Hezekiah Collis laborer late of the County aforesaid on the eighteen day of October in the year one thousand eight hundred and thirty six at the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court with force and arms on a certain Thomas Daily in the peace of God and of the Commonwealth, then and there being did make an assault, and him the said Thomas Daily did beat wound and ill-treat, so that his life was greatly despaired of and other wrongs to the said Thomas Daily then and there did to the great damage if the said Thomas Daily and against the Peace and Dignity of the Commonwealth.

“We the jury find the defendant guilty and amerce him the sum of twenty two dollars.” 









Robert C. Leachman

Commonwealth vs Collis

Recognizance


Be it remembered that on the 28th day of July and in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty seven Hezekiah Collis, George William Smallwood, Allen Howison, and Edwin Howison of the County of Prince William came before me George A. Farrow a Deputy Sheriff for John Fox, Sheriff of Prince William County and severally acknowledged themselves to be indebted to David Campbell Esquire, Governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia and his successors, that is to say, the said Hezekiah Collis in the sum of one hundred and fifty dollars and the said Smallwood, A. Howison and E. Howison in the like sum of one hundred and fifty dollars to be levied of their respective goods and chattels lands and tenements, if the said Hezekiah Collis shall make default in performing the condition under written.


The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the above bound Hezekiah Collis has been arrested by the said George A. Farrow a Deputy for the said John Fox sheriff of Prince William County under a Capias issued from the Clerk’s Office of the County Court of Prince William to answer an indictment found by the Grand Jury against him the 7th November 1836  “A True Bill”  for an assault on Thomas Daily. Now if the said Hezekiah Collis shall personally appear before the Justices of the County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said County, on the first Monday in August next, then and there to answer the Commonwealth of and concerning the said Indictment with which the said Hezekiah Collis stands charged before the said court, and to do and receive what by the said court shall then and there be ordered and adjudged and shall not depart thence without leave of the said court, then this recognizance to be void else to remain in full force and virtue.









Hezekiah Collis (SEAL)









George Wm. Smallwood (SEAL)









Alexander Howison (SEAL)









Edwin Howison (SEAL)

19 November 1836

Davis vs Gwatkins  Curatrix


Prince William County to wit: Personally appeared before the subscriber a Justice of the Peace in the County aforesaid Thomas B. Gaines who made oath that he delivered a true copy of the within notice on the 17th instant to Miss Gwatkins over sixteen years old and a member of Mrs Margaret Stith family she being from home.






Given under my hand this 19th day of November 1836









Jesse Ewell
The Commonwealth of Virginia to he Sheriff of Frederick County Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Thomas Monroe to appear before the justices of our county court of Prince William at the court house of the said county on the 2nd day of March court 1835 to testify and the truth to speak on behalf of the plaintiff in a certain matter of controversy depending and undetermined in the said court between Sarah B. Davis plaintiff and James Gwatkins curatrix defendant. And this he shall in no wise omit under the penalty of $100 and have then there this writ. Witness John Williams clerk of our said court at the court-house aforesaid this 6th day of November 1834 and in the 59th year of the Commonwealth.









Jno Williams


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Justices of the Peace of the County of Jefferson, State of Mississippi, Gentlemen: Greetings: Know Ye, that we, trusting to your fidelity and provident circumspection in diligently examining Richard G. Davis a witness for Sarah B. Davis in a certain suit in our County Court of Prince William, now depending and undermined between the said Sarah B. Davis plaintiff, and James Gwatkins curatrix defendant, command you, that at such certain time and place as you shall appoint, you assemble yourselves; and the witness aforesaid, before you, or any one or more of you, you call, and cause to come, and him diligently examine on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God; and his examination into our said Court, distinctly and plainly, without delay, you send, certified under your seals, returning to us also, this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 26th day of November 1836 and in the 61st year of our foundation.









Jno Williams

Deposition of Richard G. Davis


To Margaret Stith curatrix of the estate of James Gwatkins deceased. Take notice that on Wednesday the 4th day of January 1837 at the Home of Charles Clark at Fayette, Jefferson County and the State of Mississippi I shall proceed to take the deposition of Richard G. Davis to be read as evidence in the suit now pending in the county of Prince William which I am plaintiff and you are defendant.









Sarah B. Davis









October 28, 1836

State of Mississippi

Jefferson County


Agreeable to a commission to me directed by the Clerk of the County Court of Prince William County, State of Virginia to take the deposition of Richard G. Davis to be read in evidence in a certain suit now pending and undetermined in said court. Wherein Sarah B. Davis is plaintiff and Margaret Stith curatrix of the estate of James Gwatkins is defendant.


I Edmund Duggan one of the Justices of the Peace for the County and State aforesaid have this day caused the said Richard G. Davis to appear in the Town of Fayette who after being duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God deposeth and says as follows. I do hereby certify that by the direction of the said Sarah B. Davis I purchased the following articles for James Gwatkins viz;


180 pounds of brown sugar of S.M.& S.H. Janney at $10.00 per ___ 130 pounds pork $10.00 in cash flour, price not recollected. Herrings number of barrels nor price not recollected. Given under my hand the fourth day of January 1837.




R. G. Davis

Taken sworn and subscribed the fourth day of January 1837 before – Edmund Duggan (SEAL)

State of Mississippi

Jefferson County


I James J. Collier clerk of the probate court of said county do hereby certify that the above named Edmund Duggan is and was at the time of executing the above, an acting Justice of the Peace in and for said county duly qualified. And I also certify that full faith and credit is due all of his official acts as such. Given under my hand and seal of office this 4th day of January A.D. 1837.









Jas Collier, clerk

24 November 1835
Indenture

Hugh C. Davis – Martin Davis – Silas Clark


This Indenture made an entered into this 24th day of November 1835 between Hugh C. Davis of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia of the first part. Martin Davis of the same County and State of the second part and  Silas Clarke of the town of Georgetown and District of Columbia of the third part. Whereas the said Clarke at the instance and request of the said Hugh C. Davis has advanced and loaned to him the sum of One Hundred and Eighty Five Dollars to be paid to the said Clarke by the said Hugh C. Davis on or before the 15th day of May 1836, in consideration of which said sum being loaned as aforesaid he the said Hugh C. Davis desires effectually to secure to the said Clarke by a lien on his Real Estate hereafter mentioned. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for and in consideration of the premises aforesaid as for the further sum of one dollar in hand paid by the said Martin Davis to the said Hugh C. Davis the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged him the said Hugh C. Davis, hath granted bargain and sold, and by these presents, doth grant, bargain and sell unto the said Martin Davis his heirs executors and administrators, a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the County of Prince William, supposed to contain One Hundred acres more or less, and in the same which was conveyed to the said Hugh C. Davis by his father Hugh Davis Sen. by deed dated the 2nd day of December 1833, and duly recorded in the County Court of Prince William. To have and to hold the said hereby granted tract of land and the hereditaments & appurtenances thereto belonging, unto the said Martin Davis his heirs and assigns forever. And the said Hugh C. Davis for himself his heirs &c. doth hereby covenant, promise and agree to and with the said Martin Davis his heirs &c, in manner and form following that is to say that the said Hugh C. Davis the said tract of land and premises unto the said Martin Davis his heirs &c. against all persons whatever shall and will warrant and forever defend by these presents. Upon trust, nevertheless, that the said Martin Davis his heirs &c. shall permit the said Hugh C. Davis his heirs and assigns to remain in quiet and peaceable possession of the said tract of land & premises and take the profits thereof to his own use until default be made in the payment of the aforesaid sum of money either in whole or in part, and then upon this further trust that he the said Martin Davis, so soon after the happening of such default as the said Clarke his heirs or assigns may request, sell the said tract of land and premises to the highest bidder for ready money or on a credit, as may be agreed upon by the said parties, after having fixed the time and place of sale at his own discretion and given at least ten days notice thereof by advertisement to be set up at the front door of Prince William County Court House, and out of the proceeds of sale, first, pay and satisfy all charges incident to the execution of this trust and sale, second by pay and satisfy the said Clarke the said sum of $185. with interest from the said 15th May 1836, and thirdly & lastly, pay over the balance (if any) to the said Hugh C. Davis his heirs and assigns. But if the whole of the said sum of money of $185 shall be fully paid off and satisfied to the said Clarke his heirs or assigns, on or before the 15th day of May 1836 so that no default of payment be made, then this Indenture to be void, and ever clause herein contained shall ease and determine.  In witness whereof the said Hugh C. Davis hath hereunto set his hand and seal the day and date above written.





Hugh C. Davis (SEAL)
Signed sealed & Delivered in the presence of

J. T. Deakins

__ Fewell

Robt. C. Leachman

27 December 1837

Contract to Rent “Tebbs Dale”


Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: To Washington H. Norvell, Constable of Prince William County.

Whereas B. E. Harrison hath this day made oath before me Robert Williams a justice of the Peace for the said County of Prince William that Baily Thompson deceased did on the 16th day of July 1836 by contract in writing over his hand and seal agree to pay to him the said B. E. Harrison as guardian of Jno A. & Jane R. Harrison at the end of the year 1837, the sum of forty dollars for the rent of Tebbs Dale (the farm and tenement on which the said Thompson resided at the time of making said contract at the time of his death in the present year) the said year of 1837, of which he has received no part and that he has just cause to suspect and verily believes Ann Thompson, the widow of the said Baily Thompson has within the present month and since the death of the said Baily removed the effects of the said Baily, liable for the payment of the said rent at the end of the present year from said tenement either in whole or in part so that he is convinced and satisfied there will not be a sufficiency of the effects of the said Baily Thompson found on the premises for which the said rent of forty dollars __ __ and payable at the end of the year 1837 to ----satisfy and discharge the same. Thereupon in the name of the Commonwealth I require you to attach so much of the estate or effects of the said Baily Thompson deceased where----- the same may be found as will be sufficient to satisfy the said B. E. Harrison guardian of Jas A. & Jane R. Harrison, the rent of forty dollars aforesaid and the costs and it thereupon the said Ann Thompson or some other person who may have an interest in the estate and effects of the said Baily Thompson shall not enter into recognizance with one or more sufficient securities for the payment of the said rent of forty dollars on the said 1st day of January 1838 and the costs, then that you secure the estate and effects so attached in your hands, or so provide that the same may be liable to future proceedings herein at the next court to be held for this county, when you an to make return of this warrant, with account of what you shall have done thereupon – Given under my hand and seal this 27th day of December 1837.








Robt. Williams (SEAL)


By virtue of this warrant I have attach one horse and two cows &c. which I have ready as by warrant. I am directed.





W. H. Norvell, constable
12 March 1838

Davis vs Coulter – Chancery


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon John Davis executor of Peter Coulter deceased, John Coulter and Peter Coulter (son of John Coulter) to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the court house of the said county, on the first Monday in April next, to answer a Bill in Chancery exhibited against them in our said court by George Davis in his own right and Susan Davis (formerly Susan Coulter) by the said George Davis her husband and next friend.


And unless they shall answer the said bill within four months thereafter, the court will take the same for confessed, and decree accordingly. And this they shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 dollars. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said court, at the Court House aforesaid, the 12th day of March 1838, and in the 62nd year of our foundation.









John Williams

Executed on John Coulter – T.M. Farrow deputy, for Jno Fox, Sheriff


Back side of summon – To enjoin and inhibit the defendant John Coulter his agents, attorneys, and all others concerned from removing or causing, or permitting to be removed, or sent out of the limits of this Commonwealth, the slaves Hannah and her increase, consisting now of four children to wit: Jack, Lewis, Francis and Joe an infant, bequeathed by Peter Coulter deceased to a certain John Coulter otherwise called John R. Coulter his son for the use and behoof of the children of the said John Coulter, until the further order of the court.





Teste – Jno Williams C.C.

24 March 1838

President & Directors of Literary Fund vs Fewell


The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: We command you to take James Fewell if he be found within your bailiwick, and him safely keep, so that you have his body at the Clerk’s Office of our Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery of Prince William County, at the Court-house of the said County, on the first Monday in April next, to answer The President and Directors of the Literary Fund of a plea of debt for 12,000 lbs. Crop Tobacco for rent in arrear to wit: 3000 lbs for 1834, 3000 lbs. for 1835, 3,000 lbs for 1836 and 3000 lbs for 1837, damage $350.


And have then there this writ. Witness James H. Reid, Clerk of our said Circuit Superior Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, the 24th day of March 1838, and in the 62nd year of the Commonwealth.









J. H. Reid






Copy Teste J. Williams C.C.

4 Jun 1838

George Smallwood against Commonwealth


And the said defendant in his proper person comes and defends the force and inquiry when &c. and for ought not to have and maintain the presentment aforesaid because he saith that George T. Adams one of the Grand Jury empanelled charged and sworn upon the inquest which found the presentment aforesaid against him, was not at the time of making the said presentment a freeholder of the County of Prince William and that the said Grand Jury were not legally and duly constituted according to law, and this he is ready to verify &c.
Prince William County to Wit:


This day George W. Smallwood personally appeared before me one of the Justices of the Peace for the aforesaid County and made oath that the facts set forth in the foregoing pleas are true to the best of his knowledge & belief. 



Given under my hand this 4th day of June 1838.









R. Williams J.P.

15 June 1838

Kincheloe vs Allen


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County, Greetings: Whereas Daniel Kincheloe hath entered a caveat against issuing a grant to Zachariah Allen for 79 Acres O R., 21 poles of land lying in Prince William County and surveyed by Thomas Nelson for the said Allen, first because the Caveator claims for himself and John Kincheloe, Susan Kincheloe, Mary Kincheloe & Elizabeth Hickey wife of James Hickey, & said James in her right as heirs (except said James) of Cornelius Kincheloe deceased late of Fairfax County the said tract or parcel of seventy acres more or less, including in said survey as aforesaid, by a better title, the Caveator and said John, Susan, Mary & Elizabeth the said husband James in her right, being fully and legally entitled to said tract or parcel of last aforesaid included as aforesaid as heirs (except said James) of said Cornelius who was fully and legally entitled to and possessed of the same and died seized thereof and because said tract or parcel has been in the quiet  and undisturbed possession, until said survey and the pretended claims thereby indicated of said Cornelius and his said heirs for upwards of forty years, and his title to the same was full and complete under Nathaniel Wickliffe deceased and his heirs. For these and other reasons and grounds to be stated on the trial, or decision of the case, before the court, in which this caveat shall be heard and determined. Therefore we command you that you summon the said Zachariah Allen to appear before the justices of the court of our said county at the court house on the 1st Monday in August next, to defend his right to the said land. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, clerk of our said court, at the court-house aforesaid the 15th day of June 1838, and in the 62nd year of our foundation.








Jno. Williams

28 August 1838

Commonwealth of Virginia vs Smith

Summon to answer Information


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Stafford County -  Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Delia Smith to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the County, on the first Monday in November next, to answer an Information exhibited on our behalf against her the said Smith on a presentment of the Grand Jury made in the said Court on the 6th November 1837 for suffering her slave Dick to go at large in the County of Prince William aforesaid  within six months last past”

And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, this 28th day of August 1838, and in the 63rd year of our foundation.









J. Williams

29 August 1838

Commonwealth vs James Smith – warrant


Prince William County to wit: Whereas John Hamilton of the Town of Occoquan in the County of Prince William hath this day given information under oath to Mr. Samuel H. Janney a Justice of the Peace for the County aforesaid that he hath just cause to suspect and doth verily believe that o Thursday the 23rd day of August inst. A certain free negro man named James Smith of the aforesaid County did unlawfully wound & disable a certain slave man Price Russell of the aforesaid County by striking him upon the head with a stick of wood. . These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you to apprehend the said James Smith and to bring him before me or some other Justice of the peace for the County of Prince William to answer the premises and further to be dealt with according to law. Given under my hand and seal in the County of Prince William this 29th day of August 1838.








Samuel H. Janney

Summon John Whalon, Sandy Alexander, George (not given), Jesse Sampson Jun.. & Daniel West – Executed 29 August 1838 by A. P. Lynn constable.

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: We command you that you summon Slave Thornton in the possession of Samuel Tansill and Samuel Tansill to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said County, on the 1st day of January court next: to testify and the truth to say in behalf of the defendant in a certain matter of controversy in our said court, before our said Justices depending and undetermined between us and James Smith.
And this they shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 pounds. And have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said court, at the Court House aforesaid, this 13 day of December 1838, and in the 63 year of our foundation.



J. Williams

Warrant for Summoning a Court


To the Sheriff of said County: Whereas James Smith of the County of Prince William was this day committed to the jail of this county, by my warrant for unlawfully wounding and disabling slave Price Russell it appearing to me, that the felonious offence wherewith he stands charged ought to be examined into by the county court; therefore, on behalf of the Commonwealth, I require you, that you summon at least eight of the justices of your said county to meet at the court house, on the first Monday of September and then and there to hold a court for the examination of the fact, with which the said James Smith stands charged, and for such other purposes concerning the premises, as is by law required and directed; and that  
you have then there this warrant. Given under my hand and seal this 29th day of August in the year 1838, and in the (blank) year of the Commonwealth.








Samuel H. Janney J.P. (SEAL)

Prince William County, to wit: To the Sheriff (or any constable) of the said County, and to the keeper of the jail of the said County.

These are to command you, the said Constable in the name of the Commonwealth, to convey and deliver into the custody of the said keeper of the said jail the body of James Smith late of the aforesaid county charged before me with feloniously and unlawfully wounding and disabling negro slave Price Russell.
And you the said jailor, are hereby required to receive the said James Smith into your jail and custody, and him there safely keep, till he shall thence be discharged by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal this 29th day of August in the year 1837 and in the (blank) year of the Commonwealth.








Samuel H. Janney J.P. (SEAL)

Recognizance of the Witnesses


Prince William County, to wit: Memorandum, that upon this 29th day of August in the year 1838 Doctor Thomas Nevitt of Fairfax County came before me Samuel H. Janney a Justice of the peace for the county aforesaid, and each of them of his proper person acknowledged himself indebted to David Campbell Esquire, governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, in the sum, of one hundred dollars, to be levied severally of each of their goods and chattels, lands and tenements respectively to the use of the said Commonwealth; upon condition, that if each of them do personally appear before the Commonwealth’s Justices of the peace for the said County of Prince William, on the first Monday of September next at a court by them to be held at the Court House of the said county, for the examination of a certain free negro named James Smith charged with unlawfully striking and wounding a slave named Price Russell then and there, on the behalf of the said Commonwealth, give such evidence as he knoweth against the said James Smith concerning the matters wherewith he is charged, and that neither he, nor either of them, do depart without leave of the said court, then this recognizance to be void or else remain in full force.








Acknowledged before me









Samuel H. Janney J.P. (SEAL)

Recognizance of the Witnesses


Prince William County, to wit: Memorandum, that upon this 29th day of August in the year 1838 Jesse Sampson Sr. of Prince William County came before me Samuel H. Janney a Justice of the peace for the county aforesaid, and each of them of his proper person acknowledged himself indebted to David Campbell Esquire, governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, in the sum, of one hundred dollars, to be levied severally of each of their goods and chattels, lands and tenements respectively to the use of the said Commonwealth; upon condition, that if each of them do personally appear before the Commonwealth’s Justices of the peace for the said County of Prince William, on the first Monday of September next at a court by them to be held at the Court House of the said county, for the examination of a certain free negro named James Smith charged with unlawfully striking and wounding a slave named Price Russell then and there, on the behalf of the said Commonwealth, give such evidence as he knoweth against the said James Smith concerning the matters wherewith he is charged, and that neither he, nor either of them, do depart without leave of the said court, then this recognizance to be void or else remain in full force.









Acknowledged before me









Samuel H. Janney J.P. (SEAL)

18 September 1838
Commonwealth vs Fletcher

House Burning

To Jas Purcell Constable of Prince William


Prince William County to wit: Whereas Samuel Lucas hath this day made complaint upon oath to me R. Foster of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the County aforesaid that on the 2nd day of September 1838. A house belonging to him the said Samuel Lucas and in his possession was willfully and maliously set on fire and burnt. And he hath just cause to suspect and doth suspect that Fanny Fletcher of the county of aforesaid, Free Woman of Colour did feloniously voluntarily and maliously burn the said house, these and therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you immediately to apprehend the said Fanny Fletcher and bring  her before me or some other justice of peace for the said county to be examined concerning the premises wherewith she is suspected. Given under my hand and seal & this 4 day of September 1838.





R. Foster

Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that on the 18 day of September 1838 Fanny Fletcher (a free mulatto woman spinster) and Robert T. Howison, yeoman, and Wm. P. Cundiff, yeoman, personally came before me Robt. Williams a justice of the peace for the said county and acknowledged themselves to owe and be indebted to David Campbell, governor or chief magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, that is to say, the said Fanny Fletcher, the sum of one hundred dollars and the said Robt. T. Howison, and Wm. P. Cundiff each the sum of fifty dollars separately, of good and lawful money of this Commonwealth, to be made and levied of their goods and chattels, lands and tenements respectively, to the use of the said Commonwealth if the said Fanny Fletcher shall make default in the condition hereunder written. The condition of the above recognizance is such, that if the above bound Fanny Fletcher, do and shall personally appear before the Commonwealth’s Justices of the Peace for the County of Prince William at a Court to be held on the 1st day of October next at the Court house of the said county, for the examination of the said Fanny Fletcher, touching a certain felony wherewith she stands charged, (in this to wit House burning) and shall then and there do, and receive, what shall be enjoined by the said court, and shall not depart thence without leave of the same, then the above recognizance to be void, else to remain in full force and virtue. 



Fanny Fletcher (her mark)








Robert T. Howison









Wm. P. Cundiff

Acknowledged before me – Robt. Williams J.P.

Recognizance of the Witnesses


Prince William County to Wit: Memorandum, that upon this 8th day of September in the year 1838, Samuel Lucus & James Fletcher came before me, Benjamin Johnson a Justice of the Peace for the County aforesaid, and each of them of his proper person acknowledged themselves indebted to David Cambell Esquire, governor or Chief Magistrate of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and his successors, in the sum, of fifty dollars each to be levied severally of each of their goods and chattels, lands and tenements respectively to the use of the said Commonwealth; upon condition, that if each of them do personally appear before the Commonwealth’s Justices of the Peace for the said County of Prince William, on the 15th day of September 1838 at a court by them to be held, at the Court House of the said county, for the examination of Fanny Fletcher a Free Woman of Colour with House Burning and do then and there, on the behalf of the said Commonwealth, give such evidence as he knoweth against the said Fanny Fletcher Free Woman of Colour concerning the matters wherewith she is charged, and neither they nor either of them, do depart without leave of the said court, then this recognizance to be void or else remain in full force. Acknowledged before me.





B. Johnson  J.P. (SEAL)

Prince William County to Wit: 

To the Constable of said County, and to the Keeper of the Jail of said County. These are to command you the said Constable in the name of the Commonwealth to convey and deliver into the custody of the said keeper of the said jail, the body of Fanny Fletcher a free woman of colour of the County of Prince William charged before me with House Burning and you the said Jailor are hereby required to receive the said Fanny Fletcher into your Jail and Custody and her there safely keep till she shall thence be discharged by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal this 8th day of September 1838.








B. Johnson (SEAL)

7 November 1838 
Barton vs Farrow

Bill & Decree Filed


(Due to the quality of the handwriting this document is hard to transcribe) – To the worshipful, the County Court of Prince William in Chancery setting, Humbly complaining sheweth unto your worship, your orator and orators James G. Barton and Margaret his wife, formerly Margaret Farrow, William W. Browning and Sarah his wife formerly Sarah Farrow, Carr (?) T. Page and Mildred his wife formerly Mildred Farrow, William W. Payne and Louisa his wife formerly Louisa Farrow, John P. Farrow and George A. Farrow that in the year 1811 the grandfather of your orator and ____, John Smith departed this life after first duly made and published his last will and testament an office copy of which will is herewith upheld marked No. 1 and prayed to be read as a part of this bill.

That by the provisions of said will as may more fully be seen by the inspection thereof the said ____ ____ devised and bequest certain property to her son John Fuller Smith in trust for the benefit of her daughter Lucy Farrow during her life and after her death to her children that by _____ of the said will the trust thereby created in favour of said Lucy Farrow ___ assumed by the said John Peller Smith; your orator and orators ____ represent that in the year 1799 the said John Smith who was as aforesaid the grandfather of your orator or orators executed a deed of gift and conveyance to the said John Puller Smith, an office copy where it is herewith filed, marked No. 2, and prayed to be taken as a part of this bill, by which he conveyed to the said John Puller Smith certain property in said deed mentioned in trust for the benefit of his said daughter Lucy Farrow, during her life and after her death to her children, that the said John Puller Smith in like manner assumed upon himself the _____ of trustee under the said deed and continued to act as the trustee for the said Lucy Farrow and her children during her lifetime, now your orator and orators represent that in consequence of the death of the said John P. Smith which happened a few months ago, the trustee by the said last will and testament of John Smith deceased and by the deed aforesaid in favour of the said Lucy Farrow and her children, are left without a hand to execute ___ and ___ that the ____ of the ____ trustee ___ to be pr-----duced and ______ unless your worship shall approve some _____ and proper person or persons to take upon himself or themselves the office of trustee under the will and deed aforesaid, to the end therefore that justice may be accomplished, your orator and orators prays that Thomas A. Farrow, Amanda M. Farrow, Benjamin Farrow, Lucy Farrow and Joseph S. Farrow the last of which is an infant under the age of twenty one may be made defendants to this bill, with after------ to charge them, that they may respectively be impelled to answer the allegations contained in this bill as fully as the same were specially put together as ______ _____ that a ____ ___ ___ may be ___ to defend the infant defendant Joseph S. Farrow, under  the deed and will aforesaid, inventory ____ ___ all the power duties and ____ with which the said John Puller Smith was ____ as trustee under the same, and that such other ___ farther relief in the premises may be granted ___ your orator and orators as is ___ with ___ and equity. Your orator and orators pray the Commonwealth most gracious ___.








Geo. A. Farrow

Will of John Smith

In the name of God amen. I John Smith of the County of Fauquier of sound and disposing mind and memory, do make and ordain this my last will and testament hereby revoking all others or former wills by me made. In premise it is my will and desire that all my just debts should be paid by my executors hereafter named in as convenient and expeditors a manner as they can.


Item, I give and bequeath to my son John Puller Smith, Hannah and Rachael and her youngest child and their future increase. In trust for the sole use and benefit of my beloved daughter Sally and her heirs forever, and to no other intent whatever, my meaning is that the said slaves Hannah & Rachael is not to be disposed of to any purpose but to remain with their increase in trust for the benefit of my said daughter Sally, and her heirs forever. I also give to my said daughter Sally, her choice of one bed and furniture and a horse to be valued at one hundred dollars to her and her heirs forever.

Item, I give and bequeath to my beloved son James Whitmore Smith two negroes named Jack Fox and Haily together with their future increase to him and his heirs forever, also his second choice of a bed and furniture and a horse to be valued at one hundred dollars to him and his heirs forever.


Item, I give and bequeath to my grandson Jacob Thomas Williams after the death of my beloved wife a bed and furniture with a horse and saddle to be valued at twenty five pounds to him and his heirs forever.


Item, After the death of my beloved wife Peggy, I give and bequeath to my son John Puller Smith and his heirs forever a lot or lease of land in Leeds Manor known by the name of Johnson’s lot supposed to contain two hundred acres also one fifth part of all my slaves not before devised together with one fifth part of all my personal estate. In trust nevertheless for the use and benefit of my daughter Lucy Farrow for and during her natural life and after her decease to be equally divided among her legal representatives  to them and their heirs forever and to no other use or intent, whatever.
Item, I give and bequeath to my son John Puller Smith after the death of my beloved wife Peggy a lot or lease of land in Leeds Manor purchased of James Hefflin supposed to contain one hundred acres also Negro girl Vina to be taken out of the slaves after the death of my beloved wife and before any division of the residue of my slaves not before bequeath is made also one fifth part of all my remaining slaves and one fifth part of all my personal property after the death of my beloved wife. In trust however to the sole use and benefit of my beloved daughter Sally during her natural life and after her death to her legal representatives, and their heirs forever.

Item, I give and bequeath to my daughter Margaret Downing Hughes and her husband Thomas Hughes and their heirs for ever after the death of my beloved wife all my moity of the lease of land lying in Leeds Manor purchased in partnership with the said Thomas Hughes from John H. Ferguson except my moity of the will and five acres of land adjoining the mill also one fifth part of all my slaves not before bequeathed and one fifth part of all my personal estate of every kind after the death of my beloved wife.

Item after the death of my wife I give and bequeath to my son John P. Smith and his heirs forever my moity of the will purchased from John H. Ferguson and five acres of land adjoining thereto to be laid off in such a manner as my said son may direct. Also one fifth part of all my slaves and other personal property. 
Item, I give and bequeath to my beloved sons John Puller Smith and James W. Smith and their heirs forever after the death of my beloved wife to be equally divided between them the lot or lease of land in Leeds Manor purchased of Francis Triplett also the lot purchased of John Jones, also the lot purchased of William Hughlett, and if my said sons should disagree in the division or an equal division all circumstances considered cannot be made then my will and desire is that the lots aforesaid should be sold by my executors and the same may be equally divided between my sons aforesaid. I also give and bequeath to my son James W. Smith and his heirs forever after the death of my wife one fifth part of all my slaves not before bequeathed and one fifth part of all the residue of my personal estate.
Item it is my will and desire that if any account is brought against my estate by Thomas Hughes which shall be allowed by my executors or established by law or otherwise that each of my children except Margaret Hughes shall receive out of my estate before any division is made as much money as the aforesaid account or claim of the said Thomas Hughes may amount to pass to my said daughter Lucy Farrow & Sally in trust in the same manner that the other devises are made to them. And lastly I nominate and appoint my two sons John Puller Smith and James W. Smith executors to this my last will and testament, hereby revoking all other wills by me heretofore made and it is my desire that no appraisement of my estate shall be made.
In witness whereof I John Smith have hereto set my hand and seal to this my last will and testament written on one sheet of paper and part of the second the 10th day of May in the year one thousand eight hundred and six.
Signed, sealed, published and pronounced by the said John Smith to be his last will and testament .








John (his mark) Smith  (SEAL)

and in the presence of
Charles Marshall, John Tucker, A. Sangster


At a Court held for Fauquier County on the 23rd day of September 1811. This last will and testament of John Smith deceased was proved by the oath of John Tucker a subscribing witness thereto appearing to the satisfaction of the court that the alteration of Charles Marshall deceased another subscribing witness to said will is the hand writing of said Marshall and is thereupon admitted to record, and on the motion of John P. Smith one of the executors therein named who made oath together with Isaac Henry, John Puller and James Edmonds his securities entered into and acknowledged bond in the penalty of ten thousand dollars conditioned as the law directs, certificate is granted him for obtaining a probate thereof in due form.







Teste.  H. R. Campbell  C.C.

06 Nov 1838

Commonwealth of Virginia to Thornton and  Mason

Account

31 May 1838
Visit to Levi Harding confined in Jail for felony and medicine

$1.50


01 June 1838
Visit to Harding in Jail & medicine




$1.50

02 June 1838
Visit to Harding in Jail & medicine




$2.00

03 June 1838
Visit to Harding & advice





$1.00










$6.00

Prince William County Court November 6th 1838 Thornton and Mason presented to court an account against the Commonwealth amounting to $6.00 which was examined allowed and ordered to be certified to the auditor of public accounts

22 November 1838

Summon Catherine Merchant


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Catherine Merchant (widow) to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the court house of said County, on the first Monday in March next to shew cause if any she can why an information should not be filed against  her upon a presentment of the Grand Jury in the said court on the 5th November 1838 for retailing ardent spirits to be drank at the place when sold without license within six months last past for keeping a disorderly house. And have then there this writ: Witness John Williams, Clerk of our said Court at the Court-house aforesaid this 22 day of November 1838, and in the 63 year of our foundation.








J. Williams

23 November 1838

Appointment of John Hutchison

Sheriff of Prince William County


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To all to whom these Presents shall come, Greetings: Know Ye, That the Court of the County of Prince William having nominated John Hutchison to be Sheriff for the County, our Governor, pursuant to the Laws of this Commonwealth, doth hereby constitute and appoint him the said John Hutchison Sheriff for the said County, to take effect from the expiration of the term of the present Sheriff, and to continue in office until the first Quarterly Court to be holden for the said County, in year one thousand eight hundred and forty.

In testimony whereof, These our Letters are sealed with the Lesser Seal of the Commonwealth, and made patent.


Witness, David Campbell Esquire, our said Governor, at Richmond, this twenty third day of November in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty eight and of the Commonwealth the Sixty Three.








David Campbell

12 January 1839

Linton’s Administrator vs Barron


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Harrison County, Greetings: Whereas Sarah Linton, in her life time, that is to say at a Court of Quarterly Sessions continued and held for Prince William County on the 7th day of November 1828, before our Justices of our said County Court, had recovered against John Barron, the sum of $135.23 with legal interest thereon from the 29th day of December 1827, until paid for, debt and also $5.84 for her costs by her about her suit in that behalf expended, whereof the said John Barron is convict as appears to us of record and whereas since the rendering of the said judgment, the said Sarah Linton hath departed this life having first made her last will and testament, in writing, and failing to appoint an executor, administration, with the said will annexed, of all and singular the goods and chattels, rights & credits of the said Sarah alias Sally Linton deceased, hath been in due form committed to James D. Graham and now on behalf of the said James D. Graham administrator with the will annexed of Sally Linton deceased we are informed that although judgment in form aforesaid be given, execution thereof still remains to be made. Therefore we command you that you make known to the said John Barron that he be before the justices of our said county court of Prince William, at the court house, on the first Monday in March next to show if any thing for himself he hath on can say why the said James D. Graham, administrator as aforesaid, execution of the judgment aforesaid may not have if to him it seem expedient, and further to do and receive what our said court shall in this part consider and have then there this writ. Witness John Williams, clerk of our said Court, at the court-house aforesaid, this 12th day of January 1839, and in the 63rd year of the Commonwealth.








J. Williams
25 January 1839

Capt. George H. Cockrell 36th Regt. V. M.

Prince William Patrols


Prince William County to Wit: In conformity to an Act of Assembly empowering Magistrates to Order out Patrols and whereas information has been given to me the undersigned a Justice of Peace for said County that great necessity exists for the same. You are therefore required to order a Sergeant 4 men from your Company to patrol and visit all Negro quarters and other places suspected of entertaining Negroes or other persons unlawfully assembled to apprehend all Negroes without passes as runaways & Free Negroes for violation of the law & bring them before a magistrate to be dealt with according to law. Given under my hand this 25th January 1839









W. S. Colquhoun

To Zachariah Allen


Orders – Pursuant to the above requisition you are hereby appointed Captain of Patrol & will take following named men under your command to wit. Henry Calvert, (John Bland crossed out) Henry Mitchell, Alexander Morgan, William Sissle substitute and patrol fifteen days within the period of three months when you will make your return under oath to the Court of Prince William County at June term ensuing.







Captain of Patrol G. H. Cockrell

Date

Zach Allen
Wm. Rison
Henry Calvert
Henry Mitchell
Alex. Morgan

05 Feb 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

08 Feb 1839
5 ½ hours
5 ½ hours 
5 ½ hours
5 ½ hours
5 ½ hours

10 Feb 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours 

6 hours

6 hours

11 Feb 1839
5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

12 Feb 1839
2 ½ hours
0 hours

2 ½ hours
2 ½ hours
0 hours

14 Feb 1839
4 ½ hours
4 ½ hours
4 ½ hours
4 ½ hours
4 ½ hours

16 Feb 1839
4 hours

0 hours

4 hours

4 hours

4 hours

25 Feb 1839
3 ½ hours
0 hours

3 ½ hours
3 ½ hours
3 ½ hours

01 Mar 1839
3 hours

3 hours

3 hours

3 hours

3 hours

03 Mar 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

0 hours

05 Mar 1839
5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

5 hours

10 Mar 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

0 hours

13 Mar 1839
4 hours

4 hours

4 hours

4 hours

0 hours

17 Mar 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

0 hours

25 Mar 1839
6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

6 hours

0 hours 


73 hours

63 hours

73 hours

73 hours

37 ½ hours


Prince William County to Wit: Personally appeared before me a Justice of Peace for said County Zach Allen officer of Patrol & made oath that he served seventy three hours, that Willis Sissle substituted for Wm. Rison served sixty three hours, Henry Calvert seventy three hours, Henry Mitchell seventy three hours and Alex Morgan thirty seven and one half hours and that the above return is just and true. Given under my hand this 29th March 1839.



W. S. Colquhoun

March 1839

Hooe vs Hooe’s Administrator


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon John Gibson administrator with the will annexed of James Hooe deceased to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said county, on the first Monday in April next, to answer a Bill in Chancery exhibited against him in our said court by Francis T. Hooe in his own right and as farther and next friend of his infant children Alfred T. Hooe, Georgeanna Hooe, Horace Hooe and Edgar Hooe.


And unless he shall answer the said bill within four months thereafter, the court will take the same for confessed and decree accordingly. And this he shall in nowise omit under the penalty of $100. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court House aforesaid, the (blank) day of March 1839, and in the 63 year of our foundation.









J. Williams


To the worshipful the County Court of Prince William County in Chancery setting – Humbly complaining sheweth unto your honor your orator Francis Townshend Hooe in his own right and father and next friend of his infant children Alfred Hooe all of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia that Howson Hooe late of Prince William County but now deceased the father of your orators, departed this life on or about this (blank) day of (blank) having first duly published and made his last will and testament in writing and executed in such manner as by law is required to pass real estate having date the (blank) day of (blank) 18—(an extract of which is hereto annexed marked A & prayed to be taken as part of this Bill) and thereby give and bequeath, among other things certain property real and personal therein described to James Hooe, brother of your orator; to be held in trust for the benefit of your orator and his children living at the time of the publication of said Will, and will as such as might be born thereafter – and that the said James Hooe aforesaid should give unto your orator & his children the most beneficial use & enjoyment of said estate real and personal. To this end the said James Hooe trustee aforesaid was invested by terms of said will with full power to let or rent out said lands together with said personal estate or sell the whole or any part thereof of the said estate real and personal vesting the proceeds thereof in any other property real or personal to be held upon the same trust as the original estate – Your orator further sheweth that the said James Hooe duly proved said will and acted in the trusts thereof and appropriated the money arising from the trust estate to the various purposes therein specified as far as your orator is informed and your orator further sheweth that the said James Hooe departed this life on the (blank) day of (blank) 1838 after first making and publishing his last will and testament in which he appointed his brother (blank) his executor who, by the terms of the will of Howson Hooe deceased would have had full power and authority to act in the premises in all things as the said James Hooe deceased might have done – But your orator is informed that the said (blank) Hooe Esquire aforesaid renounced the executorships and that subsequently to that time John Gibson has qualified as administrator with the will annexed on the estate of the said James Hooe deceased and as your orator is informed renounces the trust which would de---- upon him by reason of the administration aforesaid your orator prays therefore that the said John Gibson administrator aforesaid be made a defendant hereto and required to answer the premises and renounced or accept the execution of the trust aforesaid and that he comes to a full and fair settlement with such trust as may be appointed to take charge of said estate shewing the manner in which the trust has been executed by his testator, the said James Hooe deceased and that such balance if any shall be held by said trustee subject to the trust aforesaid. And should the said John Gibson administrator as aforesaid renounced said trust that William F. Purcell be appointed trustee under said will in lieu of the trustee therein named with full power to act in the premises as the original trustee might or could have done and such other and farther rel--- as to your honor may seem just and proper. Your orator prays the Commonwealth most  ____ writ of subpoena.







Jas. T. Hooe

I give to my son James & his heirs, executors or administrators the following real & personal estate to wit: The tract of land I purchased of Fitzhugh lying on Kettle Run called Wellington, the black horse my son Francis Townshend has now in his possession; One seventh part of the sheep that I shall die possessed of; One seventh part of my farming utensils & one feather bed & furniture now in the possession of my said son Francis Townshend; To have and to hold the said real and personal estate; upon the following trusts, that is to say, upon trust to give to the children of my said son Francis Townshend now living such other children as he shall have, the most beneficial use and enjoyment of the said estate, real and personal; To which end he may lot or hire said lands or cultivate the said lands, or any other lands, with the horse and keep thereon the said personal property, in his discretion and apply the products or avails thereof as hereinafter provided & upon the further trust that he may sell the whole or any part of the said estate real and personal and any other estate that may be acquired by increase or purchase from the trust, subject and vest the proceeds thereof in other property real or personal, in his discretion when he shall consider such consideration advantageous to such children and hold the estate acquired from or substituted for the original estate upon the like trusts as the original estate; and upon the further trust, that he shall apply the products or avails of said estate real and personal in manner following to wit: to the maintenance and education of the said children now living of the said Francis T. Hooe and such other children as he may have hereafter, in such ways and in such proportions as he shall think proper until forty weeks after the death of the said Francis T. with full power to withhold any portion thereof from any of the male children of the said Francis T. after they shall attain the age of twenty one years upon the further trust that he shall upon the expiration of Forty weeks from the death of the said Francis T. convey absolutely to the descendants of the said Francis T. & their heirs executors or administrators the whole of said estate real and personal and any other estate which may be acquired by increase or purchase from the trust, subject in such manner and in such proportions as they would be entitled to the same if it had belonged in the said Francis Townshend at the time of his death and were to be derived to them under the acts of the general assembly of Virginia regulating descants and for the distribution of intestates estates or if none of the descendants of the said Francis Townshend shall be living at that period, then the said estate real and personal shall pass to my sons, James and Richard, in fee simple, to be equally divided between them and if they or any of them shall then be dead, the said estate real and personal shall past to the descendents of such as shall be dead, in the same manner and proportions as if the several parties of their said ancestors, were derived to them from said ancestors, under the provisions of the said act of the General Assembly of Virginia before mentioned; and upon the further trust that he may appoint as many agents as he may think fit, to whom he may delegate the execution of all the trusts declared in this clause, without responsibility in any manner for their acts, except such agents shall have no authority to sell or exchange any part of the said estate real or personal and it is my desire that the heirs executors or administrators of the said James Hooe upon whom the said estate real and personal may devolve, subject to the trusts aforesaid, or any other trustee upon whom the same may lawfully devolve, shall have the same powers and discretion in the execution of the said trusts as I have hereinbefore confessed upon the said James Hooe. A true extract from the last will and testament of Howson Hooe Sen. deceased.



Teste     J. Williams C.C,
4 March 1839

Commonwealth vs Landon a Slave

Convicted & sentenced to Death


Virginia, Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that John Gibson, attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William cometh here into court this fourth day of March eighteen hundred and thirty nine, into a special court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer, composed of the Justices of the Peace for the county aforesaid duly organized according to the provisions of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided for the trial of slaves charged with treason or felony, and for the said Commonwealth giveth the court to understand and be informed that a certain negro man slave named Landon late of the county aforesaid the property of one Williams Bowers of the County of Fauquier on the tenth day of February in the year aforesaid not having the fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil with force and arms at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court feloniously did with force and maliciously set fire to the Jail of the County of Prince William situated in the Town of Brentsville against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the forum of the act of the general assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.







John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth

 





for the County Court of Prince William

(Record sent to Governor – Prisoner convicted & sentenced to death on the 4th Friday in April next)

Virginia, 

Prince William County Court, March 4th 1839.


The Court proceeded as a court of Oyer and Terminer to the trial of Landon, negro man Slave the property of William Bower charged with felony (the called Court heretofore summoned having failed to meet) William T. French Esquire was assigned counsel for the Prisoner. And the Attorney for the Commonwealth came into court and filed an information against the said Landon in these words, to wit:

Prince William County to Wit:


Be it remembered that John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth for the County of Prince William, cometh here into Court this fourth day of March eighteen hundred and thirty nine, into a Special Court of the Commonwealth of Oyer and Terminer, composed of the Justices of the Peace for the County aforesaid, duly organized, according to the provisions of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made, and provided for the trial of Slaves, charged with treason or felony, and for the said Commonwealth giveth the Court to understand and be informed that a certain Negro man Slave named Landon, late of the County aforesaid, the property of one William Bowers of the County of Fauquier, on the tenth day of February in the year aforesaid, not having the fear of God before his eyes, but being moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, with force and arms at the County aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this Court, did feloniously, willfully and maliciously, set fire to the jail of the County of Prince William, situated in the Town of Brentsville against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth and against the form of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided.







John Gibson attorney








for the Commonwealth








in the County Court for 








Prince William County


And upon the information aforesaid the said Slave Landon was arraigned and upon his arraignment, pleaded not guilty, and for his trial put himself upon God and this Court, And the Court proceeded to examine sundry witnesses for the Commonwealth; On consideration whereof, the Court are unanimously of opinion, that the said slave Landon is guilty of the offence, with which he stands charged. This therefore considered and ordered by the Court, that he be remanded to jail, the place from whence he came, and there remain until the day of his Execution, and from thence, takin to the place of Execution and hanged by the neck until he be dead, on the fourth Friday in April next, between the hours of 10 o’clock in the morning and 4 o’clock in the afternoon of that day.


And the Court are of opinion that the said slave Landon is worth $900. And the Court recommends the said Slave Landon to the mercy of the Executive.


The following was the evidence taken in this case Commonwealth vs Landon for burning the jail of Prince William County.
Summary of the evidence.

Wm. S. Fewell sworn to give evidence in behalf of the Commonwealth stated as follows:
On the morning after the servant was put in jail Sunday morning; I proposed to Mr. Purcell that we should go over and look at the Negro – do not recollect the hour – met with Mr. Evans – went into the jail – got to the head off the stairway. I recollect I first called to him and he remarked that there was a house on fire and on being questioned as to where the fire was, remarked that he did not know – that the old man supposed to be the man taken out of jail the evening before, said he intended to set a house on fire that night – He said he thought he heard a fire some where – he said this way, but witness did not know where, as he could not see prisoner – went down stairs to see where the fire was, and some one opened the door of the adjoining room – after asking Mr. Clifford the jailor for the key – The room adjoining was unoccupied and the key in the door. The prisoner was in the front room – and the fire was supposed to have communicated there – The witness discovered no signs of fire until the adjoining room door was opened of the adjacent room – The witness can not say that there were no signs of burning there before – He saw evidence of fire having been once applied by accident or otherwise but does not know when. He says that prisoner denied having set jail on fire and remarked that if he did it must have been accidental, that he smoked his pipe and then went to sleep – Saw nothing of handkerchief.
T. M. Farrow’s Testimony


On the day the prisoner was committed the witness was not present – he came in that evening and examined the room – I discovered there was a place burned in the centre of the room or nearly so, but I took no notice of that – he then examined the place where the fire was supposed to have been communicated – he did not discover the burnt place before that he recollects of – Witness is Deputy Sheriff and had occasion to visit jail frequently – he discovered there had been a piece of cotton or silk burned in the hole – could not say which – This was discovered in the room where the fire was communicated – On the day set apart for call Court I went to examine and found some coarse linen – partly burned linen cloth, this was discovered by running a stick down into the hole which had been burned – The piece or roll was about the size of a walnut.

Prisoner said to Servant Woman who questioned him in hearing of witness, that he did not set the house on fire – that it must have caught from the coal in his pipe, but anyone in jail would try to get out – Prisoner had a bundle of clothes in room with him – Coat &c. – The window had been prized at in the room where prisoner was and the facing started – Witness will say that prisoner did it.


J. A. Evans acting in behalf of Commonwealth proves the facts as stated by William Fewell.


Overton a colored man Slave charged and sworn says – In the morning about one half an hour by sun, Sunday Morning, I passed by the door of Jail and prisoner asked for coal of fire to light his pipe – Witness asked him if he could not wait until after breakfast – Prisoner said he could, after breakfast he gave him the fire by permission of the Jailor who first objected and afterwards assented – which day was the Sunday on which the Jail was fired – Mr. Clifford says about 7 o’clock, he was in the room, when Overton came into his room and asked for fire to light the pipe of prisoner – The Servant took coal of fire to the prisoner – about one hour and a half afterwards the witness says that the Gentlemen Messrs Evans, Fewell and Purcell came to the jail to see prisoner – Mr. Fewell then sent to witness for Key – supposed the jail had been on fire sometime – Thinks more than half an hour – The room where he was locked and there was little appearance of fire elsewhere.


Mr. J. F. Reid witness in behalf of the Commonwealth says, as soon as he heard the alarm of fire, he went to the Jail and entered the room adjoining the one where prisoner was and saw fire burning in the ceiling – he directed some hands in applying water to extinguish the flames – and think from appearances that the fire originated in the room of prisoner, do not think that the fire could have been communicated by any one except somebody in the room where prisoner was. 

The Following is a copy of the Warrant:

To James Purcell a Constable of Prince William County to Wit:


Whereas George W. Clifford of the County of Prince William aforesaid, hath this day made complaint upon oath, to me John Fitzhugh one of the Commonwealth Justices of the Peace, for the County aforesaid, that on this 10th day of February 1839, the Public Jail of Prince William County, in the Town of Brentsville, was willfully and maliciously set on fire, and burnt and that he hath just cause to suspect and doth suspect that a certain Negro Slave named Landon now confined in said Jail as a runaway, and supposed, to be the property of William Bower of the County of Fauquier, did feloniously willfully and maliciously set fire to and burn the said Jail.

These are therefore, in the name of the Commonwealth, to require you immediately, to apprehend the said Landon, and to bring him before me or some other justice of the peace for the said county, to be examined concerning the premises wherewith he is suspected. Given under my hand and seal this 10th day of February 1839.






Jno Fitzhugh J.P. (SEAL)

The following is a copy of the Mittimus
Prince William County to Wit:

To the Sheriff or any Constable of the said County and to the keeper of the Jail of the said County. These are to command you the said Sheriff or Constable in the name of the Commonwealth to convey and deliver into the custody of the said keeper, of the said jail, the body of Landon a Negro supposed to be a runaway, the property of Wm. Bower, charged before me with setting on fire and burning the Jail of Prince William County – And you the said jailor, are hereby required to receive the said Landon into your jail and custody and him there safely keep, till he shall thence be discharged by due course of law. Given under my hand and seal this 10th day of February in the year 1839, and in the 63rd year of the Commonwealth.







Jno Fitzhugh  J. P. (SEAL)

4 March 1839

Commonwealth vs Heath

Grand Jury – Not a True Bill

Virginia, Prince William County, to wit: The Jurors of the Grand Jury of and for the body of the County aforesaid, being first impaneled sworn and charged, the Commonwealth this fourth day of March in the year one thousand, eight hundred and thirty nine on the oaths present that a certain John Heath laborer, late of the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this court on the fourteenth day of December eighteen and thirty eight with force and arms on one Thomas B. Hooe in the Peace of God and of the Commonwealth and him the said Thomas B. Hooe then and there did beat, wound and mistreat, so that his life was greatly despaired of and other wrongs to the said Thomas B. Hooe, then and there did, to the great damage of the said Thomas B. Hooe and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth.






John Gibson attorney for the Commonwealth

 




for the County Court of Prince William

4 March 1839

Capt. Thomas Bowne
Order of the Court in Relation of Heirs


State of Virginia, In Prince William County, March 1839. It having been satisfactorily proven to the court it is ordered to be certified that Thomas Bowne who was a captain in the Virginia Continental Service in the Revolutionary War, died intestate, about the year 1808, leaving only one child viz. Elizabeth Bowne, who had previously to the death of her father intermarried with George Jansen of the city of New York. It is also certified that the said George Jansen died in the year 1800, and his said wife Elizabeth Jansen died intestate in the year 1824 leaving the following children and only heirs at law viz. Thomas Browne Jansen, Benjamin G. Jansen, Helen M. Jansen and Mary S. Jansen, now the wife of Thomas Powers. It is further certified that Thomas Bowne Jansen died intestate, unmarried and without issue in August 1838, and that his surviving brother and sisters before named, Viz. Benjamin G. & Helen M. Jansen, and Mary T. Powers are the only heirs at law of the aforesaid Captain Thomas Bowne.
4 March 1839

Commonwealth to Washington H. Norvell

Constable Account


The Commonwealth of Virginia in account with Washington H. Norvill, Constable.

15 June 1838
To serving a feloniously warrant on Hiram King and Henry Webster

$1.26

15 June 1838
To summoning 2 witnesses vs same





$0.42

15 June 1838
To one day service for self and 2 guards




$3.00

15 June 1838
To traveling 30 miles for self & 2 guards




$3.80

15 June 1838
To dieting the prisoners and horse feed




$1.75

00 July 1838
To serving a peace warrant on William Limbrick & summoning 2 witnesses
$1.07

00 July 1838
To serving a peace warrant on Jefferson Gallahorn



$0.63

00 July 1838
To summoning a witness vs same





$0.21
00 July 1838
To serving a peace warrant on Robert Stifle alias Robert Adams

$0.63

09 July 1838
To serving a peace warrant on Keland Moss & summoning a witness

$0.84

02 Sept. 1838
To serving a felonious warrant on John Cole & Mary Cole


$1.26

02 Sept. 1838
To summoning 2 witnesses vs same





$0.42

08 Oct. 1838
To serving a warrant for a rape on Manassah Russell who was 



      was discharged by the justices of the peace



$0.63

08 Oct. 1838
To summoning 4 witnesses vs same





$0.84

08 Oct. 1838
To traveling 16 miles & dieting prisoner




$1.34

08 Oct. 1838
To 1 day service for self & a guard





$2.00






Amount carried over


$20.30

13 Nov. 1838
To serving a felonious warrant on Tasey a slave charged with burglary

  $0.63

13 Nov. 1838
To summoning a witness vs same





  $0.21

13 Nov. 1838
To traveling 30 miles conveying same to the county jail for self & 2 guards
  $3.60

13 Nov. 1838
To 2 days service for self and 2 guards




  $6.00

13 Nov. 1838
To hire of horse for prisoner





  $1.00

13 Nov. 1838
To feeding horse and dieting prisoner




  $1.75

30 Nov. 1838
To serving a felonious warrant on Kitty L. Hews charged with burglary
 
  $0.63

30 Nov. 1838
To serving felonious warrant on Thomas & William Rolls


  $1.26

02 Jan. 1839
To summoning 2 witnesses vs same





  $0.42

25 Feb. 1839
To serving a peace warrant on Jacob Rolls & summoning witnesses

  $0.84







W. H. Norvill


$36.84

1839 March 4th sworn to in open court – J. Williams C.C.


Prince William County Court March 4th 1839 this account against the Commonwealth amounting to $36.84 was presented to the court & being sworn to by said Norvell & being examined was allowed and ordered to be certified to the auditor.
4 March 1839

Overseer of the Poor to Lewis Melvin

Apprentice for Francis M. Lewis


This Indenture made this 4th day of March in the year of our Lord Eighteen Hundred and Thirty Nine between Benjamin Johnson and Peyton Norvill overseers of the poor of Prince William County of the one part and Francis M. Lewis of the aforesaid county of the other part. Witnesseth that the said Benjamin Johnson & Peyton Norvill Overseers of the Poor as aforesaid have put placed and bound and by these presents do put place and bind Lewis Melvin a free boy of color of the age of seven years in July next to be an apprentice with him the said Francis M. Lewis to dwell from the date of these presents until the said Lewis Melvin shall come to the age of twenty one years according to the Act of the General Assembly in that case made and provided by and during which time and term the said Lewis Melvin shall the said Francis M. Lewis his master well and faithfully serve in all such lawful business as the said Lewis Melvin shall be put unto by his said master according to the power wit and ability of him the said Lewis Melvin and honestly and obediently in all things shall behave himself towards his said master and honestly and orderly towards the rest of the family of the said Francis M. Lewis and the said Francis M. Lewis for his part for him self his executors and administrators doth hereby promise and covenant to and with the said Overseers of the Poor and every of them and their and every of their executors and administrators and their and every of their successors for the time being and to and with the said Lewis Melvin that he the said Francis M. Lewis shall the said Lewis Melvin in the craft mystery and occupation of a farmer which he the said Francis M. Lewis now ___ after the best manner that he can or may teach instruct and inform or cause to be taught instructed and informed as much as thereunto belongeth or in any wise appertained and that said Francis M. Lewis also find and allow unto the said apprentice sufficient meat drink apparel washing lodging and all other things needful or meat for an apprentice during the term aforesaid and will more over pay to the said Lewis Melvin twelve dollars at the expiration of the aforesaid term. In witness whereof the parties to these presents have interchangeably set their hands and seals this day and year first above mentioned.









Benj. Johnson (SEAL)









P. Norvill (SEAL)









Francis M. Lewis (SEAL)

3 May 1839
Florance vs Ratcliffe &c.


Prince William County Court April 1st 1839. On the petition of Rowland Florance setting forth that he is bound in the Court as security of Daniel Ratcliffe and William F. Purcell for their due and faithful administration of the Estate of Charles Fierer deceased and that he conceives himself in danger of suffering thereby and praying this court for relief. It is ordered that the said Ratcliffe and Purcell be summoned to appear here on the first day of the next court to shew cause if any they can, why they should not be ruled to give the said Rowland Florance counter security.









Teste – J. Williams C.C.

9 May 1839
Jesse Ewell Jr. - Surveyor

Road from Bull Run to Chesnut Lick


Prince William County to Wit: Whereas Jesse Ewell Jr. surveyor of the road from Bull Run to Chesnut Lick, hath given me information that the assistance of a plough is necessary for trenching and draining portions of said road; and also that the assistance of a cart and oxen is necessary for filling up with stone and other materials the excavation in said road. I therefore empower the said Jesse Ewell Jr. to impress such plough and cart with their teams and drivers, belonging to any persons, who, or their servants are appointed to work on said road; He the said J. Ewell having procured a valuation thereof by the day to be made by William Rose Sen. & Jas. B. Dennis, two honest housekeepers hereby appointed for that purpose, who being sworn before me or some other justice of the peace for this county are to make such valuation and give the owner thereof a certificate, to entitle him to an allowance for the same in the next county levy. Given under my hand and seal this 8th day of May 1839.









Jesse Ewell (SEAL)


We the subscribers being first sworn pursuant to a warrant from Jesse Ewell J.P. have this day viewed a cart and two oxen with their driver and a plough and two horses with their driver, belonging to Jesse Ewell Jun. and impressed to assist in repairing the road whereof he is surveyor, and do value the use of said cart, oxen and driver to one dollar and half by the day; and the use of said plough horses and driver to one dollar and half by the day. Certified this 9th day of May 1839.








William Rose Sen.









James B. Dennis


I certify that the plough and horses and the cart and oxen with their drivers above mentioned were employed one day in the devise which they were impressed.









Jesse Ewell Jun.

22 May 1839

Warrant

William Butler – Surveyor of Road


Prince William County to Wit: Whereas William Butler surveyor of the road from The Old Alexandria Road to the Page Land Mill hath given me information, that use of timber is necessary for reparing a causeway in said road, I therefore empower the said William Butler to impress such necessary timbers belonging to any person, who or their servants or slaves are appointed to work on the said road, he the said William Butler having procured a valuation thereof to be made thereof by Seth Brawner and Richard T. Van Pelt two honest housekeepers, hereby appointed for that purpose, who being sworn before me or some other justice of the peace of this county, are to make such valuation, and give the owner or owners a certificate thereof, to entitle him or them to an allowance for the same in the next county levy. Given under my hand and seal this 22nd day of May in the year 1839.








Jas. D. Tennelle  J. P. (SEAL)

Certificate of Valuation


We the subscribers, being first sworn, pursuant to a warrant from Jas Tennille have this day viewed the timbers belonging to Aris Buckner and impressed by Wm. Butler to assist in making a causeway in the road whereof he is surveyor, and do value the use of the said timbers $2.00 Certified the 22nd day of May in the year 1839.








Seth Brawner (SEAL)








Richard Vanpelt (SEAL)

Certificate of the Surveyor


I do certify that, the timber above mentioned were used on the road for which they were impressed.  Aris Buckner $2.00




Wm. Butler (SEAL)

31 May 1839

Commonwealth to Edwin Howison

Prince William County to Wit: I do hereby certify that Edwin Howison, brought before me the scalp of two red foxes, with the ears thereon, which were less than six months old, and killed by him in the aforesaid county on the 30th day of May 1839 to which certificate he took the oath prescribed by law. Two foxes 75 cents each for $1.50  




Given under my hand









Charles Ming

Prince William County to Wit:


I do hereby certify that Edwin Howison brought before me the scalp of four crows all of which were killed in the aforesaid County. Sworn to before me this 31st day of May 1839.







Given under my hand this 31st day of May 1839









Charles Ming
3 June 1839
Sarah B. Davis – Account


We the subscribers being first sworn pursuant to a warrant from Robert Williams have this day viewed a wagon and team with the driver belonging to Sarah B. Davis and impressed by Chapman Renoe to assist in repairing and making causeways in the road whereof he is surveyor and do value the use of the said wagon team and driver to $3.50 by the day we have also viewed the timber belonging to Sarah B. Davis used by the said surveyor in repairing and making causeways and do value the same to $4.00 and we also viewed a horse, cart, and driver belonging to Chapman Renoe and used by him in repairing the road of which he is surveyor and do value the same to $1.25 by the day. Certified under our hands and seal this 3rd day of June 1839






John Goodwin (SEAL)









Thomas Goodwin (SEAL)


I certify that the wagon team and driver above mentioned were employed one and a half days in the service for which they were impressed. Certified this 3rd day of June 1839.









Chapman Rennoe (SEAL)


Prince William County, to Wit: Chapman Renoe made oath before me that the horse and cart & driver mentioned in the above certificate of the viewers was used by him one day in repairing said road. Given under my hand this 3rd day of June 1839.


Chas. G. Howison J. P.

24 July 1839

Summon – Archibald Sinclair

 The Commonwealth of Virginia to any Constable of the Upper District in the County of Prince William County, Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Archibald Sinclair the creditor and John W. Petty and Thomas Petty his debtors to appear before me or some other justice of the peace for the said county at Brentsville on the 6th day of August next, to answer the complaint of Thomas Goodwin Sen. for causing James B. Hayes one of the constables of said County to levy two executions in favor of the said Archibald Sinclair against the goods and chattels of the said Petty’s on a quantity of oats, now being and growing on a certain tract or parcel of land situated in the aforesaid county know as the Brent Town Mining Company to which quantity of oats the said Thomas Goodwin Sen. asserts claim to a certain portion for which he alleges before me he can adduce proof and also to shew cause if any they can why the oats aforesaid shall not be restored to the said Thomas Goodwin Sen. they being adjudged to him; upon due proof of his right to leave them. And have them there this warrant. Witness James B. T. Thornton one of the justices of the peace for the said County of Prince William this 24th day of July 1839 and in the 64th year of the Commonwealth.




James B. T. Thornton J.P.
5 August 1839

Grand Jury Presentments


Virginia, Prince William County to wit: We the Grand Jurors of and for the body of the County aforesaid being impaneled sworn and charged this 5th day of August 1839 upon the oath do present William G. Purcell surveyor of the road leading from the old Chapel to Butters Ford on Cedar Run in the county aforesaid for not keeping the said road in lawful repair within six months last past upon the information of Chapman Copin & William B. Carter two of our body.


We also present Hugh W. Davis Tavern Keeper in the Town of Occoquan & County of Prince William for erecting and keeping a stable and privy in said town to the great injury and annoyance of Eleanor Shaw and her family both as it regards their comfort and their health as well as to the annoyance of other citizens of said town from the 1st day of June 1839 till the present time. To wit this 5th day August 1839 upon the information of Eleanor Shaw resident of the town of Occoquan in the County of Prince William prosecutors.





Jas. A. Evans








Foreman

6 August 1839

To W. H. Norville, constable

John Dickerson – Wm & Saml. Griffin


Prince William County to wit: Whereas John Dickerson of Chappawamsic Neck in the said County yeoman hath personally come before me R. W. Wheat one of the Commonwealth’s Justices assigned to keep the peace in the said County and hath taken a corporal oath that he the said John Dickerson is afraid William Griffin & Samuel Griffin both of Chappawamsic Neck in the said county will beat him (wound, maim, kill) or do him some bodily hurt and hath therefore prayed surety of the peace against them the said William Griffin & Samuel Griffin. These are therefore on the behalf and in the name of the Commonwealth to command you that immediately upon the receipt hereof you being the said William Griffin, & Samuel Griffin before me or some other justice of the peace for said county to find security is well for their personal appearance at the next court to be holden for the said county as also for their keeping the peace in the mean time towards the citizens of the Commonwealth and chiefly towards the said John Dickerson. Given under my hand and seal at Quantico in the said county the 6th day of August in the year 1839.






R. W. Wheat  J.P. (SEAL)
24 August 1839

Goodwin vs Sinclair


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: We command you that you summon William Loveless, William E. Goodwin and John Barron & Samuel Latimer to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said County, on the 1st day of September Court next: to testify and the truth to say in behalf of the Appellee in a certain matter of controversy in our said court, before our said Justices depending and undetermined between Arch Sinclair Appellant and Thos Goodwin Appellee and this they shall in no wise omit, under the penalty of $100. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said Court, at the Court-house aforesaid, this 24 day of August 1839, and in the 64 year of our foundation








J. Williams

2 September 1839

Recognizance for Samuel Griffin

Prince William County to Wit: Be it remembered that on the 17 day of August 1839 Samuel Griffin in the said in the said county yeoman William Cockrell of the same place yeoman Loyd Carter of the same place yeoman came before me one of the Commonwealths Justices of the Peace for the County aforesaid and acknowledged themselves to owe David Campbell Esq. Governor of Virginia and his successors to wit the said Sanuel Griffin the sum, of Fifty Dollars and the said William Cockrell the sum of Twenty five dollars and the said Loyd Carter the sum of Twenty five dollars current money of Virginia to be respectively levied and made of the several goods and chattels lands and tenements to the use of the Commonwealth aforesaid of him the said Samuel Griffin shall fail in performing the condition under written. The condition of this recognizance is such that if the above bound Samuel Griffin shall personally appear at the next court to be holden in and for the county aforesaid to do and receive what shall then and there be enjoined him by the said Court and in the meantime shall keep the peace towards the Commonwealth and all its citizens and especially towards John Dickenson Sen. of Chappawamsic in said County yeoman then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force. Signed and acknowledged before me William S. Colquhoun, justice of peace.


Samuel Griffin








Wm. Cockrell









Loyd Carter

June 1841

Grand Jury Presentments


Virginia, Prince William County to wit: We the Grand Jury of and for the body of the County aforesaid being impaneled, sworn and charged this 7th day of June 1841 upon our oaths do present Thomas Larkin for letting a stallion to marry during the present season without a license in the county aforesaid. On the evidence of Jno C. Weedon sworn to give evidence before the Grand Jury.

We also present that John Goodwin for letting a stallion to marry during the present season without a license in the county aforesaid on the evidence of two of our own body to wit: Samuel Latimer & Thos. Keys.

We also present John J. Beavers of retailing ardent spirits by the small in the County of Prince William without a license in the six months last past on the evidence of Chapman Reno sworn & sent to give evidence before the Grand Jury at the request of the Attorney for the Commonwealth.

We also present George Norman of retailing ardent spirits by the small in the County of Prince William to be drank where sold without a license in the six months last past on the evidence of Chapman Reno sworn & sent to give evidence before the Grand Jury at the request of the Attorney for the Commonwealth.


We also present Courtney Reeves of retailing ardent spirits by the small in the County of Prince William to be drank where sold without a license in the six months last past on the evidence of Chapman Reno sworn & sent to give evidence before the Grand Jury at the request of the Attorney for the Commonwealth.









Henry A. Barron









Foreman
25 August 1841

James Martin vs John Tyler & Elias Martin


To the worshipful this County Court of Prince William in Chancery setting, humbly complaining, your orator James Martin represents that Elias B. Martin formerly of Prince William County has removed beyond the limits of Virginia. So that process of law can not be served on him but has funds or debts for collection in the hands of Jno W. Tyler Esq.  as your orator has understood and believes – That when the said Elias B. Martin removed from the Commonwealth he was, and still is indebted to your orator for work and labor done for him by your orator at his special request, a balance of $32.00 according to the account herewith exhibited marked “A” and asked to be recorded as part of this bill – your orator therefore prays that the said Jno W. Tyler and the said Elias B. Martin  defendants hereto, and that the said John W. Tyler be required to answer this bill and say whether or not he has funds, or debt belonging to the said Elias B. Martin in his hands sufficient to satisfy and discharge the demand of your orator, and that order of publication be had against the said Elias B. Martin and in the mean time that the said Jno W. Tyler be restrained from paying away or conveying away whatever funds or debts there may be in his hands belonging to the said Elias B. Martin till the further order of the court and that he be decreed to pay to your orator his said claim and that such other and further relief in the premises may be granted as may seem just and equitable – your orator prays of your worships the Commonwealth’s most precious writ of subpoena.







Gibson for plaintiff

Prince William County to wit:


James Martin personally appeared before me a justice of peace for said county and made oath that the foregoing bill contains the truth to the best of his knowledge. Given under my hand this 25th day of August 1841







Chas. H. Howison J.P.

6 September 1842

James Martin vs John W. Tyler & Elias B. Martin

In Chancery


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon John W. Tyler and Elias B. Martin to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said county, on the first Monday in October next, to answer a Bill in Chancery exhibited against them in our said court by James Martin. And unless they shall answer the said bill within two months thereafter, the Court will take the same for confessed, and decree accordingly. And this they shall in no wise omit under the penalty of 100 pounds. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said court, at the Court House aforesaid, the 8th day of September 1841, and in the 66th year of our foundation.

Mr. Elias B. Martin


In account with James Martin

1840 To Nine Months work

$  5.00
By $13.00 paid Richard O. Shirley

$13.00
       

Balance due

$32.00

Prince William County to Wit:


Personally appeared before me a justice of the peace for the County aforesaid James Martin and made oath that the above account against Elias B. Martin is just and true. Given under my hand the 2nd day of August 1841.









A. H. Saunders

Prince William County Court

September 6th 1841

James Martin, plaintiff against John W. Tyler & Elias B. Martin defendants

In Chancery


The plaintiff filed his bill; and the defendant, Elias B. Martin, not having entered his appearance, and given security according to the act of assembly, and the rules of this court, and it appearing, by satisfactory evidence that he is not an inhabitant of this Commonwealth, it is ordered, that the said defendant do appear here on the first Monday in December next, and answer the bill of the plaintiff, and that a copy of this order be forthwith inserted in some newspaper published in the town of Warrenton, for two months successively and posted at the front door of the Court house of this county.








J. Williams C.C.

Brentsville Va. June 6th 1842

Prince William County to Wit:


This day personally appeared before me a justice of the peace for said county James D. Buchanan late editor and proprietor of The Jeffersonian, a newspaper published in the Town of Warrenton until the 11th day of December last and made oath that the above order was published in said paper for two months successively. Witness my hand this 6th day of June 1842. Printers (for 20 lines) $5.00








Jas D. Tennille J.P.
24 September 1842

Francis T. Hooe 

       against

James A. Evans trustee for Livermore & Co. assigners of James A. Evans, Thomas J. Shaw, James Fewell and other creditors of Francis T. Hooe and Wm. W. Barton

To Messrs James A. Evans and William U. Barton

You will please to take notice that on Friday the 7th day of October next between the hours of sunrise and sunset at the Tavern now occupied by M. A. M. Shaw in Brentsville. I shall proceed to take the deposition of James H. Reid, James Fewell, William F. Purcell and others to be read as evidence in the suit in Chancery now depending and undetermined in the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery for Prince William County wherein I am plaintiff and you are defendant, and that if from any cause the said depositions shall not be taken and completed on that day the taking of the same will continue on the next day and so from day to day, Sunday’s excepted at the same place and between the same hours until the taking of the said deposition shall be completed. You can attend if you think proper.







Yours &c.








Francis T. Hooe








September 24th 1842


Prince William County to wit: For reasons appearing to me the taking of the above depositions, is continued until tomorrow the 8th day of October 1842.
Robt. Williams  J. P.


The following are the depositions to be read as evidence upon the above continuance and notice in a suit depending and undetermined in the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery for Prince William County in which Francis T. Hooe is Plaintiff & William W. Barton & James A. Evans are Defendants taken at the House of Mary A. M. Shaw, in the Town of Brentsville on the 8th day of October 1842.


1st Question by Plaintiff to Alexander Howison, were you or were you not here on the first day of April County Court 1841. Answer, I was here in Brentsville on that day.


2nd Question by same, did you or did you not hear any thing said in relation to the sale of Francis T. Hooe’s interest in his brother Richard Hooe deceased estate on that day if you please state. -  Answer, I did not.


3rd Question by same, did you or did you not see Francis T. Hooe, here on the first day of the said County Court – Answer I did.

4th Question by same, were you or were you not here on Tuesday the 2nd day of said April Court 1841. – Answer – I was not here on that day.


5th Question by same, do you or do you not know where said Francis T. Hooe was the aforesaid second day of April Court 1841. – Answer, I do know that he was at home because I saw him there on that day between one and two o’clock & again in the evening of the same day I met with him & he and myself walked around my Oat Field.


6th Question by same, did or did not Francis T. Hooe live on a part of the same farm that you occupied at that time (The Bradley Farm) Answer – He did.


7th Question by same, what is the distance from where Francis T. Hooe lived at that time to Brentsville – Answer, about three miles.


8th Question by same, is or is not Broad Run between Bradley & Brentsville, and would not said Hooe have had to cross said Run to get to Brentsville, on that day. Answer – Broad Run is between Bradley & Brentsville & said Hooe would necessarily have had to cross it to get to Brentsville.

9th Question by same, was or was not Broad Run high on the said second day of April County Court 1841. – Answer, It was and farther this deponent saith not.

Alex Howison


The foregoing deposition was taken, subscribed and sworn to before me this 8th October 1842.









William F. Purcell J. P.


The further taking of depositions in that cause are continued until Monday next the 10th day of October 1842.






William F. Purcell


The following depositions were taken at the Tavern of Mary A. M. Shaw in the Town of Brentsville on Monday the 10th day of October 1842 pursuant to the annexed notice and last continuance to be read as evidence in a suit in Chancery now depending in the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery for Prince William County in which Francis T. Hooe is plaintiff and Jas A. Evans and Wm. W. Barton are defendants.


The depositions of James Purcell, the deponent being first duly sworn deposeth  and saith in answer to interrogatories propounded to him as follows;


1st Question by Plaintiff – Did you or did you not see a notice of advertisement of Francis T. Hooe’s interest in his brother Richard Hooe’s estate to be sold on the 1st Monday in March at Brentsville if you please state.  Answer – I did.


2nd Question by same, Do you or do you not know on what day the sale took place if you please state. Answer – The sale of the above interest took place on Tuesday the 2nd day of April Prince William County Court 1841 late in the evening of that day when I was present.


3rd Question by same, Do you or do you not know whether the plaintiff Francis T. Hooe was present when this sale was made, or did you see him in Brentsville on that day.  Answer – I did not see him although I looked around for him, nor did I see him on that day in Brentsville & I think I should have seen him if he had been here as I live in Brentsville and was here during that day.


4th Question by same, when was the first time you saw Francis T. Hooe, the plaintiff after the aforesaid sale, & had you any conversation relative to said sale. Answer – I saw him on Wednesday following in Brentsville, and we had a conversation relative to said sale.


5th Question by same, Please state what that conversation was. Answer – The Plaintiff Francis T. Hooe seemed to be extremely angry saying that if he had have been present he would have certainly objected to the sale in consequence of the sacrifice, of his interest, he also stated the sale should not stand, as he intended to enjoin it, and that his aforesaid interest was conveyed to his creditors and in consequence of the sacrifice was inadequate to pay them and for that reason he should object to said sale and farther this deponent saith not.





James Purcell


The deposition of Mordecai B. Sinclair, the deponent being first duly sworn and interrogated deposeth and saith, that he was present when the interest of the plaintiff in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased was sold by the defendant Evans, as trustee, that said sale took place on Tuesday the 2nd day of April Prince William County Court 1844 about 4 o’clock in the evening, that he did not see the plaintiff at the sale, nor did he see him in Brentsville during that day, that the sale was not well attended there being but few persons present and farther this deponent saith not.

M. B. Sinclair

The deposition of Peyton Norvill taken at the house of Peyton Norvill at the Sudley Springs on the 17th day of October 1842 pursuant to the annexed notice and at the instance of the Plaintiff to be read as evidence on the trial of a suit pending in the Circuit Superior Court of Law & Chancery of Prince William County in which Francis T. Hooe is Plaintiff and James A. Evans & William W. Barton are Defendants.

The deposition of Peyton Norvill, the said deponent being first sworn deposeth & saith in answer to the following interrogations.

1st Question by defendant Barton – Were you or were you not present at the sale of Francis T. Hooes interest in his brother Richard Hooes estate when sold at Brentsville by Jas A. Evans as trustee of said F. T. Hooe when Wm. U. Barton became the purchaser of said interest if you please state. Answer –  I was.


2nd Question by same, did you or did you not see Francis T. Hooe the plaintiff on the day the aforesaid interest was sold in Brentsville attending to the aforesaid sale. Answer – I did.


3rd Question by same, were you or were you not as one of the creditors of the aforesaid Francis T. Hooe, satisfied with the aforesaid sale. Answer – I was.


4th Question  by same, do you or do you not believe that the aforesaid sale was fairly conducted by the aforesaid Jas. A. Evans as trustee. Answer – I believe the aforesaid sale was fairly and justly conducted by the aforesaid trustee there being a good many persons present. And further this deponent saith not.









P. Norvill


Prince William County to wit: The forgoing deposition was taken sworn to and subscribed before me a justice of the peace this 17th Oct 1842. Given under my hand this 17th day of October 1842.










Robt. Williams J.P.


The deposition of Thomas J. Shaw taken at the House of Mary A. M. Shaw in the Town of Brentsville on the 18th day of October 1842 pursuant to the annexed notice and at the instance of the defendant to be read as evidence on the trial of a suit pending in the Circuit Superior Court of Law & Chancery of Prince William County in which Francis T. Hooe is Plaintiff and Jas A. Evans and Wm. U. Barton are Defendants.


The deposition of Thomas J. Shaw, the deponent being first sworn deponent and saith in answer to the following interrogatories 


1st Question by Defendant Barton, Were you or were you not present on the day that Alexander Howison in the above case (which was Saturday the 8th October 1842 & was he or was he not very much under the influence of Ardent Spirits. Answer – I was present at time and the day referred to in the interrogatory & considered the aforesaid Howson was intoxicated & further this deponent saith not.

Prince William County to wit: The foregoing deposition was taken sworn and subscribed before me a justice of the peace this 18th day of October 1842. Given under my hand this day and date above.









Robt. Williams J. P.


The deposition of Thomas J. Shaw, James Fewell, John Grey, James B. Hayes, James H. Reid and Thomas M. Farrow, Benjamin & Geo. A. Farrow, taken at the house of Mary A. M. Shaw the 14th day of May 1842 pursuant to notice, to be read as evidence in a suit now pending in the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery of Prince William County between Francis T. Hooe plaintiff & William U. Barton &c. Defendant.

The deposition of James Fewell, named in the above caption who being first duly sworn, deposeth and saith to interrogatories propounded as follows;


1st Question by Defendants, Do you or do you not recollect saying in the Bar Room at Mr. T. J. Shaw’s Tavern that you had received a letter from Edward Hooe stating the amount that Francis T. Hooes interest was worth in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased and if so what said interest was worth. Answer – I received a letter from Edward Hooe saying that Francis T. Hooe’s interest in the estate of Richard Hooes estate was worth from five hundred seventy five to six hundred dollars.


2nd Question by same, Do you or do you not recollect saying the night you proposed to purchase the above interest that you knew the estate interest of said  F. T. Hooe, was not worth more than Four Hundred and Ten or Fifteen Dollars & that his land was not paid for and the amount of debt  were not known against the Estate of Richard Hooe. Answer – I had various conversations with Jas A. Evans relative to F. T. Hooe’s interest in Richard Hooe’s estate but do not recollect the precise conversation, and further the deponent saith not.





James Fewell

The deposition of Jno Gray named in the above caption who being first duly sworn deposeth and saith to interrogatories propounded as follows.

1st Question by Defendant, do you or do you not recollect that the night Col. Jas Fewell proposed to purchase the interest of Francis T. Hooe, in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased that said interest was not worth more than four hundred and ten or fifteen dollars and that he had a letter from Edward Hooe to that amount. Answer – I do recollect that a conversation took place between James A. Evans & Col. Jas. Fewell and that Col. Fewell made a proposition to purchase the interest from him for less than I thought it was worth. I heard him say he had received a letter and that was as much as he could afford to give. And further this deponent saith not.




John Gray

The further taking of depositions in this case is continued until Tuesday next









Robert Williams J. P.









May 11th 1842


The deposition of Thos. M. Farrow named in the above caption, who being first duly sworn, deposeth and saith to interrogatories propounded as follows.


1st Question by Defendants, do you or do you not recollect to have seen a notice of advertisement stuck up at the front door of the Court House of Prince William County, exposing to public sale the interest of Francis T. Hooe, in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased, if yes please state what length of time previous to said sale and the cause of the postponement of said sale & also who cried said sale. Answer – I do recollect of having seen an advertisement to that effect at the Court House door and else whom according to the best of my recollection, as regards the length of time of the advertisement being stuck up previous to the day of sale it was advertised at one court and offered the next court by George A. Farrow and postponed until the next court owing to the inadequate bid made for it at that time. I think the bid was about $150.

2nd Question by same, did you or did you not cry the sale of said interest when it was purchased by Wm. U. Barton, and what was then said by the bystanders as to the amount for which said interest was sold. Answer – I did cry said sale at the time of its being purchased by said Barton, as regards the conversation at the time of the sales going on and often it was that it sold for full its value that offered so from what James H. Reid and James Fewell stated as they both bid for the same and J. W. Reid I think bid about $200 and stated that he was done and if anyone bid over that amount they could have it for he would bid no more.

3rd Question by same, did you or not consider the sale of said interest fairly and honorably conducted by Jas. A. Evans trustee aforesaid and if yea, please state. Answer – I did and do yet consider the sale fairly conducted upon the part of said Evans and never any thing to the contrary until afterward and then only by J. Fewell after his making some propositions in regard to his debt embraced in said trust which was rejected.

4th Question by same, do you or not recollect what the propositions were and to whom made, if yea please state their purport  Answer – I do recollect the propositions they ___ made by James Fewell follows that if the amount of his debts or debt was paid that he would not interfere or that if said Barton would pay him his debt or debts he would suffer the sale to stand and in the of his claims not being settled he would report the sale. And further this deponent saith not.








Thos. M. Farrow


The deposition of Thos. J. Shaw named in the above caption who being first duly sworn, deposeth and said to interrogatories propounded as follows.

1st Question by Defendants, did you or not as one of the creditors of Francis T. Hooe enforce the sale of said F. T. Hooe’s interest in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased – Answer – I did


2nd Question by Defendants, did you or not consider the sale of said interest a fair and valid one. Answer – I did.


3rd Question by same, were or were not the principal part of the creditors of F. T. Hooe, named in said trust present at the time said interest was sold, and were there any objections made by said creditors on said F. T. Hooe to said sale if you please state. Answer – I believe the majority of the creditor named in said trust were present, if not all of them. I heard no objections made either by the creditors, or said Hooe to said sale. And further this deponent saith not.



Thos. Shaw


The deposition of Benjamin Farrow named in the above caption who being first duly sworn deposeth & saith to interrogations propounded as follows;

1st Question by same, were you present or not when the sale of F. T. Hooes interest in Richard Hooes estate took place if yea please state how said sale was conducted, and the number of bidders at said sale. Answer – I was present when said sale took place and said sale was fairly and honorably conducted, there were several bidders, amongst the rest. Jas H. Reid, who bid strongly for said interest, I think he bid $200 and stated if any person bid over that bid, they might have it from him, as he thought it to be the full value of said interest. And further this deponent saith not.









B. Farrow

The further taking of the depositions in this case is continued until tomorrow.









Robt. Williams J.P.









May 17, 1842


The deposition of Dr. John Gray the deponent being first duly sworn deposeth and saith in answer to interrogatories propounded to him as follows:


1st Question by plaintiff, were you or were you not present when the interest of the plaintiff Francis T. Hooe in the estate of his brother Hooe deceased was sold by the defendants Evans as trustee if yea please state. Answer – I was present when the interest of Francis T. Hooe was sold by the defendant Evans.


2nd Question by same, At what time of the day and upon what day did the sale of the aforesaid interest take place. Answer – It is my impression that the sale took place on the 2nd day of April Court in the evening.

3rd Question by same, did you or did you not see Francis T. Hooe the plaintiff on that day in Brentsville if yea please state. Answer – I did not and farther this deponent sayeth not.










Jno. Gray


The foregoing deposition of Jas. H. Reid and John Gray were taken subscribed & sworn to by the respective deponent before me a justice of the peace from Prince William County. Given under my hand this 11th day of October 1842.










Robt. Williams


There being other depositions to be taken in this case the taking thereof is continued until tomorrow. Given under my hand this 11th day of October 1842.









Robt. Williams J.P.


The following deposition was taken at the Tavern of Mary A. M. Shaw in the Town of Brentsville on Wednesday the 12th day of October 1842 pursuant to the annexed notice and last continuance to be read as evidence in a suit in Chancery now depending in the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery for Prince William County in which Francis T. Hooe is plaintiff and Jas. A. Evans and Wm. W. Barton are defendants.


The deposition of Jas. Fewell, the deponent being first duly sworn deposeth and saith in answer to interrogations propounded to him as follows:


1st Question by plaintiff were you or were you not present when the interest of the plaintiff in the estate of Richard Hooe, deceased was sold by the trustee Jas A. Evans. Answer – I was.


2nd Question by same, do you or do you not know upon what day said sale was made and whether Francis T. Hooe, the plaintiff was present. Answer – The said sale took place on the 2nd day of April, Prince William County Court 1841, late in the evening; I think that the plaintiff Francis T. Hooe was not present at said sale because I looked for him while the said sale was going on and could not find him nor did I see him during that day, and further this deponent saith not.








James Fewell


The following deposition of Jas. Fewell was taken subscribed & sworn to before me a justice of the peace for Prince William County, Given under my hand this 12th day of October 1842.









Robt. Williams
Deed of Trust

Francis T. Hooe  against James A. Evans


This Indenture made this 17th day of August 1839 between Francis T. Hooe of the County of Prince William & State of Virginia of the first part and James A. Evans of the same County and State of the other part. Whereas the said Francis T. Hooe is justly indebted to Livermore & Company assignee of Jas, A, Evans in the sum of $46.16 ½ with legal interest thereon from the 1st May 1837 and $7.55 costs which will more fully appear by reference to a judgment of Prince William County court and to Thomas J. Shaw in the sum of $24.56 with interest thereon from the 9th May 1839 and $5.80 costs, as by judgment of the same court will more fully appear and also to James Fewell in the sum of $97 and same courts as will more fully appear by note which said Fewell holds and also to Sundry other persons the amounts not now recollected and the said Francis T. Hooe desires effectually to secure the payment of the said sums of money and the interest which may accrue thereon, when the several claims are demanded. This Indenture therefore witnesseth, that the said Francis T. Hooe for and in consideration of the premises and also of the sum of $5 lawful money to him in hand paid by the said James A. Evans before the sealing and delivery of these presents the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged has granted bargained and sold and by these presents doth grant bargain and sell and convey unto the said James A. Evans his heirs and assigns all the right title and interest of said Francis T. Hooe in and to the estate real and personal of Richard Hooe deceased late of (blank) County, Missouri. To have and to hold the said undivided interest in & to the estate both real and personal of said Richard Hooe deceased unto the said James A. Evans his heirs and assigns forever in trust nevertheless that if the said Francis T. Hooe his heirs executors or administrators, shall will and truly pay the several sums of money herein mentioned, with all the interest which may accrue all the costs of this deed then this Indenture & every thing therein contained in to be void. But if the said Francis T. Hooe shall make default and fail to pay any sum of money mentioned in this deed and the interest which may accrue thereon or any part of such principal or interest when the same shall be demanded their or as soon thereafter as the said creditors or either of them his or their executors, administrators, or assigns shall require the said James A. Evans shall expose to sale the property hereby conveyed at Public Auction to the highest bidder having previously fixed the time and place of sale and given notice thereof by advertisement to be stuck up at the front door of the Court House of Prince William County and at such other places as he may think fit and proper and out of the proceeds of such sale first pay all costs and charges incident to this trust and then pay and satisfy the several debts hereby and herby and herein secured to be paid as they stand listed and any other debts which may be due from said Hooe to any person not now recollect and to be paid at the time and in the manner the said Francis T. Hooe his executors, administrators or assigns shall prescribe and direct and in case of his or their failure to give any such direction at such time and in such manner as the said James A. Evans shall think fit and the balance if any shall be paid over to the said Francis T. Hooe his heirs, executors, administrators or assigns. In witness whereof the parties hereto have to these presents set their hands and affixed their seals the same day and year first herein written.







Signed sealed & delivered in presence of







Francis T. Hooe (Seal)

Memo: the several interlineations made before signing &c.


In the Clerks Office of Prince William County, August 17, 1839 This deed of trust from Francis T. Hooe to James A. Evans was acknowledged by the said Francis T. Hooe to be his act and deed and admitted to record.









Teste J. Williams C.C.

Francis T. Hooe 

       against

James A. Evans


To the Honorable John Scott judge of the Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery of Prince William County. Humbly complaining sheweth unto your Honour  your orator Francis T. Hooe. That on or about the 17th day of August in the year 1839 your orator executed a deed of trust to James A. Evans as trustee for the purpose of securing to his creditors certain debts, as will be fully seen upon reference to the said deed, which has been duly recorded in the Clerks Office of the Circuit Court of Prince William an office copy of which is herewith filed and prayed to be read as a part of this bill. That the said deed your orator conveyed, as will be seen upon inspection thereof, all his interest in the estate of his deceased brother Richard Hooe, who resided in the State of Missouri, and died there in the year 1831, that the said interest consists of one equal part of the said estate, which may remain after the payment of debts and other charges upon the said estate, and the said interest still remains to be fully ascertained, that the estate of his said deceased brother is situated partly in the State of Missouri and partly in this State and the ___ thence to which your orator is entitled and which was conveyed in the deed of trust is ___ at least one thousand dollars; that the said James A. Evans as------  the said app-------- of trustee under said deed, and undertook to discharge the duties d------ upon him in that cap---- and at or about the 6th day of April 1841 he proceeded to sell the said interest to which your orator is entitled in the estate of Richard Hooe deceased and actually sold the same to one William U. Barton for the inc-------- sum of two hundred and one dollars, when at the same time the said Evans will know that the said interest was worth at least four times that sum, your orator farther states to your Honour that the said Evans did not comply with the provisions of the said deed in making said sale, That he did not advertise the said sale, in the manner required by said deed, and that the said sale ought not to have been made by the said Evans because he had become the owner of some of the debts secured by the said deed and was  in conveyance thereof not a fit and proper person to act ----- said deed, he being no fact placed in the condition of a mortgage by reason of his being the owner of some of the said debts ------- -------.


Your orator has -------- --------- with the said Evans against his cons--- making the said sale and fully explained to him the heavy  and unnecessary suffer which the said sale, ------- is suffered to stand, with ------- upon your orator, and your orator on ---- occasions urged the said Evans to take such steps as would effect the settlement of your orators ----- --- and to the said estate, by ----- obtaining the same in kind or in ----- from those entrusted with the management of the said estate and thereby to save the --- of --- to which your orator would be subjected of the said where was sold ------- in the ------- ---- State of the Country, but the said Evans notwithstanding all these ------ ---- upon consummating the said sale and has as your orator is ---- made a conveyance of the said interest to the said William U. Barton under which the said Barton is as your orator is informed previously to obtain possession of the said interest and well doubtless release a  ------ ------- of ----- eight hundred dollars 9if the said sale is suffered to stand) out of your orators property. Your orator thereupon charge that the said sale ought to be set aside, and that the said trustee of --- has secured the sum of $200  from the said William U. Barton ought to be compelled to refund it to him, unless the said Barton has obtained any of the said interest , ------ ------ he ought to be compelled to refund the same except so far as he may be necessary to --------him for the purchase money what he may have part with said trustee, your orator therefore prays that the said James A. Evans and William U. Barton may be made defendants to this bill and compelled to answer the same as fully and particularly as if they were sp------ in-------  --- ---- and were ------- ------, that the sale may be set aside and a resale ordered to be made by a commissioner appointed by this court, and that such order and decree may be made as the ------- as ---- ----- your orators interest in said estate from being sacrificed --- order to which your orator severally prays that the court may appoint a receiver (upon setting aside the said sale) who can collect, disperse of and recover ----- money the said interest where all loss will be erased to your orator ----- the ----- expenses ---- to the -------- said interest ---- money, and your orator prays that such other and farther ---- -- the ----- may be granted to him by your honour as is consistent with justice and equity, your orator prays the Commonwealth most gracious ------ of ---- &c.


F. J. Hooe
4 July 1843

County Levy Delinquents for 1842

List of Delinquents in the County Levy for year 1842 returned by Wm. W. Barton deputy sheriff for L. G. Alexander sheriff of Prince William County.

Prince William County to Wit: William N. Barton deputy sheriff for Lawrence G. Alexander late sheriff of said County personally appeared before me a justice of the peace of said county and made oath that the within list of delinquents in the county for the year 1842 is correct and true and that he has used true diligence in trying to collect the same to the best of his knowledge and belief given from under my hand this 27th day of May 1843.








Robert Williams  J.P.

Allen, Henry

.65
not known
Alexander, David

.65
not known

Alexander, David

.65
not known
Brown, Thomas

.65
no property
Anderson, John

.65
not known
Bell, William

.65
no inhabitant

Austin, William

.65
no property
Blenker, Alfred

.65
not known
Bartlett, Henry & Son      1.30
chd. & paid
Clark, Mary & Son
.65
no property

Barron, Thomas

.65
no property
Clemons, James

.65
not known

Bradlin, Henry

.65
not known
Collis, Thomas

.65
no property

Bush, David

.65
not known
Collis, Hezekiah

.65
no property

Creel, David

.65
no property
Curtis, Chas

.65
no property
Coe, Edward

.65
not known
Carrico, Harison

,65
no property

Croson, John

.65
no property
Cross, Benjamin

.65
no property

Calvert, Henry

,65
not delinq.
Creel, Wm.

.65
no property

Carrico, Thos. Sen.
.65
no property
Calvert, Jesse

.65
no property

Calvert, Jesse

.65
no property
Calvert, William

.65
no property

Cogan, William

.65
no property
Croson, Jas. H.

.65
no property

Davis, Samuel T.

.65
no inhabitant
Dickerson, William
.65
no property

Dent, Allen

.65
not known
Dawson, William

.65
not known

Dawson, William

.65
not known
Ellis, Edward

.65
no property

Dade, Thos. (colored)
.65
no inhabitant
Edgan, Samuel A.
.65
no inhabitant

Downs, George

.65
not known
Ewell, Thomas B.
.65
no property

Dawson, George

.65
no property
Ellis, John

.65
no property

Downs, Robert

.65
no property
Franklin, Wm.

.65
no property

Davis, Jno

.65
no property
Florence, George

.65
not known

Fair, Thomas

.65
below run
Franklin, David

.65
no property

Francis, Jno D.

.65
no property
Flaherty, Jno

.65
no property

Fair, James

.65
no property
Flaherty, Michel

.65
no property

Flaherty, H. J.

.65
no property
Gray, Thomas

.65
no property

Gill, Jno J.

.65
no property
Hall, Wm. T.

.65
no property

Griffis, Jesse

.65
no property
Hooff, Wm (colored)
.65
not known

Goslin, Sandy

.65
no property
Harris, Jas.

.65
not known

Gant, Wm. (colored)
.65
not known
Hooe, Francis T.

.65
no property

Goodwin, Thomas A. Sr.
.65
no property
Hide, Charles K.

.65
not known

Gaines, James

.65
no inhabitant
Herly, Washington (col)
.65
no inhabitant
Garrison, Wm.

.65
not known
Harding, Allen

.65
no property
Jackson, Alexander (col)
.65
no inhabitant
King, Craven

.65
no inhabitant

Jackson, Anthony (col)
.65
no inhabitant
Knight, William

.65
no property

Jackson, Henry (colored)
.65
no inhabitant
Kenedy, Joseph

.65
not known

Jackson, Robert (colored)
.65
no inhabitant
Kean, George

.65
not known

Johnson, David B.
.65
no property
Kid, Jonathan

.65
no property

King, Daniel

.65
no property
Law, Joseph

.65
no property

Littleton, John

.65
no property
McClend, Samuel
.65
no inhabitant
Larkin, Francis D.
.65
no property
McCuin, Levi

.65
no property
Lee, Cirus

.65
no property
Macrae, George W.
.65
no property
Lee, Henry D.

.65
no property
Owens, Alexander W.
.65
no property

Lucas, Charlotte & son(col).65
no inhabitant
Meaks, Isaac

.65
no property

Lee, David

.65
no property
Maddox, Lawson

.65
no property

Ledmon, Garrett

.65
no property
Marton, James

.65
no property

Latham, Jas. B.

.65
no property
Miznegt, Henry

.65
not known
Moore, Benjamin C.
.65
not known
McIntosh, James

.65
not known

Mason, John

.65
no property
Mason, Jas. & Son
.65
no property

Newman, Jas E.

.65
no property
Roach, Westwood
.65
no property

Newman, Horace N.
.65
no property
Rust, Sy B.

.65
no property


Powell, Jas M.

.65
no property
Ross, Thos (col)

.65
not delinquent

Payne, Benjamin

.65
no property
Raney, Samuel

.65
no property

Patterson, George

.65
no property
Rector, Wm.

.65
no property

Perry, Marshall B.
.65
not known
Roberson, Jakin

.65
no property

Payne, Sanford

.65
not known
Roberson, Wm & son
1.30
not known

Payne, Silas

.65
no property
Roberson Wm. & son
1.30(cooper) not known
Purcell, John H.

.65
no property
Roach, Thos. C.

.65
no property
Payne, Francis

.65
not known
Ridgely, Loid

.65
no property
Ratcliffe, Quinton
.65
no property
Roach, Thos. P.

,65
no property

Smith, Isaac

.65
not found
Simmons, Jno A.

.65
not known

Shackleford, Jas

1.30
no inhabitant
Smith, Jno & son

1.30
not known

Saunders, Jas P.

.65
no property
Smith, John

.65
not known

Stephenson, Jas & son
1.30
not known
Shackleford, Geo.
.65
not known

Shumate, Thos

.65
no inhabitant
Simpson, John

.65
no inhabitant

Tompson, John (colored)
.65
not known
Taylor, William

.65
not known

Tooney, Daniel

.65
not known
Taylor, Nicholas

.65
no property
Wendover, John

.65
no property
Wheeler, Dennis (colored)
.65
not known

Rotrie, John

.65
no inhabitant









$95.55

Spittle, Wm.

.65
no inhabitant

Robinson, Sanford (col)
.65
not known
Smith, Samuel (col)
.65
not known

Madison, Jothan (2 slaves)
1.30
not known
Godfrey, Lee

1.30
no property

Carter, Bernard

.65
not known
Carrico, John R.

.65
no property

Bradfield, George F.
.65
no property
Cooper, Henry

.65
no property

Clifford, Geo. W.

1.30
no property
Barron, Jesse A.

.65
no property
Barron, John T.

.65
no property
Brady, Thos. Jr.

.65
no property










$105.95
Allowed 153 delinquents @ .65   $99.45
Notice


In conformity to an Act of Assembly notice is hereby given that the following paid the purchase money for the following lots of delinquent land sale for the ___ ___ of the taxes ___ lying in Prince William County and the persons to whom the said taxes were charged being non residents of the county & having failed to redeem the same within the period prescribed by law – We shall move the county court of Prince William County on the 2nd day of March term next for an order directing the clerk of said court to execute to me conveyance for the same.
List of Delinquent Lots referred to above

Person Charged with taxes


Quantity of Land

Local Description

Jno Brown



136 Acres

Spriggs Road

Benj. Strother



24 Acres


Goose Run

Jno C. Brown



3 Lots


Brentsville

Loid Byrne



46 ¾ Acres

Occoquan

Lewis W-----



34 Acres


Potomac

John & John Crismer Jr.


26 ½ Acres

Quantico

Elizabeth Luckett



2 Lots


Carborough

William L. Jones



1 Lot


Dumfries

Given under our hands this 3rd day of February 1848 – T. M. Farrow & ____ Rector

3 July 1843

Sarah B. Davis – Thomas McCuin

Indenture

 
This Indenture made this 3rd day of July in the year of our Lord 1843 between Sarah B. Davis of the one part and Thomas McCuin of the other part both of the County of Prince William, State of Virginia. Witnesseth that the said Sarah B. Davis for and in consideration of the sum of eighty-five dollars to her in hand paid by the said Thomas McCuin, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, hath granted, bargained and filed and by these presents doth grant, bargain, sell and convey unto the said Thomas McCuin his heirs and assigns a certain tract or parcel of land lying in the county of Prince William adjoining the lands of Henry A. Barron and Delia Smith heirs and bounded as follows “beginning at a white oak near the road leading from “Dumfries” to Randolph’s & Davis’ fords across Cedar Run, thence running S 41 degrees   W 42 poles to a scrubby oak on a ridge, thence S 52 ½ degrees  E  98 poles to C  a corner in the said road, thence  N  26 degrees  W 95.6 poles to  D  in the same road, thence  N 54 degrees  W 10.4 poles to the beginning containing 14 acres, 1 rood & 3 poles  “according to a survey thereof made by Thos. Nelson Jr. and is one of the tracts of land which were devised to the said Sarah B. by her late husband Presley Davis deceased; together with all the appurtenances to the same belonging, or in any wise appertaining and all the estate, right, title, interest claim or demand of her the said Sarah B. Davis in or to the same. To have and to hold the said tract or parcel of land with the appurtenances to the same belonging unto him the said Thomas McCuin and his heirs and assigns forever. And said Sarah B. Davis for herself, her heirs, executors and administrators doth hereby covenant and agree to and with the said Thomas McCuin his heirs and assigns, that she the said Sarah B. Davis and her heirs, the said tract or parcel of land with its appurtenances unto him the said Thomas McCuin his heirs and assigns against her the said Sarah B. Davis and her heirs and against all persons whomsoever, shall and will by these presents forever warrant and defend. In Witness whereof the said Sarah B. Davis hath hereunto set her hand and affixed her seal the day and year above written.







Sarah B. Davis  (SEAL)

1 January 1844

Guardian Bond

Phillip D. Lipscomb & Thomas K. Davis for

Jane A. C. Simpson


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Philip D. Lipscomb & Thomas K. Davis are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Five Hundred  Dollars; to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st day of January 1844.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound  Philip D. Lipscomb Guardian of Jane A. C. Simpson Orphan of Moses Simpson deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Jane A. C. Simpson all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Jane A. C. Simpson shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









P. D. Lipscomb (SEAL)









Thomas K. Davis  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court January 1, 1844

This Guardian Bond from Philip D. Lipscomb & Thomas K. Davis to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 March 1844

Guardian Bond

Robert W. Hamilton & Jesse Ewell for
Richard H. Hamilton, Mary E. Hamilton & Edward A. Hamilton

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Robert W. Hamilton & Jesse Ewell are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Fifty Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th March 1844.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Robert W. Hamilton guardian of  Richard H. Hamilton, Mary E. Hamilton & Edward A. Hamilton orphan of Robert Hamilton deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Richard H., Mary E. & Edward A. Hamilton respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Robert W. Hamilton as soon as the said Richard H., Mary E. & Edward A. Hamilton respectively shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Robert Hamilton  (SEAL)









Jesse Ewell (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court March 4th 1844

This Guardian Bond from Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 April 1844

Guardian Bond

Benjamin Bland & John Bland for

Susan Murphy & Virginia Thompson


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Benjamin Bland & John Bland are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st  April 1844.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Benjamin Bland guardian of  Susan Murphy & Virginia Thompson orphans of Ann King deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Susan & Virginia respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Benjamin Bland as soon as the said Susan & Virginia respectively shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Benjamin Bland (SEAL)









John Bland (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 1, 1844


This Guardian Bond from Benjamin Bland & John Bland to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 April 1844

Guardian Bond

James H. Reid and John F. Reid for 

Segh Wilborforce Reid


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, James H. Reid and John F. Reid are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Twelve Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st April 1844.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound James H. Reid guardian of his infant son Segh Wilborforce Reid his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Segh Wilborforce Reid  all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said James H. Reid  as soon as the said Segh Wilborforce Reid shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









J. W. Reid  (SEAL)









John F. Reid (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 1st  1844


This Guardian Bond from James H. Reid & John F. Reid to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

5 March 1844

Indenture 

Charles & Sally Cornwell to Manassa Russell


This indenture made this 5th day of March in the year of our Lord 1844 between Charles Cornwell and Sally his wife of the one part and Manassa Russell of the other part, all of the County of Prince William & State of Virginia. Witnesseth that the said Charles Cornwell & Sally his wife for, and in consideration of the sum of ten dollars in hand paid, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, have granted, bargained and sold and by these presents do grant, bargain, sell and convey unto the said Manassa Russell his heirs and assigns all the interest of the said Charles Cornwell and Sally his wife in a tract of land lying in the County of Prince William formerly owned by Daniel King the elder, and which was purchased by or for Bernard King at a sale thereof made, under a decree of the County Court of said County of Prince William to have and to hold the aforesaid interest of the said Charles Cornwell and Sally his wife unto the said Manassa Russell his heirs and assigns to his and their only proper use and behoof forever. And the said Charles Cornwell and Sally his wife for themselves, their heirs, executors and administrators hereby covenant to and with the said Manassa Russell his heirs and assigns that they will forever warrant and defend the interest in the land hereby conveyed to the said Manassa Russell his heirs and assigns against the claims of all persons whomsoever. In witness thereof the said Charles Cornwell and Sally his wife have hereunto set their hands and affixed their seals the day and year first herein written.







Charles Cornwell(SEAL)







Sally Cornwell (her mark) (SEAL)

Prince William County to Wit: 


We Redmon Foster and Benjamin Johnson justices of the peace in the County aforesaid, in the State of Virginia do hereby certify that Charles Cornwell a party to a certain deed bearing date on the 5th day of March 1844 and hereto annexed personally appeared before us in our County aforesaid and acknowledged the same to be his act and deed and desires us to certify the said acknowledgement to the clerk of the County Court of Prince William County in order that said deed may be recorded. Given under our hands and seals this 9th day of March 1844.







Redmon Foster (SEAL)







Benjamin Johnson (SEAL)

Prince William County &c:


We Redmon Foster and Benjamin Johnson justices of the peace in the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia do hereby certify that Sally Cornwell the wife of Charles Cornwell parties to a certain deed bearing date on the 5t day of March 1844 and hereunto annexed, personally appeared before us in our County aforesaid, and being examined by us privily and apart from her husband and having the deed aforesaid fully explained to her, she the said Sally Cornwell acknowledged the same to be her act and deed and declared that she had willingly signed, sealed and delivered the same and that she wishes not to retract it. Given under our hands and seals this 9th day of March 1844.








Redmon Foster (SEAL)








Benjamin Johnson (SEAL)
8 March 1844

Pickett & Parker agreement


Memorandum of an agreement made & entered into this 8th day of March 1844 between A. J. A. Pickett of the State of Connecticut of the one part and J. A. Parker, of the other part – Witnesseth – That said A. Pickett having this day purchased of said Parker a tract or parcel of land lying and being in the County of Prince William & State of Virginia (which said tract of land called Berea containing 1049 ¾ acres for the sum of three thousand and six hundred dollars ($3600) he said Pickett agrees to pay said purchase money as follows viz: the sum of three thousand three hundred and sixty dollars to Alfred Ball of the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia for which said sum last mentioned said Parker has this day drawn an order in favour of said Ball, on him said Pickett, and the residue of said purchase money the said Pickett agrees to pay to the Hon. S. Chilton of Virginia on the 15 day of the present month.

And said Parker on his part agrees to furnish said Pickett with a good and perfect title conveyance of said law, to be executed according to the laws of Virginia which said conveyance is to be appointed with said J. Chilton on or before the said 15th day of the present month to be delivered by him to Pickett upon the payment of the said balance after deducting the amount to be paid to said Ball as aforesaid.


In witness whereof said parties have hereunto set their hands and affixed their seals the day and year first above mentioned.








A. Pickett









J. A. Parker
1 July 1844

Guardian Bond

Thomas M. Farrow, Basil Brawner & George A. Farrow for

Mary S. Barton


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Thomas M. Farrow, Basil Brawner & George A. Farrow are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Five Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st July 1844. 


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Thomas M. Farrow guardian of  Mary S. Barton orphan of James G. Barton deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Mary S. Barton all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Thomas M. Farrow as soon as the said Mary S. Barton shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Thomas M. Farrow (SEAL)









B. Brawner (SEAL









Geo. A. Farrow (SEAL)






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court July 1, 1844


This Guardian Bond from Thomas M. Farrow, Basil Brawner & George A. Farrow to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

5 November 1844

Guardian Bond

George Smallwood & George A. Farrow for

Western L. Smallwood


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, George Smallwood & George A. Farrow are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Nine Hundred  Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 5 day of November 1844.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound George Smallwood guardian of  his son Western L. Smallwood  his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Western L. Smallwood all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said George Smallwood as soon as the said Western L. Smallwood shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









George Smallwood  (SEAL)









George A. Farrow  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court November 5, 1844

This Guardian Bond from George Smallwood & George A. Farrow to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

29 August 1845

Wallace to Monroe


Whereas by a Mem. Of an agreement made on the 29th of August 1845 between John R. Wallace trustee of Baylis Grigsby and William W. Monroe, reciting that the said Wallace by virtue of a deed of trust from the said Grigsby to him of record in the clerks office of the County Court of Prince William and bearing date on the day of (blank) 184_, and by virtue of written instructions from the said Grigsby, the said Wallace sold to the said Monroe all that part of the land conveyed in trust to him by the said Grigsby which lies south of the main road leading from Walnut Branch in Fauquier County to Dumfries and east of the road dividing said land from the lands belonging to Bernard Hooe and Alex. S. Grigsby for the sum of four dollars per acre (to be ascertained by survey) and in payment as specified in the said Mem. Of an agreement which is under seal and of record in the Clerks Office of the County Court of Prince William County and Whereas, the said John R. Wallace trustee as aforesaid having received in cash the sum of five hundred dollars from the said William W. Monroe as required by the said agreement for the purpose of setting the rights of the various conflicting demands to the proceeds of said sale, instituted a suit in his name as trustee as plaintiff against Baylis Grigsby and other defendants in the circuit superior court of Law and Chancery of Fauquier County to which suit said William W. Monroe on his petition was admitted as a party defendant in the progress of which suit to wit. On the 8th October 1847 by consent of the plaintiff, in person and of the defendant William W. Monroe by counsel, it was ordered and decreed that the plaintiff proceeded to collect from the said defendant the balance of the purchase money for the land sold him as mentioned in the proceedings, according to the terms of the contract of sale and pay the same into the hands of the receiver of the said court, and that the plaintiff upon the receipt of the said balance convey the said land to the said defendant Monroe. And whereas it appears from the report of the surveyor filed in the said suit that the quantity of land sold the said Monroe, according to the terms of the above mentioned agreement was four hundred and six acres with metes and bounds as hereinafter set forth. And the said William W. Monroe paid into the hands of the said receiver on the 9th May 1849 the sum of $350 and on the 24th June 1850 the further sum of $996.12 the last named sum being the balance in full which was due by the said William W. Monroe on account of his said purchase.

This Indenture made and entered into the 10th day of February 1851 between John R. Wallace of the first part and William W. Monroe of the second part. Witnesseth that the said John R. Wallace in consideration of the premises and in obedience to the requirement of the before receipted decree of the 8th October 1847 doth grant unto the said William W. Monroe, the following tract or parcel of land lying in the County of Prince William and bounded as follows. Beginning at a stone where the road from Warrenton to Dumfries and Occoquan crosses the road from Millford Mills to Falmouth near a large brook in the line of Bernard Hooe and the tract of which this is a part thence S4.15 W 256 5/10 poles with the line of said Hooe and Alexander S. Grigsby in the middle of the road to a stake at Bernard Groves corner in said Grigsby’s line thence with said George’s line leaving the road S 98,30  E 193 poles to a small marked persimmon; thence N 16.15  E104 6/10 poles to a marked black oak thence S 61  E 69 8/10 poles to a stake at the corner of the fence (near a large watered Spanish oak) corner to said George in the line of the original tract as conveyed by the executors of Thomas Fitzhugh deceased of Prince William to said Baylis Grigsby on the 8th March 1823 thence leaving said Grigsby ‘s line and with the line of the original tract above referred to N. 32  E 105 poles to a marked white oak, corner to the said original tract and in the line of Austin Weedon thence continuing the outline of the original tract and with said Weedon’s line N 50.15  W 158 poles to the middle of the aforesaid Warrenton Road thence with the said road N 79  W 196 poles to the beginning containing four hundred and six acres. Witness the following signatures and seals.







R. Wallace (SEAL)

Teste  Thos M. Monroe  - County of Alexandria to Wit:

I John H. Brent a justice of the peace for the County aforesaid in the State of Virginia do hereby certify that John R. Wallace whose name is signed to the writing above bearing date on the 10th day of February 1851 has acknowledged the same before me in my County aforesaid. Given under my hand this 10th day of February 1851.








John H. Brent

In Prince William County Court March 4th 1851.


This deed from Wallace to Monroe was presented to the Court with certificate annexed and ordered to be recorded.








Teste     P. D. Lipscomb clerk



7 November 1844
Farrow vs Farrow – Chancery

Summon

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon John P. Farrow, George A. Farrow, Joseph S. Farrow, William W. Payne & Mary Louisa his wife, James Howison & Amanda M. his wife & the said James Howison as trustee of Mary Louisa Payne, William W. Browning & Sarah S. his wife, Wm. W. Barton, Jas Barton, Hugh G. Barton, Jno T. Barton, an infant Cassius Adams & Mary S. his wife formerly Mary S. Barton, & Thomas M. Farrow administrator of Lucy Farrow deceased & Lucy Mildred Page to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court House of the said county, on the first Monday in August next, to answer a Bill in Chancery exhibited against them in said court by Thomas M. Farrow & Carr T. Page in their own right & as trustee of Lucy Farrow & her children. And unless they shall answer the said bill within two months thereafter, the Court will take the same for confessed, $100. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said court, at the Court House aforesaid, the 2nd day of July 1849 and in the 73rd year of our foundation.



J. Williams

Fauquier Flag Newspaper

Prince William County To Wit: July 2nd 1849 – Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in their own rights as trustees of Lucy Farrow and her children, plaintiffs against John P. Farrow, George A. Farrow, Joseph S. Farrow, William W. Payne and Mary Louise his wife, James Howison and Amanda M. his wife,  and the said James Howison as trustee of Mary Louise Payne, Wm. W. Browning and Sarah S. his wife, Wm. W. Barton, James Barton, Hugh G. Barton, John T. Barton an infant, Cassius Adams and Mary S. his wife, formerly Mary S. Barton and Thomas M. Farrow administrator of Lucy Farrow deceased, and Lucy Mildred Page, defendants. 
IN CHANCERY

The defendants John P. Farrow and Wm. Browning & Sarah S. his wife, James Barton, Hugh G. Barton, and Wm. W. Barton, not having entered their appearance and given security according to the act of assembly, and the rules of this court and it appearing by satisfactory evidence that they are not inhabitants of this Commonwealth – It is ordered that the said defendants do appear here on the first day of the next October term, and answer the bill of the plaintiffs and a copy of this order be forthwith inserted in some newspaper published in the town of Warrenton, for two months successively and posted at the Front door of the Court-house of this County.







J. Williams C.C.








July 14th, 1849

Fauquier County to Wit:

Jno W. Finks this day personally appeared before me a Justice of the peace, for the aforesaid county, and made oath that the annexed order of publication in the case of Thos M. Farrow, C. T. Page  vs Jas Farrow & others was published in the “Flag of 98” a newspaper published in the town of Warrenton, and State of Virginia, for ten weeks successively, the first insertion being on the 14th day of July 1849 and posted at the front door of the Court House of said county, the printers fee is $7.00. Given under my hand and seal this 3rd day of December 1849.

Sell at Auction

In pursuance of the annexed decree in said case pronounced on the 7th day of November 1849, the undersigned commissioner therein named proceeded to sell at public auction to the highest bidder after having duly advertised the same according to the terms of the decree the slaves Fanny & Jane, on the 30th day of November 1849 when James Howison became the purchaser of Jane at the price of $710 that being the highest bid for her, and Carr T. Page became the purchaser of Fanny, as the price of 4532  that being the highest bid for her the bonds of said purchasers with good security thereto payable in twelve months, one here with returned, all of which is respectfully reported to the court.








Thomas M. Farrow









Commissioner






Exhibit No. 4

An agreement made and entered into this day of October 1848 between Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page trustees of Lucy Farrow and children of the one part and James Howison in his own right and as trustee for Mary L. Payne and children, George A. Farrow, Joseph S. Farrow, Wm. W. Barton in his own right and as Guardian of John T. Barton, James Barton, William W. Browning and John P. Farrow of the other part all heirs of Lucy Farrow in their own right or in right of their wives. Whereas a large amount of property is held by the said T. M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the use of Lucy Farrow for her life and at her death the same is to descend to her heirs and whereas it is the wish of said Lucy Farrow that a certain part of said property should be divided among her heirs at this time to which the said trustees of the first part have agreed and whereas Allen Howison, Peyton Norville and P. D. Lipscomb have been agreed upon as the commissioners for that purpose. Now the parties of the second part agree to stand by the division which may be made by said three commissioners, to which agreement they find themselves heirs each separately in the penal sum of one thousand dollars. In testimony where of the parties of the second part have here unto set their hands & seals this day. and year first above written. Signed, Sealed and delivered in presence of us.








C. T. Page (SEAL)









John Howison (SEAL)









Thos. M. Farrow (SEAL)









Jos. S. Farrow (SEAL)









W. W. Browning (SEAL)









Jas. Howison (SEAL)









Trustee for M. L. Payne (SEAL)









Wm. W. Barton (SEAL)









Jno T. Barton (SEAL)









Geo. A. Farrow (SEAL)

Exhibit No. 5


We the undersigned having been called on by the parties both annexed bearing date 3rd day of October 1848. Between Thomas M. Farrow & Carr T. Page trustees of Lucy Farrow & her children of the one part and James Howison & wife & other of suit children of the other part to divide the following slaves among the nine children of said Lucy Farrow, do report as follows – We value the slaves to be divided at the following prices: Overton $600; Alfred & Sarah $575; Andrew $600; Henry $575; Malinda, Mahala & Pompey $775;  Harry & Angelina $725; Alexander $500; Daniel $500; Samuel & Mary Ann $800

Having thus ascertained each child’s part we proceed to divide the slaves & money as follows:

To Carr T. Page we allotted Overton at  





$600.00


And he to retain out of the money in his hands as above stated



$209.67









$809.67

To James Howison & wife we allotted Angelina and Harry



$725.00

And his hand and interest as above






$  67.73

To receive of trustees







$  16.94
 









$809.67

To George A. Farrow we allotted Alfred & Leanah at




$575.00

And he to retain out of the money in his hands as above stated



$234.67
 








$809.67

To William W. Browning & wife we allotted Alexander at



$500.00

To receive from trustees as paid






$309.67








$809.67

To John P. Farrow we allotted Andrew at





$600.00

And his bond and interest







$101.75

To receive of trustees







$107.92








$809.67

To William W. Payne & wife we allotted Daniel




$500.00

And his bond and interest as above






$  27.22

To receive of trustees as paid






$282.45








$809.67

To Joseph S. Farrow we allotted Henry at





$595.00

And his account as above







$  20.03

To receive of trustees as paid him






$214.64








$809.67

To the Children of Margaret Barton dec’d we allotted Samuel & Mary Ann

$800.00

To receive of trustees as paid them






$    9.67










$809.67

To Thomas M. Farrow we allotted Malinda, Mahala & Pompey


$775.00

And him to retain as trustee






$  34.67










$809.67

All of which we hereby certify under our hands this 3rd day of October 1848







P. D. Lipscomb, commissioner







A. Howison, commissioner
Exhibit No. 6
Know all men by these presents that we William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning wife said William W. Browning are held and firmly bound unto Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Lucy Farrow in the sum of one thousand dollars the payment well and truly to be firmly made. We bind ourselves and each of joint and several our heirs &c. firmly by these presents. The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas a division has this day been made of part of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in Trust for the benefit of Lucy Farrow and children among the heirs of said Farrow by her consent and whereas each of the said heirs in consideration thereof has agreed to pay Thomas M. Farrow for the use and benefit of said Mrs. during her life the sum of twenty two dollars and twenty three cents, yearly half of which said sum shall be paid on 1st day of July of each year and the other half on the 1st of January of each year  commencing on the 1st day of July 1849. Now if the above bound William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning wife of the said William W. Browning  shall well and truly pay the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid the sum of $22.23 yearly during the lifetime of the said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force and virtue and to secure the payment of the above sum of money payable as aforesaid during the lifetime of said Lucy Farrow the said William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning his wife  transfers all their rights and title and interest in to the balance of the property held by T. M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow and her children to the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid with the understanding that the same be subject to the payment of the said sum of $22.23 yearly payable aforesaid during the lifetime of said Lucy Farrow and interest thereon accordingly or any part thereof that may be due at the time of the death of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow, but if the whole of said sum be paid up yearly as aforesaid so that at the death of said Lucy Farrow there be no part thereof  due and unpaid then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover the interest aforesaid to the said William W. Browning & Sarah S. Browning his wife or if the balance which may be due at her death shall not consider (?) the full interest then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover to the said William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning his wife the balance of the interest after paying the  amount which may then be due them principal and interest to which transfer the said William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning his wife bind themselves their heirs & firmly by these presents in testimony whereof the said William W. Browning and Sarah S. Browning his wife has hereunto set there hands and seals, this 3rd day of October 1848.











W. W. Browning (SEAL)








S. S. Browning (SEAL)

Received of Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Mrs. Lucy Farrow and children, One negro boy named Alexander and three hundred and nine dollars and sixty seven cents being the slave and money allotted to us in the division of slaves and the money give up to be divided by Mrs. Lucy Farrow among her children that being my proportion in said division –oth the slaves and money. Given under our hands and seals this 3rd day of October 1848.





W. W. Browning (SEAL)








S. S. Browning (SEAL)

Exhibit No. 7


Know all men by these presents that we William W. Barton, John T. Barton, Hugh G. Barton, James W. Barton and Carr T. Page are held and firmly bound unto Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Lucy Farrow in the sum of one thousand dollars to the payment whereof well and truly to be firmly made. We bind ourselves our heirs &c. firmly by these presents. The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas a division has this day been made of part of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in Trust for the benefit of Lucy Farrow and children and the heirs of Lucy Farrow by her consent and whereas we bind ourselves and heirs in consideration thereof have agreed to pay Thomas M. Farrow for her use and benefit during her life the sum of twenty two dollars and twenty three cents, yearly one half of which she be paid on 1st day of January of each year commencing on the 1st day of July 1849. Now if the above bound Barton & Page does well and truly pay the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid the sum of $22.23 yearly during the lifetime of the said Lucy Farrow payable as aforesaid – then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force and virtue and to secure the payment of the above sum of money payable as aforesaid during the lifetime of said Lucy Farrow the said Barton & Page transfers all their rights and title and interest in to the balance of the property held by T. N. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of said Lucy Farrow and her children to the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid with the understanding that the same be subject to the payment of the said sum of $22.23 yearly payable aforesaid during the lifetime of said Lucy Farrow and interest thereon accordingly or any part thereof that may be due at the time of the death of said Lucy Farrow, but if the whole of said sum be paid up yearly as aforesaid so that at the death of said Lucy Farrow there be no part thereof  due and unpaid then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover the interest aforesaid to the said Barton & Page or if the balance which may be due at her death shall not consider (?) the full interest then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover to the said Barton & Page the balance of the interest after paying the  amount which may then be due them principal and interest to which transfer the said Barton & Page bind themselves their heirs & firmly by these presents in testimony whereof the said Barton & Page has hereunto set there hands and seals, this 3rd day of October 1848.

Wm. W. Barton (SEAL)








John T. Barton (SEAL)









Carr T. Page  (SEAL)
Exhibit No. 8

Know all men by these presents that I George A. Farrow am held and firmly bound unto Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Mrs. Lucy Farrow in the sum of one thousand dollars the payment were of well and truly to be  made. I bind myself as trustee firmly by these presents. 

The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas a division has this day been made of part of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of Lucy Farrow and children among the heirs of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow by her consent and whereas each of the said heirs in consideration thereof has agreed to pay Thomas M. Farrow for the use and benefit during her natural life the sum of twenty two dollars and twenty three cents, yearly half of which said sum shall be paid on 1st day of July of each year and the other half on the 1st of January of each year  commencing on the 1st day of July 1849. Now if the above bound George A. Farrow does well and truly pay the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid the sum of $22.23 yearly during the lifetime of the said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force and virtue and to secure the payment of the above sums of money payable as aforesaid during the lifetime of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow the said George A. Farrow  trustee all his right title and interest in said to the balance of the property now  held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow and her children to the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid with the understanding that the same be subject to the payment of the said sum of $22.23 yearly as aforesaid during the natural life of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow and interest thereon accordingly or any part thereof that may be due at the time of the death of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow, but if the whole of said sum be paid up yearly as aforesaid so that at the death of said Mrs.  Lucy Farrow there be no part thereof due and unpaid then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover to the said G. A. Farrow the balance of the interest after paying the  amount which may then be due them principal and interest to which transfer the said G. A. Farrow binds himself his heirs & assigns firmly by these presents in testimony whereof the said parties  hereunto set there hands and seals, this 3rd day of October 1848.







George A. Farrow (SEAL)
Exhibit No 9

Know all men by these presents that I James Howison trustee of Mary L. Payne and children are held and firmly bound unto Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Mrs. Lucy Farrow in the sum of one thousand dollars the payment were of well and truly to be  made. I bind myself as trustee firmly by these presents. 
The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas a division has this day been made of part of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in Trust for the benefit of Lucy Farrow and children among the heirs of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow by her consent and whereas each of the said heirs in consideration thereof has agreed to pay Thomas M. Farrow for the use and benefit of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow during her natural life the sum of twenty two dollars and twenty three cents, yearly half of which said sum shall be paid on 1st day of July of each year and the other half on the 1st of January of each year  commencing on the 1st day of July 1849. Now if the above bound James Howison trustee as aforesaid shall well and truly pay the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid the sum of $22.23 yearly during the lifetime of the said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force and virtue and to secure the payment of the above sum of money payable as aforesaid during the lifetime of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow the said James Howison as trustee and William W. Payne & Mary L. Payne in their own right and transferring in said division do transfer all of their right title and interest in said to the balance of the property now  held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow and her children to the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid with the understanding that the same be subject to the payment of the said sum of $22.23 yearly as aforesaid during the natural life of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow and interest thereon accordingly or any part thereof that may be due at the time of the death of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow, but if the whole of said sum be paid up yearly as aforesaid so that at the death of said Mrs.  Lucy Farrow there be no part thereof due and unpaid then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover the interest aforesaid to the said James Howison  or if the balance which may be due at her death shall not consume the full interest then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover to the said James Howison trustee the balance of the interest after paying the  amount which may then be due them principal and interest to which transfer the said James Howison, William W. Payne & Mary L. Payne bind themselves their heirs & firmly by these presents in testimony whereof the said parties  hereunto set there hands and seals, this 3rd day of October 1848.








James Howison (SEAL)








William W. Payne (SEAL)








Mary L. Payne (SEAL)

Received of Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page trustees Daniel the slave and two hundred and eighty __ dollars and sixty four cents the amount of money and slave allotted in the division to Mary L. Payne & children in the division of property held by said Farrow and Payne trustees for Mrs. Lucy Farrow & children made by the consent of Mrs. Lucy Farrow on this 3rd of October 1848.








Wm. W. Payne








M. L. Payne
Exhibit No. 12

Know all men by these presents that I Carr J. Page am held and firmly bound unto Thomas M. Farrow trustee of Lucy Farrow in the sum of one thousand dollars the payment well and truly to be firmly made. We bind ourselves and each of joint and several our heirs &c. firmly by these presents. The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas a division has this day been made of part of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in Trust for the benefit of Mrs Lucy Farrow and children among the heirs of said Mrs Lucy Farrow by her consent and whereas each of the said heirs in consideration thereof has agreed to pay Thomas M. Farrow for the use and benefit of said Mrs. Farrow during her life the sum of twenty two dollars and twenty three cents, yearly half of which said sum shall be paid on 1st day of July of each year and the other half on the 1st of January of each year  commencing on the 1st day of July 1849. Now if the above bound Carr T. Page does well and truly pay the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid the sum of $22.23 yearly during the lifetime of the said Mrs. .Lucy Farrow then this obligation to be void else to remain in full force and virtue and to secure the payment of the above sum of money payable as aforesaid during the lifetime of said Mrs Lucy Farrow the said Carr T. Page transfers all his right title and interest in to the balance of the property held by Thomas M. Farrow and Carr T. Page in trust for the benefit of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow and her children to the said Thomas M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid with the understanding that the same be subject to the payment of the said sum of $22.23 yearly payable aforesaid during the lifetime of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow and interest thereon accordingly or any part thereof that may be due at the time of the death of said Mrs. Lucy Farrow, but if the whole of said sum be paid up yearly as aforesaid so that at the death of said Lucy Farrow there be no part thereof  due and unpaid then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover the interest aforesaid to the said Carr T. Page or if the balance which may be due at her death shall not consider (?) the full interest then the said T. M. Farrow trustee as aforesaid shall recover to the said Carr T. Page the balance of the interest after paying the  amount which may then be due them principal and interest to which transfer the said Carr T. Page bind his  heirs & assigns firmly by these presents in testimony whereof the said Carr T. Page has hereunto set there hands and seals, this 3rd day of October 1848.








C. T. Page (SEAL)

6 October 1845

Guardian Bond

Benoni E. Harrison and George G. Tyler for

Ann F. Tyler, Margaret T. Tyler & Susan Tyler


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Benoni E. Harrison and George G. Tyler are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Five Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th October 1845.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Benoni E. Harrison guardian of  Ann F. Tyler, Margaret T. Tyler & Susan Tyler orphan of James M. Tyler deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said orphans respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Benoni E. Harrison as soon as the said orphans respectively shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









B. E. Harrison  (SEAL)









George G. Tyler (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court October 6, 1845


This Guardian Bond from Benoni E. Harrison & George G. Tyler to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

6 April 1847

Guardian Bond

Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor for

Anne E. Pickett


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000); to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th April 1847.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Louisa J. Pickett guardian of  Anne E. Pickett orphan of Asa Pickett deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Anne E. Pickett all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Louisa J. Pickett shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Louisa J. Pickett (SEAL)









by D. Tasker her attorney in fact,









Saml. Marsteller (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 6th 1847


This Guardian Bond from Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

3 December 1845
Guardian Bond

Ferdinand A. Weedon & Charles G. Howison for
John Payne

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Ferdinand A. Weedon & Charles G. Howison are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Hundred & Twenty Dollars; to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 3rd day of December 1845

THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Ferdinand A. Weedon, Guardian of John Payne orphan of Ann M. Payne deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said John Payne all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Ferdinand A. Weedon as soon as the said John Payne  shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









F. A. Weedon  (SEAL)









Charles G. Howison  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court December 3, 1845

This Guardian Bond from Edwin Carter & Samuel A. Marsteller to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

6 April 1846

Guardian Bond

Philip D. Lipscomb & Eppa Hunton for

Henry C. Hutchins


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Philip D. Lipscomb & Eppa Hunton are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Four Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th April 1846


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Philip D. Lipscomb guardian of  Henry C. Hutchins orphan of Stenard A. Hutchins deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Henry C. Hutchins all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Philip D. Lipscomb as soon as the said Henry C. Hutchins shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









P. D. Lipscomb (SEAL)









Eppa Hunton  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 6, 1846

This Guardian Bond from Philip D. Lipscomb & Eppa Hunton to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

6 April 1846

Guardian Bond

Silas B. Hunton, Charles Hunton, Eppa Hunton, Alfred Glascock,
James J. Hunton, H. M. Lewis, Hedgeman Smith & William Roach for

Virginia K. Brent and Alexander M. Brent

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Silas B. Hunton, Charles Hunton, Alfred Glascock, James J. Hunton, H. M. Lewis, Hedgeman Smith & William Roach are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Twelve Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6 day of April 1846

THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Silas B. Hunton guardian of  Virginia K. Brent and Alexander M. Brent orphans of George Brent deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Virginia K. Brent and Alexander M. Brent respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Silas B. Hunton  as soon as the said Virginia K. Brent & Alexander M. Brent shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the County Court of Prince William County, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.





Silas B. Hunton  (SEAL)





Charles Hunton   (SEAL





Eppa Hunton (SEAL)





Alfred Glascock (SEAL) by Jno Williams his attorney in fact




James J. Hunton (SEAL by Jno Williams his attorney in fact





Henry M. Lewis (SEAL) by Jno Williams his attorney in fact





Hedgeman Smith (SEAL) by Jno Williams his attorney in fact





William Smith (SEAL by Jno Williams his attorney in fact

[Note William Roach is listed as one of the persons listed in the bond but the signature at the bottom says William Smith]






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 6, 1846

This Guardian Bond from Silas B. Hunton, Charles Hunton, Eppa Hunton, Alfred Glascock, James J. Hunton, Henry M. Lewis, Hedgeman Smith, William Roach to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

7 September 1846

Guardian Bond

William A. Carter & Alfred Ball for

Richard Henry Hamilton, Mary Eliza Hamilton, & Edward Allen Hamilton


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, William A. Carter & Alfred Ball are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Eight Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 7th September 1846


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound William A. Carter guardian of  Richard Henry Hamilton, Mary Eliza Hamilton & Edward Allen Hamilton orphan of Robert Hamilton deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Richard Henry Hamilton, Mary Eliza Hamilton & Edward Allen Hamilton respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said William A. Carter as soon as the said Richard Henry Hamilton, Mary Eliza Hamilton & Edward Allen Hamilton shall respectively attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









William A. Carter (SEAL)









Alfred Ball  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court September 7, 1846

This Guardian Bond from William A. Carter & Alfred Ball to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

2 March 1847

Guardian Bond

John Bland & Alpheus M. Clark for

Virginia Thompson


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John Bland & Alpheus M. Clark are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 2nd March 1847


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John Bland guardian of  Virginia Thompson orphan of Baley Thompson deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Virginia Thompson all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John Bland as soon as the said Virginia Thompson shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John Bland  (SEAL)









A. M. Clark  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court March 2, 1847


This Guardian Bond from John Bland & Alpheus M. Clark to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

6 April 1847

Guardian Bond

Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor for

Anne E. Pickett


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000); to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th April 1847.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Louisa J. Pickett guardian of  Anne E. Pickett orphan of Asa Pickett deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Anne E. Pickett all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Louisa J. Pickett shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Louisa J. Pickett (SEAL)









by D. Tasker her attorney in fact,









Saml. Marsteller (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 6th 1847


This Guardian Bond from Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

9 June 1847

Indenture

Hezekiah Reaves – Cumberland Pearson


This Indenture made this ninth day of June in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty seven between Hezekiah Reaves of the County of Prince William & State of Virginia of the one part and Cumberland Pearson of the same County and State of the other part. Witnesseth that the said Hezekiah Reaves for and in consideration of the sum of ten dollars current money of the United States to the said Hezekiah Reaves in hand paid by the said Cumberland Pearson at or before the sealing and delivery of these presents the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged hath given granted bargained sold delivered and confirmed by these presents doth give grant bargain sell alien and conform unto the said Cumberland Pearson his heirs and assigns forever seventy five acres of that tract of land in Prince William lying upon Crooked Branch and formerly belonging to said Reaves father and all appurtenances whatsoever to the tract of land belonging or in any wise appertaining to have and to hold the said hereby granted premises and appurtenances unto the said Cumberland Pearson his heirs and assigns forever to his and his only proper use and the said Hezekiah Reaves doth for himself and his heirs executors and administrators covenant and agree to and with the said Cumberland Pearson his heirs and assigns that the said tract of land is now at the time of the sealing and delivery of these presents in possession of the said Cumberland Pearson as renter if there should be anything to alter change or determine the said Hezekiah Reaves.
14 October 1847

Deed

Trennis to Thornton sheriff


This Indenture made this 14th day of October in the year of our Lord 1847 between Bertrand E. Trennis of the County of Prince William and the State of Virginia of the one part and Stuart G. Thornton, High Sheriff of said County of Prince William of the other part.


Whereas the said Bertrand E. Trennis being now in custody of the sheriff of said County upon writ of Capias ad Satisfacum upon judgment of the Circuit Superior Court of Law & Chancery of said County, one in the name of John S. Wilson and the other in the name of Wilson Peck & McClanahan, and about to take the benefit of the act for the relief of insolvent debtors, hath prepared his schedule and in pursuance of the provisions of said act conveys to the Sheriff of said County of Prince William, the interest in real estate, embraced in his schedule.


Now therefore this indenture witnesseth that the said Bertrand E. Trennis in consideration of the premises hath granted, bargained and sold and by these presents doth grant, bargain and sell unto the said Stuart G. Thornton Sheriff of Prince William County all the estate, right, title and interest which the said Bertrand E. Trennis has, in and to the real estate which Louisa Fox died possessed of or entitled to. To have and to hold the interest conveyed to him the said Stuart G. Thornton Sheriff as aforesaid to be by him disposed of according to law, to the only proper use and behoof of him the said Stuart G. Thornton Sheriff as aforesaid, his heirs and assigns forever. And the said Bertrand E. Trennis for himself, his heirs, executors and administrators doth hereby covenant and agree to and with the said Stuart G. Thornton Sheriff as aforesaid, his heirs and assigns, that he the said Bertrand E. Trennis, and his heirs, the said interest hereby conveyed unto him the said Thornton Sheriff against him the said Bertrand E. Trennis and his heirs and against all persons claiming under him, shall and will by these presents, forever warrant and defend. In Witness whereof the said Bertrand E. Trennis hath hereunto set his hand and affixed his seal the day and year above written.




B. E. Trennis (SEAL

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the presence of

P. D. Lipscomb

Huriah E.(illegible)

G. W. Clifford

Aylett Nicol 
29 January 1848

Indenture – Denisey Dean – Henry Love

This Indenture made this 29th day of January one thousand eight hundred & forty eight between Denisey Dean of the County of Stafford & State of Virginia of the one part & Henry Love of the County of Prince William & State of Virginia of the other part.


Witnesseth that the said Denisey Dean has bargained & sold and buy these present doth bargain and sell unto the said Henry Love all her interest in and  to that part the estate of Daniel Carr situated and lying in the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia which is or will be coming to her at the death of her mother, for and in consideration of the sum of six dollars money in hand paid, which receipt is hereby acknowledged, know this indenture witnesseth that the said Denisey Dean for her self her heirs doth warrant and defend the title to the interest of that part of the said Estate of Daniel Carr against the claim of all persons what so ever. Given under my hand this day & date above wrote.








Denisey Dean (her mark) SEAL

Witnesseth:

Geo. Cockrell

Thos. H. Speake

Daniel W. F-----

9 February 1848

Kankey &c. to Bland

Deed Release


This Indenture made & entered into this (blank) day of February 1848 between Zebulon A. Kankey of the 1st part John Bland of the 2nd part & Richard Stonnell of the 3rd part, all of Prince William County & State of Virginia. Whereas the said Jno Bland on the 7th February 1848, in order to secure & save harmless the said Richard Stonnell from all damage or loss by reason of his liability as security in a forthcoming bond to George & Thomas Parker, dated 8 July 1847, for the sum of $900.92 to be discharged by the payment of $450.46, did by indenture of that date convey to the said  Z. A. Kankey his heirs &c. a certain tract or parcel of land lying & being in the County of Prince William on the waters of Powells Run (on which the said Bland now resides) containing 210 acres more or less, 2 horse carts & gear, 3 head of cattle, one sorrel horse (blind) 2 beds & bedsteads, 2 walnut tables, 2 bureaus & book case, 1 dozen chains, 2 looking glasses, 2 plows No. 8 & 6, 1 clock & a shot gun. And whereas the said forthcoming bond, has been fully paid off & discharged. Now this Indenture witnesseth that for & in consideration of the premises and for the further consideration of one dollar in hand paid to the said Kankey by the said Bland the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, he the said Hunton with the approbation of the said Stonnell declared by his being a party to these presents & the said Kankey do by these presents grant bargain & sell release & confirm unto the said Bland all the estate title and interest both in law & equity, which the said Kankey & Stonnell have and possess in and to the said tract of land and its appurtenances and all the personal property above mentioned and which was conveyed to said Kankey by the aforesaid deed of trust. To have and to hold the said land and personal property to him the said Bland his heirs & assigns forever & the said Kankey & Stonnell for themselves their heirs &c. shall and will forever warrant and defend the same to the said Bland his heirs &c. against the claim or claims of themselves and of all and every person claiming by those: or under them or either of them. In witness whereof the parties to these presents have hereunto set their hands and seals this 9th day of February 1848.








John Bland (SEAL)









Z. A. Kankey (SEAL)









Richard Stonnell (SEAL)

Witnesses:

W. Charles Merchant

B. Windson

R. F. Stonell

26 February 1848

Jane Williams to Henry Love


I Jane Williams of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia do this day bargain and sell to Henry Love of the said County and State all my right title and interest in the estate of the late Daniel Carr deceased of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia for the sum of six dollars in hand received. The receipt whereof I do hereby acknowledge. Given under my hand and seal this 26th day of February 1848.







Jane Williams (her mark) (SEAL)
Test.  R. W. Wheat


J. Corbett


Robt. B. Merchant

4 September 1848

Guardian Bond

Benjamin H. Pridmore, Richard A. Clark & Seymour Lynn for

John Clark


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Benjamin H. Pridmore, Richard A. Clark & Seymour Lynn are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Four Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th September 1848

THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Benjamin H. Pridmore guardian of  John Clark an infant under (illegible word) one year his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said John Clark all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Benjamin H. Pridmore as soon as the said John Clark shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









B. H. Clark (SEAL)









Richard A. Clark  (SEAL









S. Lynn (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court September 4, 1848

This Guardian Bond from Benjamin H. Pridmore, Richard A. Clark & Seymour Lynn to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

28 November 1848

Mary S. Williams vs Henry F. Williams &c.

In Chancery


To the Worshipful County Court of Prince William County Va. sitting in Chancery. Your oratrix Mary S. Williams widow & relict of John W. Williams deceased respectfully sheweth unto your worshipful that she was married to John W. Williams in the month of June 1839 in the County of Prince William Va. and that at the time of her said marriage to him that he was s---ed in fee of a tract of land lying in said county adjoining the lands of Thos Cannon & George T. Adams & others being the same tract that was allotted to her said __ ___ as one of the heirs of his father the late George Williams deceased containing about three hundred acres, and that her said husband hath died intestate and that your said oratrix claims dower in said tract of land & the rents of the same & in his other lands that may be discovered to have belonged to the said John W. Williams at the time of his death in said county. Your oratrix says that her said husband died leaving the following children his heirs at law to wit, John W. Williams who was 21 years of age who went to the ___ some time since, and being on board of a steam boat to which she is informed some accident occurred, has not since been heard from Henry F. Williams, George Williams, Delia F. Williams, Francis D. Williams & Elizabeth Williams the two latter under the age of fourteen years and the ___ that they made defendants to this bill and answer each allegation or both and grant such other and further relief as may be meet & ___ and the  ____ comply.








Mary S. Williams









Wm. F. Powell, council









For Mrs. Williams

Washington County D.C.


Mrs. Mary S. Williams appeared before me and made oath to the forgoing bill this 28 Nov 1848









Lund Washington Sr. J. P. (SEAL)

This day this case coming on to be heard, on the bill & answer of the parties herein filed, on consideration whereof the court doth order & decree that John C. Weedon, George Weedon, & R. W. Weedon who are being called into court are hereby appointed commissioners to allot dower of the tract of land in the proceedings mentioned to Mary S. Williams widow of John W. Williams deceased & further to report their proceedings to this court with a view to a final decree in the proceedings mentioned.

The joint answer of Mary F. Williams, George Williams, Delia F. Williams, Francis D. Williams & Elizabeth Williams the two latter by guardian ad litem to a bill of complaint exhibited in the County Court of Prince William County, Va. by Mary S. Williams widow & relict of John Williams deceased.


These respondents admit that the complainant Mary S. Williams is the widow of their father the late John W. Williams deceased and was married at the time she avers and am willing the dower as claimed by her should be allowed &c.





Henry F. Williams








George Williams









Delia F. Williams


Washington County DC. This day Henry F. Williams & George Williams appeared before me and made oath that the above answer is true.



This 28th Nov 1848









Lund Washington Sr.  J.P. (SEAL)

21 December 1848

Deed

Thomas J. Smoot, Francis Amelia Smoot 

Know all men by these presents that we Thomas J. Smoot and Francis Amelia Smoot his wife of the Town of Occoquan in the County of Prince William and State of Virginia for and in consideration of the natural love and affection which we bear to our mother Susanna Smoot of the aforesaid Town, County and State as well as for the further consideration of one dollar in hand paid by the said Susanna Smoot to us at and before the ensealing and delivery of these presents (the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged) Have given and granted and by these presents do give and grant unto the said Susanna Smoot for and during her natural life and no longer the following property to wit: a lot of ground and House thereon, situated in the Town, County and State aforesaid and beginning at the corner of Janney’s lot on Commerce Street at a point thereon 180 feet from Union Street and running thence with Commerce Street towards Union Street 19 feet 6 inches thence at right angle with Commerce Street and passing through the House and center of the chimney 26 feet 8 inches to a point in the lot in the rear of said house, thence again at right angle with the last line 19 feet 6 inches to the line of said Janney’s lot, thence along the line of his said lot 26 feet 8 inches to the point of beginning on Commerce Street. To have and to hold the said lot of land and house thereon and fixtures, rights and appurtenances of any and every sort and kind property belonging or in any wise appertaining, with free egress and ingress upon and to and from the same, unto the said Susanna Smoot for and during her natural life and no longer. At and after the death of the said Susanna Smoot, Be it hereby known to all whom it may in any wise concern that we Thomas J. Smoot and Frances Amelia Smoot his wife do for and in consideration of the natural  love and affection which we bear to our sister Henrietta Smoot and Alcinda Smoot and to Thomas Smoot all now of the aforesaid Town County and State as well as for the further consideration of one dollar in hand paid to us by each of them, (the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged) Have given and granted and by these presents do give and grant unto the said Henrietta Smoot, Alcinda Smoot and Thomas Smoot jointly severally and equally, their executors administrators and assigns the house and lot of land as above described with all its rights and appurtenances, as the same is conveyed to Susanna Smoot for life. To have and to hold the said house and lot of land with its rights and appurtenances as above described and conveyed to Susanna Smoot for life, to them the said Henrietta Smoot, Alcinda Smoot and Thomas Smoot jointly severally and equally their heirs executors administrators and assigns forever. And the said Thomas J. Smoot & Francis Amelia Smoot his wife for themselves their heirs executors administrators the said house and lot of land with all its premises and appurtenances of every sort and kind whatsoever thereunto property attaching or in any wise belonging unto the said Henrietta Smoot, Alcinda Smoot and Thomas Smoot jointly severally and equally their executors administrators and assigns against the claim or claims of them the said Thomas J. Smoot and Francis Amelia Smoot his wife their or either of their heirs executors administrators or assigns and against the claim or claims of all and every other person or persons whatsoever shall and will warrant and for and defend by these presents. In witness whereof we the said Thomas J. Smoot and Frances Amelia Smoot his wife have hereunto set our hands and affixed our seals this 21st day of December 1848.







Thomas J. Smoot  (SEAL)








F. Amelia Smoot  (SEAL)

State of Virginia

Prince William County


We A. H. Saunders & C. E. Norman justices of the peace for the county and state aforesaid  do hereby certify that Thomas J. Smoot and Frances Amelia Smoot his wife parties to a deed bearing date on the 21st day of December 1848 and hereunto annexed this day appeared before us in our aforesaid County and acknowledged the same to be their act and deed and desired us to certify the said acknowledgment to the clerk of the County Court of Prince William County in order that the said deed may be hereby recorded.  Given under our hands and seals this 25th day of December 1848.







W. H. Saunders








C. E. Norman

State of Virginia

Prince William County


We A. H. Saunders & C. E. Norman justices of the peace for the county  and in the State aforesaid, do hereby certify that Francis Amelia Smoot wife of Thomas J. Smoot parties to a certain deed bearing date on the 21st day of December 1848 and hereunto annexed, personally appeared before us in our county aforesaid and being examined by us privily and apart from her husband and having the deed aforesaid fully explained to her she the said Frances Amelia Smoot acknowledged the same to be her act and deed &c. declared that she had willingly signed sealed and delivered the same and that she wishes not to retract it.





Given under our hands and seals this 25th day of December in the year 1848
A. H. Saunders  (SEAL)

C. E. Norman  (SEAL)

27 December 1848

Joseph Ellis – Will


In the name of God amen. I Joseph Ellis of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia being weak of body, old, and infirm, but of sound and disposing mind, memory and understanding wishing to dispose of the worldly goods wherewith it has pleased God to bless me, do make this last will and testament in manner and firm following :


Item 1st  I give and bequeath to my son William Ellis my farm on which I now reside in the County of Prince William and State of Virginia to him and his heirs forever.


Item 2nd  I give and bequeath the residue of my estate after the payment of my just debts and funeral expenses to my four children to wit: William Ellis, Mary Hall, Susan Reed and Caroline Ellis to be equally divided among them.


Item 3rd  The portion of my estate devised to my daughter Mary Hall. I convey to my son William Ellis to be held by him as trustee for the benefit of my said daughter Mary Hall and her children and at her death to be distributed equally among her children as they severally attain the age of twenty one.

Item 4th  I hereby constitute and appoint my son William Ellis executor of this my last will and testament hereby working all other and former wills by me made. In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my seal this 27th day of December 1848.









Joseph Ellis (SEAL)







1 January 1849

Guardian Bond

John Carter & James Smith for Montreville Cornwell


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John Carter and James Smith are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Hundred Dollars $100; to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st day of January 1849.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John Carter, Guardian of Montreville Cornwell, Orphan of Harrison Cornwell deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Montreville Cornwell all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Carter as soon as the said Montreville Cornwell shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.








John Carter (SEAL)









James (X) Smith (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court January 1, 1849


This Guardian Bond from Carter & Smith  to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.


5 February 1849

Guardian Bond

Alexander P. Lynn & Seymour Lynn for

Gustavous, Nicholas & Charles G. Wintting(?) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Alexander P. Lynn and Seymour Lynn are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Hundred and Fifty Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 5th February 1849

THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Alexander P. Lynn guardian of  Gustavous, Nicholas and Charles G. Whitting orphan of Jacob Whitting, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Gustavous, Nicholas & Charles Whitting all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Alexander P. Lynn as soon as the said Gustavous, Nicholas & Charles Whitting shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









A. P. Lynn  (SEAL)









Seymour Lynn  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court February 5th 1849

This Guardian Bond from Alexander P. Lynn & Seymour Lynn to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

6 March 1849

Guardian Bond

John D. Dogan & Richard A. Clarke for

William H. Clarke


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John D. Dogan & Richard A. Clarke are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Four Thousand Dollars ($4000) to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th day of March 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John D. Dogan guardian of  William H. Clark an infant under the age of twenty one years, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said William H. Clarke all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John D. Dogan as soon as the said William H. Clarke shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John D. Dogan  (SEAL)









Richard A. Clarke  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court March 6th 1849


This Guardian Bond from John D. Dogan and Richard A. Clarke to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

April 1849

Philip G. Webster

Division of Slaves


We the undersigned, commissioners, appointed by a decree of Prince William County, at its April Term 1849, in the suit of (blank) for the purpose of dividing the Slaves of which Philip G. Webster died possessed among his widow & children respectfully report.

1st 
Names of Slaves 




Valuations

James






$200

Thomas






$425

George






$425

Harriet Jr.





$400

Caroline






$400

Washington





$350

Charles






$275

Harriet Sr.





$100

Redmon






$275

Hampton





$200

Liza & child





$400

Martha






$200

Fanny






$175

Baily






$125

John






$125

Rachel






$100







$4175 Total Value

2nd 
Your Commissioners allotted to the Widow, Lucy Webster, the following Slaves, Viz:

James






$200

Liza & Child





$400

George






$425

Harriet Sr.





$100

Charles






$275







$1400 Total Value of Slaves allotted to the Widow which is $8. 1/3 more than one third of the value of the whole number of slaves. 

3rd 
Your Commissioners were by said decree directed in the next place to allot to Wm. B. Webster, Matilda Simpson, & Lucy Brawner each , Negroes worth $488.55. Finding it impossible to do so exactly, they made the following division.

1. To Wm. B. Webster – Caroline  $400 & Bailey $125 = $525

2. To M. Simpson – Martha $200 & Redmon $275 = $475


3. To L. Brawner, Thomas $425 = $425

To make this division were Wm. B. Webster will have to pay L. Brawner $30 and then Wm. B. Webster, M. Simpson & L. Brawner will each have $475 more than Rezin Webster instead of $488.55. But this difference was so small, that all were content with it.

4th 
Your Commissioners next allotted the rest of the Slaves as follows.

1. To Lucy Brawner – Harriet Jr. = $400


2. To Wm. B. Webster – Washington =   $330


3. To M. Simpson – Hampton $200 & Rachel =  $100



4. To Rezin Webster – Fanny 175 & John $125 = $300

To make this division equal L. Brawner will have to pay to Rezin Webster $37.50 & to M. Simpson $25 and Wm. B. Webster will have to pay to M. Simpson $12.50 – Then each will have $337.50 worth.

The lot assigned to the widow, is as near one third as your commissioners could make it. All of which is respectfully submitted.





Jas. D. Tennille









Richard O. Shirley









Thos. Gaines

Lucy Webster & al
Vs

Brawner & Wife  - IN CHANCERY


This cause coming on this day to be heard on the bill answer and exhibit  in consideration whereof the court doth adjudge order and decree that Thomas B. Gaines, James D. Tennille, Henry C. Haislip, Michael House & Richard O. Shirley or any three of whom may act and are hereby appointed commissioners to divide their Slaves of which Phillip G. Webster died possessed and now in possession of his executor among the widow and children of said Webster with Lucy Webster his widow, Matilda Simpson & Lucy Brawner and Rezin Webster as follows, said commissioners are directed to allot to Lucy Webster the widow one third part of said slaves recording to quantity or quality . They are then to allot to Matilda Simpson $488.55 worth of slave property, to Lucy Brawner the same amount of slave property & to Wm. B. Webster the same amount of slave property and the balance of the slaves are to be equally divided among the before mentioned four children of said Phillip G. Webster – Viz. Matilda Simpson, Lucy Brawner, Wm. B. Webster & Rezin Webster and the Court doth further appoint Thos. K. Davis as trustee aforesaid Matilda Simpson and her children and said trustee is hereby required to execute __ & he ___ for the faithful ___ name of his ___ trustee ordered the commissioners are required to report to this court with a view to a final decree in this cause.
7 May 1849

Guardian Bond

Allen Howison & Robert T. Howison for
Ann E. Howison, Mary Jane Howison, Martha Jane Howison

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Allen Howison & Robert T. Howison are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 7th May 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Allen Howison guardian of  Ann E. Howison, Mary Jane Howison, and Martha Jane Howison infant children of Robert T. Howison, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said infant children respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Allen Howison as soon as the said infant children shall respectively attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









A. Howison  (SEAL)









Robert T. Howison  (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court May 7th 1849

This Guardian Bond from Allen Howison & Robert T. Howison to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

7 May 1849

Guardian Bond

John D. Dogan, Robert C. Leachman & John Williams for

John Clarke


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John D. Dogan, Robert C. Leachman & John Williams are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Four Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 7th May 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John D. Dogan guardian of  John Clarke infant under the age of twenty one years, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said John Clarke all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John D. Dogan as soon as the said John Clarke shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John D. Dogan  (SEAL)









Robert C. Leachman  (SEAL









J. Williams (SEAL)






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court May 7, 1849


This Guardian Bond from John D. Dogan, Robert C. Leachman & John Williams to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 June 1849

Guardian Bond

Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson for

Sarah C. Pridmore


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th June 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Robert C. Leachman guardian of  Sarah C. Pridmore orphan of John D. Pridmore deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Sarah C. Pridmore all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Robert C. Leachman as soon as the said Sarah C. Pridmore shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Robert C. Leachman  (SEAL)









Benjamin Johnson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court June 4th 1849


This Guardian Bond from Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 June 1849

Guardian Bond

Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson for

Sarah C. Pridmore


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th June 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Robert C. Leachman guardian of  Martha A. Pridmore orphan of John D. Pridmore deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Martha A. Pridmore all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Robert C. Leachman as soon as the said Martha A. Pridmore shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Robert C. Leachman  (SEAL)









Benjamin Johnson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court June 4th 1849


This Guardian Bond from Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 October 1849

Guardian Bond

Frederick Foote & Benoni E. Harrison for

Wm. P. Foote, Jane E. Foote & Frederick Foote Jr. 


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Frederick Foote & Benoni E. Harrison are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Three Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st day of October 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Frederick Foote guardian of  Wm. P. Foote, Jane E. Foote & Frederick Foote Jr. infant children of said Frederick Foote his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said infants respectively all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Frederick Foote as soon as the said infant children respectively shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









F. Foote  (SEAL)









B. E. Harrison   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court October 1, 1849


This Guardian Bond from Frederick Foote & Benoni E. Harrison to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 October 1849

Guardian Bond

Searles Lewis and Francis M. Lewis for

Henry Lewis


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Searles Lewis and Francis M. Lewis are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st October 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Searles Lewis guardian of  Henry Lewis orphan of Francis M. Lewis deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Henry Lewis all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Searles Lewis as soon as the said Henry Lewis shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Searles Lewis  (SEAL)









Francis M. Lewis   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court October 1, 1849


This Guardian Bond from Searles Lewis & Francis M. Lewis to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

10 December 1849

Indenture

Orange & Alexandria Railroad


Whereas, There is reason to believe that the Railroad of “The Orange and Alexandria Railroad Company,” will pass through or near some of the lands of the undersigned Redmon Foster, Margaret Foster, F. A. Weedon, James M. Halley, Hector Kincheloe & Lewis B. Butler, W. T. Allen and, it is thought by them that such passage of the said Railroad will increase the value of their property, and be otherwise beneficial to them now, This Indenture, made this 10th day of December in the year one thousand eight hundred and 49 between the said Redmon Foster, Margaret Foster, F. A. Weedon, James M. Halley, Hector Kincheloe, & Lewis B. Butler. W. T. Allen of the first part, and “The Orange and Alexandria Railroad Company” of the second part: Witnesseth, that the said party of the first part, for and in consideration of the premises, and of the sum of one dollar to them in hand paid by the said party of the second part, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, have given, granted, bargained and sold, and by these presents, do give, grant, bargain, sell and convey unto the said party of the second part, all there right, title, interest and estate of, in, and to so much of their land in the County of Prince William as may be entered on and laid out for the purposes mentioned in the ninth section of an act of the General Assembly of Virginia, “prescribing general regulations for the incorporation of Railroad companies” passed March 11th 1837, and referred to in the second section of the act, incorporating “The Orange And Alexandria Railroad Company passed March 27th, 1848; Provided, however, that the land so laid out on the general line of the railroad shall not exceed eighty feet in width, except at deep cuts and filling; and when there shall be any deep cut or filling, shall not exceed one hundred & twenty five feet in width: And, provided, also, that any adjoining lands laid out for sites of buildings shall not exceed an acre and a half in any one parcel. And the said parties of the first part do furthermore agree, in case the said Railroad shall be, in any part located on or near their lands, to release, and accordingly do hereby release “The Orange and Alexandria Railroad Company” from all right or claim, to compensation for the land, which may be entered on, and laid out as before mentioned, or which may be injured by, the passage of said Railroad, and from all right or claim to recover any damages, which have been, or may be occasioned then by the construction of the said Railroad. In testimony whereof, the said Redmon Foster, Margaret Foster, F. A. Weedon, James M. Halley, Hector Kincheloe & Lewis B. Butler, W. T. Allen have hereunto set their hands and affixed their seals on the day and year first herein mentioned.

Signed, Sealed, and Delivered, in the presence of

D Jasper, P. D. Lipscomb, Jno Gray – As to Redmon Foster

D. Jasper, __ J. Nicol – As to Margaret Foster
D. Jasper, James Halley, Mary N. Halley – As to F. A. Weedon

D. Jasper, _ A. Weedon, Mary N. Halley – As to J. Halley

D. Jasper, _ A. Weedon, Charles Cornwell – As to H. Kincheloe

J. H. Reid, W. B. Brawner, Benj. F. Lewis – As to W. T. Allen

8 January 1850

Guardian Bond

Enoch Haislip and Hugh M. Davis for

Thomas A. Davis


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Enoch Haislip and Hugh M. Davis are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Hundred and Fifty Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this Eighth day of January 1850


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Enoch Haislip guardian of  Thomas A. Davis orphan of Hugh W. Davis deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Thomas A. Davis all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Enoch Haislip as soon as the said Thomas A. Davis shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Enoch Haislip  (SEAL)









Hugh M. Davis   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court January 8, 1850


This Guardian Bond from Enoch Haislip and Hugh M. Davis to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 March 1850

Report of Commissioners appointed to

Examine Clerk’s Office of county court

The undersigned having been appointed by the County Court of Prince William to examine and report to the court what new presses and repairs are required in the clerks office of the County Court; have made the necessary examination and do report that new presses are required, in order to keep safely and protect from injury the records and papers belonging to the office, and that in our opinion five in the upper and one in the lower room will be sufficient for the purpose. From the best information we could get we think such presses, as will answer the purpose, would cost about fifty dollars. The front door of the office and the lock on it want repairing.


Mr. Nicol the Deputy Clerk suggested to us that two small desks, one under each of the office windows, would be a great convenience in transacting business in the office and we concur with him in opinion; such desk, to consist of a board wide enough to write on, could be easily fixed to the windows with hinges and raised when wanted for use; and the expense of making them would not be much. Given under our hands this 4th day of March 1850.






Approved and ordered to have work done
1 April 1850

Guardian Bond

Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson for

Sarah C. Pridmore


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th June 1849


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Robert C. Leachman guardian of  Sarah C. Pridmore orphan of John D. Pridmore deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Sarah C. Pridmore all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Robert C. Leachman as soon as the said Sarah C. Pridmore shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Robert C. Leachman  (SEAL)









Benjamin Johnson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court June 4th 1849


This Guardian Bond from Robert C. Leachman & Benjamin Johnson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 April 1850

Guardian Bond

Isaac W. Davis & Wileman Thomas for

Sarah Francis Davis 


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Isaac W. Davis and Wileman Thomas are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st day of April 1850


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Isaac W. Davis guardian of  Sarah Francis Davis an infant under the age of twenty one years, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Sarah F. Davis all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Isaac W. Davis  as soon as the said Sarah F. Davis shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Isaac W. Davis  (SEAL)









Wileman Thomas   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court April 1, 1850

This Guardian Bond from Isaac W. Davis and Wileman Thomas to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

21 April 1850

Marriage of Wm. Garrison & Ann E. R. Anis


The Clerk of Prince William County Court is hereby authorized to issue license for the marriage of William S. Garrison and my daughter Ann W. R. Anis. Given under my hand this 1st day of April 1850.








Catherine Anis (her mark)









Teste.  H. M. Jones & Wm. Griffis

Know All Men By These Presents, That we William S. Garrison and Henry M. Jones are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the just and full sum of one hundred and fifty dollars, for the payment whereof well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Sealed with our seals and dated this 2nd day of April 1850.

The Condition of the Above Obligation is Such, That whereas a marriage is intended to be had and solemnized between the above bound Wm. S. Garrison and Ann E. R. Anis of the County of Prince William; now, if there is no lawful cause to obstruct said marriage, then the above obligation is to be void, else to remain in full force and virtue.

Signed, Sealed, and Delivered in Presence of


William Garrison (SEAL)








H. M. Jones (SEAL)
6 May 1850

Summon – Peter Jones


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Fairfax County, Greetings: We command you to take Peter Jones if he be found within your bailiwick, and him safely keep, so that you have his body before the judge of our Circuit Superior Court of Law and Chancery of Prince William County, at the Court House of the said County, on the first day of the next term to answer an Indictment of the Grand Jury made against him at May Term 1840 for an assault on John Thomas.

And have then there this writ. Witness Phillip D. Lipscomb, Clerk of our said Circuit Superior Court, at the court house of the said county, this 6th day of May 1850 and in the 74th year of the Commonwealth.









P. D. Lipscomb
4 June 1850

Guardian Bond

Thomas N. Carter and John Pearson

Caroline Dean & Susan Dean


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Thomas N. Carter & John Pearson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Hundred Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this fourth day of June 1850 


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Thomas N. Carter guardian of  Caroline & Susan Dean orphans of (Cranden?) Dean deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Caroline Dean & Susan Dean all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Thomas N. Carter as soon as the said Caroline Dean & Susan Dean shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Thomas N. Carter  (SEAL)









John (his mark) Pearson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court June 4, 1850

This Guardian Bond from Thomas N. Carter and John Pearson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

14 September 1850

Summon – Dade Hooe Jr.

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon Dade Hooe Jr. to appear before the justices of our County Court of Prince William at the Court-house of the said county, on the first Monday in November next to shew cause if any he can why an information should not be filed upon a presentment made against him as surveyor of the road leading from Buck Hall to the intersection of the road leading from Bushy Branch to Yates Ford – by the Grand Jury on the 5th day of August 1850 for not keeping said road in lawful repair within six months last past. And have then there this writ. Witness, John Williams, Clerk of our said court, at the Court-house aforesaid; this 14th day of September 1850, and in the 75th year of our foundation.








J. Williams

6 October 1850

Guardian Bond

William Stodderd & Francis N. Watkins for

Christopher H. Scott


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, William Stodderd & Francis N. Watkins are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 7 October 1850


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound William Stodderd guardian of  Christopher H. Scott orphan of John W. Scott deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Christopher H. Scott all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said William Stodderd as soon as the said Christopher H. Scott shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









William Stoddard  (SEAL)









Francis N. Watkins   (SEAL








By Jno. Williams his attorney in fact






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court October 7, 1850


This Guardian Bond from William Stodderd & Francis N. Watkins to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 November 1850

Guardian Bond

John A. Harrison & Benoni Harrison

Eugenia E. Newman, Jas. P. Newman & Pheobe C. Newman


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John A. Harrison and Benoni E. Harrison are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars $2500; to be paid to the said Commonwealth; to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th November 1850.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John A. Harrison guardian of Eugenia E. Newman, Jas. P. Newman, and Pheobe C. Newman, their heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Eugenia E. Newman &c. all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John A. Harrison as soon as the said Eugenia C. Newman &c. respectively shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices now setting, their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John A. Harrison (SEAL)









B. E. Harrison (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court 4th November 4th 1850

This Guardian Bond from John A. Harrison and Benoni E. Harrison to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

2 December 1850

Guardian Bond

John F. McClelland & John Williams for

Harriet F. McClelland


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John F. McClelland & John Williams are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Fifty Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 2nd day of December 1850 


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John F. McClelland guardian of  Harriet F. McClelland infant under the age of twenty one years his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Harriet F. McClelland all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John F. McClelland as soon as the said Harriet F. McClelland shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John F. McClelland  (SEAL)









J. Williams   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court December 2, 1850

This Guardian Bond from John F. McClelland to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1851

Delinquents in the County Levy – 1850

Below Cedar Run & Occoquan

List of Delinquents in the County Levy in the County of Prince William below Cedar Run and Occoquan for the year 1850 returned by A. P. Lynn deputy sheriff of James B. T. Thornton sheriff of the said County Viz:

Able, Levi

No Property

Cheshire, John

No Inhabitant

Appleby, William
No Property

Calvert, Obed. & Son
No Property
Able, Alexander

No Property

Calvert, Rhodam

No Property
Ahrend, Ahrend

No Inhabitant

Carter, Lloyd

No Property
Alen, Jeremiah

No Property

Cornwell, Jas. of Obid.
No Property
Able, John H.

No Property

Cooper, Henry

No Property
Arrington, Washburn
No Property

Cole, Joseph (col)
dead no estate
Adams, George B.
No Property

Cornwell, John H.
No Property
Beavers, Wm. Of Saml.
No Property

Cornwell, Montreville
No Inhabitant
Berryman, A. W.

No Property

Dennis, Peyton (col)
No Inhabitant
Beach, Elijah

No Inhabitant

Davis, Benjamin

No Property
Bland, Robert

No Property

Davis, Isaac W.

No Property
Brammille, John

No Property

Duvall, John Q. A.
No Property
Bates, Richard & son
No Inhabitant

Davis, Jeremiah

No Property
Barnes, Thomas Est.
No Property

Dent, George

No Property
Byrd, William

No Property

Davis, Wm. of Hugh
No Property
Birch, Thos. 

No Property

Fox, Joseph

No Property
Brissey, Isaac B. E.
No Inhabitant

Florence, William
No Property
Briddle, Peyton

No Property

Goodwin, Charles
No Property
Combs, George

No Property

Garner, Thomas

No Inhabitant
Crigler, Benjamin
No Property

Green, George

No Inhabitant
Cornwell, Henry of Sam
No Property

Harris, William

No Inhabitant
Chick, John

No Property

Harris, John

No Property
Cornwell, Samuel
No Property

Hedges, Phillip D.
No Property
Chapman, Henry

No Property

Henderson, Edward
No Inhabitant
Cornwell, Sandy

No Property

Harrison, John

No Inhabitant
Cole, Wm. (colored)
No Inhabitant

Harrison, Sampson
No Property
Carter, John

No Property

Harrison, Richard

No Property
Coulter, John (dead)
No Property

Harrison, Thomas
No Inhabitant
Carney, William

No Property

Jones, William

No Property
Cole, John (colored)
No Inhabitant

Jewell, Fielding Sr.
No Property
Cornwell, Jas. C.

No Property

Johns, George

No Property
Cogan, Thomas

No Property

Johns, Zach

No Property

Johnson, John (col)
No Inhabitant

Nelson, James

No Inhabitant

Jewell, Silas

No Property

Noris, Hortense

No Inhabitant

Johnson, Robert (col)
No Inhabitant

Paterson, Jesse

No Inhabitant

Kendall, Thornton (col)
No Inhabitant

Pearson, Cumberland
No Inhabitant

Kincheloe, Patrick
No Property

Pearson, Northumberland
No Inhabitant

Limbrick, Wm.

No Property

Posey, Thomas L

dead no property

Loveless, John

No Property

Payne, Richard (col)
No Inhabitant

Lipscomb, Robert
No Property

Posey, James

No Property

Mathews, Moses

No Property

Posey, Charles H.

No Property

Murphey, Michael
No Property

Payne, John M.

No Property

Money, Armistead
No Property

Rannie, David

dead no property
McEwing, George
No Property

Reeves, William

charged twice
Mayhew, Hampton
No Property

Russell, Manassa

No Inhabitant
Murphey, William
No Property

Renoe, Elzy

charged twice
Renoe, William

No Property

Rolls, Robert

No Inhabitant

Redmon (smeared)
No Property

Redmon, Elisha

No Property

Redmon, Levi

No Property

Reeves, Thos.

Free to act
Reeves, Hezekiah

No Property

Redmon, George

No Property

Renoe, Madden

No Property

Sowden, John (dead)
dead no property

Smith, James (col)
No Inhabitant

Scott, James

No Inhabitant

Sisson, Thomas

No Property

Semons, Semons
(?)
No Property

Sisson, James

No Property

Smith, Richard (col)
No Inhabitant

Strother, William

No Property

Smoot, Wm. H.

No Property

Slingerland, Wm.

No Property

Tayloe, Wm.

No Property

Upton, William

No Property

Underwood, Wm.

No Inhabitant

Wright, Charles

No Property

Wroby, William

No Inhabitant
Wearing, Thomas G.
No Property

Windsor, Clinton

No Property

Wearing, Peyton

No Property

Williams, Alexander
No Inhabitant

Whaland, Daniel

No Property

Walker, J. H.

No Inhabitant

3 February 1851

Guardian Bond

Edward McEwing and Gilbert S. Minor for

James McEwing


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Edward McEwing and Gilbert S. Minor are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Six Hundred; to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 3rd  February 1851.


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Edward McEwing Guardian of James McEwing Orphan of William McEwing, deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said James McEwing all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Edward McEwing as soon as the said James McEwing shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Edward (X) McEwing (SEAL) 









Gilbert S. Miner (SEAL)






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court February 3rd 1851

This Guardian Bond from Louisa J. Pickett & Gilbert S. Minor to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

31 March 1851

Mary D. Pridmore vs Manassas Gap Rail Road Company

To Land Damage


We, John D. Dogan, William Lynn, George Donohoe, Jesse Ewell and Sanford W. Picket, Commissioners duly appointed and qualified, hereby certify that, on the 31st day of March 1851, we met together on the land of Mary D. Pridmore proposed to be taken by the Manassa’s Gap Railroad Company, for its purposes, and then and there described to us as follows: the land for the track of the Rail Road, Commencing at the land of Miss E. F. Lee and running with the line of the said Rail Road as is indicated by a red line on a map accompanying this report marked “M. G. R. R.   Miss Mary D. Pridmore” to the land of F. M. & S. Lewis and thence to the land of F. Robinson it being sixty feet wide and thirteen hundred feet long, containing one acre, three rood, thirty two poles. And upon a view of the land aforesaid, and upon such evidence as was before us, we ascertained, that for the said land and for the damage to the residue of the tract, beyond the peculiar benefits to be derived, in respect to such residue, from the work to be constructed, Twenty Dollars will be a just compensation. It being understood that the said Railroad Company “shall provide proper waggon ways across the Road” and keep such ways in good repair according to law. Given under our hands this 31st day of March 1851.








John D. Dogan









George Donohoe









Jesse Ewell









Sanford W. Picket

12 May 1851

Wilmington, N. C.

G. W. Clifford

Jailor Prince William County, Va.


In reply to your enquire about the mulatto man I had some time ago an apprentice by the name of Wm. Hasler or as he was sometimes called Wm. Bufort the last time I heard of him he was in jail at Washington City about two months ago & sent such information to the jailor their as I suppose would identify the person. I have heard nothing from him since – if this is the person that lived his time with me he will tell whose daughter I married, if he gives the name Sophia W. Clement daughter of Reond Jesse Clemett. I think you should take it for granted he is the man.







Respectfully Yours








James Cassidy
4 June 1851

Guardian Bond

John L. Sinclair, Mordecai B. Sinclair & James M. Sinclair for 

Catherine E. C. Sinclair


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, John L. Sinclair, Mordecai B. Sinclair, & James M. Sinclair are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of One Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th June 1851


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound John L. Sinclair guardian of  Catherine E. C. Sinclair infant child of M. B. Sinclair his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Catherine E. C. Sinclair all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said John L. Sinclair as soon as the said Catherine E. C. Sinclair shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









John L. Sinclair  (SEAL)









M. B. Sinclair   (SEAL









James M. Sinclair (SEAL)






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court June 4th 1851


This Guardian Bond from John L. Sinclair, Mordecai B. Sinclair & James M. Sinclair to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

4 November 1851

Guardian Bond

Norborne Berkeley, Lewis Berkeley for

Kate S. Berkeley, Francis B. Berkeley, Carter Berkeley, 

Mary B. Berkeley, Edmund Berkeley & Alexander Berkeley


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Norborne Berkeley & Lewis Berkeley are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Six Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 4th November 1851


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Norborne Berkeley guardian of  Kate S. Berkeley, Francis B. Berkeley, Carter Berkeley, Mary B. Berkeley, Edmund Berkeley & Alex. S. Berkeley orphans of Mary R. S. Berkeley deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Kate S. Berkeley & others all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Norborne Berkeley as soon as the said Kate S. Berkeley & others shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the County Court of Prince William County, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Norborne Berkeley  (SEAL)









Lewis Berkeley   (SEAL









Eppa Hunton his attorney in fact.





Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court November 4, 1851

This Guardian Bond from Norborne Berkeley & Lewis Berkeley to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 December 1851

Guardian Bond

George G. Tyler and John B. Grayson for

Susan Tyler


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, George G. Tyler & John B. Grayson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of two Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st December 1851


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound George G. Tyler guardian of  Susan Tyler orphan of Jas M. Tyler deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Susan Tyler all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said George G. Tyler  as soon as the said Susan Tyler shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the County Court of Prince William County, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









George G. Tyler  (SEAL)









J. B. Grayson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court December 1, 1851


This Guardian Bond from George G. Tyler & John B. Grayson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

1 December 1851

Guardian Bond

Mary E. Tyler, George G. Tyler and John B. Grayson for

Robert Tyler


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, Mary E. Tyler, George G. Tyler & John B. Grayson are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of two Thousand Dollars to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 1st December 1851


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound Mary E. Tyler guardian of Robert Tyler orphan of William B. Tyler deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Robert Tyler all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said Mary E. Tyler  as soon as the said Robert Tyler shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the County Court of Prince William County, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









Mary E. Tyler (SEAL)









George G. Tyler  (SEAL)









J. B. Grayson   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court December 1, 1851


This Guardian Bond from George G. Tyler & John B. Grayson to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

22 December 1851

Orange & Alexandria R. R. Co. vs Charles G. Howison


To Mr. Charles G. Howison take notice that on the first Monday of March next that being the first day of the next County Court to be holden for the County of Prince William or so soon thereafter as the motion can be heard, I shall move the said Court for a judgment and award of execution against you for the sum of Two Hundred and Twenty Six Dollars 87/100 with legal interest on $220 thereof from 1st day of September 1851 that being the amount due from you on your subscription for five shares of the stock of the ORANGE AND ALEXANDRIA RAILROAD COMPANY, which you were required to pay by the President and Directors of the said Company and which you have failed to pay, and also for the costs properly taxable under said notice, according to the provisions of the act of the General Assembly of Virginia in such case made and provided. Yours, &c.






The Orange and Alexandria Railroad Company, by








James H. Reid, Agent









of the said Company
Dear Sir:







1st June 1850

By an order of the Directory of “The Orange and Alexandria Railroad Company,” the stock of the “Middle Section,” is required to be paid in installments, running from 1st of June 1850 to 1st of Sept., 1851. The call on your stock will be as below, and as the agents are required to forward their collections to Alexandria by the 20th of every month, I have to request very earnestly, that you will be prepared to pay punctually on the 1st day of each month, according to the requisition.









Yours, Very Respectfully

Charles G. Howison Esq.            To the Orange & Alexandria Railroad Company

To installments of $3 a share, on 5 shares

3rd installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares July 1st 1850 - 


$15.00
4th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares August 1st 1850 - 


$15.00

5th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares September 1st 1850 -


$15.00

6th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares October 1st 1850 - 


$15.00

7th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares November 1st 1850 - 


$15.00

8th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares December 1st 1850 - 


$15.00

9th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares January 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

10th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares February 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

11th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares March 1st 1851 -


$15.00

12th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares April 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

13th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares May 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

14th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares June 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

15th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares July 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

16th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares August 1st 1851 - 


$15.00

17th  installment  of $3 a share on 5 shares September 1st 1851 - 

$15.00









$220.00
Interest on the installments from the day of falling due till 1st Sep. 1851

      7.87
 Due $227.87 with interest on $220 from 1 September 1851


$227.87
5 January 1852

Guardian Bond

William W. Triplett and George W. Triplett for

Richard T. Stonnell


KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That we, William W. Triplett and George W. Triplett are held and firmly bound unto the Commonwealth of Virginia in the sum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) to which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these Presents. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 5th day of January 1852


THE CONDITION OF THE ABOVE OBLIGATION IS SUCH, That if the above bound William W. Triplett guardian of  Richard T. Stonnell orphan of John C. Stonnell deceased, his heirs, executors and administrators, do and shall well and truly pay and deliver, or cause to be paid and delivered unto the said Richard T. Stonnell all such estate or estates as now is or hereafter shall come to the hands or possession of said William W. Triplett as soon as the said Richard T. Stonnell shall attain to lawful age, or when thereto required by the Court, and shall also save harmless and indemnified the Justices, of Prince William County Court now sitting their heirs and successors, from all trouble and damage that shall or may arise about the said estate, then the above Obligation to be void; else to remain in full force and virtue.









William W. Triplett  (SEAL)









George W. Triplett   (SEAL






Sealed and Delivered in the presence of the Court

In Prince William County Court January 5th 1852

This Guardian Bond from William W. Triplett and George W. Triplett to the Commonwealth was entered into and acknowledged by the obligors thereto and ordered to be recorded.

26 July 1852

Deed
Michael & Mary Flaherty to James Flaherty

This deed made this 26th day of July in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifty two, between Michael Flaherty and Mary Flaherty of the County of Prince William and State of Virginia of one part and James T. Flaherty of the same County and State of the other part: witnesseth that for and in consideration of the natural love and affection which the said Michael Flaherty and Mary Flatherty bear to the said James T. Flaherty, they the said Michael Flaherty & Mary Flaherty do grant unto the said James T. Flaherty all their right and title in the estate and not of personal of Michael Coon-- deed, and all interest which they may have under the will of the said Michael Koon(?) deceased.

Witness the following signatures & Seals


Michael Flaherty (SEAL)

Test – 
Redmon F. Bradfield


George B. Bradfield

18 November 1852

John B. Anderson

Edwin Gaines & Wm. E. Goodwin


This Indenture made this 18th day of November 1852 between John B. Anderson of the one part and Edwin Gaines and Wm. E. Goodwin of the other part. Witnesseth that the said John B. Anderson for and in consideration of the sum of three hundred and twenty five dollars lawful money of the United States in hand paid the said Anderson by the said Gaines and Goodwin at or before the sealing and delivery of these presents the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged has given granted bargained sold aliened and conveyed and by these presents does give grant bargain and sell, alien and convey unto the said Edwin Gaines and Wm. E. Goodwin their heirs and assigns forever all right title and interest in possession or revision both in law and equity which he the said John B. Anderson has or may have in and to an undivided tract or parcel of land lying and being situated in the County of Prince William containing eight hundred and twenty six acres be the same more or less; it being the same land allotted to Ann Anderson in a division of the real estate of Strother Renoe deceased among his heirs under a decree ----nced by the County Court of Prince William County in the suit of Clark &c. vs Renoe & together with all the p------ and appurtenances to the said tract in any wise appertaining and belonging – also all right title and interest which the said John B. Anderson has or may have either in--- or equity to the rents which have accrued on said land and now in the hands of Thomas B. Gaines; also all right title and interest which the said John B. Anderson has or may have either in law or equity to the personal estate of John Anderson which he obtained by his marital rights from the estate of Strother Renoe deceased – To have and to hold the above granted interest and their appurtenances unto the said Edwin Gaines and Wm. E. Goodwin their heirs and assigns forever – And the said John B. Anderson does by these presents warrant generally unto the said Edwin Gaines and Wm. E. Goodwin the above granted interest – witness the following signatures & Seals.







John B. Anderson (SEAL)










(SEAL)

13 June 1853

Commonwealth vs Appleby

Ninth Judicial Circuit

State of Virginia Prince William County to Wit

In the Circuit Court of the said County


We the Grand Jurors in the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending said Court being first empanelled sworn and charged this 13th day of June in the year 1853. On our oaths present Sally Appleby of the County aforesaid for retailing ardent spirits without having a license therefor to be drank at the place where sold, to wit: Whiskey, within six months last past upon the information of Isaac N. Lynn of Prince William County. Sworn and sent to the grand jury at their request.

31 August 1853

Case of James Grayson

Jailed as Runaway








Fredericksburg, August 31, 1853

Mr. Wm. D. Dowell



Sir, 


A colored boy named James Grayson has just been committed to jail here, as a runaway apprentice from Henry Love, who I learn, says that the boy was bound to him for two years longer. The boy states, that he was first bound to you and that you sold him, that his term was out in July last. In order that he may have full justice done him, at his request I drop you a line that if his statement is true you can do him justice by sending or bringing his original Indenture. Mr. Love of course, will have to shew, that he is legally indebted to his service before he can have the boy delivered to him.









Yours,










Wm. Slaughter J. P.

8 September 1853

Case of James Grayson

Fredericksburg Court


Virginia: At a Court held for the Corporation of Fredericksburg on the 8th day of September 1853. The Court doth order that James Grayson, a Free Negro confined in the Jail of this Corporation, be discharged from his imprisonment; And the court doth further order that Henry Love do pay the Costs of his Commitment, and also the Jail fees, amounting to Seven Dollars twenty cents.









Teste – J. J. Chew  C.C.

5 October 1853

William D. Dowell vs Henry Love

Case of James Grayson


Mr. Henry Love I deem it proper that I should give you this early notice that if the boy James Grason is not at age according to his Indenture to me he the said Jas Grason is my servant & no other person has any right to his services but for the time the boy has to serve I therefore notify you to send my servant home to me without delay and for every day you have had him in your service since 15th day of July 1853 I shall require of you seventy five cents per day for every day he is in your service but you are forewarned to send him to me & not employ him.








October 5th 1853









W. D. Dowell

17 October 1853

Summon for Henry Love

Case of James Grayson


The Commonwealth of Virginia, To (named faded out) Constable of Prince William County, Greetings: Summon Henry Love to appear before me or some other Justice of the Peace for said County, at Dumfries on the 1st Saturday of October 1853 to answer the complaint of W. D. Dowell for the non payment of thirty dollars 75 cents, with interest, due by account. Given under my hand this 17 October 1853.






W. Charles Merchant
Small notes found in the case Dowell vs Love


22 July 1852 – Dumfries, Va.



Mr. W. D. Dowell To Henry Love

To Digging Grave for Servant boy


$0.75

To Ball on Wood




$0.40

To 12 Beef @ 6 ¼ 



$0.75
Hawling 2 loads slabs from Saw Mill @ 1.25
$2.50






$4.40

Note – Henry Love to W. D. Dowell

1853, October – To services of my boy James Grason


41 days up to the 15th day of Oct 1853 


at 75 cents per day  $30.75

Note – Henry Love To W. D. Dowell

1854 – To hire of my boy Jas Grason from 15 July 1853 to 31 Dec 1854  - $60.00

Note – Henry Love To W. D. Dowell

1855 -  To hire of my boy Jas Grason from 15 July 1853 to 31 Dec 1854

Note – W. D. Dowell to Henry Love

Dumfries, April 10 1853

To plowing & Harrowing ground $2.00

12 November 1853

Dumfries, Va.

William D. Dowell vs Henry Love
Case of James Grayson

To Henry Love,


Take notice that we shall, on the 18th day of November 1853 at the Tavern of William H. A. Merchant in the Town of Dumfries between the hours of 8 A.M. and 6 P. M. of that day proceed to arbitrate, award, judge, determine and agree for upon touching and concerning all action or actions, cause and causes of actions, suits, bills, bonds, specialties, covenants, contracts, promises, accounts, recoverings , sums of money, judgments executions, quarrels, controversies, trespass damages and demands whatsoever both at law and in equity, at any time heretofore had suffered, brought, commenced , sued, prosecuted, suffered or committed by or between you and William D. Dowell, and if from any cause the said matters of difference should not be adjusted or commenced to be adjusted on that day or if commenced be not concluded the same will be adjourned and constructed from day to day or from time to time at the same place and between the same hours until the same be completed.







R. W. Wheat & Isaiah Fisher








Arbitrators

To William D. Dowell,


Take notice that we shall, on the 18th day of November 1853 at the Tavern of William H. A. Merchant in the Town of Dumfries between the hours of 8 A.M. and 6 P. M. of that day proceed to arbitrate, award, judge, determine and agree for upon touching and concerning all action or actions, cause and causes of actions, suits, bills, bonds, specialties, covenants, contracts, promises, accounts, recoverings , sums of money, judgments executions, quarrels, controversies, trespass damages and demands whatsoever both at law and in equity, at any time heretofore had suffered, or committed by or between you and Henry Love and if from any cause the said matters of difference should not be adjusted or commenced to be adjusted on that day or if commenced and be not concluded the same will be adjourned and continued from day to day or from time at the same place and between the same hours until the same be completed. 








R. W. Wheat & Isaiah Fisher








Arbitrators

25 November 1853
Fredericksburg, Va.

Case letter - William Dowell vs Henry Love

James Grayson runaway or free


About the latter part of August or early in September last, a colored boy, named James Grayson, was brought before me, charged with being a runaway owing two years service to Henry Love. The boy stated that he was free, and that he had served out his time and was 21 years old in July last; & that James D. Dowell of Dumfries could give information of the fact. He was committed, and I wrote to Mr. Dowell and informed him what the boy stated, in order, if his statement was true, he might be discharged from jail. A few days afterwards I received a letter from Mr. Dowell informing me, that the boy had been bound to him at an early age & finding him of little value the boys mother, with his (Dowell’s) consent, made an arrangement with Love to keep the boy till he was of age; that he had then 10 years to serve; and that the 10 years were out in July last, & that he considered the boy entitled to his freedom. He said although the boy had been bound by the overseers of the poor no indenture had been executed either by himself or Love. After the boy had been in jail about a week, our Hastings Court came on, & nothing being heard from Love, to whom W. Cole promised to write, directly the boy was committed the court discharged the boy and entered judgment against Love for the costs of arrest and jail fees.

I gave Dowell’s letter to me, to the boy, and told him, he would be put in jail again unless he first went to Prince William and got his free papers and that Dowell’s letter might be a pass to him in going home.


I know nothing more of this matter. In stating what Dowell wrote to me, I do not remember his precise words; but I am positive that his letter contained the statement I have given, or the facts stated. Given under my hand this 25th of November 1853









Wm. Slaughter J. P.









Corporation of Fredericksburg

4 July 1854

Commonwealth to George W. Molair


The Commonwealth of Virginia to George W. Molair deputized constable of Prince William County.

June 17, 1854 – To executing warrant on Mary Calvert charged with felony

$0.50

June 17, 1854 – To summoning 6 witnesses for the Commonwealth


$1.20
July 1854 -        To summoning 4 witnesses for the Commonwealth


$0.80

July 4, 1854     sworn to in open court 




P. D. Lipscomb

29 October 1854

A list of Jurors drawn on the 27 October 1854 to serve at November Term 1854

Wm. L. McIntosh


Temple M. Washington


Edwin Carter

Frederick P. Brawner

Francis Calvert



Francis M. Lewis

Lucien B. Norvill


Edwin, Brady



Roy L. Davis

Thomas H. Speaks

John L. Davis



Mortimer Lynn

Robert Hodgkin


Abraham Doughty


William Wakefield

Bailey Robertson


Alexander Godfrey


John T. Brawner
James Arnold


Francis Bodine



Wm. J. Weir

Matthew Conrad


Wm. Woodyard



John Y. Cundiff

Crawford Cushing

George A. Douglass


Cassius Foley

John Milstead









P. D. Lipscomb









Clerk, P. Wm. Co.

8 November 1854

Commonwealth to Molair – Jailor

To H. Molair jailor of Prince William County

October 4th  To receiving Nancy Rector in Jail, sent there by B. E. Harrison

$0.25

October 4th To dieting the same from the 5th Oct. til 7th Nov. 1854 making


     35 days at 30 cents per day





$10.50


To releasing the same 25 cents





$0.25










$11.00







Sworn to in open court – November 8th 1854

P. D. Lipscomb, clerk

5 February 1855

Dumfries, Va.

William D. Dowell & Henry Love

Case of James Grayson

Dear Sir,


That arbitration case between myself & H. Love will not be called before March Court I suppose. G. H. Cockrell I must have there when it comes up he affirms that the bond and other accounts I hold against Love never was considered or any account taken of them which is the truth you will please direct the clerk to send out a subpoena for Mr. Cockrell in time. If I am able I will certainly be at the March court. I do hope you have drawn that money from J. H. Reid or put it in a train for speedy collection. I do really think it a hard case that Reid arbitrarily holds my money at will, seventeen years he has had the use of it & not a cent have I received principal or interest. I have been much affected since December last with Rheumatism I hope you will pursue some course to make that money out of Mr. Reid without delay.






Very Respectfully Your Obt. Servant







W. D. Dowell

7 March 1855

B. T. Chinn Application to Open Road

In Prince William County Court March 7th 1855. In Benjamin T. Chinn’s application for leave to open a road, the order refusing such leave made at January 1855 is set aside and the report of the commissioner of roads is recommitted to James D. Tennille who made the same with directions to make a further view & report to the court.






A Copy Teste – P. D. Lipscomb, clerk

2 April 1855

Daniel Edmund

Petition to Remain in State


To the County Court of Prince William County: The undersigned citizens of Prince William County understanding that Daniel Edmunds a  man of Color recently liberated by the will of Mr. Vanpelt is anxious to obtain the permission of the court to remain in the State, do certify that we are acquainted with Daniel; That he is a sober quiet honest obedient and industrious man; that in our opinion whilst the general process of the law prohibiting of emancipated negroes from remaining in the state is such that the case of Daniel is an exception to the rule and that his good turn and exemplary (depertment?) will operate a wholesome influence on the slave population and we therefore for these reasons respectfully petition your worshipful body to permit the said Daniel to remain within the state. 
(The below names were signed and difficult to transcribe. Even with the utmost care some errors still might exists)

Subscribing Names




Subscribing Names

Charles E. Tyler





Richard Graham

Douglass Tyler





Robert M. Lewis

Randolph Tyler





Cassius Foley

J. H. Carter Jr.





O. F. Suddith

L. Carter





T. A. Smith

Jas Payne





F. H. VanPelt

Thomas Delaplane




Jas McDonough
H. Newman





John Chapman
John A. Francis





Cyrus C. Marsteller
H. L. Marsteller





F. Foote
Jno Macrae





Geo. T. Knight
T. P. Hereford Jr.





George W. Brawner
Garrett Hulfish





John Burgess
R. R. Graham





Moses Burgess
Thomas McCormick




James H. Sudduth
James Milton





Thomas Gaines
Geo. G. Tyler





G. A. Douglas
C. W. Hunton





A. or H. J. Wickliffe
Jos A. Francis





A. J. McMullin



E. B. Nalls





H. C. Haislip
Jno S. Smith





__ P. Belt
Wm. T. Evans





J. M. Shirley

J. W. Smith





J. C. Brawner
Wm. T. Evans





Saml. Haislip Esq.
Jas W. Smith





Charles Heath
Wm. Bevier





James Popkins
Geo. B. Tyler





Addison Burgess
Robert F. Latham





Robert J. Akers
J. W. Brawner





Thomas Shirley
Harrison Carrico





James D. Tennille
E. J. T. Clark





L. B. Butler
Richard Howly





Willis Foley
Nathaniel House





Geo. W. Smith
John Towles





Jno Trone
Charles B. Stuart

7 May 1855

A. J. McMullin Application to Establish Road


In Prince William County Court May 7th 1855: On the application of Alexander J. McMullen it is ordered that the Commissioners of roads above Cedar Run & Occoquan view the road which has been in use commencing at the North West corner of George Donohoe’s land and leading from said corner through the lands of Edmund Newman, Alex. J. McMullen and Z. Brawner to a point on the public road from Page Land Mill to the Stone Church, and report to the Court the conveniences and inconveniences that will result as well to individuals as the public, if such road shall be made a public road, and especially whether any yard or garden or orchard, or any part thereof will in such case leave to be taken.






Teste – P. D. Lipscomb, clerk

The Commonwealth of Virginia, To the Sheriff of Prince William County – Greetings: You are hereby commanded to summon George Donohoe, Corbin F. Hancock and Zepheniah Brawner petitioners of the land through which a road proposed to be constructed commencing at the north corner of George Donohoe’s land leading from said corner through the land of Edmund Newman, A. J. McMullin and Z. Brawner to a point in the public road from Page Land Mill to the Stone Church to appear before the Justices of our County Court of Prince William, at the Court-house of the said county, on the first Monday in September next to shew cause if any they can shew why the said road should not be opened.


And have then there this writ. Witness, Phillip D. Lipscomb, Clerk of our said court, at the Court-house aforesaid, this 10th day of August 1855, and in the 80th year of our foundation.









P. D. Lipscomb

Executed – Thos. Davis D.S.

To the worshipful Justices of Prince William County Court. The undersigned finding that the road leading from the Sudley Mill Road through the land lately the property of Edmund Newman towards Haymarket has been shut by Corbin F. Hancock who has put bars across it in two places and believing it to be necessary as a road for the use of the neighbors – several of whom use it in going to their mill – at Sudley – pray your worships to have the same opened by order of your court .
Your worships will perceive the justness of our request when informed that it has been used as a public road between forty five and sixty years – which will be proven to your satisfaction – at the proper time.

Charley Heath




Alex. McMullin

John F. Heath




Seth Brawner

George F. Carter




Cyrus C. Marsteller

Albert Buckley




George Shirley

James Mason




Thos. B. Gaines

C. C. Cushing




Robt. R. Graham

Thomas W. Buckley



Silas Butler

Richard Watson




C. W. Thomas

8 May 1855

L. B. Norvill – Application to open road


Prince William County Court, May 8th 1855, On the application of Lucien B. Norvill & Edwin Gaines it is ordered that the Commissioners of the Road above Cedar Run and Occoquan view the road proposed to be opened, through the lands of Philip D. Lipscomb & Howson Hooe, commencing at Bristoe Station and running to Kettle Run, and report to the court the conveniences and inconveniences, that will result as well to individuals as the public if such road shall be opened, and especially whether yard, garden, orchard or any part thereof will in such case have to be taken
2 July 1855

Prince William County to Townley Rig


Prince William County to Wit: to Townley Rig:  1854 – To two days service as surveyor of road leading from the main County Road to Pembrooke Davisses at 6/per day.  $2.00


Prince William County to Wit: Personally appeared before the subscriber a Justice of the Peace for the County aforesaid Townley Rig who made oath that the above act is just and true. Given under my hand this 2nd July 1855.





Charles G. Howison  J.P.

2 July 1855

James G. Draney vs Commonwealth of Virginia


To James G. Draney conductor of the election at the Court House in Prince William County

June 1855
To 2 days attendance at Stafford Court House in (not legible) 


$3.34



To traveling 25 miles to Stafford Court House



$1.00



To 2 days attendance at Alexander in comparing poll books




For congressman in 7th district @ 1.67



$3.34


To the above purpose @ 4 cents per mile




$1.24











$9.92
Prince William County to Wit:


James G. Draney this day personally appeared before me a Justice of the Peace of the said County and made oath that the services set forth in the above account were performed by him. 

Given under my hand this 2nd day of July 1855


E. Gaines J.P.

2 October 1855

Roseberry vs Seip

Virginia, Prince William County, to wit:


To the Sheriff or any constable of Prince William County. Whereas John M. Roseberry plaintiff in an action of debt now pending against Henry S. Seip defendant, in the County Court of the said County of Prince William has this day made oath before one Phillip D. Lipscomb clerk of the said Court, that he believes the claim for which he has instituted his said action against the said Henry S. Seip to be just; that he believes he is entitled to, and ought to recover in the said action debt to the amount of $571.00 at least, with legal interest $550.00 paid thereof from 21st day of March 1854 and on $21.00 the residue thereof from the 14th day of December 1854 until paid; and that he also believes that the said Henry S. Seip intends to remove his own estate, or the proceeds of the sale of his property, or a material part of such estate or proceed, out of the Commonwealth, so that process of execution on a judgment in said suit, when it is obtained will be unavailing. These are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to require you to attach the estate of the said Henry S. Seip for the amount of debt and interest above specified, and the same so attached in your hands to secure or so to provide that the same may be forthcoming and liable to farther proceedings thereupon to be had, before the said County Court, at the Court House of said County at the next quarterly term thereof. And that you have this writ at the Clerk’s office of the said Court at the rules to be holden for said Court on the last Monday in October instant, and then and there make known how you have executed the same. Given under my hand at the Courthouse of said County, this 2nd day of October 1855 and in the 80th year of the Commonwealth.







P. D. Lipscomb

25 January 1858
Contract

Joseph Curl & William W. Davis


Memo: of Contract made and entered into this 25th day of January 1858 between Joseph Curl of the one part and William W. Davis of the other part. Witnesseth that the said Joseph Curl has this day sold to said Davis his farm containing 97 acres 2 roods 24 poles lying in the County of Prince William, and is the same land conveyed to said Curl by Joseph Osmun & wife. For and in consideration of House and lots now owned by said Davis in the Town of Brentsville and also for the further consideration of the sum of Eight Hundred Dollars – and the said Curl hereby bind himself to convey the said tract of land to the said Davis by deed with general warranty of title and give him the possession thereof on the 1st day of January 1859, with the privilege of seeding in the fall of the present year – and the said William W. Davis bind himself to convey the said house and lots in the Town of Brentsville, to the said Curl by deed with general warranty of title, and to give him the possession thereof on the 1st day of January 1859, with the privilege of seeding in the fall of the present year – And also to pay to the said Curl the sum of $350.00 in cash, and the sum of $450.00 the balance of the said $800 in good paper, to be endorsed by said Davis, whenever the deeds are executed by the parties hereto – It is understood that the said Davis shall have the provender which may be raised on said farm and the said Curl bind himself to have the same property keep and taken care of – and the said Davis bind himself to pay Thomas T. Fewell Forty Dollars for the manure which the said Curl purchased of said Fewell & which the Curl binds himself to haul, and scatter over the said farm – And it is also understood that the said Curl shall not graze on the said farm, the stock of any other person than himself. Witness the following signature and Seals.







Joseph Curl (SEAL)








W. W. Davis  (SEAL)

May 1860

Deed

John A. King &William E. Goodwin

To Charles Safford


This deed made this (blank) day of May in the year 1860 between John A. King and William E. Goodwin and Ann F. his wife of the first part and Charles Safford of the second part, all of the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia – Witnesseth that the said parties of the first part for and in consideration of the sum of five hundred & ninety dollars in hand paid to them by the said party of the second part, the receipt whereof they do hereby acknowledge, have granted, bargained and sold and do by these presents grant bargain sell and convey unto the said Charles Safford all that tract of land lying and being situated in the said County of Prince William and containing One Hundred Acres more or less, and is the same tract of land which was conveyed to Francis C. Davis by Eliza Bradley & others & by the said Davis conveyed to the parties of the first part, as will appear by reference to the deeds of conveyance recorded in Prince William County Court. To have and to hold the said tract of land unto the said Charles Safford his heirs and assigns forever – and the said parties of the first part hereby covenant to and with the said Charles Safford that they have the right to convey the said tract of land that they have done no act to encumber the same and that they will warrant generally the said tract of land hereby intended to be conveyed. Witness the following signatures and seals.







John A. King (SEAL)








Wm. E. Goodwin (SEAL)








Ann F. Goodwin (SEAL)

7 March 1861

G. M. Starbuck to Lawrence Cole


This Deed made the 7th day of March in the year of Eighteen Hundred and Sixty One. Between G. M. Starbuck of the one part and Lawrence Cole of the other part, both of the County of County of Prince William and State of Virginia. Witnesseth that the said G. M. Starbuck doth grant unto the said L. Cole his heirs or assigns. The following property: one bay horse called John, one new two horse waggon, and double harness, and cooking stove and furniture. In trust to secure debts due by bonds to Basil Cole of said County. – One dated 7th March 1861 for fifty one dollars and fifty cents payable the first day of May 1861 – also one dated 7th March 1861 and payable the first day of October 1861. For fifty dollars with interest from dates . The said G. M. Starbuck doth further covenant and agree that in case he fails to pay to the said Basil Cole on or before the specific times as above stated. Then he the said Lawrence Cole shall sell at public auction to the first bidder for cash the said property or so much thereof as may be sufficient to pay the debt than due with all cost that may accrue after giving eight days notice in the vicinity.





Given under my hand and seal this date above mentioned.









G. M. Starbuck (SEAL)

Teste- Jos. B. Reid

25 March 1861

Overseer of Poor vs Samuel Evans

Indenture – Jane Williams


This Indenture made this 25th day of March in the year 1861 between R. W. Wheat and others, Overseers of the Poor of Prince William County, of the one part and Samuel Evans of the said County of the other part. Witnesseth, that the said R. W. Wheat and others Overseer of the Poor as aforesaid by virtue of an order of court of Prince William County, bearing date on the 8th day of February in the year 1859 have put, placed, and bound, and by those presents, do put place and bind Jane Williams, a free colored girl, of the age of seven years to be an apprentice with him the said Samuel Evans, and as an apprentice with him the said Samuel Evans to dwell from the dates of these presents until she, the said Jane Williams shall come to the age of eighteen years, according to the act of assembly, in that case made and pronounced. By and during all which time and term, the said Jane Williams, shall the said Samuel Evans, her said master, will and faithfully serve, in all such lawful business, as she the said Jane Williams, shall be put unto by her said master, according to the power, wit. And ability if her the said Jane Williams, and honestly and obediently in all things, shall behave herself towards her said master. And the said Samuel Evans or his part for himself, his executors and administrators doth hereby promise and covenant, to and with the said Overseer of the Poor, and every of them, their and every of their executors and administrators, and their and every of their successors, for the time being, and to and with the said Jane Williams, that he the said Samuel Evans, shall the said Jane Williams, in the duties of a domestic life, teach, instruct and inform or cause to be taught, instructed and informed, as much as thereunto belongeth, or in any wise apportioned. And the said Samuel Evans, shall also find and allow unto the said Jane Williams sufficient meat, drink, apparel, washing and lodging, and all other things needful during the term aforesaid, and as the aspiration of the term of service aforesaid, to furnish the said Jane Williams with her free papers.

The witness whereof the parties to these presents have interchangeably set their hands and seals. The day and year above written.








R. W. Wheat (SEAL)









L. Cole (SEAL)









W. Charles Merchant (SEAL)









L. F. Lynn (SEAL)









H. C. Haislip (SEAL)









Sanford W. Picket (SEAL)









Samuel Evans (SEAL)

11 February 1865

P. D. Lipscomb

Support the Constitution of United States

I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









P. D. Lipscomb


Witness Lewis McKenzie


Alexandria, Feb. 11th 1865



Administered by Lewis McKenzie J.P.

The Oath is to be transmitted, by the person administering it, to the Clerk of the County in which the subscriber resides within fifteen days thereafter, in order that it may be registered.

6 July 1865

State of Virginia – Alexandria County, to wit:

Support the Constitution of United States- E. Gaines


I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









E. Gaines


Witness Lewis McKenzie


Alexandria, Feb. 11th 1865



Administered by Lewis McKenzie J.P.

The Oath is to be transmitted, by the person administering it, to the Clerk of the County in which the subscriber resides within fifteen days thereafter, in order that it may be registered.

31 July 1865

State of Virginia, Prince William County, to wit:

Support the Constitution of United States – R. W. Wheat


I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









R. W. Wheat


Witness:  L. Cole








Administered by Allen Howison  J.P.









July 31, 1865

The Oath is to be transmitted, by the person administering it, to the Clerk of the County in which the subscriber resides within fifteen days thereafter, in order that it may be registered.

4 August 1865

Provost Marshal’s Office

Sub-District of Fauquier

Brentsville Va. August 4th 1865


I do hereby certify, That on the 4th day of August 1865, at Brentsville Va., the oath prescribed by the President of the United States in his proclamation of May 29th, 1865, was duly taken, subscribed and made of record by (O.?) B. Colvin at Brentsville, Prince William County, Virginia.








(O.?) B. Colvin








Capt. & Provost Marshal

4 August 1865

State of Virginia

Alexandria County to Wit:

Support the Constitution of United States – Redmon Foster

I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.








Redmon Foster









Prince William County


Witness Lewis McKenzie


Alexandria, Feb. 11th 1865



Administered by Lewis McKenzie J.P.

The Oath is to be transmitted, by the person administering it, to the Clerk of the County in which the subscriber resides within fifteen days thereafter, in order that it may be registered.

7 August 1865

State of Virginia, County of Prince William

Support the Constitution – M. B. Sinclair


I Mordecai B. Sinclair do solemnly swear that I will support the constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, any thing in the constitution and laws of the State of Virginia, or in the ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the thirteenth day of February, eighteen hundred and sixty one, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the eleventh day of June eighteen hundred and sixty-one; and that I have not, since the first day of January, eighteen hundred and sixty-four, voluntarily given aid or assistance, in any way, to those in rebellion against the government of the United States, for the purpose of promoting the same. So help me God.







M. B. Sinclair
Witness:  B. E. Harrison






Sworn before me this 7th day of August 1865








Allen Howison J.P.

07 August 1865

State of Virginia, Prince William County, to wit:

Support the Constitution of United States – L. Cole


I solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









L. Cole

Witness: A. Nicol







Sworn to before me this 7th day of August 1865







R. W. Wheat  J. P.





2 September 1865

Chapin Baily

General Business oath of May 14th and 15th 1862


I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861. So help me God.








Witness: Chapin Bayly


Subscribed and sworn to before me, in the County of Loudoun, this 2nd day of September 1865







Geo. K. Fox Jr. Deputy for







Chs. P. Janney, clk. Loudoun Co. Court

Name of person taking oath, Chapin Bayly

Age, 49 years

Occupation, Farmer

Residence, Prince William County Virginia


NOTE- The above oath must be signed by the person taking the same, and in case he cannot write, his mark must be attested by a witness other than the officer administering the oath. The certificate must be signed by the officer officially, and he must also fill out the blanks; and the whole be returned to the Clerk of the County Court within 15 days therefrom.

01 December 1865

State of Virginia, Prince William County, to wit:

Support the Constitution of United States – Wm. E. Goodwin


I solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









Thos. W. Ball


Sworn to before me this 1st day of December 1865



R. A. Sinclair, Comm. in Chy.
22 December 1865

State of Virginia, Prince William County, to wit:

Support the Constitution of United States – Wm. E. Goodwin


I solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861.









William E. Goodwin

Witness: R.A. Sinclair






Administered by M. B. Sinclair







On the 22nd December 1865

10 January 1866

R. Purcell – Support the Constitution


I solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the laws made in pursuance thereof, as the supreme law of the land, anything in the Constitution or laws of the State of Virginia, or in the Ordinances of the Convention which assembled at Richmond on the 13th of February, 1861, to the contrary notwithstanding; and that I will uphold and defend the Government of Virginia as vindicated and restored by the Convention which assembled at Wheeling on the 11th day of June, 1861. 


Given under my hand this 10th day of January 1866 -

R. Purcell

1868 (marked on reverse)

Levy for Jail Items 

The County Court of Prince William County will please make a levy for the Jail as there is no Blankets or Beds for the Prisoners. The amount required will be 6 blankets, 4 bed ticks and 6 sheets.


Approved $20.00





Respectfully,









Wallace N. Tansill, Jailor

3 April 1868

Headquarters Military Commissioner

Nineteenth Division of Virginia

Alexandria, Virginia April 3rd 1868

M. B. Sinclair Esq.

Clerk County Court Prince William Co. Va.

       Sir:


Enclosed please find copy of General Orders No. 33 from Head Quarters First Military District State of Virginia.


Will you please furnish me with the names of all election officers in Prince William County, Virginia whose legal terms of office have expired, and state whether such officers are eligible for reelection.


No person is eligible for reappointment unless they can take the oath prescribed by Act of Congress of July 2nd 1862.







Very Respectfully Your Obedient Servant








 S. C. Lee








Capt. Bot  Lt. Col. U.S.A.








Military Commissioner








19th Division of Virginia

06 July 1869

Headquarters First Military District

State of Virginia

Special Orders No. 206


10. The appointment of Thomas W. Buckley as constable for the 4th magisterial district of Prince William County, Virginia, made July 3, 1869, and announced in paragraph 2, Special Orders No. 139, from these Headquarters, is hereby revoked.











By Command of Brevet Major-General Canby:







Louis V. Caziarc







Aide-de-Camp







Acting Assistant Adjutant General

24 August 1869

Letter to Clerk of Court

Headquarters First Military District

State of Virginia

Richmond, Va. Dec 7th 1869

To the Clerk of “Prince William” County Court

Sir:


Will you please forward at once to this office, a list of the Commissioners in Chancery of “Prince William” County.


Said list to give the names of present incumbents the Courts for which they were appointed, and whether or not they can substitute to the oath of July 2nd 1862








Very Respectfully

Your Most Obit. Serv.

C.A. Hartwell

Secy. Of Civil Affairs
13 September 1869
Thomas W. Buckley – Constable

Head Quarters Military Commissioner

Nineteenth Division of Virginia

Alexandria, Va. Sept. 13th 1869

John Poor

Clerk County Court Pr. Wm. Co. Va.

Sir:


Please inform me by return mail if Thomas W. Buckley has qualified as constable of the Fourth District of Prince William County if not please return his appointment to me and Mr. Hulfish will be transferred to that district. In returning Mr. Buckley’s appointment please return also the communication I sent you a few days ago on the subject..







Very Respectfully








Your Obit. Servt.








S. P. Lee, Lt. Col. U.S.A. Mil. Com.

P. S. Enclosed please find appointment of Wellington Vaughn as Constable of the First District Prince William County which please deliver and have him return to me the oath at once.

25 September 1869

Headquarters First Military District

State of Virginia

Special Orders No. 206


9. Mr. George A. Hulfish is hereby removed from office as constable for the 2nd magisterial district of Prince William County, Virginia, to take effect this date, by reason of his having been appointed constable for the 4th magisterial district.











By Command of Brevet Major-General Canby:







Louis V. Caziarc






Aide-de-Camp







Acting Assistant Adjutant General

7 December 1869

M. __. Davis

Appointed Constable

Headquarters First Military District

State of Virginia

Richmond, Va. Dec 7th 1869


Mr. M. __. Davis



Through Military Commissioner, 19th Division of Virginia






Alexandria, Virginia

Sir:


The records of this office show that on the 25th day of September 1869, you were appointed Constable for the 2nd Magisterial District, Prince William County, Virginia and do not show that you accepted the office, taken the prescribed oath, or otherwise qualified for that office.

The Commanding General therefore directs that you give, in an endorsement returning this letter (through the Military Commissioner,) a statement, showing whether you have accepted or not, and if you have accepted, to fill up and subscribe the enclosed oath, having the same property attested as directed by the printed note thereon; and you will also state the date of your qualification to the office.


If you have declined, or from any cause, have failed to qualify, and do not intend to qualify, you will return your appointment with this letter.







Very respectfully, your obedient servant,









LOUIS V. CAZIARC,









    Aide-de-Camp








     Acting Assistant Adjutant General

19 August 1870

The Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railway Company

Against Sarah Otterback


In Prince William County Court, October Term 1870. On the motion of the Alexandria and Fredericksburg Rail Road Company to appoint a Board to ascertain a just compensation to the owners upon the line of said improvement for such lands as are proposed to be taken by such company for its purposes. It appearing to the satisfaction of the Court that notice of this motion has been given according to the 17th Section of Chapter 56 of the Code of 1860 the Court doth appoint John C. Weedon, Hugh Hammill, A. H. Fuchsel, Edwin Nelson and Charles G. Howison disinterested Free Holders who or any three or more of whom shall constitute a Board to ascertain a just compensation to the owners of the land upon their line of improvements within the County of Prince William for such of the said lands as are proposed to be taken by said Company for its purposes.


Notice


The Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railroad Company will apply to the County Court of Prince William County on the 1st day of October Term thereof for the appointment Five disinterested Free Holders who or any three or more of whom shall constitute a board to ascertain a just compensation to the owners of land upon the line of this improvement within the said County for such of said lands as are proposed to be taken by such Company for its purposes. Given under my hand this 19th day of August 1870







G. R. Roberts, President









of said Company

Brentsville, Virginia, October 3rd 1870


I certify that the enclosed is a copy of an advertisement inserted in the Prince William Advocate four weeks successively prior to the 3rd day of October 1870








D. W. Whiting, Publisher

Prince William County Virginia
To Mrs. Sarah Otterback


You are hereby notified that we shall proceed on the 1st day of February 1871 to examine your land and determine from a view thereof and from such proper evidence as either party may offer, what will be a just compensation for so much of said land as may be taken by the Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railway Company for their purposes and for damages to the residue of the tract beyond the peculiar benefit to be devoid in respect to such residue from the works of the said company to be co---- when and where we desire you to attend.





John C. Weedon








E. Nelson









Chas. G. Howison

A.H. Fuchsel

Hugh Hammill


I hereby certify that I served a true copy of the written notice on Mrs. Sarah Otterback more than ten days before the 1st day of February 1871.








E. A. W. Hore

Sworn to before me this 6th day of February 1871

A. F. Woodyard  J.P.

To the Hon. Aylett Nicol Judge of the County Court of Prince William County

We John C. Weedon, C. G. Howison, A. H. Fuchsel & Hugh Hammill commissioners duly appointed and qualified hereby certify that on the 1st day of February 1871. We met on the land of Mrs. Sarah Otterback proposed to be taken by the Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railway Company for its purposes & then and there described to us as follows: Beginning at stake 934 on Center line Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railway on boundary with Wm. Cleary, thence S237 W. for 270 feet, thence by C--- to Pt. Rod: 717 for 900 ft. Thence S 74’ 25 W. for 314 ft: Thence  S 60’ 35 W for 766 feet. Thence to Rl. Rod. 7 639 ft for 400 ft. Thence S 63’35 W. for 600 ft. to stake 970 ___ a width of 75 ft. West & 50 East of said Center Line. Thence S. 63.35 W for 66 ft. Thence by Curve to left Right 2865 ft. 1200 ft. Thence S39 W. for 707 by. Thence by Curve to left  R—1910 for 27 ft. to stake 990 ____ : width of 50 ft. West & East of said Center line. Thence by Curve to the left R—1910 ft for 1494 ft. Thence S 6’E for 506 ft. to stake 1010 ___: a width of 50 ft. West & 40 East of said Center line. Thence S 6’E for 475 ft. Thence by curve to R R—1910 ft for 1108 ft. Thence by curve to R_ R--. 5730 ft. for 1417 ft to stake 1040 ___: a width of 75 ft. West & 50 East of said Center line. Thence by curve to Rl. Rod. 5730 ft for 133 ft. Thence S 41’ 44 W for 2467 ft. to stake 1066 ___ water North bank Quantico Creek embracing of 50 ft on each side of Center line of said Alexandria Railway containing 33 acres 2 Roods & 6 inches more or less as__ plat of survey herewith ___ and upon a view of the land aforesaid, and upon such evidence as was before us ___ ascertain that for the said land, and for the damages to the residue of the tract beyond the ____ benefits to be d---- in respect to such residue from the work to be constructed $3353.00 will be a just compensation.
Given under our hands this 1st day of February 1871.


Jno C. Weedon









Chas. G. Howison

A. H. Feuchsel

Hugh Hammill

In Prince William County Court February 6th 1871

The Alexandria & Fredericksburg Railway Company

Against

Sarah Otterback


The report of Commissioners, John C. Weedon, C. G. Howison, A. H. Feuchel & Hugh Hammill who with Edwin Nelson were appointed at October term a general Board to ascertain a just compensation to the owners of the land upon their line of improvement within this County for such of said lands as are proposed to be taken by the said Company for its purposes having this day returned their report in the case of Sarah Otterback & it appearing to the satisfaction of the court that said Otterback was notified according to law of the time and place of meeting of said commissioners & no cause being shown against the said report, the same is confirmed and rendered to be recorded. And In Prince William County Court  February 7th 1871 on motion of John Hutchison & for reasons appearing to the court it is ordered that the order entered yesterday in this case be rescinded and this case is continued until next court. And In Prince William County Court March 6th 1871 On motion of said Railway Company, and it having suggested that the boundaries embraced in said report include a part of the Town of Newport it is ordered that the report in this case so for only as it embraces  the lands of said Otterback be and the same is hereby confirmed.








Teste, Lucien A. Davis, clerk

State of Virginia, Prince William County Court

I Lucien A. Davis, clerk of the County Court of Prince William County do certify that the forgoing is a true copy of the record in the case of condemnation of the land of Sarah Otterback, in said county, for the use of the A. & F. Railway Co. held before the county court. Given under my hand and seal of said court.

16 Jan 1871

Sarah C. Fewell to Lucien N. Fewell

Release of Dower


This Indenture made this sixteenth day of January, Eighteen Hundred & Seventy-One between Sarah C. Fewell, wife of Lucien N. Fewell and formerly the wife of William Brawner deceased, of the one part and Lucien N. Fewell of the other part. Whereas, the said William Brawner died seized of the freehold and immediate inheritance of and in a certain tract of about forty-two acres lying near Manassas Station in Prince William County, Virginia bounded on the South by the Orange, Alexandria & Manassas Rail-Road, on the West by the present village of Manassas, on the North by the road from Manassas to Buck Hall, and on the East by the Hooe Estate.

And Whereas the dower right of the said Sarah E. Fewell, formerly the wife of the said William Brawner has been set apart in due form in the portion of said tract lying adjacent to the Village of Manassas said portion containing about thirteen and a quarter (13 ½) acres, which portion the said Sarah C. Fewell hath heretofore accepted and doth hereby further signify her acceptance as for and in lieu and satisfaction of her dower and of all her right, title and interest in said tract of forty-two acres, be the same more or less.


Now therefore this Indenture witnesseth that for and in consideration of four hundred dollars, or its equivalent in lots agreed upon between the parties, the said Sarah C. Fewell doth hereby grant, convey, and release unto the said Lucien N. Fewell, who hath heretofore become the purchaser of the reversionary interest of said 13 ¼ acres, all her dower interest in said tract of land, set apart as aforesaid, and all her interest of whatsoever name or nature.


To have and to hold unto him the said Lucien N. Fewell, his heirs and assigns forever.








Witness my signature & seal









Sarah E. Fewell (SEAL)

State of Virginia

County of Prince William


I George C. Round, Notary Public for the County aforesaid in the State of Virginia do certify that Sarah C. Fewell the wife of Lucien N. Fewell, whose name is signed to the writing hereto annexed, bearing date on the 16th day of January 1871, personally appeared before me, in the County aforesaid, and being examined by me privately and apart her husband and having the writing aforesaid fully explained her, she the said Sarah C. Fewell acknowledged the said writing to be her act, and declared that she had willingly executed the same, and does not wish to retract it.





Given under my hand this 16th day of January 1871






George C. Round, Notary Public







Prince William County

25 April 1871

W. W. Thornton, Brentsville Twp.

Prince William County to Wit:


I William W. Thornton do declare myself a citizen of the Commonwealth of Virginia and do solemnly swear that I will support and maintain the constitution and laws of the United States and the constitution and laws of the State of Virginia; that I recognize and accept the civil and p------ ____ of all men before the law and that I will faithfully perform the duty of registrar in the Brentsville Township to the best of my ability. So help me God.







Wm. W. Thornton

Subscribed and Sworn to before me this 25th day of April 1871.




A. Nicol, Judge




Of Pr. Wm. County Court

17 August 1872

James & Sarah Gaskins

To Charles W. Davis – Deed


This Deed made this Sixteenth day of August in the year of our Lord, Eighteen Hundred and Seventy-Two between James H. Gaskins and Sarah Gaskins his wife both of Washington City, District of Columbia of the first part and Charles W. Davis of the second part. Witnesseth that in consideration of the sum of eighty dollars, the receipt whereof is hereby duly acknowledged. The said James H. Gaskins and Sarah Gaskins do grant, bargain sell and convey unto the said Charles W. Davis all their right title, interest and claim of any kind whatsoever that they have in the real property an real estate which he the said  James H. Gaskins now owns as heir and son of Sarah Severson deceased, and which said real estate is the undivided estate of the said Sarah Severson deceased, consisting of two parcels of land situated in Prince William County, State of Virginia; the one consisting of eighty eight acres more or less and known as “Oak Grove” and the other containing sixty acres more or less, and known as “Macgnegar Field” And the interest of the said James H. Gaskins as son and heir of the said Sarah Severson being one undivided ninth of each of said parcels of land. Which undivided one ninth interest in said lands is hereby granted, sold and conveyed to the said Charles W. Davis; to have and hold the same, with the appurtenances, unto the said Charles W. Davis his heirs and assigns in fee simple forever.


And I the said James H. Gaskins for myself and heirs do hereby covenant and agree to and with the said Charles W. Davis and his heirs and assigns that I am the owner of an undivided ninth part of said land, and am seized of a good and indefeasible estate of inheritance therein, and that I have full right and power to sell and convey the same in fee simple absolute; that the said Charles W. Davis, his heirs and assigns may forever hereafter have, hold, possess and enjoy the same without any molestation  or interruption by any person whatsoever lawfully claiming any right therein; and that I the said James H. Gaskins and all persons claiming under me, will at anytime hereafter at the request and expense of the said Charles W. Davis, his heirs or assigns, make all such further assurances for the mane effectual conveying of the said premises, with the appurtenances, as may be reasonably required by him or them. And that I the said James H. Gaskins and my heirs, will warrant and defend the said premises, with the appurtenances, unto the said Charles W. Davis and his heirs and assigns forever. In testimony whereof, we have hereto set our hands and seals this (blank) day of August 1872.









James H. Gaskins









Sarah Gaskins (her mark)

 – Signed & Sealed in the presence of       R. A. Hyde 

A. R. Allen

District of Columbia

County of Washington


I R. A. Hyde a justice of the peace in and for the County aforesaid, do hereby certify that James H. Gaskins and Sarah Gaskins his wife parties to a certain deed bearing date on the 16th day of August A.D. 1872 and hereto annexed personally appeared before me at the County aforesaid; the said James H. Gaskins and Sarah Gaskins being personally well known to me, to be the persons who executed the said deed, and acknowledged the same to be their act and deed; and the said Sarah Gaskins being by me examined privily and apart from her said husband and having the deed fully explained to her; She acknowledged the same to be her act and deed and declared that she wishes not to retract it. Given under my hand and my seal this 16th day of September 1872.







R. A. Hyde (SEAL)







Justice of the Peace

14 May 1873

Petition of Martha L. Shirley

Assignment of Homestead

To the Honorable A. Nicol, Judge of the County Court of Prince William County.


The petition of Martha L. Shirley respectfully represents that J. R. Shirley late of the County of Prince William departed this life intestate on 14th day of May 1873 leaving your petitioner his widow, and the following children his heirs at Law and distributes of his personal estate, namely: Susan E. Shirley, Martha M. Shirley and James D. Shirley all of whom are infants, that the said intestate died seized and possession of certain real and personal estate consisting of 1/9 of the Hereford tract situated near Gainesville in the said County aforesaid containing about 20 acres – 8 ¼ acres with house on same, situate near the said Village of Gainesville. House and lot on ¼ acre in the village aforesaid, 1/5 of the real estate of the late R. O. Shirley, which contains about 529 acres situate near the village aforesaid. Together with personal assets in the hands of Crawford Cushing administrator amounting to not less than the sum of $2000 and that at the court 18 (blank) of the (blank) Court of Prince William County and administration of the estate of the said estate of the said J. R. Shirley was granted to the said Crawford Cushing: by virtue of which he possessed himself of all of the personal estate of the said intestate.


Your petitioner would further shew that she is desirous of claiming a Homestead out of aforesaid property, her husband having departed this life without such homestead having been selected or assigned to him in his lifetime, and without his having declared his intention to claim the same.


And now in order to effect the assignment of the same to your petitioner, she prays that this honorable court may appoint commissioners to assign to her out of said property a homestead according to the provisions of the statute 10 sec chap. 157 of the acts 1869 & 70. And that said commissioners may be directed to report their proceedings to this court.








Martha L. Shirley








By her Attorney

18 September 1873

Tyler & Hall 

Dissolve of Partnership


To all whom these presents shall come. We Robert Tyler, John Beckham and Thomas O. Taylor by whom was submitted as arbitrators the matter in controversy existing between C. A. Tyler & R. N. Hall as by the conditions of their bond of agreement executed and signed by said Hall & Tyler on the (blank) day of (blank) 1873. Now therefore we, the above mentioned arbitrators. Having heard the proofs and allegations of the parties & examined the matter in controversy by them submitted, do make this award, that C. A. Tyler assume all debts due by the firm of Tyler & Hall, including a bond given by said Tyler & Hall to S. A. Thomas bearing date of (blank) 1871 & for the sum of four hundred dollars ($400.00) That the said Tyler is to have all money due the firm, but is to pay to said R. N. Hall to sum of one hundred dollars ($100.00) within ten days from this date, in lieu of all claims that said R. N. Hall may have upon the will & matter connected with said mill. That said Hall is to have one half of eleven Hogs now in possession of said Tyler & heretofore owned by the firm of Hall & Tyler also of one cow owned in the same manner, and now in Tyler’s possession, also one half of the lumber that was on the mill yard, and belonging to the firm of Tyler & Hall on the 8th day of January 1873, and also that said C. A. Tyler shall execute a deed of trust upon said mill & fixtures for the benefit of R. N. Hall in securing him from all future liability on the notes of Four Hundred Dollars ($400) above mentioned, given to S. A. Thomas & now in possession of J. D. McPherson of Washington D.C. that the said mortgage or deed of trust shall be placed on record within ten (10) days from date of this, and shall be the first line of any kind upon the mill. This award and the matter mentioned above, apply only to the business connected with the mill & the partnership of said Tyler & Hall in said mill. In witness hereof we have hereby set our hands this the 18th day of September 1873.








J. G. Beckham









Thomas O. Taylor









Robert H. Tyler

1 December 1873

In Prince William County Court

In the matter of the petition of Martha L. Shirley for assignment of Homestead

The following are copies of the order entered in the above petition.


It appearing to the Court from the petition of Martha L. Shirley this day filed, that her husband J. R. Shirley has departed this life seized this adoption of the present constitution leaving a widow Martha, and the following infant children to wit: Susan E., Martha M. and James D. Shirley, and that the said John R. Shirley the husband and father departed this life without having selected or having assigned to him a Homestead as provided for by law. On consideration whereof the court doth appoint Charles A. Stuart, Frederick Foote, John T. Leachman and Thomas Hereford commissioners, who being duly sworn to faithfully perform the duties, any three of whom to act, to go when the real estate belonging to the estate of the said J. R. Shirley, and to lay off as a Homestead to said widow of the real estate of the said J. R. Shirley an amount thereof of the value of two thousand dollars, to be held by the said widow as her homestead according to the provisions of the act passed June 27 1870 entitled an act providing in what manner &c., and if it shall appear that there is not sufficient real estate of the value of said two thousand dollars that this and is that event the default so remaining shall be made up out of the personal estate of the said J. R. Shirley to be held as her homestead and that said commissioners be required to report their proceedings herein to the court.

4 October 1875 By consent of parties the said petition is removed to the Circuit Court of this County









Lucien A. Davis, clerk

20 November 1874

Commonwealth vs John Chinn


Prince William County to wit: To George W. Tansill, Constable of said County. Whereas, Jas R. King of said County, has this day made complaint and information on oath before me, Samuel Martyn, a justice of the said County, that John Chinn, on or about the first day of September 1874 feloniously did steal, take and carry away one five barreled pistol of the value of five dollars, being the property of said Jas R. King. These are therefore, in the name of the Commonwealth to command you forthwith to apprehend and bring before me, or some other justice of the said county, the body of the said John Chinn to answer the said complaint, and to be farther dealt with according to law. Given under my hand and seal this 28th day of September 1874.








Samuel Martyn  J.P. (SEAL)

Witnesses for Commonwealth – Frank Harrison & William Jones

Witnesses for defendant – Ben Beach, Oscar Chinn & Henry Chinn

19 November 1875
Commonwealth vs Orville Comstock


Prince William County to Wit: William A. B. Smith upon oath complains that on the 19th day of November 1875 in the County aforesaid Orville Comstock did unlawfully but not feloniously carry away a quantity of fodder upon the land rented by the said W. A. B. Smith and belonging to the said Smith and therefore he prays that the said Orville Comstock may be apprehended and held to answer the said complaint and dealt with in accordance with law.






Dated this 11 day of November 1875







William A. B. Smith

Sworn and subscribed to before me a Justice of the Peace for the said County this 11 day of November 1875







S. R. Lowe J. P.

Prince William County To Wit:


Be it remembered that on this 11th day of December 1875, Orville Comstock, R. H. Keys & Wellington Vaughn of said county personally came before me a justice of the said county and severally and respectively acknowledged themselves to be indebted to the Commonwealth of Virginia in the manner and form following that is to say the said Orville Comstock in the sum of fifty dollars and the said R. H. Keys in the sum of fifty dollars and the said Wellington Vaughn in the sum of fifty dollars to be respectively made and levied of their several goods and chattels lands and tenements to the use of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the said Orville Comstock, R. H. Keys & Wellington Vaughn hereby waive their Homestead Exemption as to this obligation.


The condition of the above obligation is such that if the above bound Comstock do and shall personally appear on the 18th day of September 1875 at Occoquan in the said County and there answer a warrant against him the said Comstock by The Commonwealth of Virginia for a misdemeanor committed by him for unlawfully but not feloniously carrying away a certain quantity of fodder the property of one William A. B. Smith whereof the said Comstock stands charged and ____ ____make default then the above obligation shall be void  otherwise remaining in full force.







Orville Comstock (SEAL)








R. H. Keys (SEAL)








Wellington Vaughn (SEAL)

Prince William County to Wit:


To George W. Tansill constable of said county. Whereas William A. B. Smith of said County has this day made complaint and information on oath before me S. R. Lowe a Justice of the said County that Orvill Comstock on the 19th day of November 1875 in the said County did unlawfully but not feloniously carry a quantity of fodder upon the land rented by the said William A. B. Smith and belonging to the said W. A. B. Smith, these are therefore in the name of the Commonwealth to command you forthwith to apprehend and bring before me or some other Justice of the said county the body of the said Orvill Comstock to answer the said complaint and to be farther dealt with according to law. Given under my hand and seal this 19th day of November 1875







Samuel R. Lowe J.P. (SEAL)

On Reverse side of this document – “On hearing the evidence of the within case we have decided the defendant was not guilty. Judgment for cost against the plaintiff Wm. A. B. Smith”








Samuel Martin J.P.

28 February 1876

Warrant- Charles Godfrey

State of Virginia, County of Prince William to Wit: Sherwood C. Keys this day personally appeared before me Justice of the Peace of the County of Prince William and solemnly affirmed that two dogs belonging to Charles Godfrey did on or about the 21st of February did kill two sheep the property of Peyton Keys. This is to command Kendrick (or Hendrick) Herndon a deputized Officer of Stafford County to kill the said dogs, and make returns to me, the manner of execution of the above order.


Given under my hand this 28th day of February 1876







August H. Feushel  J.P.

On reverse side – “Executed the within by killing one dog on February 27th and the other on March 3rd  - on the killing the first giving the within notice to kill the second which he did not – this March 3rd 1876








K? E. Herndon
Cost for killing two dogs $2.00, for warrant $0.50 for $2.50



August H. Fuechsel J. P.

2 July 1877

Commonwealth vs James Garnett

Misdemeanor 


Prince William County to Wit: In the County Court of said county. The Jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William and now attending the said court upon their oath present that James Garnett on the day of June in the year 1877 in the County aforesaid, did unlawfully, willfully & maliciously, but not feloniously injure and deface a certain Jail (The said Jail being then and there the Public Prison & Common Jail of the said County) by tearing and pulling down the brick flue in said Jail against the peace & dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.







E. E. Meredith








Attorney for the Commonwealth

Upon the testimony of A. F. Woodyard, Keeper of the Jail of Prince William County.
We the Jury find the defendant guilty and fine him the amount of two dollars and fifty cents.








A. P. Lynn, foreman

23 October 1886

Guardian Account

L. O. Lynn account with H. H. Lynn








Commissioners Office








Manassas Va. October 23, 1886

To the County Court of Prince William County:


Your commissioners report to the court that on the 20 day of August 1886 H. H. Lynn, Guardian of L. O. Lynn exhibited before your Commissioners a statement showing that he had received no money as such Guardian for one year ending May 4, 1886 and that he had paid out the sum of $1.31 as shown by the vouchers herewith returned.

That the commissioners embraced the said guardian in the list of fiduciaries whose accounts were before him for settlement which was posted at the front door of the court house of said county on the first day of September court last and on the date of this report made up and completed the forgoing account of the said H. H. Lynn guardian of L. O. Lynn.


Given under my hand as commissioners of the said court on the day and year first aforesaid.








W. N. Lipscomb

23 April 1896

Cloverland Farm


This Indenture, Made this Twenty Third day of April 1896, between Anderson D. Smith and Susan N. his wife of the first part, and Nathan L. Chappelle and John H. Soule of the second part,


Witnesseth, That in consideration of the sum of one dollar in hand paid, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, and of other valuable considerations hereinafter expressed, the parties of the first part do… grant and convey unto the parties of the second part all the mineral and fossil substances, and mineral or vegetable oils, and building and other valuable stone, of every character and description, found or to be found, in and upon all that tract or parcel of land known as Cloverland containing about 300 acres, more or less, which the said Anderson D. Smith acquires by deed of date October 4, 1879 from Eppa Hunton &c. being that part of said conveyance as follows 100 acres on the south side of the pike, and 200 acres on the north side as appears upon the records of the Clerk’s Office of the County Court of the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia, in which office a complete and accurate description of said tract of land will be found, and to which special reference is hereby directed, and it is mutually agreed and covenanted between all parties hereto as follows:

1st That the parties of the second part, or their assigns, shall have the sole and exclusive right during the continuance of this lease to enter in and upon the said lands hereinbefore mentioned, for the purpose of searching or otherwise exploring for mineral and fossil substances, of ever kind and character (including oil, salt, coal, building and other valuable stones) and within two years from the date hereof, unless the parties of the second part shall elect to avail themselves of the provisions of the second clause of this indenture, they shall commence, and in a business like manner prosecute the mining for such mineral and fossil substances (including coal, mineral or other earths and clays) as may be found upon or in said land, or the quarrying for building or other valuable stones therein or thereupon, or the boring or otherwise extracting mineral or other oils that may be discovered therein, but this requirement shall not apply to the continuous operations as aforesaid when such operations shall be suspended either by virtue of the second clause of this indenture, or by stress of weather, which shall not extend over a period of six months, nor embrace more than six months in any one year; nor shall the parties of the second part, or their assigns, be required to continue said mining, quarrying or boring operations pending labor strikes, nor during failure of railroad conveying the product of such mine, quarry or well to supply the needed transportation for the same, nor when the said products shall fall in value below a price justifying the continued operations aforesaid. Therefore the suspension of such operations for the causes in this clause enumerated shall not operate against the perpetuation of the rights of the parties of the second part, or assigns, under this indenture.

2nd That the parties of the second part may, however, notwithstanding the provisions of the first clause of this indenture, suspend operations upon said tract of land for a period of not exceeding two years continuously, provided however, that they, the parties of the second part, or their assigns, shall pay to the said Anderson D. Smith or his assigns at the place and in the manner provided in the fourth clause of this indenture, the sum of Fifty dollars for each and every year such operations shall be suspended.


3rd That for each and every ton of magnetic iron ore, the parties of the second part shall pay as specified in the fourth clause of this indenture, the sum ten (10) cents per ton, and for iron ore of every other quality and character the sum of ten(10) cents per ton. And for all other valuable and precious minerals or fossil substance (including coal earth and clay0 or building and other valuable stone or oil of any character found in or upon said property ten per cent of the market thereof, after deducting the cost of transportation from the mine, quarry or well (as the case may be) to the place where the same shall be sold by the parties of the second part.


4th That all payment of royalties expressed in the third clause of this indenture shall be due and payable as follows: For all valuable mineral and fossil substances, earths and clays, building or other valuable stone, removed from the said premises in the crude condition, during any one month, the royalty shall be due on the twentieth day of the next succeeding month, and shall be payable to the party of the first part, or assigns, by the parties of the second part or assigns, which payment shall be made upon the premises herein referred to, viz: on the tract of land herein mentioned, unless all the parties hereto agree and fix upon another place. And it is stipulated and mutually agreed that on the 1st day of January, 1899, and annually thereafter, that if the royalties arising from said tract of land shall, during the year next before, fall below the sum of $50.00 the parties of the second part and assigns will pay any deficiency thereof unto the parties the first part or assigns.

5th That the parties of the second part shall have the free and uninterrupted right of ingress, egress and regress to each and every part of said tract of land, for the purpose of exploring for, mining, quarrying, boring and excavating for mineral or fossil substances of every kind and description, including coal, or for mineral or other earths and clays, or building and other valuable stones, or mineral and other oils, the same or any of the same, to take, carry away and market or utilize, accounting therefor as provided for in the fourth clause of this indenture.

6th  That the parties of the second part and assigns shall have the right to use the water from all streams of water on said land in furtherance of their operations upon and in said land, and also the right to cut and use timber found upon said lands, not over 12 inches in diameter at the butt to be selected by the party of the first part or assigns.


7th That the parties of the second part shall have the right to use so much of said land as may be desired for the purpose of erecting thereon buildings, furnaces and other works of any and every character and description for the preparation for market mineral and fossil substances of every kind and description, (including coal) mineral and other clays and earths, building and other valuable stones, and mineral and other oils, the quantity of said land to be used shall not exceed fifty acres to be selected by the parties of the second part not nearer than 300 yards from dwelling house. And all the parties of the second part, and assigns, shall have the right to make and maintain on said lands all roads of any description necessary for the operations herein mentioned.

8th That the failure for the period of twelve months at any time to comply with any of the provisions of this indenture on the part of the parties of the second part or their assigns shall operate as a forfeiture of their rights upon said premises, and they shall forever thereafter be entitled to none of the benefits herein expressed, otherwise this indenture shall always remain in full force and effect.

9th That in case the parties of the second part, or their assigns, shall be unsuccessful in their operations as aforesaid, they shall have the right within ninety days after the termination of their rights under this indenture to remove all engines, tools and other machinery and buildings by them erected upon said lands.


10th It is mutually covenanted and agreed by and between the parties hereto, that if the parties of the second part, or their assigns, shall at any time during the continuance of this lease tender to Anderson D. Smith or his assigns the sum of one hundred dollars or equivalent per acre for said land; that he the said Anderson D. Smith or his assigns will by a general warranty deed convey said land together with all the rights and privileges herein mentioned, unto said parties of the second part, or their assigns, upon the following terms. One third cash the residue in one and two years, to be secured by deed of trust on said property.







Witness following signatures and seals.

Attest:

Geo. E. Terry






A. D. Smith (SEAL)









Susan N. Smith (SEAL)









Nathan L. Chappell (SEAL)









John H.Soule

State of Virginia, County of Fauquier to Wit:


I Edward Carter, a Notary Public in and for the County of Fauquier in the State of Virginia, do hereby certify that Anderson D. Smith and Susan N. Smith his wife whose names are signed to the writing above, bearing date on the twenty three day of April 1896 have acknowledged the same before me in my County aforesaid. All writings and corrections made before acknowledgment taken. Given under my hand and notarial seal this 2nd day of June 1896







Edward Carter








Notary Public

District of Columbia, County of Washington to Wit:


I George E. Terry,a Notary Public in and for the District of Columbia, do hereby certify that Nathan L. Chappelle and John H. Soule, whose names are signed to the writing above, bearing date on the twenty three day of April 1896 have acknowledged the same before me in my district aforesaid. All writings and corrections made before acknowledgment taken. Given under my hand and notarial seal this 7th  day of May 1896








Geo. E. Terry








Notary Public

2 February 1902

Commonwealth vs Roach

Commonwealth of Virginia Prince William County to wit:


In the County Court of said County. The jurors of the Commonwealth of Virginia in and for the body of the County of Prince William, and now attending the said court upon their oaths present that John Roche in the said County of Prince William on the 2nd day of February 1902 between 12 o’clock of Saturday Night proceeding and sunrise of the Monday Morning succeeding that day, did unlawfully sell intoxicating liquors, against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

2nd count – And the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do further present that  John Roche in the town of Manassas in said County of Prince William on the 2nd day of February 1902 between 12 o’clock of Saturday night preceding and sunrise succeeding that day did unlawfully open a certain bar-room, in the Howard House Hotel, the said bar-room being a place for the sale of intoxicating liquors against the statute in such cases make and purchase, and against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

3rd count – And the jurors aforesaid upon their oaths aforesaid do further present that John Roche in the said County of Prince William, on the 2nd day of February 1902 between 12 o’clock of the Saturday night preceding and sunrise of the Monday morning succeeding that day, did unlawfully sell intoxicating liquors, against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth of Virginia.









J. B. T. Thornton









Attorney for the Commonwealth

Upon the evidence of E. M. Cornell & Ed Posey

6 July 1903

J. B. Staubus
Surveyor of Road – Independent  Hill


Know all men by these presents, That we J. B. Staubus and J. B. Norman are held and firmly bound into the County of Prince William in the sum of two hundred dollars, to the payment whereof, well and truly to be made to the said Commonwealth of Virginia, we bind ourselves and each of us, our and each of our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. And we hereby waive the benefit of our homestead exemptions as to this obligation, and any claim, or right to discharge any liability to the Commonwealth arising under this bond, or by virtue of said office, post or trust, with coupons detached from the bonds of this state. Sealed with our seals, and dated this 6th day of July one thousand nine hundred and three.

The condition of the above obligation is such, That whereas J. B. Staubus has been appointed surveyor of roads in Independent Hill Precinct, Coles Magisterial District Prince William County. Now, if the said J. C. Staubus shall faithfully discharge the duties of his said office Surveyor of Roads according to law then this obligation to be void, or otherwise to remain in full force and virtue.









J. C. Staubus








John B. Norman

19 March 1904
Manassas, Va.

Report of Pension Commissioners for Prince William County


To the Hon. C. E. Nicol, Judge of the Circuit Court of the County of Prince William, Virginia.


The board of pension commissioners for the County of Prince William, beg leave to make the following report.


First: That the said board meet at the Court House and having previously organized by the election of J. T. Leachman chairman – and George W. Johnson secretary, and the clerk of the court having complied with the provisions of Sec. 15 of the Acts of General Assembly, approved April 2nd 1902, entitled an act to aid the citizens of Virginia who were disabled by wounds received during the War between the States &c. by posting a list of all applications filed and allowances made under the provisions of the act of March 7th 1900 – ten days prior to this date.


Second: That we have made all enquiries and investigations necessary to test the claims referred to in the certified list of the Auditor of Public Accounts to the said Clerk, and have corrected and revised said list, and we find the following persons embraced in said list, are entitled under the provisions of the said act, to receive aid, Viz: Arnold, Williams $30; Beavers, J. M. $15; Brawner, William $15; Bridwell, Albert $15; Bridwell, J. E. $30; Baxter, William H. $15; Bridwell, Haywood $15; Carrico, W. F. $30; Cooper, R. A. $15; Crouch, Elias $30; Cheshire, Elihu $30; Carter, A. J. $15; Downs, William H. $15; Ellicott, W. L. $30; Florence, M. A. $30; Fairfax, J. W. $15; Fox, T. M. $15; Gray, J. H. $15; Grimes, G. W. $30; Griffith, John W. $30; Holland, Henry $30; Harover, H. C. $30; Holmes, M. C. $15; Holmes, L. F. $15; Holland, R. W. $15; Haislip, James N. $30; Harrison, G. W. $15; Keys, H. A. $30; Ledman, Wesley $30; Moony, G. T. C. $30; Nalls, J. W. $30; McIntuff, H. C. $30; Pendleton, William M. $30; Pierson, R. A. $15; Pettitt, I. J. $15; Rainey, W. A. $30; Rollins, George W. $15; Riley, John W. $15; Reid, Mrs. Catherine $25; Robinson, Daniel S. $30; Sinclair, Virginia T. $25; Shirley, James M. $30; Tolson, Mary J. $25; Townsend, Julia A. $25; Weeks, L. A. $30; Williams, A. F. $15; Wyckoff, J. W. $20; Davis, Hortense $25; Ralls, W. H. $15; Deats, C. S. $30; Carter, James $15.


And we further report, that the following names on the list furnished by the Auditor for the year 1903 – have filed no application with the Clerk of the Court. – Brawner, C. H.; Chinn, Charles E.; Cross, John P.; Foley, R. A.; Fairfax, A. S.; dead, Hall, L. D.; Herring, William A.; Jenkins, Charles T. ; Jenkins, J. W.; Love, L. H.; Porter, Mary E.; Robinson, Susan A.; Gray, Margaret; Stewart, W. C.


And we further report the following persons are dead – E. T. Kincheloe. We also note the following person (R. O. Rennoe) an inmate of the Soldiers Home in Richmond Virginia.

We further report that the following person, Joseph Godfrey owns property in excess of the amount named in Sec. 2 of the Act of the General Assembly of Virginia, approved April 2, 1902 – although disabled, by the loss of an arm.


We further report, that we allow the following named Pensioners – an increase from fifteen to thirty dollars – “ C. T. Deats, W. L. Elliott, Henry Holland, H. C. McIntuff.”








Respectfully Submitted








J. Leachman, Chairman








George W. Johnson, Secretary








John R. Tillett 
11 May 1908

W. H. W. Moran to

Manassas Journal Publishing Company


This deed made this 11th day of May, 1908 by and between W. H. W. Moran, party of the first part, and the Manassas Journal Publishing Company, Incorporated, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Virginia, party of the second part, both parties of the town of Manassas, County of Prince William and State of Virginia.


Witnesseth, that the said party of the first part hath granted, bargained and sold and by these presents doth grant, bargain, sell and convey, with general warranty, for and in consideration of ten dollars and other valuable considerations, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, unto the said party of the second part the following personal property, to wit:


All presses, type, engine, office fixtures, printer’s supplies, subscription or mailing list, good will and other attachments and fixtures thereto belonging of the said first party’s printing establishment located and operated in the said town of Manassas, known as “The Manassas Journal Office.”

The said party of the first part covenants that he hath the right to convey the said property unto the said party of the second part, that he hath done no act to encumber the said property, that the said party of the second part shall have quiet possession of the said property, free from all encumbrances, and that he, the said party of the first part, will execute such further assurances of and to the said property as may be requisite.







Witness the following signature and seal








W. H. W. Moran  (SEAL)

Prince William County, to wit:


I L. M. Jones, a notary public for the county aforesaid, in the State of Virginia, do certify that W. H. W. Moran, whose name is signed to the foregoing deed, bearing date of 11th day of May 1908, hath acknowledged the same before me in my said County. I further certify that my commission as a notary public for said county.  Given under my hand this 29 day of May, 1908







L. M. Jones  N.P.

14 August 1909

Eastern College


Whereas the Capital Construction Company, a corporation, by its certain deed bearing date of August, 14th 1909, did grant and convey unto the Eastern College, a corporation, certain property in the Town of Manassas, Prince William County, Virginia, as fully set forth and described in said deed, and,


Whereas, in connection with said property there is a certain sewage system used in its operation, or occupancy, and the drainage field there from spreads over, or is upon, certain other lands, or property, of said Capital Construction Company, which was not conveyed, or included, in said deed, and,


Whereas, it was agreed, orally, that said Eastern College should have the temporary use of the drainage field referred to, but without obtaining thereby any rights of easement or passage over or upon said other property for any length of time other than which should be at the pleasure and wish of said Capital Construction Company.


Therefore, this agreement executed at and before the execution and delivery of the deed aforesaid, witnesseth, that in consideration of the premises, it is further covenanted and agreed that although the sewerage disposal fields, used by the Prince William Hotel property (which is the same conveyed to said Eastern College) are situated on the property of the said Capital Construction Company, that the Eastern College does not by said deed, or this agreement, received any right title, or interest whatsoever, in the said property of the Capital Construction Company adjacent, or just west, of the property conveyed said Eastern College, in which said sewerage disposal fields are located, and furthermore, said Eastern College hereby covenant and agrees, for itself, its successors and assigns, to discontinue the flow of sewerage onto said property of said Capital Construction Company within ninety days upon receiving notice, in writing, to do so, from the said Capital Construction Company, its successors, or assigns.  Witness the following signatures and seals this 13th day of September 1909.







Eastern College by








Irvin F. Marten

12 August 1913

Town of Manassas


Virginia: In the Circuit Court of Prince William County in the State of Virginia, before the judge thereof, In Vacation:


Whereas, a duly certified copy of an ordinance ordained by the Town Council of the Town of Manassas, in the County of Prince William in the State of Virginia, hath this day been presented to me, J. B. T. Thornton, Judge of the Sixteenth Judicial District of Virginia, embracing the town and county aforesaid, in vacation, by P. P. Chapman, Mayor of the said town, setting forth the desire of the said Town to issue its bonds for the sum of seventy-five thousand (75,000.00) dollars, for the purpose of providing the said Town with an adequate water, sewerage and lighting system, and to ascertain the sense of the qualified voters of the said town in respect thereto; and praying that an election be ordered for the purpose of ascertaining the sense of the said qualified voters upon said question, as provided by law.


Therefore, I, J. B. T. Thornton, Judge of the Circuit Court of Prince William County, Virginia, in vacation, and by the authority vested in me as said Judge, by an Act of the General Assembly of Virginia, approved March 13th 1908, and in pursuance of Clause B, of Section 127, of the Constitution of the State of Virginia, doth hereby order as follows:
(1) That an election of the qualified voters of said Town of Manassas be held in the Town Hall of said Town on Tuesday the 12th day of August 1913, for the purpose of submitting to the qualified voters of the said Town the question whether such bonds shall be issued,
(2) That the said election shall be conducted in the manner prescribed by law for the conduct of regular election by the regular election officers of said Town.

(3) That the election shall be by secret ballot and the ballots used shall contain the following: On one line the words: “For Bond Issue”, and on another line the words: “Against Bond Issue”.

(4) That the Town Council of the said Town shall cause to be published for four successive weeks a certified copy of said ordinance, together with the date and place of said election, in any newspaper published in said Town. 
7 June 1920
Village of Quantico

Petition for Incorporation


In the Circuit Court of Prince William County, Virginia: “To the Honorable Samuel G. Brent, Judge of the Circuit Court of said County: Your petitioners, R. F. Persons and others hereto signed, beg leave to set forth the following facts: 


“1 that the undersigned are twenty, or more, electors of the unincorporated town, or thickly settled community, at and within the village of Quantico, on the Potomac River in Dumfries Magisterial District, Prince William County, in the State of Virginia; and,


“2 That the metes and bounds of the said town, or community, are as follows, to wit: Beginning for the same at the intersection of low water line, on Potomac River, with the north line of Potomac Avenue, in said town, as indicated on a plan of said town of record in the clerk’s office for said county; thence westerly along said north line of Potomac Avenue, to an iron pin, which is located 141.10 feet, more or less, east of the east line of lot No. 28 Block No. 4, Section A, on said plan; thence at right angles to the north line of Potomac Avenue, in a straight line in a southerly direction to the center line of Fifth Avenue as shown on said plan; thence in a westerly direction, at right angles, with said last mentioned line, along the center line of Fifth Avenue, to the northerly side of the Washington Southern Railway Company’s right-of –way, or better known as the Richmond Fredericksburg & Potomac Railroad; then in an easterly direction along the said railway’s northerly right-of-way to Little Creek; thence down Little Creek to Potomac River, thence down the Potomac River, with the low water line thereof to the point of beginning, save and excepting therefrom Lot 1 Block 5, Section A of said plan. “That the total number of inhabitants of said town or community, is more than two hundred, to-wit about six hundred and,


3. That the boundary, or area within said boundaries is surrounded by a United States government reservation, used and occupied as a permanent marine post and ship building, or repair plant, except one side thereof which borders on the said Potomac River; that by reason of the uses to which said reservation is put there are situated, or stationed thereon, from one thousand to ten thousand officers, marines, mechanics and laborers, engaged in and about the business of said United States government; that many of said officers, commissioned and non commissioned, (some of whom with their families) reside within the area described in the second paragraph hereof, and all of those located on said reservation, and at times remain for indefinite periods into or on, said boundary described as aforesaid at an average of at least once during each twenty four hours, and in addition thereto there are many visitors to said village there by making a large and usual floating or transient population in said village, or community, which is badly in need of being incorporated into a municipal corporation for police and sanitary regulations, and,

“4 That the general good of said community will be promoted by being incorporated; that the inhabitants of said town, or community exceed two hundred and does not exceed five thousand inhabitants, and that the area of land designed to be embraced within the town is not excessive;

Therefore, your said petitioners pray that said area recited in the second paragraph hereof may be incorporated into a town with all the powers; privileges and duties conferred upon and appertaining to towns, under the general law for such cases made and made and approved. And your petitioners will pray etc;


R. F. Persons

E. H. Hampton

W. H. Grigsby


__ L. Perry

Antonios Portner

Joseph Scelzi


L. Gratz


B. G. Harley

W. L. Beale


W. I. Stanley

W. H. Hammond

Benjamin Purvis


August Dannehl

Burke Blackmer

B. A. Fisher


Luke Blackmer

D. M. McGlyn

R. C. Jones


L. H. Crowder

J. G. Frick

Parris Geo Cokinides


John M. Hines

J. S. Ficklin

C. O. Williams


C. V. Webster

H. R. Pease

Willis E. Collins


Petickles Petrides

E. T. Kelly

V. S. Abel


W. R. Stark

Peter Raftelis

Dan Johnson (Col)


S. L. Clemons

Damon C. Abel

Chester J. Turner


Charles L. Corry Jr.
G. E. McInteer

A. & F. R. R. Co. 117,118, 119

Able, Alexander 98

Abel, Damon C. 130

Able, John H. 98

Able, Levi 98

Abel, V. S. 130

Able, William 9

Adams, Cassius 72,73

Adams, George B. 98

Adams, George T. 41,73

Adams, Robert 20,21

Ahrend, A. 98

Akers, Robert J. 108

Alexander & Reid 8

Alexander, David 65

Alexander, John 25

Alexander, L. G. 65

Alexander, Lawrence G. 65

Alexander, Robert 25,32

Alexander, Sandy 42

Alexander, William E. 25

Alexandria 3

Allen, A. R. 120

Allen, Henry 65

Allen, Levy 8,13

Allen, William 13

Allen, Zach 48,49

Allen, Zechariah 42,48

Allen, W. T. 93

Alsop, William 8

Anderson, Ann 104

Anderson, John 65, 104

Anderson, John B. 103,104

Anderson, Margaret 31

Anderson, William 12,35

Anis, Ann E. R. 95

Appleby, Sally 104

Appleby, William 98

Apprentice Contract 1

Arnold, John 12

Arnold, James 107

Arnold, William 127

Arrington, Alfred 13

Arrington, Thomas 36

Arrington, Washburn 98

Ashford, John 9

Ashford, Michael 14

Ashmore, William 9

Austin, William 65

Baily, Chapin 114

Ball, Alfred 70,80,81

Ball, John 12

Ball, Thomas W. 114

Barnes, Thomas 98

Barron, Henry A. 58,67

Barron, Jesse A. 66

Barron, John 24

Barron, John T. 66

Barron, Thomas 85

Bartlett, Henry 65

Barton, Hugh, G. 72,73,75

Barton, James 73,75

Barton, James G. 45,70,72

Barton, James W. 75

Barton, John T. 72,73,74,75, 76

Barton, Margaret 45,74

Barton, Mary S. 70,71,72,73

Barton, William N. 65

Barton, William U. 59,61,62, 64,65

Barton, William W. 60,63,65, 72,73,74,75,76

Bates, Richard 98

Baxter, William H. 127

Bayly, Chapin 114

Beach, Elijah 98

Beale, W. L. 130

Beavers, J. M. 127

Beavers, Samuel 98

Beavers, William 98

Beckham, John 121

Bell, William 65

Belt, P. 108

“Berea” 70

Berkeley, Alexander 100,101

Berkeley, Carter 100,101

Berkeley, Edmund 100,101

Berkeley, Francis B. 100,101

Berkeley, Kate S. 100,101

Berkeley, Lewis 100,101

Berkeley, Norborne 100,101

Berryman, A. W. 98

Beveridge, John L. 9,11

Bevier, William 108

Birch, Thomas 98

Blackmer, Burke 130

Blackmer, Luke 130

Blacksmith 14

Blakly, John 8

Bland, Benjamin 68,69

Bland, John 48,68,69,81,83

Bland, Robert 98

Blands Ford 18

Blenker, Alfred 65

Bodine, Francis 107

Bohannon, Charity 1

Bot, Capt. 115

Boughhannon, Jas D. 13

Bowen, William 12

Bowers, John 2

Bowers, William 50,51

Bowne, Capt. Thomas 53

Bowne, Elizabeth 53

Bradfield, George B. 103

Bradfield, George F. 66

Bradfield, Redmond F. 103

Bradley Farm 60

Bradlin, Henry 65

Brady, Edwin 107

Brady, Richard 9

Brady, Thomas Jr. 66

Brammille, John 98

Brawner, B. 19,71

Brawner, Basil 17,18,24,70, 71

Brawner, C. H. 127

Brawner, Frederick P. 107

Brawner, George W. 108

Brawner, J. C. 108

Brawner, J. W. 108

Brawner, John 9,11

Brawner, John T. 107

Brawner, L. 89

Brawner, Lucy 89

Brawner, Seth 55,109

Brawner, W. B. 93

Brawner, William 119,127

Brawner, Z. 109

Brawner, Zephemiah 12,109

Brent, Alexander M. 80

Brent, Euphan 35

Brent, George 80

Brent, John H. 34,72

Brent, Samuel G. 129

Brent, Virginia K. 80

Brentsville 15,20,56,59,60,61 63,67,113,117,119

Brentsville Racefields 28

Brentsville Tavern 6,56,59,60 61

Brentsville Town 6,36,37,50, 51,52,59,60,61,63,110,111

Brentsville Township 119

Briddle, Peyton 98

Bridwell, Albert 127

Bridwell, Haywood 127

Bridwell, J. E. 127

Brissey, Isaac B.E. 98

Bristoe Station 109

Broad Run 60

Brooke, E. 4,5

Brooke, Edmund 4,5,6,16

Brooke, Mr. 4

Brooke, Robert 4

Brown, Jack 4

Brown, John 67

Brown, John C. 67

Brown, Margery 12

Brown, Robert T. 10

Brown, Thomas 53,65

Browning, S. S. 75

Browning, Sarah S. 75

Browning, W. W. 74

Browning, William 73

Browning, William W. 45,72, 73,74,75

Bryant, William 9,12

Buchanan, James D. 59

Buck Hall 96

Buckley, Albert 109

Buckley, Thomas 109

Buckley, Thomas W. 116

Buckner, Aris 55

Buford, William 100

Bull Run 55

Burgess, Addison 108

Burgess, John 108

Burgess, Moses 108

Burke, Blackmer 

Burke, Edmund 

Bush, David 65

Bushy Branch 96

Bussard, Daniel 5

Butler, L. B. 108

Butler, Lews B. 93

Butler, Silas 109

Butler, William 55

Butters Ford 56

Byrd, Thomas 98

Byrne, Darby B. 16

Byrne, Hugh J. 16

Byrne, Julia 16

Byrne, Loid 67

Byrne, Lydia E. 16

Calvert, Francis 107

Calvert, Henry 48,49,65

Calvert, Jesse 65

Calvert, Mary 106

Calvert, Obed. & son 98

Calvert, Rhodam 98

Calvert, William 9,65

Campbell, David Esq. 38,43, 44,47,57

Campbell, H. R. 47

Canby, Major Gen. 116

Canby, Thomas Y. 18,19,22

Cannon, John B. 22

Cannon, Luke 9

Cannon, Thomas 8,84

Capital Construction 

Carborough 67

Carborough 3

Carney, William 98

Carr, Daniel 83

Carrico, Harrison 65,108

Carrico, John R. 66

Carrico, Thomas 65

Carrico, W. F. 127

Carter, A. J. 127

Carter, Bernard 66

Carter, C. S. 20

Carter, Charles S. 20

Carter, Daniel 8

Carter, Edwin 79,107

Carter, Edward 125

Carter, George F. 109

Carter, J. H. Jr. 108

Carter, James 127

Carter, James P. 13,16

Carter, John 9,12,87,98

Carter, L. 108

Carter, Mr. 20

Carter, Landon 28,29,30

Carter, Loyd 37,98

Carter, Thomas N. 95,96

Carter, W. 29

Carter, William A. 80,81

Carter, William B. 56

Carter, Wormley 28,29,30

Caton, James R.

Cash, Katy 7

Caziarc, Louis V. 116,117

Cedar Run 9,13

Chancellor, Andrew 34

Chancery 6,25,33,34,35,41, 45,49,58,59,60,61,63,64,71, 72,73,82,84,89,95,116

Chapman, Charles T. 2

Chapman, Henry 98

Chapman, John 108

Chapman, Martha 9

Chapman, P. P. 128

Chappawamsic Neck 57

Chappelle, Nathan L. 124, 125

Cheshire, Cloe 32

Cheshire, Elihu 127

Cheshire, John 98

Cheshire, Susan 32

Chesnut Lick 55

Chew, J. J. 104

Chew, John 8

Chick, John 98

Chick, William 13

Chilton, J. 70

Chilton, Hon. S. 70

Chinn, B. T. 107

Chinn, Benjamin T. 107

Chinn, Charles E. 127

Chinn, John 122

Cleary & Company 7,8,17, 118

Cleary, M. sheriff 26,27,30 32

Cleary, Michael 9,27

Cleary, William 7,8,17,118

Clemons, James 65

Clemons, S. L. 130

Clifford, George W. 52,66, 100

Clifford, Mr. 52

“Cloverland” 124

Coal Mine 2

Cockrell, G. H. 48,107

Cockrell, George 83

Cockrell, George H. 48

Cockrell, Mr. 107

Cockrell, William 32,57

Coe, Edward 65

Cogan, Thomas 98

Cogan, William 65

Cokinides, Paris G. 130

Cole, Alexander 8

Cole, Basil 8,111

Cole, Benjamin 11,12

Cole, Daniel 14,22,23

Cole, John 53

Cole, Joseph 98

Cole, L. 111,112,113,114

Cole, Lawrence 111

Cole, Mary 53

Cole, Mary Francis 17

Cole, Richard H. 14,22,23

Cole, W. 106

Cole, William 98

Coleman, Richard 30

Collier, James J. 39

Collins, Willis E. 130

Collis, Hezekiah 38,65

Collis, Thomas 65

Colquhoun, W. S. 48,49,57

Combs, George 98

Comstock, Orville 122

Conner, E. R. 126

Conrad, Matthew 107

Cooke, G. 2

Coon, Michael 8

Cooper, Henry 66

Cooper, Joseph 98

Cooper, R. 127

Corbett, J. 84

Cornell, E. M. 126

Corry, Charles L. Jr. 130

Cornwell, Charles 69,70,93

Cornwell, Harrison 8,27,87

Cornwell, Harrison Jr. 27

Cornwell, Henry of Sam 98

Cornwell, James C. 98

Cornwell, Jas of Obid 98

Cornwell, John H. 98

Cornwell, Montreville 87,98

Cornwell, Sally 69,70

Cornwell, Samuel 98

Cornwell, Sandy 98

Coulter, John 41,98

Coulter, Peter 41

Coulter, Susan 41

County Levy 8

Cowles, Mr. 6

Creel, David 65

Creel, William 65

Crigler, Benjamin 98

Crismer, John 67

Crismer, John Jr. 67

Croson, Jas H. 65

Croson, John 65

Cross, Benjamin 65

Cross, John P. 127

Crouch, Elias 127

Crowder, L. H. 130

Cundiff, John Y. 107

Cundiff, William P. 22,44

Curl, Joseph 110,111

Curtis, Charles 65

Cushing, C. C. 22,109

Cushing, Crawford 107,121

Dade, Judge 4

Dade, W. B. 17

Dade, Thomas 65

Dade, William A. P. 28

Daily, Thomas 38

Dalton, James 1

Dangerfield, John 6

Dannehl, August 130

Davis, Benjamin 98

Davis, Charles W. 120

Davis, Dr.

Davis, Francis C. 111

Davis, George 41

Davis, Hortense 127

Davis, Hugh C. 39,40

Davis, Hugh M. 93,94

Davis, Hugh W. 19,56

Davis, Isaac W. 94,95,98

Davis, Jeremiah 98

Davis, Jesse W. 9,11

Davis, John 34,41

Davis, John L. 107

Davis, Lucien A. 118,119, 122

Davis, Martin 39,40

Davis, Pembrooke 110

Davis, Presley 67

Davis, Richard 12,19

Davis, Richard G. 39

Davis, Roy L. 107

Davis, Samuel T. 65

Davis, Sarah B. 19,20,39,41, 56,67

Davis, Sarah Frances 94,95

Davis, Susan 41

Davis, Thomas dep. sheriff 109

Davis, Thomas A. 93

Davis, Thomas K. 67,68,89

Davis, Travers 16

Davis, W. W. 111

Davis, William of Hugh 98

Davis, William W. 110

Dawe, P. D. 1,2,3,5,11,14

Dawe, Phillip D. 5,8,11

Dawson, William 65

Dean, Benjamin 3

Dean, Denisey 83

Dean, Samuel 3

Deakins, J. T. 4

Deats, C. S. 127

Deavers, John 2

Delaplane, Thomas 108

Deneale, James 1

Dennis, James B. 55

Dennis, Peyton 98

Dent, Allen 65

Dent, George 98

Dickenson, John 57

Dickinson, William 13,65

District of Columbia 4,5

Divine Service 19

Doe, John 28,34

Dogan, John D. 22,88,90,99, 100

Donohoe, George 99,100,109

Doughty, Abraham 107

Douglass, G. A. 108

Douglass, George A. 107

Dowell, Jerry 8

Dowell, James 25

Dowell, W. D. 105,107

Dowell, Wm. D. 104,105,106 107

Downs, George 65

Downs, William h. 127

Draney, James G. 110

Drummonds, James 10

Drummond, Mary 33

Duggan, Edmund 39

Dumfries 2,3,67,105

Dumfries Road 67,71,72

Dumfries Town 2,21,105,106 107

Dunnington, Anna 1

Dunsford, Rachel 1

Duvall, John Q. A. 98

Dye, Mrs. 12

Eastern College 128

Edgan, Samuel A. 65

Edmunds, Daniel 108

Edmunds, James 47

“Ellen Vale” 5

Ellicott, W. L. 127

Ellis, Caroline 86

Ellis, Edward 65

Ellis, John 22,23,65

Ellis, Joseph 22,23,26,86

Ellis, William 86

Evans, Arrington 8

Evans, J. A. 52

Evans, James A. 56,59,60,61, 62,63,64,65

Evans, Mr. 51,52

Evans, Redwood 1

Evans, Samuel 112

Evans, William T. 108

Ewell, Charles 2,3

Ewell, Charlotte 2

Ewell, J. 55

Ewell, James B. 2

Ewell, Jesse 2,11,19,38,55,68 99,100

Ewell, Jesse Jr. 2,55

Ewell, Jesse (sheriff) 17,18, 19,20,21,22

Ewell, Sarah 1,2

Ewell, Thomas 2

Ewell, Thomas B. 65

Ewell, Thomas W. 2

Fairfax 3,28,29,30,42,43,95

Fairfax, A. S. 127

Fairfax, Henry 11

Fairfax, J. W. 127

Fairfax, John T. 8

Fairfax, R. A.

Fairfax Station 

Falmouth 72

Farrow, Amanda M. 45

Farrow, B. 20,62

Farrow, Benjamin 45,62

Farrow, George A. 38,45,61, 62,70,71,72,73,74,76

Farrow, James 73

Farrow, John P. 45,72,73,74

Farrow, Joseph S. 72,73,74

Farrow, Louisa 45

Farrow, Lucy 45,46,72,73,74 75,76,77

Farrow, Margaret 45

Farrow, Mildred 45

Farrow, Sarah 45

Farrow, T. M. 41,52,67,75,76

Farrow, Thomas 72

Farrow, Thomas A. 45

Farrow, Thomas M. 61,62,70, 71,72,73,74,75,76,77

Fauquier 3

Ferguson, John H. 46

Feushel, August H. 123

Fewell, Col. 61

Fewell, J. 62

Fewell, James 9,10,13,23,25, 41,59,61,62,63

Fewell, James & Co. 10

Fewell, Lucien N. 119

Fewell, Mr. 52

Fewell, Sarah C. 119

Fewell, Thomas T. 111

Fewell, William 52

Fewell, William S. 32,33,51

Ficklin, J. S. 130

Fierer, Charles 54

Fisher, B. A. 130

Fisher, Isaiah 106

Fisher, Samuel 8,13

Fisher, Samuel H. 9

Fitzhugh, Edward D. 12

Fitzhugh, Jno 7,8,52

Fitzhugh, Norman R. 17

Fitzhugh, Thomas 72

Fitzhugh, William H. 12

Flaherty, H. J. 66

Flaherty, James 103

Flaherty, James T. 103

Flaherty, John 65

Flaherty, Mary 103

Flaherty, Michael 65,103

Fletcher, Fanny 44,45

Florence, George 65

Florence, James 12

Florence, M. A. 127

Florence, Rowland 22

Florence, William 98

Floyd, John 19

Floyed, John esq. 13

Foley, Cassius 107,108

Foley, R. A. 127

Foley, Willis 108

Foote vs Grigsby 6

Foote, F. 92,108

Foote, Frederick 92,121

Foote, Frederick Jr. 92

Foote, Jane E. 92

Foote, Mr. 7

Foote, R. 7

Foote, Richard 6,7,13

Foote, William P. 92

Fortune, Thomas 11

Foster – Sheriff 32,33,34

Foster, James 6,32,33

Foster, Margaret 93

Foster, R. 24,44

Foster, Redmon 24,70,93,113

Foster, Silas 6

Fox, George K. Jr. 114

Fox, Jack 46

Fox, John 38,41

Fox, Joseph 98

Fox, Louisa 82

Fox, T. M. 127

Francis, Joe 41

Francis, Joseph a. 108

Francis, Lewis 41

Franklin, David 65

Franklin, William 65

Free – boy of color 54

Free – girl 112

Free – Mulatto 44

Free – Negro 42,43,44,48, 104

Free – papers 106

Free – person of color 31,32

Free – woman of color 44,45

Freeholders 21,41,117,119, 126

Frederick Town 4,5

Fredericksburg Court 6

French, Mason 15

French, William T. 51

Frick, J. G. 130

Fuchsel, A. H. 117,118

Funk, H. S.

Gaines, E. 110,112

Gaines, Edwin 103,104,109

Gaines, James 66

Gaines, Thomas 89,108

Gaines, Thomas B. 10,26,38, 89,104,109

Gainesville 121

Gallahorn, Jefferson 53

Gant, William 66

Garner, Thomas 98

Garrett, Eliza 6

Garrison, William 66,95

Garrison, William S. 95

Gaskins, James 120

Gaskins, James H. 120

Gaskins, Sarah 120

General Assembly 3

Georgetown 4,5,39

Getty, James S. 5

Gibson, John 9,31,49,51,53

Gibson, John Jr. 3,7,8,11,12, 18

Gill, John J. 66

Glascock, Alfred 80

Godfrey, Alexander 107

Godfrey, Charles 123

Godfrey, Joseph 127

Godfrey, Lee 66

Godfrey, Mary 32,33

Golden, Harrison 9

Goodwin, Ann F. 111

Goodwin, Charles 98

Goodwin, John 24,56,57

Goodwin, Thomas 56,57

Goodwin, Thomas A. Sr. 66

Goodwin, William E. 57,103, 104,111,114,115

Goose Run 67

Gordon, Alexander 26,27

Goslin, Sandy 66

Graham, Robert 1

Graham, Huriah 23,24

Graham, James D. 48

Graham, R. R. 108

Graham, Richard 108

Graham, Robert R. 109

Grand Jury 15,18,19,20,22,28 32,37,38,41,42,47,54,57,58, 95,96,104

Gratz, L. 130

Gray, J. H. 127

Gray, John 61,62,63,93

Gray, John Dr. 62

Gray, Margaret 127

Gray, Susan A. 

Gray, Thomas 66

Grayson, J. B. 101,102

Grayson, James 104,105,106, 107

Grayson, John B. 101,102

Green, George 98

Griffin, Samuel

Griffin, William 57

Griffis, Jesse 66

Griffis, William 95

Griffith, John W. 127

Grigsby, Aaron 6,7

Grigsby, Alexander S. 71,72

Grigsby, Balis 9,71,72

Grigsby, John Jr. 7

Grigsby, Spotswood 20

Grigsby, W. H. 129

Grimes, G. W. 127

Groves, Bernard 72

Gwatkins, James 13,39

Gwatkins, Miss 38

Haise, Francis H. 1,2

Haise, Sally E. 1,2

Haise, Sarah E. 1

Haise, William H. 1

Haislip, Anna 10

Haislip, Benoni E. 78,92,97

Haislip, Enoch 93,94

Haislip, Eveline 11

Haislip, Frank 122

Haislip, H. C. 108,112

Haislip, Harriet 11

Haislip, Henry 11

Haislip, Henry C. 89

Haislip, James N. 127

Haislip, Jane R. 40

Haislip, John 98

Haislip, John A. 97

Haislip, N. 10

Haislip, Nathan 10

Haislip, Richard 98

Haislip, Sam C. 11

Haislip, Sampson 98

Haislip, Samuel 11,108

Haislip, Thomas 98

Hall, L. D. 127

Hall, Mary 86

Hall, William T. 66

Halley, James M. 93

Hamilton, B. 11

Hamilton, Edward A. 68

Hamilton, Edward Allen 80

Hamilton, Edwin 10

Hamilton, John 42

Hamilton, Mary E. 68

Hamilton, Mary Eliza 80

Hamilton, R. 14

Hamilton, Richard H. 68

Hamilton, Richard Henry 80

Hamilton, Robert 21,26,28,29 30,68

Hamilton, Robert W. 68

Hamilton, T. 22

Hammill, Hugh 117,118

Hammill, John 11

Hammond, W. H. 130

Hampton, E. H. 129

Hampton, Francis 9

Hancock, Corbin F. 109

Harding, Allen 66

Harding, Levi 47

Harley, B. G. 130

Harover, H. C. 127

Harris, Cuthbert 15

Harris, James 66

Harris, John 98

Harris, Mary S. 12

Harris, Richard T. 8

Harris, William 98

Harrison, B. E. 40,78,92,97, 107,114

Harrison, G. W. 127

Harrison, Mary 12

Harrison, Mary S. 13

Harrison, Richard T. 8

Harrison, William A. 12

Harrover, H. C. 

Hartwell, C. A. 116

Hayes, James B. 56,61

Haymarket 14,22,23,26,109

Heath, Charles 108

Heath, Charley 109

Heath, John 53

Heath, John F. 109

Heath, Mary A. M. 2

Hedges, Phillip D. 98

Hefflin, James 46

Henderson, Edward 98

Henry, John 21

Henry, John Puller 47

Henry, Judith 21

Henry, Mrs 2

Hereford, T. P. 108

Herley, Washington 66

Herring, William A. 127

Hews, Kitty L. 54

Hickey, Elizabeth 42

Hickey, James 42

Hickey, James N. 15

Hide, Charles K. 66

Hill, George 12

Hines, John M.130

Hoard, Robert 9

Hodgkin, Robert 107

Hoff, Thomas 8

Holland, Henry 127

Holland, R. W. 127

Holmes, Fountain 23,24

Holmes, L. F. 127

Holmes, M. C. 127

Hooe, Alfred 49

Hooe, Alfred T. 49

Hooe, B. 15,31

Hooe, Bernard 9,71

Hooe, Dade Jr. 96

Hooe, Edgar 49

Hooe, Edward 61

Hooe, F. T. 61,62,65

Hooe, Francis T. 50,59,60,61, 62,63,64,66

Hooe, Francis Townshend 49

Hooe, Horace 49

Hooe, Howson 49,50,109

Hooe, James 49,50

Hooe, James T. 49

Hooe, John 34

Hooe, John Jr. 14, 31

Hooe, Richard 59,61,62,63

Hooe, Thomas B. 53

Hooe, Thomas P. 26

Hoof, Thomas 25

Hoof, William 66

Horner, William 3

House – Burning 44,45

House – Court 3,5,14,15,17, 18,19,20,21,25,26,27,28,29, 30,31,32,34,35,36,37,38,39, 40,41,42,43,44,48,57,58,59, 62,64,72,73,95,96,109,110, 124

House – Disorderly 31,47

House – Dwelling 20,27,125

House – Mansion 16

House – Meeting 19,35,47

House – Servant 33

House, Harriet 11

House, Michael 11,89

House, Nathaniel 108

Howard House Hotel 126

Howison, A. 75,90

Howison, Ann E. 90

Howison, Alexander 38,59, 60,61

Howison, Allen 12,22,38,73, 90,113,114

Howison, C. G. 118

Howison, Charles G. 56,58, 79,102,110,117,118

Howison, E. 38

Howison, Edwin 38,55,56

Howison, James 22,72,73,74 76,77

Howison, John W. 9

Howison, Mary Jane 90

Howly, Richard 108

Hooe, Martha Jane 90

Howison, Robert T. 22,44,90

Howison, Stephen L. 33

Hughes, Margaret D. 46

Hughes, Thomas 46

Hulfish, Garrett 108

Hulfish, George A. 116

Hunter, Nathaniel 3

Hutchins, Henry C. 79

Hutchins, Stenard A. 79

Hunton, C. W. 108

Hunton, Charles 6,7,11,80

Hunton, Eppa 79,80,101,124

Hunton, James J. 80

Hunton, Mr. 6

Hunton, Silas B. 80

Hutchison, Beverly 14

Hutchison, William 9

Hyde, R. A. 120

Hynson, R. S. 126

Jackson, Alexander 66

Jackson, Anthony 66

Jackson, George W. 9

Jackson, Henry 66

Jackson, James S. 15

Jackson, John F. 16,34

Jackson, Robert 66

Jackson, William P. 26,27

Jail 8,11,13,15,18,20,23,25 43,45,47,50,51,52,100,104, 106,107,115,123

Jail Bricks 23

Jail Repair 23

Janney, Charles P. 114

Janney, S. H. 39

Janney, Samuel H. 42,43,44

Janney’s Lot 85

Jansen, Benjamin G. 53

Jansen, Elizabeth 53

Jansen, George 53

Jansen, Helen M. 53

Jansen, Mary S. 53

Jansen, Thomas B. 53

Jefferson County 4

Jeffersonian 59

Jenkins, Charles T. 127

Jenkins, J. W. 127

Jewell, Fielding 11,98

Jewell, Silas 98

Johns, George 98

Johns, Zach 98

Johnson, B. 45

Johnson, Benjamin 44,54,70,

91,94

Johnson, Dan 130

Johnson, David B. 66

Johnson, George W. 127

Johnson, John 98

Johnson, Joseph 8,12,22

Johnson, Robert 98

Johnson, Rutt 9,12,22

Jones, H. M. 95

Jones, Henry M. 95

Jones, John 46

Jones, L. M. 128

Jones, Peter 95

Jones, R. C. 130

Jones, William 98,122

Jones, William L. 67

Kankey, Z. A. 83

Kean, George 66

Kelly, E. T. 130

Kendall, Thornton 98

Kennedy, Joseph 66

Kerr, James D. 17

Kettle Run 59,109

Keys, Alexander 11,12

Keys, H. A. 127

Keys, Henry 9,11

Keys, John H. 19

Keyes, John H. 19

Keys, Peyton 123

Keys, R. H. 122

Keys, Sherwood C. 123

Keys, Thomas 57

Kees, Walter 8

Keys, Walter 12

Kid, Jonathan 66

Kincheloe, Cornelius 42

Kincheloe, Daniel 42

Kincheloe, E. T. 127

Kincheloe, H. 93

Kincheloe, Hector 93

Kincheloe, James 42

Kincheloe, John 42

Kincheloe, Mary 42

Kincheloe, Patrick 98

King, Ann 69

King, Bernard 69

King, Craven 66

King, Daniel 66,69

King, Elias 33

King, Elizabeth 2

King, Hiram 53

King, James R. 122

King, John A. 111

King, Robert A. 9

King, Walter 9

Kohn, Michael 11

Knight, George T. 108

Knight, William 66

Lanum, A. E. S.

Lanum, E. C.

Larkin, Daniel 16,22

Larkin, Francis D. 66

Larkin, George W. 14

Larkin, H. D. 36,37

Larkin, Henry D. 36,37

Larkin, John F. 14

Larkin, Julia 14

Larkin, Thomas 16,57

Larkin, William 14,22,26

Latham, James B. 66

Latham, Robert 13

Latham, Robert F. 108

Latimer, Samuel 12,24,57

Law, Joseph 66

Leachman, J. 127

Leachman, J. T.

Leachman, John T. 121

Leachman, Mr. 4

Leachman, R. 23

Leachman, Robert C. 38 ,40 90 94

Leachman, Thomas 4

Ledman, Garrett 66

Ledman, Wesley 127

Lee, Cirus 66

Lee, David 66

Lee, E. F. Miss 99

Lee, Elizabeth 1

Lee, Godfrey 66

Lee, Henry D. 66

Lee, S. C. 115

Lee, S. P. 116

Leeds Manor 46

Legg, James 3

Lewis, Benjamin F. 93

Lewis, Francis M. 22,54,92, 107

Lewis, H. M. 80

Lewis, Henry 92

Lewis, Henry M. 80

Lewis, Jack 41

Lewis, Robert M. 108

Lewis, S. 99

Lewis, Samuel C. 8

Lewis, Searles 92

Lewis, William M. 22

Limbrick, William 53,98

Linton, Sally 48

Linton, Sarah 48

Lipscomb, P. D. 2,68,72,73 75,82,93,95,106,107,109,110 112

Lipscomb, Phillip D. 67,68, 79,95,109,110

Lipscomb, R. 20,23

Lipscomb, Robert 8,11,12,15 23,98

Lipscomb, W. N. 124

Littleton, John 66

Livermore & Company 59

Love, Henry 83,84,104,105, 107

Love, L. H. 127

Loveless, John 98

Lowe, S. R. 122

Lowe, Samuel r. 123

Lucas, Charlotte 66

Lucas, Samuel 44

Luck, Andrew 3

Luckett, Elizabeth 67

Luckett, John 3

Lynn, A. P. 42,98,123

Lynn, Alexander P. 87

Lynn, Benson 9,12

Lynn, h. h. 123,124

Lynn, Isaac N. 104

Lynn, L. F. 112

Lynn, L. O. 123,124

Lynn, Mortimer 107

Lynn, S. 84

Lynn, Seymour 13,84,87

Lynn, William 8,12,99

Lynn’s Shop 18

Macrae, G. W. 10,28

Macrae, George W. 9,12,34, 35,36,66

Macrae, James F. 10

Macrae, James W. F. 10

Macrae, John 2,13,108

Maddox, John 27,28

Maddox, Lawson 66

Madison, Jonathan 66

Manassas 123,127

Manassas Branch 

Manassas Gap R. R. 99

Manassas Journal 127

Manassas Road 119

Manassas Station 119

Manassas Town 126,128,129

Manassas Village 119

Manuel, Charles 46,47

Manuel, Frank 9

Manuel, Perry B. 66

Marshall, Charles 46,47

Marshall, Henry 8

Marshall, Robert 9

Marsteller, Cyrus C. 108,109

Marten, Irvin F. 128

Martin, Charity 1

Martin, Elias B. 58,59

Martin, James 58,59,66

Martyn, Samuel 123

Maryland 3

Mason, Flora 11

Mason, James 66,109

Mason, John 25,66

Mason, Margaret 25

Mason, Thomas 25

Matthews, William F. 36,37

Mayhew, Hampton 98

McCanalis Tavern 4,5

McClanahan 82

McClelland, Harriet F. 97

McClelland, John F. 97

McClend, Samuel 66

McCormick, Thomas 108

McCuin, Levi 66

McCuin, Mary 3

McCuin, Thomas 67

McDonald, Amos

McDonald, Carrie 

McDonald, E. E.

McDonald, Ernest E.

McDonald, Mr.

McDonald, Mrs.

McDonough, James 108

McDuffee, Elizabeth 20

McEwing, Charles 98

McEwing, Edward 99

McEwing, James 99

McEwing, William 99

McGlyn, D. M. 130

McInteer, G. E. 130

McIntosh, James 66

McIntosh, Jesse 12,13

McIntosh, William L. 107

McIntuff, H. C. 127

McKenzie, Lewis 112,113

McMullin, A. J. 108,109

McMullin, Alexander J. 109

McNash, Mr. 6

McPherson, J. D. 121

Meaks, Isaac 66

Melis, Francis W. 24

Melvin, Lewis 54

Menifee, B. S. 26,27

Menifee, Banks S. 26,27

Merchant, Catherine 47

Merchant, Robert B. 84

Merchant, W. Charles 83,105 112

Merchant, William C. 8

Merchant, William H. A. 105 106

Meredith, E. E. 123,126

Meredith, W. P. 126

Michael, Richard t. 8

Millam, George 29

Miller, William

Millford Mills 72

Milstead, Henley 27

Milstead, John 12,107

Milton, James 108

Ming, Charles 6,25,55,56,67

Ming, Mr. 7

Minor, Gilbert S. 68,78,82,99

Mississippi 39

Mitchell, Alfred 25

Mitchell, Bernard 25

Mitchell, Henry 48,49

Mitchell, James 3

Mitchell, Jane 25

Mitchell, Letty 25

Mitchell, Maria 25

Mitchell, Sandy 25

Mitchell, William 25

Mitchell, Winney 25

Miznegt, Henry 66

Molair, George W. 106

Molair, H. 107

Molair, Hebron 27

Molair, Thomas 27

Money, Armistead 98

Monroe, Thomas 12,39

Monroe, Thomas M. 72

Monroe, William W. 71,72

Mooney, G. T. 127

Moore, Benjamin C. 66

Moran, W. H. W. 127,128

Morgan, Alexander 8,48,49

Moss, Keland 53

Moss, W. 29,30

Moss, William 29,30

Murdock, Rhoda 12

Murdock, Rhody 9

Murphy, Alfred 12

Murphy, Hedgeman 9,13

Murphy, Larkin 12

Murphy, Michael 8

Murphy, Susan 68,69

Murphy, William C. 17

Murray, John 20,21

Muschett, Frederick 20

Nalls, E. B. 108

Nalls, J. W. 127

Nash, Travers C. 10

Negro – Free 43

Negro Eliza 15

Negro Jack Fox 46

Negro Hailey 46

Negro Boy Alexander 75

Negro Boy David 14

Negro Girl Vina 46

Negro Man Arch 32

Negro Man Ben 1

Negro Man Billy 25

Negro Man Charles 15

Negro Man James Smith 92, 43,44

Negro Man Landon 50,51,52

Negro Quarters 48

Negro Slave Price Russell 43

Negro’s of Haislip 10

Negro’s of Renoe 37

Negroes 40,89

Negroes emancipated 108

Negroes-Free 40,104

Nelson, E. 118

Nelson, Edwin 117,118

Nelson, James 98

Nelson, Peter 11

Nelson, Sally 11

Nelson, Thomas 6,13,17,33, 35,42,67

Nelson, Tom 11

New Brentown 19

Newman vs Brooke 6

Newman, Albert 10,21,28

Newman, Burkitt 22

Newman, Capt 4,5

Newman, Edmund 8,109

Newman, Euginia E. 97

Newman, H. 108

Newman, Horace N. 66

Newman, James E. 66

Newman, James P. 97

Newman, Pheobe C. 97

Newman, Richard 4,5

Newman, T. 6

Newman, Thomas 4,5,6

Newport 3

Nicholas, B. 12

Nicholas, Gustavous 87

Nicol, A. 119

Nicol, Aylett 82

Nicol, C. E.

Nicol, Mr. 94

Noris, Hortense 98

Norman, C. E. 86

Norman, John B. 

Norman, Thomas

Norvill, L. B. 109

Norvill, Lucien B. 107,109

Norvill, P. 14,54,61

Norvill, Peyton 25,37,54,60, 73

Norvill, W. H. 40,53,54,57

Norvill, Washington H. 40,53

O & A. R. R. Co. 93,102

Occoquan 3,20,67,72,98,109 122

Occoquan Town 42,56,85

Old Alexandria Road 55

Osmun, Joseph 110

Otterback, Sarah 117,119

Overseer of Poor 17,32,33,54 106,112

Overseer of Road 12

Owens, Alexander W. 66

Page, C. T. 73,74,77

Page, Carr T. 45,72,73,74,75 76,77

Page, Lucy Mildred 72

“Pageland” 26

Page Land Mill 55,109

Parker, J. A. 70

Parker, Thomas 83

Patterson, George 66

Patterson, Jesse 98

Patterson, Thomas H.

Payne, Ann M. 79

Payne, Benjamin 66

Payne, Francis 66

Payne, James 108

Payne, John 79

Payne, John M. 98

Payne, Louisa 72

Payne, M. L. 74,77

Payne, Mary L. 73,76,77

Payne, Mary Louise 73

Payne, Richard 98

Payne, Sanford 66

Payne, Silas 66

Payne, William W. 45,72,73, 74,77

Peake, H. 29

Peake, Humphrey 28,29,30

Pearson, Cumberland 82,98

Pearson, Northumberland 98

Pease, H. R. 130

Pendleton, William M. 127

Perry, Marshall B. 66

Persons, R. F. 129

Petrides, Petickles 130

Pettitt, I. J. 127

Petty, John W. 56

Petty, Thomas 56

Petty, William 2

Pickett, A. 70

Pickett, Asa 78,81

Pickett, Ann E. 78,81

Pickett, Louisa J. 68,78,81,82 99

Pickett, Sanford W. 99,100

Pierson, R. A. 127

Plummer, Benjamin 8,9

Porter, Mary E. 127

Portner, Antonios 129

Posey, Charles H. 98

Posey, Thomas L. 98

Potomac 15,67

Potomac Avenue 129

Potomac River 129

Powell, Jas M. 66

Powell, William F. 85

Powell’s Run 83

Powers, Mary T. 53

Powers, Thomas 53

Presbyterian Church 2

Pridmore, Benjamin 8,12,22

Pridmore, Benjamin H. 84

Pridmore, John D. 91,94

Pridmore, Martha A. 91

Pridmore, Mary D. 99

Pridmore, Sarah C. 91,92

Prince William Hotel 128

Purcell, James 12,14,23,24 44,52,60

Purcell, John H. 66

Purcell, Mr. 51

Purcell, R. 115

Purcell, William F. 27,49,54, 59,60

Purcell, William G. 56

Purvis, Benjamin 130

Quantico 57,67

Quantico Creek 118

Quantico Village 129

Raftelis, Peter 130

Ralls, Moses 1

Ralls, W. H. 127

Rainey, W. A. 127

Raney, Samuel 66

Rannie, David 98

Ransdell, James W. 27

Ratcliffe, Charles 30

Ratcliffe, Daniel 54

Ratcliffe, John 17

Ratcliffe, John A. 8,17

Ratcliffe, Quinton 66

Rector, Nancy 107

Rector, William 66

Redmon, Elisha 98

Redmon, George 99

Redmon, Levi 98

Reeves, Courtney 58

Reaves, Hezekiah 82

Reeves, Hezekiah 99

Reeves, James 12

Reaves, Jonathan 10

Reeves, Thomas 98

Reeves, William 98

Reeds, Ann 1

Reid, Catherine 127

Reid, J. F. Mrs. 52

Reid, J. H. 9,41,107

Reid, J. W. 62

Reeves, James 8,18,19

Reid, James H. 8,17,20,24,25 41,59,61,62,63,69,102

Reid, John 16

Reid, John F. 69

Reid, Joseph B. 111

Reid, Mary 13

Reid, Wilberforce 69

Renoe, Chapman 45

Renoe, Elzy 98

Renoe, George N. B. 36,37

Renoe, Madden 99

Renoe, P. D. 37

Renoe, Penelope D. 37

Renoe, Phillip D. 37

Rennoe, R. O. 127

Renoe, Scarlet 23,25

Renoe, Strother 25,104

Renoe, William 98

Rev. War Soldier 36

Richmond 3,20,47,112,113, 114,115,116,117,127

Ridgely, Loid 66

Rig, Townley 110

Riley, Jonathan 13,14,22,23

Riley, John 22

Riley, John W. 127

Riley, Joshua 13,14,22,23

Rison, William 48

Roach, Thomas C. 66

Roach, Thomas P. 66

Roach, Westwood 66

Roach, William 80

Roberts, G. R. 117

Robertson, Bailey 107

Robertson, Jakin 66

Robertson, William 66

Robey, William 3

Robinson, Daniel S. 127

Robinson, F. 99

Robinson, Francis 25

Robinson, George 25

Robinson, Margaret 25

Robinson, Priscilla 25

Robinson, Sanford 66

Robinson, Susan A. 127

Roche, John 126

Roe, Richard 28,34

Rollins, George W. 127

Rolls, Jacob 54

Rollins, Robert 98

Rolls, Thomas 54

Rose, William 55

Roseberry, John M. 110

Ross, Thomas 66

Rotrie, John 66

Round, George C. 119

Rubbleman, John G. 11

Russell, Manassa 15,53,69,70 98

Russell, Price 42,43,44

Rust, Sy B. 66

Safford, Charles 111

Sampson, Jesse 42,43

Sanders, John 6

Saunders, A. H. 59,86

Saunders, Hubbard 25

Saunders, J. 5

Saunders, James P. 66

Saunders, John 4,5,6

Saunders, Leonard 25

Saunders, Letty 25

Saunders, Mr. 5

Saunders, Martin 25

Saunders, Mathais 25

Saunders, Matthew 25

Saunders, Nancy 25

Saunders, Peggy 25

Saunders, Priscilla 25

Saunders, Richard 4

Saunders, Simmey 25

Saunders, W. H. 86

Saunders, Winney 25

Savage, Elizabeth 33,34,35, 36

Savage, Henry 33

Savage, James 9,11,33,34

Savage, Joseph M. 35,36

Savage, James 9,11,33,34

Savage, Susan 33

Savage, Thomas 33

Scelzi, Joseph 129

Scott, Christopher H. 96

Scott, David Wilson 3

Scott, James 99

Scott, John 64

Scott, John W. 96

Scott, William 3

Seip, Henry S. 110

Selecman, Henry D. 18

Shackleford, George 66

Shackleford, James 66

Shanklin, Isaac 3

Shaw, Alexander 8

Shaw, Capt. 4

Shaw, Eleanor 56

Shaw, M. A. M. 59

Shaw, Mary A. M. 59,60,61 63

Shaw, Mr. 4

Shaw, T. 34

Shaw, Thomas 62

Shaw, Thomas J. 26,3059,61. 62,63

Shaw’s Tavern 61

Sheriff 3,8,9,11,14,16,17,18 19,20,21,25,26,28,30,31,32 34,37,41,43,47,49,52,57,58 72,82,96,109,110

Sheriff – Alexander 65

Sheriff – Cleary 26,27,32

Sheriff – Ewell 3,17,18,19,20 21

Sheriff – Fairfax Co. 28,29, 95

Sheriff – Foster 32,33,34

Sheriff – Fox 38,41

Sheriff – Frederick Co. 39

Sheriff – Harrison Co. 48

Sheriff – Hooe Jr. 14

Sheriff – Hutchison 47

Sheriff – Ming 25

Sheriff – Stafford Co. 35,42

Sheriff – Thornton 82,98

Shirley, George 109

Shirley, J.M. 108

Shirley, J. R. 120,121,122

Shirley, James D. 120,121

Shirley, James M. 127

Shirley, John R. 121

Shirley, Martha L. 120,121

Shirley, Martha M. 120

Shirley, R. O. 121

Shirley, Richard O. 58,59

Shirley, Susan E. 120

Shirley, Thomas 108

Shumate, Thomas 66

Simmons, John A. 66

Simpson, Francis 9,12

Simpson, Jane A. C. 67,68

Simpson, John 66

Simpson, Lucy 89

Simpson, M. 89

Simpson, Matilda 89

Simpson, Moses 68

Sinclair, Arch 57

Sinclair, Archibald 56

Sinclair, Catherine E.C. 100

Sinclair, James M. 100

Sinclair, John 24

Sinclair, John L. 100

Sinclair, M. B. 16,24,60,113, 114,115

Sinclair, Mordecai B. 25,60, 100, 113

Sinclair, R. A. 114,115

Sinclair, Virginia 127

Sissle, William 48

Sisson, James 99

Sisson, Thomas 99

Skinker, Samuel H. 35

Skinner, Alexander 20,21

Slaughter, William 104

Slave – Alexander 74

Slave – Alfred 74

Slave – Andrew 74

Slave – Angeline 74

Slave – Arch 32

Slave – Baily 88,89

Slave – Caroline 88,89

Slave – Charles 1,88,89

Slave – Daniel 74,77,108

Slave – David 14

Slave – Dick 42

Slave – Fanny 73,88,89

Slave – George 88,89

Slave – Hampton 88,89

Slave – Hannah 41,46

Slave – Harriet Jr. 88,89

Slave – Harriet Sr. 88,89

Slave – Harry 74

Slave – Henry 74

Slave – James  88

Slave – Jane 73

Slave – John 88,89

Slave – Landon 50,51,52

Slave – Liza & Child 88,89

Slave – Mahala 74

Slave – Malinda 74

Slave – Martha 88,89

Slave – Mary 1 

Slave – Mary Ann 74

Slave – Overton 74

Slave – Pompey 74

Slave – Price Russell 42,43, 44

Slave – Rachel 46,88,89

Slave – Redmon 88,89

Slave – Sarah 74

Slave – Tassey 53

Slave – Thomas 88,89

Slave – Thornton 43

Slave – Washington 88,89

Slave in jail 15

Slaves 1,10,11,31,46,50,51, 52,55,66,74,75,88

Slingerland, William 99

Smallwood, George 71

Smallwood, George W. 38,41 42

Smallwood, Western L. 71

Smar, Reubin 9

Smith, A. D. 125

Smith, Anderson D. 124,125

Smith, Delia 42

Smith, G. W. 108

Smith, Hedgeman 80

Smith, Isaac 66

Smith, J. W. 108

Smith, James 42,43,44,87,99

Smith, John 45,46,47,66

Smith, John S. 108

Smith, James W. 46,108

Smith, Richard 99

Smith, Samuel 67

Smith, Susan N. 125

Smith, T. A. 108

Smith, William 80

Smith, William A. B. 122, 123

Smoot, Alcinda 85,86

Smoot, Francis Amelia 85,86

Smoot, Henrietta 85,86

Smoot, Susanna 85,86

Smoot, Thomas J. 85,86

Soaper, John 12

Soule, John H. 124,125

Southern Rail Road 

Sowden, John 99

Speake, Thomas H. 83

Spriggs Road 67

Spittle, William 66

Stafford Co. 3,35,42,83,110, 123

Stanley, W. I. 130

Starbuck, G. M. 111

Stark, W. R. 130

Staubus, J. B. 

Stephenson, Jas 66

Stewart, W. C. 127

Stifle, Robert 53

Stith, Margaret 38,39

Stodderd, William 96

Stone Church 109

Stone, John 12

Stonnel, John C. 103

Stonnel, Richard 13,83

Stonnel, Richard T. 103

Stonnel, Thomas 8

Storke, John 8,12

Storke, Mary 9

Strother, Benjamin 26,67

Strother, William 10,99

Stuart, Charles B. 108

Sudduth, James H. 108

Sudduth, O. F. 108

Sudley Mill 109

Sullivan, John Jr. 18

Tansill, George W. 122,123

Tansill, John 9,15

Tansill, Samuel 20,43

Tansill, Wallace N. 115

Tasker, D. 78,81

Taylor, John 2

Tavern Keeper 2

Tavern – Davis 56

Tavern – McCanalis 4,5

Tavern – Merchant 105,106

Tavern – Occoquan 56

Tavern – Shaw 59,60,61,63

Tavern – Wheeler 36

Tavern – Williams 6

Tayloe, William 99

Taylor, James 27,28

Taylor, John 2

Taylor, Nicholas 66

Taylor, R. J. 29

Taylor, Robert J. 28,29,30

Taylor, Thomas O. 121

Taylor, William 66

Tebbs, W. H. 11

Tebbs, Willoughby W. 9

Tebbs, William H. 10,11,22

“Tebbs Dale” 40

Tennille, Jas D. 21,22,55,59, 89,107,109

Terry, George E. 125,126

Thomas, C. W. 109

Thomas, John 9,13,95

Thomas, S. A. 121

Thomas, Wileman 94,95

Thompson, Ann 40

Thompson, Baily 31,32,40,81

Thompson, Elizabeth 20

Thompson, John 66

Thompson, Virginia 68,69,81

Thornton, J. B. T. 126,128

Thornton, James B. T. 8,11, 22,25,27,56,98

Thornton, (Slave) 43

Thornton, Stuart G. 22,82

Thornton, Thomas 2

Thornton, W. W. 119

Thornton, William W. 119

Tillett, John R. 127

Tolson, Mary j. 127

Tooney, Daniel 66

Towles, John 108

Townsend, Julia A. 127

Trennis, B. E. 82

Trennis, Bertram E. 2

Trennis, Bernard 2,82

Trennis, Hannah 2

Trennis, Mrs. 2

Triplett, Francis 46

Triplett, George W. 103

Triplett, William W. 103

Trone, John 108

Tucker, John 46,47

Turner, Charles G. 15

Turner, Chester J. 130

Turner, Mary 3

Turner, Thomas 9,12

Tyler, Ann F. 78

Tyler, C. A. 121

Tyler, Charles 16

Tyler, Charles E. 108

Tyler, Douglass 108

Tyler, George B. 108

Tyler, George G. 78,101,108

Tyler, James M. 101

Tyler, John 58

Tyler, John M. 16

Tyler, John W. 12,35,58,59

Tyler, Margaret T. 78

Tyler, Mary E. 101

Tyler, Randolph 108

Tyler, Richard B. 16,22

Tyler, Robert 101,121

Tyler, Robert H. 121

Tyler, Sarah 16

Tyler, Susan 78,101

Tyler, William B. 6,7,102

Underwood, William 99

Upton, William 99

Utterback, Bushrod M. 37

Van Pelt, F. H. 108

Van Pelt, Richard T. 55

Vaughn, Wellington 122

Wakefield, William 107

Walker, J. H. 99

Walnut Branch 71

Warder, P. 11

Warder, Phillip 11

Waring, Thomas G. 31

Waring, W. 31

Warrenton Road 72

Warrenton Town 59,73

Washington City 100,120, 121

Washington Co. 4,5,85,120

Washington, Lund 85

Washington, N. L. 14

Washington Southern 129

Washington, Temple 35

Washington, Temple M. 107

Watkins, Francis N. 96

Watson, Richard 109

Wearing, Peyton 99

Wearing, Thomas G. 99

Weaver, Christian 25

Weaver, Samuel 25

Webster, C. V. 130

Webster, Henry 53

Webster, Lucy 89

Webster, Phillip G. 88,89

Webster, Rezin 32,89

Webster, William B. 89

Weeks, L. A. 127

Weems, Anne 2

Weems, Fanny 2

Weems, Francis M. 8

Weems, Jesse 2

Weems, Jesse E. 11,12,20

Weems, Mason L. 20

Weems, William 2

Weir, William J. 107

Weldon, Augustus 9

Weldon, William J. 8,23,24

“Wellington” 50

Wendover, John 66

West, Daniel 42

Whaland, Daniel 99

Whalon, John 42

Wheat, R. W. 57,84,106,112, 113,114

Wheeler, Dennis 66

Wheeler, Wesley D. 22,36,37

Wheeler, William 

Whiting, D. W. 117

Whiting, Charles G. 87

Whiting, Gustavous 87

Whiting, Jacob 87

Whiting, Nicholas 87

Wickliffe, A. 108

Wickliffe, Charles 3

Wickliffe, H. J. 108

Wickliffe, Nathaniel 42

Williams, A. F. 127

Williams, Abraham 13

Williams, C. O. 130

Williams, Delia F. 85

Williams, Elizabeth 85

Williams, Francis D. 85

Williams, George 13,84,85

Williams, Henry F. 84,85

Williams, J. 1,30,41,42,43,47 48,49,50,54,57,59,64,72,73, 90,97

Williams, Jacob Thomas 46

Williams, Jas 19

Williams, Jas E. 19

Williams, Jno 7,8,10,13,14, 15,17,18,19,20,21,25,26,27, 28,30,31,32,34,35,36,37,41, 42,80,96

Williams, John 9,10,14,15, 18,20,26,28,31,32,34,35,36, 37,41,42,43,47,48,49,57,58, 72,85,90,96,97

Williams, John W. 3,13,17,20 21,27,84,85

Williams, Jane 8,84,112

Williams, Jane, Mrs. 6

Williams, Mary S. 84,85

Williams, Mrs. 85

Williams, R. 42

Williams, Rev. 1,2

Williams, Robert 37,40,41,44 54,59,61,62,63,65

Williams, Sally E. 2

Williams Tavern 6

Williamson, Rev 2

Windsor, B. 83

Windsor, Clinton 99

Wise, Ninean 3

Woodyard, A. F. 118,123

Woodyard, Benjamin 3

Woodyard, William 107

Wrenn, John 26

Wright, Charles 99

Wroby, William 99

Wyckoff, J. W. 127

Yates Ford 96

Young, Robert 3
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